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Corporate Portfolio

DA

HC Group Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
as the “Group”) endeavour to become the leading industrial internet
groups in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"” or “China”). Since
its establishment in 1992, the Company has been engaged in pragmatic
and robust development, managed to be listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 2003 with its
stable performance and strength, and transferred its listing to the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 10 October 2014. As of 31 December 2022,
the Group had expanded its business to more than 100 cities nationwide,
with branches established in over ten cities and a service team of over one
thousand individuals.

The Group has initiated its layout towards industrial internet in January
2018, putting forward its vision of “Striving to Becoming a Leading Industrial
Internet Group in China” and its mission of “Empowering Traditional
Industries with the Internet and Data”. The Group has formulated its industrial
internet ecosystem through its principal operations in technology-driven new
retail, smart industries and platform and corporate services segments.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Corporate Portfolio

N EIBER

With zol.com.cn (ZOL) as the principal entity, the strategic objective of
technology-driven new retail segment is to create user diffusion with useful,
interesting and in-depth professional content, enhance user stickiness, and
improve industry influence, to model, parameterize and algorithmize users’
purchasing decisions by using difficult scenarios, to precipitate data asset and
build competitive barriers, and to transform high quality and efficiency into
core judgments for customer products and services, establishing long term
advantage. The Company also guides C-end consumers, SaaS tools, reversed
customization, and supply chain services, as well as enhances their ability to
secure customers, profitability and operational efficiency. Meanwhile, with the
channel data collected from small b and data analysis, we are able to provide
comprehensive “online + offline” marketing solutions to corporate customers
(big B) as well as the solutions to core requirements of various parties along
the 3C and home appliances industrial chain, forming a B2b2C business
model.

The smart industries segment integrates several well-developed vertical
“runways” of the Group, including “PanPass” (a standard setter in the
anti-counterfeit traceability industry and the provider of 10T solutions
for digital transformation, “Union Cotton” (an integrated e-business
service platform that covers the entire industrial chain of cotton, and
"ibuychem.com” (a long established supply chain service platform intensively
engaged in the plastics industry). “Focus” and “significant verticality” are
the Group’s important strategies for the smart industries segment. HC Group
rapidly incubated several vertical “runways” by finding outstanding industry
experts and resulted in”dimension reduction” with its resources accumulated
over the past 30 years.

The platform and corporate services segment devotes to help SMEs (small and
medium-sized enterprises) to connect with merchants and products through
applying industrial data chains and business layouts through the B2B e-business
platform, internet platform products and traditional industries. The segment
also includes microcredit financing, lease financing and factoring services,
which provides financial services to SMEs and business owners.

Certain figures set out herein are subject to rounding adjustment.
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Financial Highlights
MBREE

2022 2020 2019 2018
—s-= —T-TF —ThE
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RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREBTT AREBETRE ARBTT AREBTRT

Total revenue and income ETHEUWA FIA 16,883,681 17,405,835 14,544,074 14,832,832 10,583,111
(Loss)/Profit attributable to AN &)kERS

equity holders of HE AFEML
the Company (B18) /% (224,306) (663,110) (745,537) (376,490) 275,610
(Loss)/Earnings per share R (EBER),BF|
(RMB) (AR¥EETT)
— Basic —HK (0.1712) (0.5062) (0.6018) (0.3360) 0.2462
— Diluted —#E (0.1712) (0.5062) (0.6018) (0.3360) 0.2458
Financial position BRI
Net current assets MEEEFE 1,213,488 1,353,484 649,878 716,935 1,233,990
Total assets BEE 6,657,858 5,629,771 6,636,737 8,426,473 8,767,955
Total liabilities waEfE 3,379,229 2,081,376 2,610,958 3,696,761 3,546,331
Total equity M 3,278,629 3,548,395 4,025,779 4,729,712 5,221,624
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

REVENUE ANALYSIS
HEWA DT

Technology- Platform and
driven new Smart corporate
retail industries services Discontinued
segment segment segment Subtotal operations Total

MEHNEE EREX VARG BRI

EXE EXRE  REEEE Mat RERK st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARETR AR®TR ARETR AR®TxR

2022 —E-—& 1,502,786 15,198,337 182,558 16,883,681 - 16,883,681

2021 —E-— 1,072,470 16,083,099 233,002 17,388,661 17174 17,405,835

Variance B 40.1% -5.5% 21.7% -2.9% -100% -3.0%
1.1% 1.3% 0.1%

90.0% 92.4%
16,883,681 17,405,835
Technology-driven new retail segment @ Platform and corporate services segment
RHIHT T ERRE FREORRGERER
@ Smart industries segment @ Discontinued operations
DEEREEN ERIEREERR
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Management’s Statement
BEEHRE

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”), the Group
generated a total revenue and income of approximately RMB16,883,681,000
(2021: RMB17,388,661,000) from continuing operations, representing a
decrease of approximately 2.9% as compared to that in 2021. The decrease
of revenue was mainly due to the decreased sales of chemical raw products
and electronic products, which suffered from the fluctuation of global oil
prices and the recession in demand; despite increased sales of cotton products
in 2022.

For the Group's financial performance in different segments, revenue
of approximately RMB1,502,786,000 was achieved from the segment
of technology-driven new retail in 2022, and represented an increase of
approximately 40.1% from approximately RMB1,072,470,000 in 2021.
Revenue from the smart industries segment decreased from approximately
RMB16,083,099,000 in 2021 to approximately RMB15,198,337,000 in 2022
which represented a decrease of approximately 5.5%. Revenue and income
from the segment of platform and corporate services was approximately
RMB182,558,000 in 2022, which represented a decrease of approximately
21.7% from approximately RMB233,092,000 in 2021.

During the Year, operating expenses of continuing operations decreased from
approximately RMB653,373,000 in 2021 to approximately RMB617,703,000
which was mainly due to the decrease in marketing expenses and amortisation
of intangible assets.

During the Year, the net impairment loss on financial assets was
approximately RMB105,772,000, while it was a net reversal of approximately
RMB25,088,000 in 2021, which was mainly due to the increased provision for
overdue loan receivables and trade receivables with long aging.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Management’s Statement
EEEB®RE

The loss from discontinued operations in 2021 were mainly derived from
Zhejiang Zhongfu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (disposed of on 28
December 2021) and Tianjin Guokai Ruitou Education Technology Co., Ltd.
(contracted to be disposed of on 5 January 2021, and the disposal has not
been completed as at the date of this report). In accordance with HKFRS 5
“Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, the financial
results of aforementioned business and the relevant impairment expenses for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 were classified as discontinued
operations in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
RMB224.3 million in the Year, while loss attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately RMB663.1 million was recorded for the year
ended 31 December 2021, mainly due to the decrease in impairment for
goodwill and other intangible assets of the new technology retail business
unit from approximately RMB484.0 million in 2021 to RMB26.1 million in
the Year. Principal factors contributing to the loss in the Year include, among
other things: the impairment loss on financial assets arising from the overdue
loan receivables and accounts receivables and the amortization of intangible
assets.

The Group acquired or invested in certain companies and businesses in the
past decade. In response to the challenges imposed by macroeconomics
and to align with the strategic development goals of the Group, the Group
began its transformation, which included taking actions to lower its gearing
ratio, integrating and optimising its resources, discontinuing loss-making
businesses and disinvesting from the non-core businesses. The Group wishes
to concentrate its resources to further develop its core business (details of
which are set out in the paragraphs headed “Business Review"” and “Prospect”
in this Management’s Statement).

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

R-E - —FEREEEEBZBEREEREMT
FRAGMEERAT(EERZZEZ—F+=A
ZHNBHE) RRERMRIKERHE AR AR (FT
HR—ZE-—F—FRALE  MEESERARE
BEAMARTER) o IRIBBE B IEIRE LRI F 55 FHHE
HEZERDEEMRDRILEEER] OB
MBEBEUARBE S —F R -—F+=A
=+ HAIFENBRRER SR AEEE HI
BEDEADRILICEER

RERN AR EREAEBGHEBOARARYE
243FET MABE—_Z-_—4+-A=+—8
IEFERSBARRIEEFAABREBEBOARE
663.1EEBTT  ETEHRIEMNEEEBEMMNEE
MEMEREERER S —FHARKI4.0E
BLRLEFRANARE26.1BET - ERFREGIE
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Management’s Statement
EEE®RE

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, the Group continued to work on its vision of becoming a leading
group for “Industrial Internet” in China by leveraging internet thinking,
instruments and methods to ramp up industrial efficiency, empower supply
chains and industrial chains, and establish a win-win ecosystem to serve
customers.

In the Year, the Group’s revenue was generated from its three business
segments, namely, the technology-driven new retail segment (approximately
8.9%), the smart industries segment (approximately 90.0%), and the platform
and corporate services segment (approximately 1.1%).

Technology-Driven New Retail Segment

ZOL (zol.com.cn, “ZOL") acts as the main driver of the technology-driven
new retail segment of the Group. Focusing on the vertical technology
segment for over 20 years, in 2022, ZOL strategically upgraded its brand,
making breakthroughs in professional content development and product
R&D, enhancing itself with the aim to become a foremost living technology
products shopping guide platform to cater for the users’ needs and
expectations. The platform provides detailed and updated analysis for the
living technology products that helps its users to choose and purchase
products efficiently and comprehensively. Through product analysis, feedback
on products, Q&A on reputation, interfacing with e-commerce, it simplifies
the path and makes improvements on product test, evaluation and shopping
guide recommendations, depicting a full picture of product performance for
users, which facilitates platform users before purchasing and using technology
products.

Furthermore, ZOL enhances user loyalty through provision of useful,
interesting and in-depth professional content to increase its industry influence.
ZOL is also devoted to R&D to accumulate data assets and grow competitive
barriers by applying model, parameters and algorithms to user procurement
decision-making and difficult scenarios for constant iterations; and further
established long-term advantages by taking high-quality and efficient
transformation as the core criteria for customer products and services and by
conducting big data analysis.

The strategically upgraded ZOL has not only maintained its existing advantage
as a technology leading media, it also connects with more than 50,000 small
businesses in the home appliances and 3C industry through Saa$ (Software
as a Service) and access to the core upstream supply chain, upon which it
facilitated the completion of transformation towards new retail business
for upstream enterprises and helped achieve cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement for downstream enterprises, eventually enhancing media value.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Management’s Statement
EEEB®RE

With ZOL's devotion in R&D, full coverage of user access end, comprising
PC, WAP, App and mini programme, was achieved. Furthermore, it helps
users to make decisions with features including technology ranking, word of
mouth and enumeration of fine products; and takes high-quality and efficient
transformation as the core criteria for customer products and services.

ZOL's self-developed professional product database has been applied an
authoritative and influential IT product database. ZOL's standard product
database by various search engines, including Baidu, 360 Search, TouTiao.com,
sm.cn, Sogou, Tencent and Microsoft Bing, covering different kinds of active
and passive scenarios of users, ranks top in the industry in terms of internet
coverage. Furthermore, ZOL achieved price comparison across the platform
and one click delivery through in-depth cooperation with e-commerce
platforms such as JD.com, which strengthened and extended the service
capability to users’ purchase demand, satisfying the users’ needs in the full
cycle of procurement from recommendation, selection, price comparison to
order placing.

ZOL Huimaimai platform integrates brands, retailers, logistics, finance, Saas,
traffic, content, home appliances. Through the new retail solution of “supply
chain + SaaS + localization service”, it empowers traditional retailers to
upgrade and transform, and helps brand manufacturers achieve their digital
channels precipitation, which in turn facilitates easier business operation. ZOL
Huimaimai platform strategically cooperates with over 200 brands, over 5,000
selected SKUs, and over 500 offline service teams, covering linked members in
19 provinces across the country and serving over 50,000 active retailers.

With the rise of Internet platform-based self media an the general trend of
decentralisation, users habits has changed a lot, making it more difficult to
secure users. Closed ecological systems by platforms resulted in sharp declines
of traffics from personal computer (PC) devices, but the comprehensive
transformation of the media information business from PC devices to mobile
devices is comparatively slow. With the ever iteration of pioneers products,
the constant extension towards content by channels and platforms, market
followers’ strategic space for development is being squeezed, urging market
followers to take rapid action to follow the track for iteration. Advertisers’
requests have also shifted towards requiring the advertisement content to
be promotive, commerce-oriented and sales-results oriented, and therefore
significantly impacting the original media advertising business negatively.
These call for a need for a transformation of business model which is currently
focuses on marketing services.
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Management’s Statement
EEE®RE

Smart Industries Segment

The smart industries segment mainly comprises: “Shanghai Huijing”, a cross-
sector supply chain integrated service platform; PanPass, an Internet of
Things (“loT") solutions provider for digital transformation; Union Cotton, a
spot trading platform for cotton; and ibuychem.com, which is positioned to
provide centralised purchasing and integrated e-business service for chemicals
and plastics. “Focus” and “significant verticality” are the Group’s important
strategies for the smart industries segment.

Shanghai Huijing E-business Co., Limited (L /8E2EE TEEERAR)
("Shanghai Huijing”) is the Group’s wholly-owned cross-sector supply chain
integrated services platform, which provides comprehensive supply chain
integrated services by leveraging on the Group's years of experience in various
industry segments and penetrating into various segments of the supply chain,
with a transaction size of over RMB2.0 billion in the Year.

Extending the positive momentum in its well performance in 2021, PanPass
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (Jt RIKEEBFMAXHD BR A7)
("PanPass” or "“PanPass Information”) (NEEQ Stock Code: 430073) maintains
remarkable results despite the challenges in 2022 by accelerating internal
improvement and external cooperation for the business development.

Notwithstanding the uncertainties arising from the waves of the pandemic,
PanPass conquered the challenges in 2022, developed steadily in different
aspects such as advancing advancement of its influence in the industry, brand
development and sales performance. PanPass achieved a double “Little Giant”
by being listed on the “National Specialised, Sophisticated, Special and New
Little Giant Enterprise” and “Beijing Specialised, Sophisticated, Special and
New Little Giant Enterprise charts”. Specialised, Sophisticated, Special and
New “Little Giant” enterprises are required to have excellent performance in
terms of long-term focus on market segments, strong innovation capabilities,
high market share rate, great brand influence, broad development prospects,
gaining key core technologies, and premium quality and efficiency. PanPass
stood out and successfully entered the list of “Top 100 Small and Medium-
sized Private Enterprises”: PanPass has been listed on “Top 100 Small and
Medium-sized Private Enterprises in Beijing” for three consecutive years,
ranking 8th. This is an important recognition of PanPass, high quality, stable
revenue, and strong development.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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In terms of optimizing governance and making breakthroughs in innovation,
PanPass has also maintained its aggressive determination to achieve better
results. New intellectual property rights: PanPass has a total of 21 patents
and software copyrights newly obtained, with a total of more than 120
intellectual property rights, and continued technological innovation to lead
the industry development. Product Extension: PanPass launched “Win with
Code”, a promotional augmented product which helps corporations to
reduce costs, improve efficiency and control terminal smartly by increasing
interactive marketing diversity through empowering the linkage between
B-end and C-end enterprise clients. Innovative Award: PanPass was awarded
“Innovative Enterprise” again by Beijing Software and Information Service
Industry Association. The “General Specification for Anti-counterfeiting
Security Thread” group standard drafted by PanPass was officially
implemented. PanPass was awarded the “New Material and New Technology
Innovation Award” issued by the Anti-counterfeiting Packaging and Product
Traceability Committee of the China Packaging Federation. The “Retinal Anti-
counterfeiting Label” designed by PanPass won the second prize in the 8th
Packaging and Printing Works Grand Prix of the China Packaging Federation.
Lean Management: PanPass established a “Customer Success Service Centre”,
further advanced the optimisation of the customers’ experiences, increased
user loyalty, intensified the implementation of the “Customer-oriented” value;
consolidated Know-how in the industry, improved business system,enhanced
training for new-comers, continued to publish industry white book, the
“Think Tank Exclusive Interview"” series, exploring industry development from
different perspectives such as digital industry, industry solutions, upgrade and
code-assignment in the industry chain and digital software.

With advanced Internet and Al technologies, leading loT application concepts,
intelligent big data algorithms, efficient trading and supporting services,
“Union Cotton” is aiming at the 10-trillion level textile and apparel market. By
building a new industrial ecosystem with online trading of cotton, polyester,
yarn and other textile raw materials as its core, it can provide both upstream
and downstream customers in the industrial chain with digital supply
such chain management and supporting services as trading, settlement,
storage, logistics, textile supply chain e-assistant, and industrial internet
technology. “Union Cotton” is striving to materialize its development vision
of constructing a leading global digital supply chain services platform for
the textile industry, which, harnessing internet technology and big data, can
improve the synergy of the supply chain of the cotton textile industry and
create an open, intelligent, efficient and convenient digital industrial internet
platform for textile manufacturing.
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In 2022, a confluence of events — the aggravation of COVID-19, a round of
rate hikes in the Fed’'s combat against inflation, the grim outlook of global
macroenvironment — put a brake on the downstream demand growth in the
cotton textile industry. Companies were deep in the red as the raw material
prices plunged; the cautious attitude towards purchasing due to insufficient
new orders also led to a stasis in the trading activities in the raw material
market. Over 100 days of lockdown beginning from mid-August in Xinjiang
Province, which accounts for over 90% of cotton production in the country,
brought logistics to a halt and cotton trading therefore shrunk materially.
The mounting competition from peer internet platforms also contributed to
the grim operating and competition environment “Union Cotton” was once
confronted with. The removal of the pandemic restrictions in early December
was a turnaround for trading — the disrupted supply of raw materials resumed,
the downstream orders jumped, and textile mills were all geared up for the
run-up to the Spring Festival. Despite the unfavorable operating environment,
the operating management team of “Union Cotton” was highly responsive
to changes in market trends, and with their insistence on the supply chain
services concept of “trading + composite service” platform empowered by
digitalization and centered around resources, products, and services, they
outperformed the revenue target and maintained the satisfactory market
share.

Positioned to provide centralised purchasing and integrated e-business service
for upstream and downstream of chemicals material industry chain, ibuychem.
com, which originated from the HC chemicals industries segment established
by the Group over 20 years ago, has been delivering in-depth services in
chemical new materials such as chemical, plastics and coating for 24 years. It
focuses on serving the trading of new materials and provides trading service
experience in sourcing, cost reduction and efficiency enhancing for up and
down stream in the industry chain through PC, APP and WeChat mini-
programme.

In 2022, while overcoming the uncertain fluctuations in macro-economic
conditions and the adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, combined
with characteristics of chemical and new materials industry, ibuychem.
com insisted on a service model that combines online and offline operation,
cultivating the industry in terms of digitalisation. It was successfully recognised
as “Specialised, Sophisticated, Special and New Core Enterprises of 2022",
“Guangdong Innovative Small and Medium-sized Enterprises of 2022" and
“Guangdong High and New Technology Enterprise”, and was awarded “Top
100 Companies in China’s Industrial Internet” for thirteen consecutive years.
Due to the high volatility of prices for products such as chemicals and plastics
during the Year, with a view to avoid risks and reduce losses, ibuychem.com
proactively reduced the frequency and volume of transactions, resulting in a
significant decline in trading revenue compared to the same period in 2021.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

—ECCF - MEREBEERHSFERL - XBE AT
HBEWERSZRNE  2REERASATR - 174
BITETHEERBE - RN HRNREHERAET
B GHEBEEERRE  METTET R SRRED
IREE - RIESHBRETISISIIRELE - Bl
(B R90% A ERRIETE M EA ER B E -
fs A A REZEI100Z XNEES - MR THE
HRIERDBEER - AR - ABEEXEHETE
WS RFENARME - (R KLV BEBEFR
FHERK - 12A LA BRARBHEZEKA
BAMRIETIZE A GRS - [RERERE - THFAIE
Ehn - HEBESREE2ERE - mER SRR
o (1R I REERERE2FRUBSNEERE
T BEEHTMSETBEIL  WRBHIZXH+56
R% BT - FReHERERBES  BRIE
R ER RBIZESEXE  BREHEMNR
5 EFERTRENER  BERFBITNTIS0
LER

[BE2 ] FRUMMEEMBEZRN E THERRS
MEBHZERYE - BRNAEE 208 FHE1R
EBREEE  CARAERBET - BRMEBREE
B ER 245 - IRBICBFHHORZR
1 JBBPC - APPRIBIE/MEFS - REXRSE LT
RESR - BA - BRNZZREER -

ZEZ-F - BB RRABEE TR NI
BENRFTE BT EHITESE B
B EETHRBAZ  BFEFEMITE - HEKD
RER2022FERFFFHOLE]  [2022FERE
BIFTR R E IR ERASHEMEE] - WEE
FT=FEH PR T EEMAGR % - FR - @R
{EIREBHEEREREBRKA - AREBRBRARLD
B BEBEBRI TREBAARZE XM
AB =T~ —F R HIEE T -



Management’s Statement
EEEB®RE

Platform and Corporate Services Segment

The platform and corporate services segment devotes to help SMEs (small and
medium-sized enterprises) to connect with merchants and products through
applying industrial data chains and business layouts through the B2B e-business
platform, internet platform products and traditional industries. The segment
also includes microcredit financing, lease financing and factoring services,
which provides financial services to SMEs and business owners.

Historically, the Group operated its e-business platform, hc360.com (“360
Platform”), to provide services for SMEs. The business model of the 360
Platform faced significant challenges and its performance was far from
ideal since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. The 360 Platform was
loss making and its revenue represented less than 0.4% of the Group's
revenue and income for the Year. To better deploy its resources and focus on
businesses with sustainable prospects, during the Year, the Group suspended
the operations of Beijing Huicong 360 Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing 360",
the operator entity of the 360 Platform) and commenced winding-up
procedure of Beijing 360. Closing down process of Beijing 360 is expected
to be completed in the second half of 2023. Operations and staff of Beijing
360 were relatively independent from the Group’s other business segments,
and the Company does not expect this business adjustment and procedure to
have any material adverse impacts on the Group, or on its business operations
and performance as a whole.

As part of its ordinary and usual course of business under its platform and
corporate services segment, the Group provides micro-credit loans and finance
lease, principally targeting SME and business owners (“financing services
business”). Such business is conducted through two of the subsidiaries of
the Group (the “Licensed Members”) which hold the respective licenses
conducting finance lease business and micro-credit financing business in
the mainland China. During the Year, the Group recorded interest income
of approximately RMB103,796,000 from its financing services business
(2021: RMB124,763,000). As of 31 December 2022, the Group's balance
of outstanding loans and interest receivables from client, and net and
finance lease receivables from the financing services business amounted to
approximately RMB1,419,452,000 and RMB285,531,000, respectively (31
December 2021: RMB1,434,785,000 and RMB301,822,000, respectively).
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Micro-credit loan and finance lease arrangements are initiated by salesmen
of the Licensed Members, who would firstly perform a study on the
creditworthiness of the applicant, as well as the applicants’ background, credit
history, financial statements, financial conditions (e.g. source of income),
purpose of making the arrangements, title documents of collaterals or leased
assets and other case specific material (collectively as the “Vetting Material”).
Then salesmen would submit proposals along with the Vetting Material to
managers and the credit department for further review and verification.

For the micro-credit loan business, the Group enters into loan agreements
with its customers using its model loan contracts (and where applicable,
model guarantee contracts) setting out the terms of each loan, including:
applicable term and floating interest rate (comprising the base interest rate
and the margin over the base rate, and adjustment mechanism), arrangements
on default and damages, and additional rights of the lender such as right
of inspection and right to information. The Group has established relevant
mechanisms to cover credit risk in key operational phases of micro-credit
financing services business, including pre-lending evaluations, credit approval,
and post-lending monitoring. The Group conducts customer acceptance and
due diligence by the operating department and risk management department
in the pre-lending evaluations. In the credit approval phase, all loan
applications are subjected to the assessment and approval of the Department
Manager, General Manager and Risk Assessment Committee of the micro-
credit company, depending on the amount and nature of the loans. The
relevant entity of the Group performs pre-loan investigations to investigate
and assess the creditworthiness of the applicant based on guidance and rules
established by the Group. The Group focuses on (but without limitation) the
following factors in performing its pre-loan investigations: background and
continued existence of the applicant, its ownership and management, its
credit history, its financial conditions measured by, among other things, its
income, assets, sources for repayment, (for corporations) industry in which
the borrower operates, (for individuals) occupation and income source, and/
or (where applicable) title, value and condition of collateral. Due diligence will
be conducted via various means such as enquiry via credit reference center of
the People’s Bank of China, review of industrial and commercial registration,
review of business license, tax registration, industry licenses, constitutional
documents, financial statements and business contracts, interview with
applicant’s management, study of industry-related big-data, and/or on-site
visit of applicant’s premises, etc.
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For the finance leasing business, the Group enters into finance lease
agreements with its customers using its model contracts setting out the
terms of each finance lease, including: applicable term and floating interest
rate (comprising the base interest rate and the margin over the base rate,
and adjustment mechanism), arrangement on the title of subject assets,
arrangements on default and damages, borrower’s option to re-purchase the
assets, and additional rights of the lender such as right of inspection and right
to information. Prior to the entering into of finance lease arrangement, due
diligence will be conducted via various means such as interview, on-site visit
of the applicant, review of financial statements, (for collateral being moveable
assets) inspection and understanding of the collateral. After receiving
proposals as well as the relevant Vetting Material, the credit department
would conduct, if deemed necessary, on-site investigation, inspecting
underlying material contracts of potential customers, status of major assets
and liabilities, and descriptive documents, title documents, and payment
records of assets to be leased. The credit department would also interview the
management of potential customers on, among others, their qualification,
personal credit history, companies’ business model and proposed fund use,
competitive edge, and product lifecycle. Afterwards, the credit department
would perform an integrated assessments of potential customers’ ability to
make repayments and make adjustments, if applicable, to the proposed terms
of finance lease.

The percentage of outstanding loans principal amount attributable to the
Group's major customers in financing service business is set out below:

In terms of outstanding loan principal amount
The total of five largest customers AARRFART
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The following table sets out the outstanding loans to customers of financing T&REFEE-—T-—F+-_A=+—BAR_-FT——
services business of the collaterals, securities or guarantees of the relevant F+-A=+— A ALEREREESTEUER
loans in the Group's financing services business as of 31 December 2022 and ~ Z*E#H& - EARRERMARE REELEFIR

31 December 2021: M2 REEER
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
—E-_—H+ZH=+-—H B =
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥TF T % ARET T %
Loans backed by collaterals BHER 210,120 12.84% 216,090 13.64%
Guaranteed loans BERERK 119,124 7.28% 128,868 8.13%
Unsecured loans EIKIRE R 1,306,791 79.88% 1,239,613 78.23%
Total @t 1,636,035 100.00% 1,584,571 100%

The following table sets out the number of loans for the periods indicated by~ TREFIRATREAM 2 ERE B (RIRAERE5) -
type of security:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
BE-ZT=-Z= HE_T—_—F
TZA=t—HLEE TZA=T—RIEFE
Number of Number of
loans
ENEH
Loans backed by collaterals HIRER 7 2.01% 9 2.34%
Guaranteed loans BIERER 101 28.94% 113 29.43%
Unsecured loans FEIRWER 241 69.05% 262 68.23%
Total #Et 349 100% 384 100%

Note: Collaterals comprises mainly of real estate properties, automobiles, stocks of  Kiif EWRB T EREEMENE  RE  AABRERF
corporations, inventories. =

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Management’s Statement

EEEB®RE

To assess and manage risk arising from loan and interest receivables and

finance lease receivables, the Group has established relevant mechanisms
to cover credit risk in key operational phases of micro-credit financing and
finance leasing business, including pre-lending evaluations, credit approval,
and post-lending monitoring.

In accordance with the regulations issued by the local regulatory authority,
Chongging Financial Affairs Office, the Group has established a loan credit
risk classification system based on the type of collateral and credit period, and
performs credit risk assessment and management based on loan classification
in one of five categories. The Group classifies loans into the following five
categories: normal, special-mention, substandard, doubtful and loss. Loans
classified as substandard, doubtful and loss are regarded as non-performing

loans.

Normal:

Special-mention:

Substandard:

Doubtful:

Loss:

Borrowers can honour the terms of their loans. There is
no reason to doubt their ability to repay principal and
interest in full on a timely basis.

Borrowers are currently able to service their loans
and interest, although repayment may be adversely
affected by specific factors.

Borrowers’ ability to service their loans is in question
and they cannot rely entirely on normal business
revenues to repay principal and interest. Losses may
ensue even when collateral or guarantees are invoked.

Borrowers cannot repay principal and interest in full
and significant losses will need to be recognised even
when collateral or guarantees are invoked.

Principal and interest of loans cannot be recovered
or only a small portion of them can be recovered
after taking all possible measures or resorting to all
necessary legal procedures.

REHE R E R SRR YR S A R YR E T B R
2R AEEDEAAEES - AEERERE
ANBEANEXBHREERBRZEERR &
AIAHE - EEEI R EREE -

REEMEERBEET SR IERAZTRMGIE
B AREEREERZERREERRIERER
RBAEES - WRERERR 2 —ERDRETE
ERRFERERE AKRESERD BATREE
Al EER - BR - RAUR  TRBANREXRE 5
BRI AIRENBREZEFTERTRER -

ERA T B
ek R RS 2
B8N -

BRI - B

BEERNS LA

BT BEERALEXIFTERRZT
d H £

IR ERAZBREENFRE - THETTE
KELFEXRFBABERS KF
B o BEEAERARIER - BX
R RERMAEL ©

A EEAE - fERABE2REELAZ RS

BB IR R LR - (DFBER

EDNP

EPS EAREAE RS - AR —

PIRITTHE MR st D B A RIERF

& R Bede el —/ ) ER o

EHEEAERAT 2022 Fif



N

20

Management’s Statement

EEE®RE

The following table sets out the outstanding loans to customers of financing
services business for the periods indicated by the “Five-Tier Principle”
category:

31 December 2022

TRET EAFETT\%@F'EJTETEW"EJ?E'JJ%E%U%U%ZFﬂﬂ

RERBEBEPRHEZAEBESR

31 December 2021

ZBC-=H+=ZA=+—H T —F+_-H=+—H
RMB’'000 % RMB'000 %
ARBT T % AREETTT )
Normal EEHR 1,390,185 84.97% 1,374,286 86.73%
Special-mention EzhE 5,860 0.36% 3,495 0.22%
Substandard T 51,901 3.17% 64,775 4.09%
Doubtful B4 11,200 0.69% 94,644 5.97%
Loss B sa 176,889 10.81% 47,371 2.99%
Total BET 1,636,035 100% 1,584,571 100%

The Group applies general approach under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ~ ANEBERAT BV IEHREENFORESMTAB N2

to measure expected credit losses for all loans and interest receivables and
finance lease receivables.

Impairment provision amount of loans to customers of financing service
business increased from RMB149,786,000 as at 31 December 2021 to
RMB216,583,000 as at 31 December 2022, resulting from the increase of
expected credit loss rate mainly driven by the historical actual bad debt losses
and the effect of macro economic environment.

The Group has also formulated post-loan management procedures to monitor,
inspect, collect, recall and enforce loans granted. Among other procedures
established, the Group demands repayment upon the loans falling due. For
loans overdue for over 30 days, the Group liaises with borrowers who display
willingness and ability to repay. For borrowers who lack willingness or ability
to repay, or who fail to repay in accordance with liaised repayment terms, the
Group takes legal action. Approximately RMB236.2 million of outstanding
balance of the relevant loans are currently subject to legal proceedings.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

*ﬁxﬁ&ﬁgﬁﬁ*ﬁﬂ’*‘”ﬂl% R BIA R YR E R E
FRZEHEERK -

MERBEFRFERRERBECERA_S=_—F
+ZA=+—HZAR#149,786,000 T NE=F
ZZF+ZA=+—HZAR216,583,0007T © E£
EXZBRABRERGE R S EREY ETE B
EEBRELFMEK -

FEBETESHEEREEREF  UEE BRE - K
B BRRHTEREZER - RIEHMBIERRR -
REBREREN R ZRER - AM0ORALZ
ERMmE  AEESHEARERERREN ZERA
B4R o BLIRZ @K BFASAE ) - SORBEIRIBHARIET
BRERZERAME - AEBEHREVERITE - 18
FERRERBEROARK 236288 LA EER
SRR o



Management’s Statement
EEEB®RE

Prospect

The past year has posted challenges for the Group, including effects of
COVID-19, pressure on logistics and global supply chain, energy crisis,
and global inflating costs. These challenges have profoundly affected the
world, communities, individuals, and the ways of life. These challenges have
impacted the Group in 2022, but the Group believes there are opportunities
to be grasped in the face of challenges. Digital economy and intellectual
economy have become the socio-economic development direction, and the
internet industry is now undermining how businesses are being promoted and
developed more than ever.

The Group's rich history and experience in the industrial internet industry
well positioned the Group in the waves of socio-economic development,
and challenges in the past year made us a stronger and more determined
group. Going forward, the Group wishes to focus its resources on business
and operations aligned to the strategic corporate goal, with sustainable
prospects and development bandwidth. To this end, the Group aims to
optimize resource utilization by prioritizing its core business components.
As an ongoing process, the Group strives to reduce its indebtedness level,
and is prudently assessing the prospects and quality of its other business
components and assets, especially those that have underperformed in recent
years or shows limitation in growth prospect. The Group wishes to accelerate
the flowing of resources to components with profitability prospects step-
by-step in this year. Updates will be made to the Shareholders as and when
required by the Listing Rules.

Going forward, PanPass will continue its endeavours to be one of the leaders
and revolutionists in the field of unique identification digitalization solution
and integrating. It has also kick-started its proposed listing on the Beijing
Stock Exchange (“BSE") in the first quarter of 2023, which will also be one of
PanPass’ key goals in this Year. See also “— Proposed Listing of PanPass on
BSE” in the Management Discussion and Analysis section for further details.

ZOL, supported by its over two decades of operating experience in the
technology vertical field, will continue its emphasis on becoming the preferred
living technology shopping guide platform, through promoting the delivery of
good quality contents, R&D, strategic cooperation with brands and suppliers,
and promoting global users’ acknowledgment of “Made in China” products.
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Management’s Statement
EEE®RE

Facing the test of verification of enterprise resilience and power of
development, meeting demands from customers is still the endgame for
a business winner. Nowadays, digitalisation and intellectualisation have
become the staunch social consensus and business goal. On the way to the
combination of expertise with action, the process of gaining knowledge to
value realising, whether the industry internet of the Group or the digitalisation
upgrade of enterprise, is motivating traditional enterprises to engage in
exploring and seeking for the best practice. With the help of digitalisation, the
Group establishes resilience, breaks through growth obstacles, spans the cycle
and follows the trend.

At last, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank

the management and every staff member of the Group for their on-going
dedication and hard work over the past year.

Liu Jun
Chairman

Hong Kong
24 March 2023
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESERSREEAEHN

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

LIU Jun

Aged 45, is an executive Director and the chairman of the Company, he
is also the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”). Mr. Liu was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 12 September 2016. He also acted as the
chief executive officer of the Group from October 2017 to January 2019.

From 2004 to 2011, Mr. Liu was the chief executive officer of Yigao Group
Company Limited. leading the company to enter into the information
technology businesses. Mr. Liu has also been a director of several subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Liu has obtained a Master’s degree in Chemical
Engineering from Zhejiang University in March 2004 and a Bachelor’s degree
in Chemical Engineering, Bio-engineering and Chemical Processing from
Zhejiang University as well in June 2000. Mr. Liu is currently a member of the
6th Beijing Changping District Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

Mr. Liu is currently the chief executive officer of the Company.

ZHANG Yonghong
Aged 55, is an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zhang was appointed as
an executive Director with effect from 4 January 2019.

Mr. Zhang joined the Group on 26 August 2018 and served as the co-
president of the Group. He also acted as the chief executive officer of the
Company between 4 January 2019 and 3 February 2023.

Mr. Zhang served as the deputy general manager at the business department
of Lenovo Group Limited (Stock code: 992.HK), a company listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
from April 1993 to June 1996. From October 1998 to November 2009, he
was the vice president at China Hewlett-Packard Co., Ltd.. Between November
2009 to October 2015, Mr. Zhang had worked as the general manager of the
PRC operations department at Acer Group.

Between December 2015 to August 2018, Mr. Zhang was the deputy
president of operations and executive deputy president of Tsinghua Unigroup
Limited. Mr. Zhang served as a director of Unisplendour Corporation Limited
(a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock code: 000938.52)
from April 2016 to June 2017.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEAEHN

From November 2017 to August 2018, Mr. Zhang was also the director and a
chairman of the board of directors of 500.com Limited, a company listed on
the New York Stock Exchange (Stock code: WBAI).

Mr. Zhang has been the chairman of the board of directors and the general
manager of Panpass since September and December 2018, respectively.

Mr. Zhang graduated and obtained a Bachelor’s degree from the Department
of Precision Instrument of Tsinghua University in July 1990, and obtained a
Master’s degree of Science in Engineering from the University of Science and
Technology of China in 1993.

LIU Xiaodong
Aged 50, is an executive Director and the president of the Company. Mr. Liu
was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 June 2018.

Mr. Liu has also been a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. In July
2015, the Group has completed the full acquisition of zol.com.cn. Mr. Liu
joined zol.com.cn in 2000 and served as a general manager of zol.com.cn in
2004. Mr. Liu also served as the vice president of CNET (China) in 2008. He
served as a vice president of CBSI (China), a general manager of technology
cluster and the consumer cluster of CBSI (China) from 2008 to 2014. Since
2015, he served as a chief executive officer of zol.com.cn. Mr. Liu has over 20
years of experience in media operation and management in the TMT field. Mr.
Liu graduated and obtained a Bachelor’s degree from International Modern
Design Art College Of Inner Mongolia Normal University in July 1997, and
obtained a Master’s degree of Business Administration from China Europe
International Business School in 2011.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEAEHNT

Non-Executive Directors

GUO Fansheng

Aged 67, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Guo was appointed as an executive
Director on 21 March 2000, and was re-designated as a non-executive
Director on 18 October 2017. Mr. Guo served as the chairman of the
Company from 31 March 2008 to 18 October 2017.

Mr. Guo founded the Group in October 1992 and served as the chief
executive officer of the Company until 31 March 2008. Mr. Guo is currently
the chairman of the Inner Mongolia Chamber of Commerce in Beijing. From
1990 to 1992, Mr. Guo worked as a manager in a State-owned business
information company in Beijing, the PRC. From 1987 to 1990, Mr. Guo
served as a officer of the Liaison Office and General Office of the Institute
of Economic System Reform under the State Commission for Economic
Restructuring, and as the deputy officer of the Western China Development
Research Centre. Prior to working at the State Commission for Economic
Restructuring, Mr. Guo served from 1982 to 1987 as a senior official in the
government of the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region. Mr. Guo obtained a
bachelor degree in industrial economics from Renmin University of China, the
PRC in 1982.

SUN Yang

Aged 51, is a non-executive Director and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Sun was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 27 May 2019.

Mr. Sun is currently the senior vice president of Digital China Holdings Limited
(@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, Stock code: 00861.HK) (“Digital
China Holdings”) and the chairman of Digital China Software Limited.

Mr. Sun worked for Bank of China Limited from July 1995 to November
1999. After that, he had been the assistant general manager and the deputy
general manager of the information technology department of China Orient
Asset Management Co., Ltd. from November 1999 to April 2013, the deputy
general manager for Orient Bangtong Rongtong Holding Co., Ltd. (formerly
known as Bangxin Huirong Holdings Co., Ltd.) from April 2013 to July
2017, the chairman of the board of directors of Dongfang Bangxin Financial
Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from March 2014 to July 2017, the deputy
general manager for the Dongfang Jincheng International Trust Valuation
Limited (R BHEREAFHEER AR from June 2017 to November
2017. He was the chairman of the Supervisory Committee of Digital China
Information Service Company Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 000555.57).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEAEHN

Mr. Sun graduated with a bachelor’s degree of engineering in applied
computing from Harbin University of Science and Technology in July 1995
and with a master’s degree in engineering from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunications in January 2010.

LIN Dewei
Aged 62, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lin was appointed as a non-
executive Director with effect from 1 July 2020.

Mr. Lin has approximately 25 years of experience in the legal field and worked
as a part-time lawyer at various law firms in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") between 1995 and 2001. In 2001, Mr. Lin practiced as a lawyer
at Guangdong Everwin Law Office and became a partner of the firm in 2004.
Since 2013, Mr. Lin has been practicing as a lawyer at Guangdong Yogo Law
Firm. Mr. Lin was appointed as a non-executive director of China Lesso Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on Stock Exchange, Stock code: 2128.HK)
on 27 February 2010, and was redesignated as an executive director of that
company on 11 July 2018. Mr. Lin obtained a bachelor’s degree in science
from South China University of Technology (formerly known as South China
Institute of Technology) in July 1982 and received a certificate of lawyer
qualification in the PRC in January 1990.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

ZHANG Ke

Aged 69, is an independent non-executive Director. He is the chairman of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, respectively, and
a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 28 March 2003.

Mr. Zhang is a certified public accountant in the PRC and is the founding
partner of Shine Wing Certified Public Accountants. He graduated from
Renmin University of China in 1982 with a bachelor degree in economics
majoring in industry economics. He has many years of experience in the fields
of economics, accounting and finance. Mr. Zhang was the vice-president
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and is currently a
member of Internal Control Standard Committee of the Ministry of Finance of
the PRC and the Chief Supervisor of Beijing Association of Forensic Science.
Mr. Zhang is currently acting an independent director of CITIC Press Group
Corporation (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock code:
300788.52).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEAEHNT

ZHANG Tim Tianwei

Aged 59, is an independent non-executive Director. He is also a member
of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Zhang was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1
November 2011.

Mr. Zhang is currently the chief investment officer of China Resources Capital
Management Ltd. He was the founder and managing director of Taconic
Capital Ltd. from September 2003 to September 2005. He acted as the vice
chairman and general manager of Unicredit China Capital Limited from
September 2005 to June 2007. He served as the managing director of J.P.
Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) from July 2007 to October 2011 and acted
as the chairman of J.P. Morgan (China) Venture Capital Investment Co. Ltd.
Since its foundation in 2010 to October 2011. He served as the managing
director of Taconic Capital Group from November 2011 to March 2012, and as
the chief operating officer of China Merchants Capital Management Limited
from April 2012 to December 2014. He is the managing director of Mount
Flag Capital Ltd. from January 2015 to September 2018 and was also the
chief executive officer of Mount Flag LLC from August 2015 to September
2018.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Tsinghua University at the Faculty of Precision
Instruments & Mechanology in July 1986. He obtained a Master of Economics
from the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and a Master of Business
Administration (MBA) from The University of Chicago. Mr. Zhang has over 20
years of experience in financial and business management.
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QI Yan

Aged 73, is an independent non-executive Director and a member of the
Audit committee and the Remuneration Committee. Ms. Qi was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 30 November 2017.

Ms. Qi is currently the chief representative of Xiaomi Corporation, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1810.HK). She served in Aigo
Digital Technology Co., Ltd as a vice president from September 2004 to
September 2011, and was subsequently promoted to the vice chairman and
the chief executive officer from September 2011 to March 2012. She also
served in Aigo Electronics Technology Co. Ltd as the chief executive officer
from March 2012 to December 2012. She has over 20 years' experience in
business management. Ms. Qi was awarded the certificate of Postgraduate
Master’s degree in applied sociology from the Graduate School of B4t
2 RIERT (Chinese Academy of Social Sciences) in June 1998. Ms. Qi joined
the China National Democratic Construction Association (“CNDCA") in 1987
and served the Central Committee of CNDCA and the Beijing Municipal
Committee of CNDCA. Ms Qi is currently a representative of the 16th People’s
Congress of Haidian District, Beijing City.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ZHAO Hong

Aged 48, is the chief financial officer of the Company. Ms. Zhao was
appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company with effect from 31
May 2020.

Ms. Zhao served from 2001 to 2014 in Digital China Holdings Limited’s
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, Stock code: 861.HK) mainly in
the finance department as finance director, in the financing department
as general manager of distributorship financing and in the financial service
department of headquarter institutional division as general manager. From
2014 to 2017, Ms. Zhao worked as the financial controller of Chongging
Digital China Huicong Micro-Credit Co., Ltd., currently a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. In 2018, she served as the vice president of
the Company and in 2019 she was promoted to senior vice president and
the chief financial officer of the business groups of platform and corporate
services, and smart industries of the Company concurrently.

Ms. Zhao graduated from Harbin Engineering University with a Bachelor’s
degree in engineering in July 1997 and a Master’s degree in economics in
April 2001, respectively.

WU Lei

Aged 42, is the executive vice president of the Group, responsible for the
management of business group of smart industries of the Group. Mr. Wu
joined the Group in 2015 and served as the managing director of a finance
and leasing company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Wu was the sales director of the Eastern China region in Start
Group (EiZ%E) and subsequently the assistant president of Zhejiang Fuyue
Holding Group (1)L & #iEA& & E). Mr. Wu has over 10 years’ experience
in the operation and management in the industry. Mr. Wu graduated from
Zhejiang University (7T AE) in 2002 and obtained a Bachelor's degree of
electronic engineering.
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SONG Bingchen

Aged 43, is the executive vice president of the Group. Mr. Song joined
the Group in 2011. Before joining the Group, Mr. Song served as the
deputy president of Ego Group, and the general manager of Ego Cultural
Communication Company Limited. Mr. Song spent one year as a teacher
under the Chinese Youth Volunteer Poverty Alleviation Relay Plan in
Liangshan, Sichuan from 2002 to 2003.

Mr. Song currently also served as the deputy president of Guangdong
Young Entrepreneurs’ Association, a committee member of Guangdong
Youth Federation, the deputy president of Guangdong Electrical Appliances
Chamber of Commerce, and the deputy president of Hangzhou Alumni
Association of Zhejiang University. Mr. Song has over 15 years of experience
in industry operation and management.

Mr. Song graduated from Zhejiang University and obtained a bachelor’s
degree in management in 2002, and obtained a master’s degree in
management from Zhejiang University in 2005.

LU Qingguo

Aged 49, is the Board Secretary and the general counsel of the Group. Mr.
Lu joined the Group in May 1998 and has served as the Company lawyer, the
head of legal department and chief legal officer, and was appointed as the
Board Secretary of the Company in 2011. Mr. Lu is mainly responsible for the
legal affairs and listing affairs of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lu
has taught in Guizhou Minzu University for two years. Mr. Lu graduated from
Southwest University of Political Science & Law and obtained a Bachelor’s
degree of Laws, LL.B. Mr. Lu also passed the national lawyer qualification
examination and obtained the certificate of lawyer qualification in 1997. Mr.
Lu has over 20 years of experience in corporate legal affairs.

Please also refer to the Directors Report and the Corporate Governance Report
for additional information about the Directors and senior management,
including their emoluments, and (where applicable) interests in shares.

Certain Chinese names of institutions, natural persons or other entities have been
translated into English and included in this annual report as unofficial translations for
identification purpose only. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese names shall
prevail.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

BERE WA DA

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s cash and cash equivalent decreased by approximately
RMB21,789,000 from approximately RMB333,812,000 as at 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB312,023,000 as at 31 December 2022,
approximately 99.8% of which is denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total borrowings of
RMB1,070,277,000 (31 December 2021: RMB1,002,530,000), of which
RMB653,661,000 (31 December 2021: RMB683,114,000) were bank
borrowings which bear an average interest rate of 6.43% per annum (31
December 2021: 6.49% per annum) and maturity ranging from 2023 to
2025, and RMB416,616,000 (31 December 2021: RMB319,416,000) were
other borrowings. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has no undrawn
banking facilities (31 December 2021: Nil). The other borrowings are provided
by independent third parties and bear interest rate ranging from 3.85%
to 8.0% per annum (31 December 2021: 3.89% to 10% per annum). The
Group's borrowings were mainly made in RMB.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group was in net debt position, whereas the
Group’s gearing ratio is 17%, which is calculated as net debt, including
lease liabilities, divided by total capital. The capital and reserves attributable
to equity holders of the Company decreased by approximately RMB256.9
million from approximately RMB2,866.0 million as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB2,609.1 million as at 31 December 2022.

During the Year, the Group had conservative treasury policies in terms of cash
and financial management. The Group does not use any financial instruments
for hedging purposes.

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

A Business Review and a Financial Review of the Group are set out on page 8
to 22 of this report.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the Group’s investment properties and completed properties held
for sale as at 31 December 2022 are set out below:

Approximate
gross floor area

Group's (sg.m.)
Location interest BHEEmE

REW=R
R-Bo—E+Z A=+ BAREZREMERS
{ESHER TSRS HBIMT -

3 AREE RS S (FF5K)

Room 1004, The West Lake Plaza of 100% 1,263
International Science & Technology,
No. 391 Wen'er Street, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province
HTE N T ZE83915%
PRI R A E 1004

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group has no significant investment, or
any material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or
joint ventures for the Year. Save as disclosed in this report, there was no plan
authorised by the Board for any material investments or additions of capital
assets as at the date of this report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Structured Contracts involving Huicong Construction

In light of the relevant PRC laws and regulations restricting the participation
and operation of internet content services by foreign investors, the Group has
engaged Beijing Huicong Construction Information Consulting Co., Ltd. (1t 5
BN BFEAAR2AA) ("HC Construction” or “Huicong Construction”)
to operate its online platform, and publish its business information on the
internet pursuant to certain contractual arrangements (the “HC Contractual
Arrangements”). The Group relies on the HC Contractual Arrangements in
respect of its online services.

Please also refer to the prospectus of the Company dated 8 December 2003
and the announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2014 in relation
to the transfer of listing from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(the “Transfer of Listing Announcement”) for further details of the HC
Contractual Arrangements.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, save as disclosed in this annual report,
there was no material change in the HC Contractual Arrangements and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted.

For the reporting period, none of the structured contracts under the HC
Contractual Arrangements had been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of the said structured contracts had been removed.

To further strengthen the Group’s protection under the HC Contractual
Arrangements and its management and control over Huicong Construction,
the Group amended certain terms of the then existing agreements and
entered into a new exclusive option agreement, an equity pledge agreement
and powers of attorney with Huicong Construction and/or its registered
shareholders on 15 September 2014. As a result of the HC Contractual
Arrangements, Huicong Construction is considered to be a subsidiary of the
Group and the financial statements of Huicong Construction are included in
the Group's consolidated financial statements from 15 September 2014.

On 30 June 2021, owing to the needs of the Group’s structure reorganisation,
all rights and obligations of Beijing Huicong International Information Co.,
Ltd. (“Beijing HC International”) under the Huicong Contractual Arrangement
undertaken by Beijing Huicong Technology Group Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Huicong
Technology”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and Beijing Huicong
Technology and Huicong Construction and or its registered shareholders
entered into new Structured Contracts on 1 July 2021, while the terms of the
agreement related to the Structured Contracts remain unchanged.
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As at the date of this annual report, agreements underlying the HC
Contractual Arrangements include (i) the domain names and trademarks
licence agreement, (ii) the technology services agreement, (iii) the online
information distribution agreement, (iv) the online advertisement publication
agreement, (v) the exclusive option agreement, (vi) the equity pledge
agreement and (vii) the powers of attorney.

The Group depends on the HC Contractual Arrangements with Huicong
Construction (which holds, among other things, the Telecommunications
and Information Services Business Operation Licence (F 81z B AR E
TEAR A FE) (“ICP Licence™), bearing a term through 12 January 2027)
in respect of its online services. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
revenue generated from related online services of the Group is approximately
RMB52,708,000 (2021: RMB87,002,000), represents approximately 0.31%
(2021: approximately 0.5%) of the total revenue of the Group.

Information of Huicong Construction

Huicong Construction is a limited liability company established in the PRC.
As at the date of this annual report, the registered capital of Huicong
Construction is owned as to 50% by Mr. Guo Fansheng (a non-executive
Director) and 50% by Mr. Liu Jun (an executive Director). Mr. Liu Jun currently
is the sole director and the legal representative of Huicong Construction,
and he is responsible for making financial and management decisions
of Huicong Construction, and overseeing their implementation, so as to
ensure that Huicong Construction operates in accordance with the terms
of the HC Contractual Arrangements. As each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and
Mr. Liu Jun holds 50% equity interests of Huicong Construction and they
are the controllers of Huicong Construction, Huicong Construction is thus a
connected person of the Company.

Set out below is the key financial information of Huicong Construction during
the year ended 31 December 2022:

Revenue SHEWA
Total assets BEE

RAFEHRAHY - BREOLRH THRRRE RS
MR - (DB RB I - (I LER
BB - (VELESTIERE  (VBRBRER
o (V)RR R R (ViDIRAEE o

AEEGREF FRSKBEREEESR (HiFE(HSP
BRE)BRE_Z-_+tF-A+-_HAZEMEEFE
RIS EBEELHFAE(ICPHAED I 2 BB
AHEH BE_TE-_—_F+-_A=+—HItF
B AEEHEERERBELEZHERANAAR
#52,708,000 7T (=& = —4F : AR #87,002,000
TL)  AEEEHERALCII%(ZE=—F : 4y
0.5%) °

SREREH
BRZRA/RPERIZERETAF - RAFHRA
B AT ERIALEREREEREREMER
50% @ ITEEBIESLERIBEAS0% - FFLER
REBBERIE-ESEERRA - BTRERE
BERIFL AU R ER 2RE - WEEHEMET
NHERZIRERRZBEA N LI ZEREE - ARNE
RAEFERBIFELED BIHA SIBER50% BE R
HABIER 2T - HBEERARRR ZEE
AL e

BECEEMBER

Year ended 31 December 2022
RMB’000

BE_Z2__F+-A=t—HLEFE
ARETT

1,147
25,784

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Company and as
confirmed by Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun, save for the operation and
provision of services for the Group as contemplated under the HC Contractual
Arrangements, Huicong Construction has no other material business
operation during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report.
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Views of the Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the HC Contractual
Arrangements, and confirmed that for the financial year ended 31 December
2022, (1) the transactions carried out during the Year have been entered
into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the HC Contractual
Arrangements; and (2) no dividends or other distributions have been made
by Huicong Construction which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to the Group.

Major terms of the agreements underlying the HC
Contractual Arrangements

Technology Services Agreement

Beijing HC Technology entered into a technology services agreement (the
“Technology Services Agreement”) with Huicong Construction on 1 July
2021 for a term of three years and may be renewed for an additional term of
three years at the sole discretion of Beijing HC Technology (and such renewal
shall be subject to the Company having obtained all necessary approvals
and consents in accordance with the applicable laws, rules and regulations
(including applicable rules of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”))).

Pursuant to the Technology Services Agreement, Beijing HC Technology is
appointed by Huicong Construction as its exclusive agent to provide Huicong
Construction with technology support and services related to the internet
content provider business of Huicong Construction, which includes:

(i)  server maintenance services;

(i)  the development, renewal and upgrading of server application software
and its application in the internet content provider business;

(i) the development, renewal and upgrading of application software for
internet user;

(iv) the technology service of e-business;
(v)  the training of technical personnel; and

(vi) other reasonable requests from Huicong Construction for technical
services.

Under the Technology Services Agreement, Huicong Construction shall pay
Beijing HC Technology an annual fee of RMB250,000 for the provision of the
aforesaid services. The annual fee thereafter may be adjusted, but it shall not
exceed 20% of the amount charged in the previous year.
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Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement

Beijing HC Technology entered into a domain names and trademarks licence
agreement (the “Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement”) with
Huicong Construction on 1 July 2021 for a term of three years and may be
renewed for additional term of three years at the sole discretion of Beijing
HC Technology (and such renewal shall be subject to the Company having
obtained all necessary approvals and consents in accordance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations (including applicable rules of the Listing Rules)).

Pursuant to the Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement, Beijing
HC Technology licences Huicong Construction to use certain domain names
and trademarks (including domain names and trademarks owned by Beijing
HC Technology and to be obtained by it from time to time) for the sole
purpose of operating the website and dissemination of information for the
benefit of Beijing HC Technology in the PRC. Any intellectual properties
developed by Huicong Construction during the term (including any renewed
term) of the Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement would
belong to Beijing HC Technology. Parties further agreed that where any
intellectual properties are required by law to be registered in the name of
Huicong Construction, Huicong Construction shall, where permitted by
applicable laws and regulations, upon request of Beijing HC Technology
assign such intellectual property rights to Beijing HC Technology or a party
as designated by Beijing HC Technology, and shall return any consideration
received for such transfer. Huicong Construction has undertaken that they
shall warrant and guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and
it shall bear all damages and losses caused to Beijing HC Technology by any
flaw in such intellectual properties. Beijing HC Technology has the right to
recover all of its losses from Huicong Construction for liabilities to any third

party.

Under the Domain Names and Trademarks Licence Agreement, Huicong
Construction shall pay an annual fee of RMB250,000. The annual fee
thereafter may be adjusted, but the adjustment shall not exceed 20% of the
amount charged in the previous year.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BERBEF I 155

IREBEBEN T - —F A - REZRERITL
i MR e ([ EE kAR ) - B8
= TAHIERBEMREENBEETRIN=F
(MEBBEIRASTARRBBERNER EREERE
(BELHRAZERBRABEHELRIAEREE

/ e

% HAEE) -

RBING LR A - RSN 2iRE
REMETHREER(BREHIRBBRREHES &
HENERGZEELRER) - EHNTRE L8
REMANRILRBIERRNE 2 EE - BIEERR
8% KR A ek AR (2 (AR RT HARR ) AP i
B2 EAABERSBIL R BBRHRPAE « 5477 #
—FREMERRE A ANBERRASRER S
BERL  BRERTEEREEREFRERTT - AR
IERBIERR 2 EREERZANBEE T IERBERE
S RBRRRIEE 2 — R0 - WEARERNEE
MUAEREI R RAE - BENZ RO AFEEARE RIER
BRAGBER I ERE - MEAAERGRAMBE
B2 EAREE I RBRERMRRZ ZMERARE
18- A RBERMRERAEME =S 2 EEmRER
ERWEIE R BRI A EE -

RIEEE AR GE  BRERAINFEAR
#250,0007T - R FEA THE - EHBTEBEG
ZR—FES N SR 220% °



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

EEEF WM DT

Online Information Distribution Agreement

Beijing HC Technology entered into an online information distribution
agreement (the “Online Information Distribution Agreement”) with Huicong
Construction on 1 July 2021 for a term of three years and may be renewed
for an additional term of three years at the sole discretion of Beijing HC
Technology (and such renewal shall be subject to the Company having
obtained all necessary approval and consents in accordance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations (including applicable rules of the Listing Rules)).

Pursuant to the Online Information Distribution Agreement, Beijing HC
Technology appoints Huicong Construction to exclusively publish the
information collected, edited or produced by Beijing HC Technology on the
website operated by Huicong Construction.

Under the Online Information Distribution Agreement, Beijing HC Technology
shall pay an annual fee of RMB900,000. The annual fee thereafter may be
adjusted, but the adjustment shall not exceed 20% of the amount charged in
the previous year.

Online Advertisement Publication Agreement

HC Advertising first entered into an online advertisement publication
agreement (the “Online Advertisement Publication Agreement”) with Huicong
Construction on 2 January 2002 for a term of three years (and subsequently
extended). The existing term of the Online Advertisement Publication
Agreement is three years commencing from 15 September 2020 to 14
September 2023, and may be renewed for additional term of three years at
the sole discretion of HC Advertising (and such renewal shall be subject to the
Company having obtained all necessary approvals and consents in accordance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations (including applicable rules of
the Listing Rules)).

Pursuant to the Online Advertisement Publication Agreement, HC Advertising
appoints Huicong Construction to publish exclusively advertisement designed,
produced by or entrusted to HC Advertising on the website operated by
Huicong Construction.

Under the Online Advertisement Publication Agreement, HC Advertising
shall pay an annual fee of RMB900,000. The annual fee thereafter may be
adjusted, but the adjustment shall not exceed 20% of the amount charged in
the previous year.
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Exclusive Option Agreement

Beijing HC Technology entered into the exclusive option agreement (the
“Exclusive Option Agreement”) with Huicong Construction, Mr. Guo
Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun on 1 July 2021, pursuant to which Mr. Guo
Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun jointly and severally granted to Beijing HC
Technology (and Huicong Construction having consented to such grant) an
irrevocable exclusive option for Beijing HC Technology (or such third party
as it may designate) to purchase, to the extent permitted by PRC laws, all or
part of their equity interests in Huicong Construction, at the consideration
of RMB1,400,000 or a minimum purchase price permitted under PRC laws
and regulations at the time of exercise of such option. Such exclusive option
is for an indefinite term commencing on 1 July 2021 until (i) it is terminated
by Beijing HC Technology in writing, or (i) upon transfer of the entire equity
interests held by Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun in Huicong Construction.
Such exclusive option may not be revoked or varied during the term of the
Exclusive Option Agreement.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, each of Mr. Guo Fansheng
and Mr. Liu Jun has undertaken to Beijing HC Technology, among other
things, that they shall not create any pledge, indebtedness or third party
encumbrances, and shall not transfer, give by way of gift, pledge or otherwise
dispose of its equity in Huicong Construction to any party other than Beijing
HC Technology (or such third party as it may designated by it). Further,
Huicong Construction has undertaken to Beijing HC Technology, among other
things, that:

(i) it will operate its business in accordance with the laws, regulations,
requirements and other management requirements or directions by
relevant governmental department;

(i) it shall ensure the continual existence of Huicong Construction in
accordance with good financial and business standards and practices,
and shall prudently and effectively operate its business and transactions,
and shall use its best endeavours to ensure Huicong Construction
obtaining all licences, permits and approval requires for its operation,
and to ensure that they shall not be cancelled, revoked or declared
invalid;

(iii) it shall provide all its information in respect of its operation and finance
at Beijing HC Technology’s request;
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(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

it shall not conduct any of the following matters unless with prior
written approval from Beijing HC Technology: (a) sell, transfer, pledge
or otherwise dispose of any assets, business, or income, or allow
encumbrance be created thereon (save as in its ordinary course of
business or with prior written approval from Beijing HC Technology);
(b) enter into any transactions which will materially and adversely affect
its assets, obligations, operation, equity interest and other legal rights
(save as in its ordinary course of business or with prior written approval
from Beijing HC Technology); (c) declare dividend, or bonus to its
shareholders; or (d) incur, take up, guarantee or allow any indebtedness
other than those in the ordinary course of business and with the prior
written consent of Beijing HC Technology;

it shall not without the prior written approval from Beijing HC
Technology resolve any shareholders’ resolution on increasing or
decreasing its registered capital, or alerting its registered capital
structure;

it shall not without the prior written approval from Beijing HC
Technology alter its articles of association, or change its scope of
business; and

it shall not without the prior written approval from Beijing HC
Technology change or remove any of its director or senior management.

Huicong Construction, Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun further executed
an undertaking dated 1 July 2021 (the “Undertaking”), pursuant to which,
among other things, they undertake to unconditionally return to the Group
any consideration they receive in the event Beijing HC Technology acquires
the equity interests in Huicong Construction, and to unconditionally transfer
the domain name “hc360.com” and related registered trademark(s) to Beijing
HC Technology (or such third party as it may designated by it) in the event
that the agreements underlying the HC Contractual Arrangements lapse,
expire or be terminated.

(iv)

(vii)

SIER
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Power of Attorney

On 1 July 2021, each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun has executed a
power of attorney (the “Power of Attorney”). Pursuant to each of the Powers
of Attorney, each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun unconditionally and
irrevocably authorises any individual designated by Beijing HC Technology
(which shall be a director of the Company (other than Mr. Guo Fansheng, Mr.
Liu Jun or their close associates), and shall be a resident of PRC) to represent
him in exercising all his rights as shareholders of Huicong Construction under
applicable PRC laws, including without limitation, to transfer all his equity
interests, to determine the consideration for such transfer, to complete all
relevant procedures regarding such transfer, to attend general meetings and
exercise voting rights, to execute all such relevant documents, agreements
and resolutions, etc.. Such Powers of Attorney shall remain in full force and
effect from 1 July 2021 until Mr. Guo Fansheng or Mr. Liu Jun (as the case
may be) ceases to be a shareholder of Huicong Construction.

Equity Pledge Agreement

Beijing HC Technology, Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun entered into the
equity pledge agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”) on 1 July 2021,
pursuant to which each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun pledged all their
respective equity interests in Huicong Construction to Beijing HC Technology
to secure the performance of all their obligations and the obligations of
Huicong Construction under the Domain Names and Trademarks Licence
Agreement, the Technology Services Agreement, the Online Information
Distribution Agreement, the Online Advertisement Publication Agreement, the
Exclusive Option Agreement and the Powers of Attorney.

Beijing HC Technology will be entitled to exercise the rights of pledge in the
event Huicong Construction fails to pay the service fee under the Technology
Services Agreement and the Domain Names and Trademarks Licence
Agreement or fail to perform any other term of the above agreements, the
Online Information Distribution Agreement and the Online Advertisement
Agreement, or any of Huicong Construction, Mr. Guo Fansheng or Mr.
Liu Jun fails to perform any term of the Exclusive Option Agreement and
the Powers of Attorney (as the case may be), upon reasonable notice. If
Huicong Construction declares any dividend, bonus or adopt any proposal for
distribution of profits during the term of the Equity Pledge Agreement, such
dividends, bonus or economic benefits of all such proposal for distribution
shall be delivered to Beijing HC Technology.

The Equity Pledge Agreement is for an indefinite term commencing from
14 February 2019 until (i) all the agreements (other than the Equity Pledge
Agreement) underlying the HC Contractual Arrangements have been
terminated by Beijing HC Technology and/or HC Advertising (as the case may
be) or (i) all the obligations under the Equity Pledge Agreement have been
fulfilled. The Equity Pledge Agreement has been filed at relevant market
supervision and administration bureau.
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Risks associated with the HC Contractual Arrangements

The government may determine that the agreements underlying the HC
Contractual Arrangements do not comply with the applicable regulations, or
these regulations or their interpretation may change in the future.

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and members of the
Group established in the PRC are considered as foreign-invested enterprise.
Currently, laws and regulations of the PRC restrict participation and operation
of internet content services by foreign investors. The Group depends on the
HC Contractual Arrangements with Huicong Construction in respect of its
online services. Upon interview conducted by the PRC legal advisers with
relevant responsible officer of the Telecommunication Department of Beijing
Communications Administration Jt R HBEZIEREEEIEE), the PRC
legal advisers were informed that currently, there is no prohibition of adoption
of contractual arrangements or variable interest entity in the business
of services, and there has been no law, rules, regulations or normative
documents in the PRC which stipulates that such arrangements constitute the
act of “concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form” under PRC laws.

Save for matters as further discussed in the paragraph headed “Certain terms
of the HC Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC
laws” below, our PRC legal advisers are of the opinion that the agreements
underlying the HC Contractual Arrangements are, collectively and individually,
legal and valid and do not violate PRC laws, rule and regulations. Although
the Group has not received any interference regarding the legality of the HC
Contractual Arrangements, there is no assurance that the PRC government
or judicial authorities would agree that the HC Contractual Arrangements
comply with PRC licensing, registration, other regulatory requirements or
policies that may be adopted in the future. If the PRC government or judicial
authorities determines that the Group or the HC Contractual Arrangements
do not comply with the applicable PRC laws and regulations, it could have
discretion in dealing with such non-compliance, including:

(i)  discontinuing or placing restriction on the business operation of Beijing
HC Technology, HC Advertising and/or Huicong Construction in the
PRC;

(i) requiring reorganisation or restructuring of ownership or business of
Beijing HC Technology and/or HC Advertising;

(i) levying fines and/or confiscating the proceeds generated from the
operations under the HC Contractual Arrangements; and

(iv) taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could have a
material adverse effect over the Group'’s financial condition or business.
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The imposition of any of the above mentioned consequences could result
in a material and adverse effect on the Group’s ability to conduct its online
business. In particular, in the event the imposition of any of these consequence
prevent Huicong Construction from providing internet content provider
services to the Group and the Group is unable to locate any substitute timely,
the operation of the Group’s platform could be severely disrupted and the
Group may breach its existing contracts for online businesses (including
among others, subscription for Mai-Mai-Tong and Biao-Wang search). Where
the Group loses the right to direct the activities of Huicong Construction as
a result of these consequences, the Group would also be no longer able to
consolidate the financial results of Huicong Construction.

The HC Contractual Arrangements may not provide control as effective as
direct ownership

The Group depends on the HC Contractual Arrangements with Huicong
Construction, who hold key licences required, in respect of its online services.
Huicong Construction is owned as to 50% by Mr. Guo Fansheng and 50% by
Mr. Liu Jun. The Company and its subsidiaries do not own or hold any equity
interests in Huicong Construction.

The HC Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing control
over website operations in PRC as direct ownership in these businesses. For
example, Huicong Construction and its shareholders could breach or fail to
perform their obligations under the HC Contractual Arrangements. If Huicong
Construction fails to perform its obligations under the HC Contractual
Arrangements, the Group will have to resort to legal remedies under the PRC
law, which could result in substantial litigation costs and diverse the Group’s
management’s time and efforts away from their running the regular business
of the Group. There is uncertainty as to the outcome and duration of legal
proceedings and its enforceability. In addition, the Group cannot be sure that
contractual remedies would be effective or sufficient to enforce its interests.
In the event Huicong Construction refuses or fails to provide the internet
content services to the Group and the Group is unable to locate any substitute
timely, the operation of the Group’s platform could be severely disrupted and
the Group may breach its existing contracts for online businesses.
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The Group currently operates its online platform principally through the
website of “hc360.com”. Currently, Huicong Construction is the registrant
of the domain name “hc360.com” in light of relevant requirements in the
PRC on internet content provider business. Huicong Construction, Mr. Guo
Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun have undertaken pursuant to the agreements
underlying the HC Contractual Arrangements and the Undertaking that
Huicong Construction will, so far as it is permitted under the PRC laws,
transfer the domain name and trademark(s) to the Group (or the Group's
nominee) in the event the HC Contractual Arrangements lapse, expire or be
terminated. If the Group is unable to acquire the domain name from Huicong
Construction, or if Huicong Construction declares bankruptcy or if the domain
name, as part of Huicong Construction’s assets, become subject to liens or
rights of third party, the Group may be unable to continue its existing business
using “hc360.com” and may be required to establish a new domain name,
and to establish new trademark, which may disrupt the Group’s operation,
confuse users and damage the Group's reputation, and may materially and
adversely affect the Group's results of operation.

The registered shareholders of Huicong Construction may have potential
conflicts of interest with the Group

As at the date of this annual report, equity interests of Huicong Construction
is owned as to 50% by Mr. Guo Fansheng and 50% by Mr. Liu Jun. Mr. Liu
Jun is the sole director and the legal representative of Huicong Construction.
The Directors are of the view that Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun are
controllers of Huicong Construction. Each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu
Jun has undertaken to the Company that each of them will procure Huicong
Construction in fulfilling its obligations under the agreements underlying the
HC Contractual Arrangements. Each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun, as
a Director, also owes fiduciary duties to the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole pursuant to relevant law of the Cayman Islands.

There is no assurance that when conflicts of interests arise, shareholders of
Huicong Construction will act in the best interests of the Group, or that any
conflicts of interests will be resolved in favour of the Group.

To further strengthen the protections to the Group over potential conflicts
of interest between the registered shareholders of Huicong Construction,
and the Group, on 1 July 2021, Beijing HC Technology entered into, among
others, the Exclusive Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge Agreement and
the Powers of Attorney with Huicong Construction. Pursuant to the Exclusive
Option Agreement, Beijing HC Technology was granted the option to
purchase from the registered shareholders their equity interest in Huicong
Construction when and to the extent permitted by law. Pursuant to the Equity
Pledge Agreement, Beijing HC Technology is entitled to dispose of the equity
interests of Huicong Construction pledged, in the event of stipulated events
regarding failure of performance by, among others, registered shareholders
of Huicong Construction. Further, each of the Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr.
Liu Jun has executed the Power of Attorney which authorises individual
designated by Beijing HC Technology to exercise all of their rights and powers
as shareholders of Huicong Construction.
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Since the entering into of the agreements underlying the HC Contractual
Arrangements and up to the date of this annual report, neither Huicong
Construction nor its registered shareholders commits any breach of the
agreements underlying the HC Contractual Arrangements or undertakings.
However, if shareholder(s) of Huicong Construction cause Huicong
Construction to breach the HC Contractual Arrangements, or in the event
Mr. Guo Fansheng and/or Mr. Liu Jun breach the aforesaid undertakings, the
Group will have to resort to legal remedies under the PRC law, which could
result in substantial litigation costs and diverse the Group’s management’s
time and efforts away from their running the regular business of the Group.
There is uncertainty as to the outcome and duration of legal proceedings and
its enforceability, and the Group cannot be sure that contractual remedies
would be effective or sufficient to enforce its interests. Acquisition by the
Group (or by designees of the Group) of equity interests under the Exclusive
Option Agreement and/or the Equity Pledge Agreement may further be
subject to substantial transaction costs) and taxation. In the event that the HC
Contractual Arrangements are breached and the Group is unable to locate
any substitute to provide internet content services timely, the operation of the
Group's platform could be severely disrupted and the Group may breach its
existing contracts for online businesses, and the Group’s operation, result of
operations and financial conditions may be materially and adversely affected.
Also, if the Group is unable to acquire the domain name in such events, or if
Huicong Construction declares bankruptcy or if the domain name, as part of
Huicong Construction’s assets, become subject to liens or rights of third party,
the Group may be unable to continue its existing business using the domain
name of “hc360.com” and may be required to establish a new domain
name, which may disrupt the Group's operation, confuse users and damage
the Group's reputation, and may materially and adversely affect the Group’s
results of operation.

The HC Contractual Arrangements may subject the Group to increased
taxation due to different income tax rates applicable to Beijing HC
International and Huicong Construction

Pursuant to the Online Information Distribution Agreement, Huicong
Construction provides internet content provider services for an annual fee of
RMB900,000.

Before 2020, Beijing HC International is subject to a preferential tax rate of
15%, and Huicong Construction is subject to a tax rate of 25%.

In light of the different income tax rates applicable, the determination of such
annual fee and other payment by the Group to Huicong Construction before
2020 may be challenged by relevant PRC tax authorities as unfair, and may
adjust the taxable income or tax amount payable by the Group, requesting
outstanding tax amount be paid or imposing administrative penalty, thereby
having adverse tax consequence and affect the Group’s business, financial
conditions and results of operations of the Group materially and adversely.
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Since the entering into of the HC Contractual Arrangements and up to the
date of this annual report, the Group has not received any interference from
relevant PRC tax authorities as to the different income tax rates applicable.

Huicong Construction may not provide internet content services to the
Group if the HC Contractual Arrangements are not renewed or extended on
equivalent or similar terms, or if Huicong Construction ceases its operation or
corporate entity in the event of dissolution or liquidation, etc.

The Group depends on the HC Contractual Arrangements with Huicong
Construction, which holds key licences required, to operate the Group'’s online
platform. Certain agreements underlying the Contractual Arrangements (other
than the Exclusive Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge Agreement and
the Powers of Attorney, which have an indefinite terms unless terminated)
currently has a term of three years, subject to renewal by Beijing HC
Technology and/or HC Advertising at its respective discretion in accordance
with the respective terms of the agreements. The Company expects that the
Group will renew the agreements on equivalent or similar terms prior to their
expiries.

If the HC Contractual Arrangements are not renewed or extended on
equivalent or similar terms, or if Huicong Construction ceases its operation or
corporate entity in the event of dissolution or liquidation, the Group would
have to engage another PRC entity holding relevant licences required to
provide internet content services to the Group.

To strengthen the Group’s protection, Beijing HC Technology entered into the
Exclusive Option Agreement dated 1 July 2021, pursuant to which Beijing HC
Technology (or such third party as it may designated) may purchase the equity
interests of Mr. Guo Fansheng or Mr. Liu Jun in Huicong Construction, among
others, in the event that HC Contractual Arrangements are not renewed.
The said option is for an indefinite period unless terminated by Beijing HC
Technology or upon Beijing HC Technology acquiring all equity interests in
Huicong Construction. Further, each of the registered shareholders of Huicong
Construction (namely, Mr. Guo Fansheng and Mr. Liu Jun) has executed
the Power of Attorney which authorise individual designated by Beijing
HC Technology to exercise all of their rights and powers as shareholders
of Huicong Construction. In addition, as each of Mr. Guo Fansheng and
Mr. Liu Jun, being all registered shareholders of Huicong Construction, is a
Director, each of them further owes a duty of care to the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole under applicable laws. The Directors are of the view
that Huicong Construction and/or its registered shareholders are not entitled
to terminate the agreements underlying the HC Contractual Arrangements
save for material breach by Beijing HC Technology and/or HC Advertising (as
the case maybe). In such cases of termination, that the Group will be entitled
to exercise its rights under the Equity Pledge Agreement to uphold its rights or
have to resort to legal remedies under the PRC law.
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There is no assurance that the Group can identify new entity which provides
internet content services required for the Group’s operation timely, or on
equivalent or similar terms. In the event that existing PRC entity cannot be
located, the Group may be required to engage other parties to set up new
entity. Pursuant to the existing laws and regulations, approval procedures
for key licences to operate internet content services usually takes three to six
months, with such requirements including among others, the Qualification
Requirement (as further discussed below) and a minimum requirement of
registered capital of not less than RMB1,000,000, while there is no assurance
that such approval will be granted, or will be granted on a timely manner.

In the event that the HC Contractual Arrangements are discontinued and the
Group is unable to locate any substitute to provide internet content services
timely, the operation of the Group'’s platform could be severely disrupted and
the Group may breach its existing contracts for online businesses, which could
materially and adversely affect the Group’s business operation and financial
results.

Certain terms of the HC Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable
under PRC laws

The HC Contractual Arrangements provide for dispute resolution by way of
arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules of the Beijing Arbitration
Commission in the PRC. The HC Contractual Arrangements also contain
provisions to the effect that, the arbitral body may award remedies over
shares and/or assets of Huicong Construction, injunctive relief and/or winding
up of Huicong Construction, and that courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman
Islands are of competent jurisdiction with power to grant interim remedies in
support of arbitration pending formation of arbitral tribunal or in appropriate
cases.

We have been advised by our PRC legal advisers that the above mentioned
provisions regarding injunctive relief or interim remedies contained in the
HC Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable, and that under PRC
laws, arbitral body does not have the power to grant any injunctive relief or
liquidation order in case of dispute.

Accordingly, such remedies may not be available to us timely, or be available
to us at all notwithstanding the relevant contractual provisions contained in
the HC Contractual Arrangements.

Exercise of option to acquire the equity interests in Huicong Construction
may be subject to limitations and the ownership transfer may be subject to
substantial costs

Under the HC Contractual Arrangements, the Group has the option to
purchase equity interests in Huicong Construction. It is the intention of the
Group to unwind the HC Contractual Arrangements as soon as the law allows
the business to operate without such HC Contractual Arrangements.
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The Administrative Rules for Foreign Investments in Telecommunications
Enterprises (2016 amended) (the “FITE Rules”) currently stipulated that
foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of the equity
interests of a company providing value-added telecommunications services,
including internet content provider services. As the Company is a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands, all members of the Group controlled by
the Company through majority shareholdings or equity interests are regarded
as such foreign invested enterprise, which restrict the exercise of option.

In addition, under the FITE Rules, a foreign invested enterprise wishing to
acquire any equity interest in a value-added telecommunications business
in the PRC must demonstrate a good track record and experience in
providing value-added telecommunications services overseas (“Qualification
Requirement”). There is currently no clear guidance on the interpretation
of the Qualification Requirement under the existing applicable PRC laws,
regulations or rules, and the Company is therefore unable to ascertain the
Qualification Requirement. There is no assurance that the Group will be
able to sufficiently satisfy the Qualification Requirement, or there will not
be any subsequent change, interpretation or guidance on the Qualification
Requirement, or such other requirements concerning the operator of internet
content provider services. If the restrictions on the percentage of foreign
ownership in telecommunications services are removed, the Group may need
to unwind the HC Contractual Arrangements before the Group is in a position
to comply with the Qualification Requirement.

The exercise of option to acquire equity ownership of Huicong Construction
may incur substantial costs on the part of the Group. Pursuant to the HC
Contractual Arrangements, the Group has an exclusive option to purchase,
to the extent permitted by PRC laws, equity interests in Huicong Construction
in all or part, at the consideration of RMB1,400,000 or a minimum purchase
price permitted under PRC laws and regulations at the time of exercise of
such option. Where the relevant PRC authorities determine that the purchase
price is below the market value, they may require Beijing HC Technology to
pay enterprise income tax for ownership transfer income with reference to the
market value. The amount of tax may be substantial, which could materially
and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operation
of the Group.
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If Huicong Construction fails to obtain and maintain the requisite assets,
licences and approvals as required under the regulatory environment for
internet content provider business in the PRC, the business, financial condlition
and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected

The telecommunications services industry in China is heavily regulated by
the PRC government and numerous regulatory authorities of the central
PRC government are empowered to issue and implement regulations
governing various aspects of the telecommunications services industry.
These telecommunications services-related laws and regulations are relatively
new and evolving, and there is a certain degree of uncertainty especially
on the interpretation and enforcement of these laws. As a result, in certain
circumstances it may be difficult to determine what actions or omissions may
be deemed to be in violations of applicable laws and regulations.

Huicong Construction is required to obtain and maintain certain assets
relevant to its business as well as applicable licenses or approvals from
the relevant regulatory authorities in order to provide its current services.
These assets and licenses are essential to the operation of internet content
provider business and are generally subject to annual review by the relevant
governmental authorities. Also, Huicong Construction may need to obtain
additional licenses. If Huicong Construction fails to obtain or maintain any of
the required assets, licenses or approvals, its continued business operations in
the telecommunications services industry may subject it to various penalties,
including but not limited to fines and the discontinuation or restriction of
its operations. Any such disruption in the business operations of Huicong
Construction will materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The Company may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by Huicong
Construction that are important to the Group'’s business if Huicong
Construction declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a dissolution or
winding up proceeding

Huicong Construction holds certain assets that are important to the Group’s
business operations, primarily the ICP Licence and the domain name of
"hc360.com”. The HC Contractual Arrangements with Huicong Construction
and its shareholders contain terms that specifically obligate Mr. Guo Fansheng
and Mr. Liu Jun to ensure the valid existence of Huicong Construction.
However, in the event that Mr. Guo Fansheng or Mr. Liu Jun breaches
this obligation and voluntarily wind up Huicong Construction, or Huicong
Construction declares bankruptcy or is otherwise dissolved, some or all of
the Group's online business operations may have to be ceased, which could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations. If Huicong Construction undergoes a voluntary or involuntary
winding-up proceeding, Mr. Guo Fansheng or Mr. Liu Jun or any other third-
party creditors may claim rights to some or all of these assets, resulting in
hindrance to the Group’s ability to operate the Group’s online business, which
could materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition
and results of operations.
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Even the transfer of trademark of “hc360" has been completed, there may
still be potential penalties

We have been advised by our PRC legal advisers that holders of the ICP
License shall hold the domain name and the trademarks used for conducting
the internet content provider business pursuant to the MIIT Notice.

In order to comply with the notice requirement of the ICP, Beijing HC
International transferred the trademark “hc360” to Huicong Construction
through the HC Contractual Arrangements. On 25 January 2016, the
trademark transfer was completed and Huicong Construction obtained the
trademark certificate for “hc360” on 13 March 2016. The Company has been
advised by the PRC Legal Advisers that, upon completion of the Trademark
Transfer, it is unlikely for Huicong Construction be penalized in respect of
failure to fulfill the trademark requirement under the MIIT Notice regarding
any period prior to the Trademark Transfer.

Structured Contracts involving Beijing Zhixing Ruijing

On 3 July 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% of share
capital of Orange Triangle Inc. (“Orange Triangle”). It FZE= AR AR A
7] (Beijing Orange Triangle Technology Co., Ltd.) (“Orange Beijing”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of Orange Triangle entered into certain structured contracts
(the “BZR Structured Contracts”) with Beijing Zhixing Ruijing Technology Co.,
Ltd. R ATE SRR AR A F]) (“Beijing Zhixing Ruijing”) and/or its then
shareholders on 3 July 2015. On 21 February 2021, ${ =24t (M) {5854
HEBNE (ABRAE) (Ruijing Huijie (Huizhou) Information Consultation
Partnership (Limited Liability)*,”Ruijing Huijie”) became a shareholder holding
60% of equity interest in Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. Ruijing Huijie is a limited
liability partnership owned by Mr. Liu Jun, the executive Director and chairman
of the Board, and Mr. Zhang Yonghong, the executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company as to 60% and 40%, respectively. In light
of the aforesaid change, Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing Huijie
and Mr. Liu Xiaodong entered into a new set of BZR Structured Contracts
on 26 March 2020. All assets, rights and contracts of Orange Triangle were
passed to its sole shareholder (Z. Tech Holdings Limited, a 89.34%-owned
subsidiary of the Group) upon its dissolution by operation of laws and the
dissolution resolutions.

Pursuant to the BZR Structured Contracts, Orange Beijing or Orange Triangle
will provide certain technical consultation and service, including but not
limited to technical services support, intellectual property licensing, and
business and management consultation, whereas Beijing Zhixing Ruijing will
pay (a) the annual service fees RMB5 million to Orange Beijing; (b) the annual
service fees which equal 12% of its annual revenue to Orange Triangle; and
(c) the service fee equivalent to its revenue deducted by its expenses, net
operation loss and reserve fund extracted to Orange Beijing. Orange Beijing
relies on the BZR Structured Contracts to control the finance and operation of
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing so as to obtain the economic benefits and the rights to
variable returns from Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.
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Please also refer to the announcements of the Company dated 17 March
2015, 8 May 2015 and 3 July 2015, respectively, and the circular of the
Company dated 4 June 2015 for further details.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, save as disclosed in this annual report,
there was no material change in the BZR Structured Contracts and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted.

For the reporting period, none of the structured contracts under the BZR
Structured Contracts had been unwound as none of the restrictions that led
to the adoption of the said structured contracts had been removed.

Further, the Group entered into the BZR Structured Contracts to conduct the
restricted business in the PRC in order to comply with the abovementioned
PRC laws and regulations and to assert management control over the
operations of, and enjoy all of economic benefits of, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
on 3 July 2015, pursuant to which the Group has the right to enjoy all the
economic benefits of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, to exercise management control
over the operations of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, and to prevent any leakage of
the assets and values of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to the registered shareholders
of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. As a result of the BZR Structured Contracts, Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing is consolidated into the accounts of the Group in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies from 3 July 2015.

As at the date of this annual report, the BZR Structured Contracts include
(i) the exclusive technical services agreement, (ii) the exclusive licensing
agreement on intellectual property, (iii) the exclusive right to share purchase
agreement, (iv) the voting rights proxy agreement, (v) the pledge agreement
and (vi) the management and operation agreement

The Group depends on the BZR Structured Contracts with Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing (who holds, among other things, the value-added telecommunications
business operating licence (B {EE (= 154 E 7 A 75) (“VAT Licence”), being
valid until 8 January 2025) in respect of its information service business within
the second type of value-added telecommunication services (the “Value-added
Telecommunications Businesses”).
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Information of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing

Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is a limited liability company established in the PRC on
11 September 2014 with registered capital of RMB10 million and paid up
capital of RMB10 million. As at the date of this annual report, the registered
capital of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is owned as to 60% by Ruijing Huijie and
40% by Mr. Liu Xiaodong (£I/]\5), an executive director of the Company.

Set out below is the key information of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing during the year
ended 31 December 2022:

HEWBA
BEE

Revenue
Total assets
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RMB’000
ARBT R

164,301
541,585

As at the date of this annual report, the business of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
mainly involves the value-added telecommunications businesses, excluding
technology development; economic and trade consultancy; organisation of
cultural and art exchange activities (not including commercial performances);
and exhibition and demonstration hosting activities (the “Excluded
Businesses”).

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Company and as
confirmed by Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing has
no plan or road map to develop and operate the Excluded Businesses as at the
date of this annual report.

Major terms of the agreements underlying the BZR
Structured Contracts

Exclusive Technical Services Agreement

Orange Beijing entered into an exclusive technical services agreement with
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing on 3 July 2015 (the “Exclusive Technical Services
Agreement”). The Exclusive Technical Services Agreement shall remain in
force during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it is
terminated in accordance with the clauses of the agreement.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement, Orange Beijing
is appointed by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing as its exclusive services provider to
provide technical consulting service, other related technical services and
related services agreed by both parties from time to time during the term of
the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement in accordance with its terms and
conditions.

Under the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing shall
pay Orange Beijing an annual services fee of RMB5 million.

Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property

Orange Triangle entered into an exclusive licensing agreement on intellectual
property with Beijing Zhixing Ruijing on 3 July 2015 (the “Exclusive Licensing
Agreement on Intellectual Property”). The Exclusive Licensing Agreement
on Intellectual Property shall remain in force during the existence of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it is terminated in accordance with the
clauses of the agreement.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property,
the right of use of Orange Triangle’s network domain names, registered
trademarks, databases, software systems and other intellectual properties is
granted to Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. Such rights cannot be transferred to any
other third party.

Under the Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property, Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing shall pay annual service fees equivalent to 12% of its total
annual revenue to Orange Triangle. Beijing Zhixing Ruijing had also procured
Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong to provide their holding shares of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing as a pledge to guarantee the payment of the payable service
fee to Orange Triangle or its wholly owned subsidiaries.

Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement

Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong
entered into an exclusive right to share purchase agreement on 26 March
2020 (the "Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement”). The Exclusive
Right to Share Purchase Agreement shall remain in force during the existence
of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it is terminated in accordance
with the clauses of the agreement.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement, Ruijing Huijie
and Mr. Liu Xiaodong jointly and individually granted Orange Beijing the
exclusive right to purchase the shares of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Exclusive Right to Share Purchase
Agreement, irrevocably and without any additional conditions. Orange Beijing
can, by its own will, decide the way to exercise the right and purchase all
or part of shares held by shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and/or any
specified third party at the minimum price permitted by the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC at any time, by one or more times.

Under the Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement, the share
repurchase price shall be the minimum price permitted by the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC. The paid shareholder of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
will return the rest of the transfer price after deducting the paid-up capital
injected by them to Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.

Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong
entered into a voting rights proxy agreement on 26 March 2020 (the “Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement”). The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall remain in
force during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it is
terminated in accordance with the clauses of the agreement.

Pursuant to the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, Orange Beijing (or its
designated parties) was granted the power to, inter alia, exercise all the rights
of Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong as the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, subject to applicable laws, regulations and Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s
articles of association. No prior consent from Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu
Xiaodong is required before exercising such right. Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu
Xiaodong shall recognise Orange Beijing’s voting result.

Pledge Agreement

Orange Beijing (as the pledgee), Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing Huijie and Mr.
Liu Xiaodong (as the pledgers) entered into a pledge agreement on 26 March
2020 (the “Pledge Agreement”), pursuant to which each of Ruijing Huijie
and Mr. Liu Xiaodong pledged their equity interests in Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
held by them as security for Orange Beijing’s rights and interests granted by
the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement, Exclusive Right to Share Purchase
Agreement, Management and Operation Agreement, Voting Proxy Rights
Agreement and the Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property
(collectively, the “Master Agreements”). Orange Beijing shall have the right
to get compensation by converting the Equity interests into money and seek
preferential payments from the proceeds from the auction or sales of the said
equity interests concerned or other disposal methods as agreed by each party
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.
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Prior to the full discharge of the payments and obligations under the Master
Agreements, without written consent of the pledgee, Ruijing Huijie and
Mr. Liu Xiaodong shall not assign the said equity interests in Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing.

The Pledge Agreement has become effective upon the execution date and has
been filed at relevant market supervision and administration bureau. Unless
otherwise agreed by Orange Beijing in writing after the Pledge Agreement
comes into effect, upon the full and complete performance of the Company
and pledgors’ obligations under the Master Agreements as well as Orange
Beijing’s written confirmation, the pledge shall be terminated.

Management and Operation Agreement

Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong
entered into a management and operation agreement on 26 March 2020
(the “Management and Operation Agreement”), which shall remain in force
during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it is
terminated in accordance with clauses of the agreement.

Under the Management and Operation Agreement, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
will appoint Orange Beijing as its exclusive services provider to provide
complete management support, business support, technical support and
related consulting services during the term of the Management and Operation
Agreement in accordance with its terms and conditions, which may include all
necessary services within the scope of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s business, such
as but not limited to business consultations, marketing consultancy, technical
services, intellectual properties licenses, product research and development,
system maintenance, as well as general corporate management.

The service fee shall be payable to Orange Beijing by the Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, where the Beijing Zhixing Ruijing shall pay to Orange Beijing such fees
equivalent to the amount of the Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s revenue deducted
by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s (and its subsidiaries’) expenses (including Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing’s costs, depreciation, other expenses and payments, and
relevant tax payments incurred during the term of the Management and
Operation Agreement), net operation loss made by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and
the reserve fund extracted by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. The service fee shall be
calculated within three (3) months since the end of each financial year based
on the audited report prepared in accordance with the Chinese Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises and paid within fifteen (15) days of the
issuance date of such audited report.
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Risk associated with the BZR Structured Contracts

The PRC government may determine that BZR Structured Contracts are not in
compliance with any existing or future applicable PRC laws or regulations

If the PRC government finds that the BZR Structured Contracts (which
establish the structure for operating the Value-added Telecommunications
Businesses of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing in the PRC) do not comply with applicable
PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations
change in the future, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing could be subject to severe
consequences, including the nullification of the BZR Structured Contracts and
the relinquishment of the interest of Orange Beijing in the BZR Structured
Contracts.

According to the FITE Rules, foreign investors’ ultimate equity ownership in
an entity in the PRC which provides value-added telecommunications services
must not exceed 50% and a foreign investor who wishes to acquire any
equity interest in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC must
demonstrate (i) a good track record and (ii) experience in providing value-
added telecommunications services (“Qualification Requirements”).

Beijing Zhixing Ruijing has been engaging in the development and operation
of the Value-added Telecommunication Businesses. Under the current PRC
regulatory circumstances, Orange Beijing as a wholly foreign owned enterprise
would not be able to obtain the VAT License and thus is unable to provide the
value-added telecommunications services in the PRC directly.

On 13 July 2006, the Ministry of Information Industry (f2E A RHFE{E &
EE ), currently known as MIIT (the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC (Fh3E A RHFE T 25015 B 3F)) issued the Circular
on Strengthening the Administration of Foreign Investment in Value-added
Telecommunications Business (B8 N5 /M8 B LI EBEEHEEHB
Z0) (“MIIT Notice”), which reiterated restrictions on foreign investment in the
telecommunications businesses. Under the MIIT Notice, a domestic company
that holds a VAT License is prohibited from leasing, transferring or selling the
license to foreign investors in any form, and from providing any assistance,
including providing resources, sites or facilities, to foreign investors to provide
ICP services illegally in the PRC. Due to a lack of interpretative materials from
the authorities, it cannot be assured that the MIIT will not consider the BZR
Structured Contracts as a kind of foreign investment in telecommunication
services, in which case Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and Orange Beijing may be
found in violation of the MIIT Notice.
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In addition, several articles published by some news agencies reported
discussions that a recent PRC Supreme Court decision and two VIE structure-
related arbitration decisions in Shanghai had cast doubt on the validity of
the VIE structure. According to these articles, the PRC Supreme Court ruled
in late 2012 that an entrustment agreement entered into by and between
a Hong Kong company and a PRC domestic entity, which was purported to
enable such Hong Kong company to make an equity investment in a PRC
bank through the proxy PRC domestic entity, was void on the grounds that
this agreement established an entrustment relationship meant to circumvent
the PRC laws and regulations that prohibit foreign investment in PRC financial
institutions and as such, constituted an act of concealing illegal intentions
with a legitimate form. These articles argued that a contractual arrangement
in a VIE structure and the entrustment agreement in the cited case, which
were similar to the BZR Structured Contracts, were also designed to “get
around” the regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in certain industries.
As such, the articles noted that this Supreme Court decision might increase
the uncertainties relating to the PRC government'’s view on the validity of the
VIE structure. These articles also reported, without providing sufficient details,
on two arbitration decisions by the then Shanghai CIETAC which invalidated
the contractual arrangement used in a VIE structure in 2010 and 2011.

The PRC legal advisor is of the opinion that, based on their understanding
and the numerous precedents of PRC domestic internet content providers
controlled by overseas companies through contractual arrangements that
are similar to the BZR Structured Contracts, the BZR Structured Contracts do
not result in a violation of PRC laws, or would not be deemed as “concealing
illegal intentions with lawful forms” (as a matter concerning Article 52 of the
PRC Contract Law). The BZR Structured Contracts are enforceable, valid and
legally binding in accordance with their terms and provisions (except for part
of the arbitration clauses contained therein setting forth that the arbitration
tribunal may issue injunction or winding-up orders and the Courts of Hong
Kong and the Cayman Islands have the jurisdiction to grant interim remedies
in support of the arbitration pending formation of the arbitration tribunal).
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However, according to the PRC legal advisor, it cannot be assured that the
PRC government or judicial authorities would agree that the BZR Structured
Contracts comply with current PRC laws or regulations, would not strictly
enforce current PRC laws regulating the provision of internet content, or
would not adopt new laws or policies in the future. If the PRC government or
judicial authorities determine that the BZR Structured Contracts do not comply
with applicable laws and regulations, such contracts would be deemed void
and the PRC government or judicial authorities could have broad discretion in
dealing with such incompliance, including:

(i) requiring the nullification of the BZR Structured Contracts;

(i) levying fines and/or confiscating the proceeds generated from the
operations under the BZR Structured Contracts;

(i) revoking of the business licenses or operating licenses of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing;

(iv) discontinuing or placing restrictions or onerous conditions on the
business operations of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing; and

(v)  taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful to
or even shut down the business of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and/or Orange
Beijing.

In addition, where the Group loses the right to direct the activities of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing as a result of these consequences, the Group would no longer
be able to consolidate the financial results of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.

Orange Beijing relies on BZR Structured Contracts to control and obtain the
economic benefits from Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, which may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership

Due to the PRC’s legal restrictions on foreign investment in the value-added
telecommunications services, Orange Beijing controls, through the BZR
Structured Contracts rather than equity ownership, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, the
operating entity in the PRC and the holder-to-be of the key licenses required
to operate the value-added telecommunications services in the PRC. However,
the BZR Structured Contracts still may not be as effective as equity ownership
in exercising control over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. For example, Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing and its shareholders could breach or fail to perform their obligations
under the BZR Structured Contracts. If Orange Beijing had direct ownership of
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Orange Beijing would be able to exercise its rights as
a shareholder to effect changes in its board of directors, which in turn could
effect changes, subject to any applicable fiduciary obligations, at management
and operational level. Under the BZR Structured Contracts, Orange Beijing
would need to rely on its rights under the BZR Structured Contracts to effect
such changes, or designate new shareholders for Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.
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If Beijing Zhixing Ruijing or its shareholders breach their obligations under
the BZR Structured Contracts or if Orange Beijing loses the effective control
over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing for any reason, Orange Beijing would need to
bring a claim against them under the terms of the BZR Structured Contracts.
The BZR Structured Contracts are governed by PRC law and provide that any
dispute which arises will be submitted to the CIETAC, for arbitration, the
ruling of which will be final and binding. Furthermore, personal liabilities of
the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing may also cause the equity interest
they hold in Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to be subject to court preservation actions
or enforcement. The legal framework and system in the PRC particularly
that relates to the arbitration proceedings is not as developed as in other
jurisdictions such as Hong Kong. As a result, significant uncertainties relating
to the enforcement of legal rights through arbitration, litigation and other
legal proceedings remain in the PRC, which could limit Orange Beijing’s ability
to enforce the BZR Structured Contracts and exert effective control over
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. If Beijing Zhixing Ruijing or any of its shareholders fails
to perform its respective obligations under the BZR Structured Contracts, and
Orange Beijing is unable to enforce the BZR Structured Contracts, or suffers
significant delays or other obstacles in the process of enforcing the BZR
Structured Contracts, the business and operations of Orange Beijing could
be severely disrupted, which could materially and adversely affect operation
results. As a result, the Company’s investment in Orange Beijing could also be
materially and adversely affected.

Remedies of BZR Structured Contracts may not be obtained effectively under
PRC laws

The BZR Structured Contracts provide for dispute resolution by way of
arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules of the CIETAC in the
PRC. The BZR Structured Contracts contain provisions to the effect that the
arbitration tribunal may award remedies when Beijing Zhixing Ruijing breaches
the BZR Structured Contracts. In addition, the BZR Structured Contracts
contain provisions to the effect that the courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman
Islands are empowered to grant interim remedies in support of the arbitration
pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal.

However, the abovementioned provisions contained in the BZR Structured
Contracts may not be enforced effectively. Under PRC laws, an arbitration
tribunal does not have the power to grant any injunctive relief or provisional
or final liquidation order to preserve the assets of or any equity interest in
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing in case of disputes, and the courts in Hong Kong and
the Cayman Islands may not be empowered to grant interim remedies in
support of the arbitration pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal under
PRC laws. As a result, the provisions may not effectively protect Orange
Beijing, notwithstanding the relevant contractual provisions contained in the
BZR Structured Contracts.
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Therefore, in the event that Beijing Zhixing Ruijing breaches any of the BZR
Structured Contracts, Orange Beijing may not be able to obtain sufficient
remedies in a timely manner, and its ability to exert effective control over
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and conduct its business could be materially and
adversely affected and the financial performance of Orange Beijing could be
materially and adversely affected. As a result, the Company’s investment in
Orange Beijing could also be materially and adversely affected.

The shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing may potentially have a conflict of
interests with the Group

The Group's control over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is based on the contractual
arrangement under the BZR Structured Contracts. Hence, conflict of interests
of the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing will adversely affect the
interests of the Company. Pursuant to the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement,
the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing have irrevocably authorised
Orange Beijing (or its designee) as their proxy to exercise all the rights of the
shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and such authorisation shall not be
altered unless otherwise instructed by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. Therefore, it is
unlikely that there will be potential conflict of interests between the Company
and the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. However, in the unlikely event
that conflict of interests arises and cannot be resolved, the Company will
consider removing and replacing the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.

The contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC tax
authorities and transfer pricing adjustments and additional tax may be
imposed

The Group could face material adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax
authorities determine that the arrangements under the BZR Structured
Contracts was not entered into based on arm’s length negotiations. If the
PRC tax authorities determine that these agreements were not entered into
on an arm'’s length basis, they may adjust our income and expenses for PRC
tax purposes in the form of a transfer pricing adjustment. A transfer pricing
adjustment could adversely affect the Group’s financial position by increasing
the relevant tax liability without reducing the tax liabilities of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, and this could further result in late payment fees and other penalties
to Beijing Zhixing Ruijing for under-paid taxes. As a result, any transfer pricing
adjustment could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial
position and results of operations.
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The Company does not have any insurance which covers the risks relating to
the BZR Structured Contracts and the transactions contemplated thereunder
The insurance of the Group does not cover the risks relating to the BZR
Structured Contracts and the transactions contemplated thereunder and the
Company has no intention to purchase any new insurance in this regard. If
any risk arises from the BZR Structured Contracts in the future, such as those
affecting the enforceability of the BZR Structured Contracts and the relevant
agreements for the transactions contemplated thereunder and the operation
of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, the results of the Group may be adversely affected.
However, the Group has been monitoring the relevant legal and operational
environment from time to time to comply with the applicable laws and
regulations. In addition, the Group has been implementing relevant internal
control measures to reduce the operational risk.

Actions taken to mitigate the risks associated with the BZR
Structured Contracts

The BZR Structured Contracts contain certain provisions in order to exercise
effective control over and to safeguard the assets of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing,
including but not limited to that, without the prior written consent of Orange
Beijing, the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing shall not at any time
dispose, transfer, pledge, sell or create any charges over the assets, business,
revenue or any beneficial interests of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing shall conduct its business in its ordinary and usual course to preserve
the asset value of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and shall not engage in any act (or
lack thereof) which may have any adverse effect on the business, operations
and asset value of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, and etc.

In addition to the abovementioned internal control measures as provided
in the BZR Structured Contracts, the Company has implemented, through
Orange Beijing, additional internal control measures against Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing as appropriate, having regard to the internal control measures adopted
by the Group from time to time, which may include (without limitation):

(i) Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to make available monthly management accounts
and submit key operating data after each month end and provide
explanations on any material fluctuations to Orange Beijing;

(i)  Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to assist and facilitate Orange Beijing to conduct
quarterly on-site internal audit on Beijing Zhixing Ruijing; and

(iii)  if required, legal advisers and, or other professionals will be retained to
deal with specific issues arising from the BZR Structured Contracts and
to ensure that the operation of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing will comply with
applicable laws and regulations.

Further information regarding risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements and the BZR Structured Contracts are also set out in the
Transfer of Listing Announcement and the announcement of the Company
dated 8 May 2015 respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENT(S)

Provision of loan to Chongging Micro-Credit

On 29 June 2022, Beijing Huicong Internet Information Technology Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Huicong”, a subsidiary of the Group) agreed to grant to Beijing
Huicong Internet Information Technology Co., Ltd. (a connected subsidiary
of the Group, indirectly owned as to 30% by Digital China Holdings Limited
(a substantial shareholder of the Company interested in approximately
19.37% of the issued Shares)) an unsecured loan in the principal amount up
to RMB25,000,000, bearing interest at a rate of 8% per annum for a period
of one year commencing from the drawdown date. The provision of loan
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. Further details were set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 June 2022.

Disposal of Tianjin Guokai

On 5 January 2021, Beijing Huicong Technology Group Co., Ltd. (“Beijing HC
Technology”, a subsidiary of the Group), Beijing Little Rhino Horn Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing LRH"), Tianjin Guokai Ruitou Education Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Tianjin Guokai”) and Hong Kong Huicong International Group Limited (a
subsidiary of the Group) entered into an equity transfer agreement, pursuant
to which Beijing HC Technology agreed to transfer the entire equity interest
in Tianjin Guokai to Beijing LRH at the consideration of RMB300,500,000. If
the transaction proceeds to completion, Beijing HC Technology will no longer
hold any equity interest in Tianjin Guokai and Tianjin Guokai will cease to
be a subsidiary of the Group. Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 January 2021.

The Group has divested the employees, intellectual property rights, assets
and liabilities in relation to the business of hc360.com during the transition
period in accordance with the commitment under the agreement. Beijing
LRH has paid the fourth payment under the agreement. As of the date of this
report, an arbitration proceeding has been commenced, in which Beijing LRH
requested the Group to bear the possible losses arising from the demolition
of the properties of Tianjin Guokai’s subsidiaries and requested to effect
the transfer, and the Group raised its disputes and counterclaim. Having
considered the advice from its PRC legal adviser, the Group does not consider
Beijing LRH’s request reasonable, and has engaged PRC legal advisers to
contest the arbitration. No arbitral award has been granted and the disposal
has not yet been completed as of the date of this report. The Company
believes that the outcome of the dispute will not have a material adverse
impact on the financial conditions of the Group and its operations.
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Change of addresses

With effect from 5 December 2022, the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in the in the People’s Republic of China has been changed
to Room B-1, 4 Floor, Building 2, Hangxing Science Park, No. 11, Hepingli East
Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing 100013.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 30 November 2022.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total number of issued Shares was 1,309,931,119 as at 31 December
2022 (2021:1,309,931,119).

As at 31 December 2022, 58,568,479 options under the share option
schemes (if exercised, 58,568,479 shares may be issued) remain outstanding.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION

The business development and results of the Group relies on the skills,
motivation and commitment of its staff. As at 31 December 2022, the Group
had 1,028 employees (2021: 1,468).

Remuneration of employees is generally in line with the market trend and
commensurate with the rate in the industry. The Group also provide incentives
through bonus, share incentives through grants under the Company’s
share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) and employees’ share
award scheme (“Share Award Scheme” or "ESAS”) (collectively, the “Share
Schemes”). Share options and share awards are granted to employees based
on individual performance. Other benefits to the Group’s employees include
medical insurance, retirement schemes, training programs and educational
subsidies. Total staff costs including director’s emoluments from continuing
operations for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately
RMB307,005,000 (2021: RMB320,218,000).

RETIREMENT SCHEME

In accordance with the relevant regulations in the PRC, the Group participated
in a state retirement plan whereby the only obligation of the Group with
respect to such plan is to make annual contributions to the scheme calculated
at 16% of the basic salaries of the employees. The Group has no obligation
for further pension payments or any post-retirement benefits beyond these
annual contributions.

Details of the retirement scheme are set out in note 9(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’'s bank borrowings amounting to
RMB50,000,000 (31 December 2021: RMB90,000,000) are secured by
properties and investment properties, with carrying value amounting to
RMB18,819,000 and RMB24,847,000 respectively (31 December 2021:
secured by properties and investment properties, with carrying value
amounting to RMB25,156,000 and RMB26,009,000 respectively), and are
also guaranteed by the Executive Directors of the Group and subsidiaries (31
December 2021: same).

The remaining bank borrowings included borrowings of RMB512,000,000 (31
December 2021: RMB524,000,000) provided by Jingu Bank and guaranteed
by subsidiaries and associates of the Group (31 December 2021: guaranteed
by an associate of the Group).

As at 31 December 2022, other borrowings with a total principal amount
of RMB230,000,000 (31 December 2021: same) were provided by an
independent third party, which will mature on 31 December 2023. This other
borrowing is interest-free and secured by certain equity shares of a subsidiary
(31 December 2021: same).

The other borrowings with principal amount of RMB173,020,000 (31
December 2021: RMB86,506,000) are secured by inventories.

EXCHANGE RISK

As the Group’s operations are principally in the PRC and majority of the assets
and liabilities of the Group are denominated in RMB, the Directors believe
that the Group is not subject to significant exchange risk.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in Note 37 in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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IMPORTANT EVENT(S) AFTER THE PERIOD

Proposed Listing of Panpass on Beijing Stock Exchange

On 24 February 2023, the Company announced the proposed listing of
Panpass Information Technology Co., Ltd (“Beijing Panpass”) on the Beijing
Stock Exchange. It is proposed that Beijing Panpass will issue new shares by
way of an initial public offering to unspecified qualified investors (or other
methods requested or agreed by the relevant PRC authorities), subject to
approvals by relevant PRC regulators. Beijing Panpass has submitted the
counselling materials to the Beijing Supervisory Office of the China Securities
Regulatory Commission in January 2023, and is currently at the listing
counselling stage. The share allotment by Beijing Panpass, if materialises,
constitutes a major transaction of the Company, and the Company will seek
the Shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Further
details were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 24 February
2023.

Change of Chief Executive Officer

With effect from 3 February 2023, Mr. Zhang Yonghong (38 7k4I) has
resigned as the chief executive officer (“CEOQ") of the Company (and remains as
an executive Director) to focus on the business affairs and development of the
Group's subsidiary — Beijing Panpass. Mr. Liu Jun has been appointed as the
CEO with effect from the same date.

Proposed Amendments of M&A

The Board has proposed to amend the existing memorandum and articles of
association (the “Articles”) of the Company to, among others, conform with
the latest Shareholder Protections Standard under the Listing Rules and the
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands. A special resolution will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") for the proposed
amendments. More information of the proposed amendments have been
included in the Company’s circular published on the same date.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities for the Year.

It has always been the Group's vision to be a leading industrial Internet group
in China, in order to realise its long-term objective to empower traditional
industries with Internet and Data. To achieve this, the Group will continue its
strategy on formulating a comprehensive industrial Internet ecosystem.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the financial year by business
segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year including an
analysis of the Group’s financial performance, an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business and events affecting the company that
have occurred since the end of the financial year are set out in the sections
headed “Management’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this Report of
Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group may also be affected by financial risks sch as credit and liquidity
ricks and interest rate fluctuations. External volatility or uncertainty brought
by macro-economic conditions (particularly in mainland China), national and
local policies and regulations (such as introduction of new laws) in industries
we operates, consumers behavior and trend, and outbreak and continuation
of contagious disease (including COVID-19) may also materially affect the
Group’s business, financial conditions, results of operations and growth
prospects. The Group also operates in a highly competitive markets. Part
of the Group’s operations relied on contractual arrangements (as further
described in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section above), and
their validity are also crucial to the Group.
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KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's customer base is diversified and comprising mostly small and
medium sized enterprises in the PRC and certain well-known companies. The
Group values the needs and aim to provide satisfactory user experiences to its
customers. The Group also conducts customers satisfaction survey to obtain
feedbacks, which would be applied to further improve our products and
services.

The Group’s major suppliers includes suppliers of B2B trading platform, such
as large-scale factories and traders, suppliers of the Group's online products
business, such as search engine service provider. The Group worked closely
with approximately 60 suppliers in China during the Year, and the Group
endeavours to keep along-term and friendly relationships with its supplier.

The business development and results of the Group relies on the skills,
motivation and commitment of its staff. The staff are core assets of the
Group, and the Group maintains various communication channels with its
employees to hear their opinion and feedbacks

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group realises the importance of environmental protection in pursuing
long-term sustainability, and is committed to improving environmental
sustainability and will closely monitor the performance. The Company has
published its Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report on the
same date, which contains further information about its ESG policies and
performance during the Year. The ESG Report is available on the “Investors’
Relations” page of the Company’s website at www.hcgroup.com, and the
Stock Exchange HKEXnews website at www.hkexnews.hk.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out in mainland China, while the
Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in mainland China, Hong Kong
and Cayman Islands. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations which
have significant impact on its business and operation during the Year.
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RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the financial year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 127 to 128.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder has waived or agreed to waive
any dividend during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in retained earnings of the Group during the Year
are set out on page 132.

Details of the movements in other reserves of the Group are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the Company
are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as the Share Schemes, the Company had not enter into any equity-linked
agreement during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022, calculated
under the Companies Act of Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB1,295,482,000 (2021:RMB1,435,560,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 6 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this

annual report were:

Mr. Liu Jun

(Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Yonghong

Mr. Liu Xiaodong

(President)

Mr. Guo Fansheng Note

Mr. Sun Yang Note!

Mr. Lin Dewei Note 1

Mr. Zhang Ke Note2

Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei Note2

Ms. Qi Yan Note2

(appointed on 12 September 2016)

(appointed on 4 January 2019)

(appointed on 1 June 2018)

(appointed on 21 March 2000)

(appointed on 27 May 2019)

(appointed on 1 July 2020)

(appointed on 28 March 2003)

(appointed on 1 November 2011)

(appointed on 30 November 2017)

Notes:
1. non-executive Directors
2. independent non-executive Directors

3. Since Mr. Zhang Yonghong has resigned to focus on the business affairs and
development of Beijing Panpass, Mr. Liu Jun has been appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer with effect from 3 February 2023.

In accordance with Article 87 of the Articles, Mr. Liu Jun, Mr. Lin Dewei,
and Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei will be subject to, and eligible offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting ("AGM") of the

Company.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

The Directors’ profile is set out on pages 23 to 28.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors, Mr. Liu Jun, Mr. Zhang Yonghong and Mr.
Liu Xiaodong has entered into a director’s service contract with the Company,
whereby each of them has accepted the appointment as an executive Director
for a term of three years from 12 September 2022, 4 January 2022 and 1
June 2021 respectively, which may be terminated by either party giving three
months’ prior written notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of
their respective service contracts.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Zhang Ke, Mr. Zhang
Tim Tianwei and Ms. Qi Yan has entered into a director’s service contract
with the Company, whereby each of them has accepted the appointment for
a term of one year, and the service contracts shall be renewed automatically
at the end of the term. Either party may terminate the service contract at any
time by giving one month’s prior written notice or in accordance with the
terms of their respective service contracts.

There is no service contract, which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation), in respect of any director proposed for re-election at the
AGM.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year, (i) no Director or an entity connected with a director
was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance; (ii) there were no transaction,
arrangement or contract entered into by a specified undertaking of the
Company in which a Director had a material interest; (iii) there was no
other contract of significance between the Company or one of its subsidiary
companies, and a controlling shareholder (if any) or any of its subsidiaries; and
(iv) there was no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder (if any) or any
of its subsidiaries.

During or at the end of the Year, there was no arrangements to which the
Company or a specified undertaking of the Company is a party, an whose
objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by mean of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the service contract to engage the
Directors and management for their full-time services, no contract concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Group was entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR STAFF EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors and senior staff emoluments for the Year are set out in
notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments of the Directors and the senior staff are determined based on
the operating results of the Group, individual performance and/or prevailing
market conditions. The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme
and the Share Award Scheme as an incentive to Directors and senior staff
More information is set out in the paragraph headed “Share Schemes” below.

As at 31 December 2022, there was no arrangement in which the Directors
waived their remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S SECURITIES
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or required to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Directors’ Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

Class of Personal Family
Name of Director Shares Capacity interests interests
R ER L) BARR Rk
LiuJun Ordinary Beneficial owner 79,252,100 -
£l LEk ERBEEA (note 1)
(K1)
Zhang Yonghong Ordinary Beneficial owner 13,600,000
KA LRR ERBEA (note 2)
(HsE2)
Liu Xiaodong Ordinary Beneficial owner and 5,168,085
EIN Lk Interest of controlled (note 3)
corporation (Hi3E3)
BERlA AR E
RalfER
Guo Fansheng Ordinary Beneficial owner 2,088,000 -
DA LiEk ERBEEA (note 4)
(KisE4)
Notes:

1. Such interests in the Company comprise: (i) 50,220,000 Shares and (i) 29,032,100
underlying Shares derived from the share options (“Options”) under the Share
Option Scheme held by Mr. Liu Jun.

2. Such interests in the Company comprise: (i) 100,000 Shares; (ii) 4,000,000
underlying Shares derived from the awarded shares granted to Mr. Zhang
Yonghong under the ESAS and (iii) 9,500,000 underlying Shares derived from the
Options held by Mr. Zhang Yonghong.

3. Such interests in the Company comprise: (i) 3,168,085 underlying Shares from
the Options held by Mr. Liu Xiaodong; (ii) 2,000,000 underlying Shares derived
from the awarded shares granted to Mr. Liu Xiaodong under the ESAS and (iii)
62,273,794 Shares held by Wisdom Limited (a company wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Liu Xiaodong). Mr. Liu Xiaodong is deemed, or taken to have,
interested in all the Shares held by Wisdom Limited pursuant to the SFO.
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ESREQRAROREBERD 2FE

Total  Percentage of

Corporate Other  number of shareholding
interests interests Shares  (approximate)
REED
DR HitfER R EH (%)
= - 79,252,100 6.05%
(note 1)
(PzE1)
13,600,000 1.04%
(note 2)
(PFF2)
62,273,794 67,441,879 5.15%
(note 3) (note 3)
(PFE3) (PF3)
- 55,661,015 57,749,015 4.41%
(note 4) (note 4)

ik

GEY GEZY

ZERARAIZEZEE AEXRERBFO
50,220,000/% A& 1% R (i) BE AR A =181 T w0 B AR 48 ([ BB AR
#E 1) 229,032, 100R% HERIRL ©

ZERARRAR 2 e BIE ¢ (i) 100,0000881%9 ¢ (ii)5k
KAL S E IR IR (R B AR5 SR BN AT EE R SRER DS R 2
4,000,000 % A8 BB AR K (iii) 3R Sk AT 25 A P BB IR A5
%.29,500,0008% 1BRAAZ () °

ZERARNR Z R BIE - ()8R LI ERE
W 123,168,085 % HEAMR 1 (21N EREREE
&7 SEED T 1M % 58 AR 19 9% K 2. 2,000,000% #E BA A%
9 R (iii)FAWisdom Limited(ZI/NE £ 2 E B
BZRAR)EB 262,273,794 5 - BIEEH M H
E1EG) - Bl NREEWRIESE ERWisdom Limited
Frish 2 2 P A -
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4. Such interest in the Company comprises:

(@) 2,088,000 Shares (long position) held by Mr. Guo Fansheng; and

(b) 55,661,015 Shares (long position) held by a trustee of a trust of which Mr.
Guo Fansheng is a founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how
the trustee exercise his discretion.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company has any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provision of the SFO) or required to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

SHARE SCHEMES

2003 Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to written resolutions of the shareholders of the Company dated 30
November 2003, a share option scheme (the “2003 Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted by the Company. Following the listing of the Shares being
transferred from the Growth Enterprise Market (now known as GEM) to the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 10 October 2014, the 2003 Share
Option Scheme was terminated. Notwithstanding the termination of the 2003
Share Option Scheme, the outstanding options under the 2003 Share Option
Scheme (the “Outstanding Option”) shall continue to be valid and exercisable
until the expiry of the option period (i.e. the period to be notified by the
Board to the grantee in the offer of options, but in any event shall not exceed
10 years from the date of the offer).

The principal terms of the 2003 Share Option Scheme were summarised in the
paragraph headed “Share Options” in Appendix V of the prospectus of the
Company dated 8 December 2003. Set out below is a summary of the 2003
Share Option Scheme:
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Purpose and participants

The purpose of the 2003 Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive and/or
reward to directors or employees of the Group and other persons who in the
sole discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute to the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue and the maximum
entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of
all the outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2003
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company, must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% (or such other percentage as may be allowed under
the Listing Rules) of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time. The
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the 2003 Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at the time of such
grant.

As at 31 December 2022, 3,600,000 Options under the 2003 Share Option
Scheme were outstanding, upon full exercise of which 3,600,000 Shares
may be issued, representing 0.27% of the issued shares as at the date of this
annual report. The 2003 Share Option Scheme had been terminated and no
further options would be granted.

Time of exercise of the options

An option may be exercised by the grantee at any time during the period to
be notified by the Board to the grantee in the offer of options, but in any
event shall not exceed 10 years from the date of offer.

Notwithstanding the termination of the 2003 Share Option Scheme, the
Outstanding Option shall continue to be valid and exercisable until the expire
of the option period.

Minimum holding period

The Board may offer to grant any options subject to such terms and
conditions in relation to the minimum period of the options to be held and/or
the performance criteria to be satisfied before such options can be exercised
and/or any other terms as the Board may determine in its absolute discretion.
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Amount payable on acceptance of the Option

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and an Option to which the
offer relates shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted and to have
taken effect when a letter in such form as the Board may from time to time
determine signifying acceptance of the Option duly signed by the grantee
together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company within 7 days
from the offer date (inclusive of the offer date).

Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price shall be a price determined solely by the Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
offer fate, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share on the offer date.

2015 Share Option Scheme

On 22 May 2015 (the “Adoption Date"”), a share option scheme was approved
by the shareholders of the Company (“2015 Share Option Scheme”). More
information of the 2015 Share Option Scheme were included in the circular
of the Company dated 5 May 2015. Set out below is a summary of the 2015
Share Option Scheme:

Purpose and participants

The purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the
best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees (full-time
and part-time), directors, consultants, customers, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, business partners or service providers of
the Group and to promote the success of the business of the Group
("Participant(s)”). The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the aforesaid classes of persons of any member of the
Group to be a Participant of the 2015 Share Option Scheme.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2015 Share Option Scheme is 102,085,221 Shares,
representing 7.79% of the issued shares as at the date of this annual report.
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Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
Options granted to each Participant (including both exercised and outstanding
Options) under the 2015 Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Company in any 12-month period up to date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

Time of exercise of the Options

An Option may be exercised by the grantee at any time during the period
to be notified by the Board to the grantee (the “Grantee”) in the offer of
Options (the “Offer”), but in any event shall not exceed 10 years from the
date of offer (the "“Offer Date”).

Minimum holding period

The Board may offer to grant any Options subject to such terms and
conditions in relation to the minimum period of the Options to be held and/or
the performance criteria to be satisfied before such Options can be exercised
and/or any other terms as the Board may determine in its absolute discretion.

Amount payable on acceptance of the Option

An Offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and an Option to which the
Offer relates shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted and to have
taken effect when a letter in such form as the Board may from time to time
determine signifying acceptance of the Option duly signed by the Grantee
together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company within 7 days
from the Offer Date (inclusive of the Offer Date).

Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price shall be a price determined solely by the Board and
notified to a Participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
Offer Date, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the
5 business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share on the Offer Date.

Remaining life of the 2015 Share Option Scheme
The 2015 Share Option Scheme shall be valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on the Adoption Date.
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Outstanding Share Options el RAT B 2 BB IR

As at 31 December 2022, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
58,568,479 Shares granted, which comprise 3,600,000 options granted
under the 2003 Share Option Scheme and 54,968,479 options granted under
the 2015 Share Option Scheme, were outstanding, details of which were as

follows:

Name/category

of grantee

ARARE/BH

Directors/chief executive
B /TRAR

Liu Jun (note 12)

A= (fE12)

Zhang Yonghong
(note 12)
FAA(12)

Outstanding
asat

1 January
2022
R=B==%
-A-H
AT

Exercise price

Date of grant per share

RHiRH BRITEE
HKS

AT

13 October 2017
“2-tF+AT=A

6476

5,986,000

5,986,000

5,686,700

5,686,700

5,986,000

20 June 2019 46 3,163,500
ZE-NERAZTH

3,163,500

3,340,000
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the period

BT

Number of share options

FREHE

Outstanding

Lapsed asat
during 31 December
the period 2022

Exercised
during
the period

Granted
during

A
(Note 1)
(HtzE1)

g BhfE  BAKN

5,986,000

5,986,000

5,686,700

5,686,700

(299,300 5,686,700

3,163,500

3,163,500

(167,000 3,173,000

RZTEZ=ZF+=ZA=+—H
58,568,479k & 10~ IR ARITE - EHBEEZT
T FERAEEIR F 23,600,000 % B IE R —F
— R EBIRRERT 211 T 254,968,479 BERIE - B

Exercise period

s

13 October 2018 -

12 October 2027
“2-\ktA+=RzZ
ZECtETATCA
13 October 2019 -

12 October 2027
“E-NE+R+=HE
ZECtETATZR
13 October 2020 -

12 October 2027
L2 o e )
“ECtETATCA
13 October 2021 -

12 October 2027
“E--£1R+=H2
ZECtETATCA
13 October 2022 -

12 October 2027
ZECCFTATERE
ZEZtETATZR

20 June 2020 -

19 June 2029
“ECZE5ACTAR
ZENERATAA
20 June 2021 -

19 June 2029
S =3
ZEINERATAA
20 June 2022 -

19 June 2029
“E-CFRAZTRE
“E-NERATAA

A REAH

Vesting period
and conditions

BRARAH

Note 13

M3

Note 14

Fizt14
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Outstanding
asat
Name/category Exercise price 1 January
of grantee Date of grant per share 2022
R=8--
/ -A-A
REARSR/ B RHAH BREE A
HK$
BT
Liu Xiaodong (note 12) 19 July 2018 46 1,332,000
(M) Z2-\EtATAE
1,034,485
801,600
Five highest paid
individual (not Director)
ENBRHAL(FES)
2 individuals (also being 19 July 2018 46 1,681,650
senior management), in
aggregate (Note 12)
INFERREEE) —Z-NELATHA
A(HEn) 1,507,660
1,012,020

Number of share options

BRELR

Granted Exercised Lapsed
during during during

theperiod  theperiod the period

BaBE  BAGE BRAX

Outstanding
asat
31 December
2022

1,332,000

1,034,485

801,600

1,681,650

1,507,660

1,012,020

77

Vesting period
Exercise period  and conditions

ffeH  BEARASE

19July 2019~ Note 15
18 July 2028
ZE-NECATARE MEDS
ZE-\FLATNA
19 July 2020 -
18 July 2028
ZECRFLATARE
ZEZ\EERTI\A
19 July 2021 -
18 July 2028
ZEZ-EtATNAE
ZEZ\FLATNA

19July 2019~ Note 15
18 July 2028
ZE-NELATARE MRS
ZE-\EtATIR
19 July 2020 -
18 July 2028
ZEIRELATARE
ZEZ\FLATIA
19 July 2021 -
18 July 2028
“ZC-EATARE
ZEZ\FLATIA
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Name/category

of grantee

ARASS/ B

Other senior
management

AERERE

T individual (Note 12)

1A(E12)

Other employees
Bt
In aggregate (note 11)

asr(REnN)

Date of grant

RARH

19 July 2018

ZE-\ELATAR

3 Apri 2013

“2-Z#mAZA

Exercise price
per share

BRAEE
HKS
BT

46

4402
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Outstanding

1

R=

asat
January

2022
P,

T ——

—-A-H

i}

999,000

895,640

200,400

300,000

300,000

300,000

300,000

300,000

Number of share options

Granted
during
the period

L

ke

Exercised
during
the period

Bafie

Lapsed
during
the period

BhxR

Outstanding
asat

31 December
2022

S

(Kiat1)

999,000

895,640

200,400

300,000

300,000

300,000

300,000

Exercise period

fifeH

19 July 2019 -

18 Juy 2028
“E-NEtATAAE
“EC\ELAHNA
19 July 2020 -

18 July 2028
“E-EELATARE
ZEZ\ELATNA
19 July 2021 -

18 July 2028
“BT-EtATNRZ
“E-\ELATIA

3 pril 2014 -

2 April 2023
“T-MEMAZRZE
ZECCERAZA
3 April 2015 -

2 April 2023
“3-1FNR=RZE
31
3 April 2016 -

2 April 2023

“E- ENAZRE
“RCZEMAZA
3 April 2017 -

2 April 203
“F-+¥MWAZRZ
“B-=FNAH
3 April 2018 -

2 Al 2023
“%-)\¥mAZRZ
31

Vesting period
and conditions

BRARAS

Note 15

15

Note 16

16
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Number of share options
BhRERR

Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Lapsed asat
Name/category Exercise price 1 January during during during 31 December Vesting period

of grantee Date of grant per share 2022 theperiod  theperiod the period 22 Exercise period  and conditions
R=8--
-A-8
RRARE /B RHAH BREE A HARR R BRAX 8 BEHRES
HKS
A7

In aggregate (note 2, 11) 18 November 2013 9.84 288,000 - - (78,000) 210,000 18 November 2014~ Note 16
17 November 2023
At 1) Z2-ZEt-AT/\A Z2-MET-ATABE M6
ZEIZET-At4A
288,000 - - (78,000) 210,000 18 November 2015 -
17 November 2023
“Z-RE+-A+NRZ
ZBCZET-ATtA
576,000 - - (156,000) 420,000 18 November 2016 -
17 November 2023
ZE-~E+-ATNRE
S e R
864,000 = = (234,000) 630,000 18 November 2017 -
17 November 2023
“E-tE+-A+/RZ
ZEIZET-At4A
864,000 - - (234,000) 630,000 18 November 2018 -
17 November 2023
“2-\E+-A+/\RZ
ZBCZET-ATtA

In aggregate (note 3,12) ~ 19July 2018 46 2,321,651 - -

2,321,651 19July 2019~ Note 15
18 July 2028

AFH(3 - 12) “Z-/\EtATNA “E-NELATARE WIS
“EC\ELAHNA
2,321,651 - - - 2,321,651 19 July 2020 -
18 July 2028
“ECEELAAA
EZZ\ELATNA
2,328,622 19 July 2021 -
18 July 2028
ZEZ-EtRAThA
E-E-\FEATAA

2328622 = =

Total 59,814,779 = = (1246300) 58,568,479
it
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Notes

Each Option granted and accepted shall be valid for a period of 10 years from
the date of the grant of Options. Each Option has a vesting period from its date
of grant up to the date immediately before the commencement of its exercise
period.

For the Options exercisable at HK$4.402 granted on 3 April 2013, the relevant
grantee may exercise options up to 20%, 40%, 60%, 80% and 100%, of the
shares of the Company comprised in his option (less any number of shares of
the Company in respect of which the option has been previously exercised),
commencing from the first, second, third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the
date of the grant of options respectively.

For the Options exercisable at HK$9.84 granted on 18 November 2013, the
relevant grantees may exercise Options up to 10%, 20%, 40%, 70% and 100%,
respectively, of the Shares comprised in his or her Option (less any number of
Shares in respect of which the Option has been previously exercised), commencing
from the first, second, third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of the grant
of Options.

For the Options exercisable at HK$6.476 granted on 13 October 2017, the
relevant grantees may exercise Options up to 20%, 40%, 60%, 80% and 100%,
respectively, of the Shares comprised in his or her Option (less any number of
Shares in respect of which the Option has been previously exercised), commencing
from the first, second, third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of the grant
of Options.

For the Options exercisable at HK$4.60 granted on 19 July 2018, the relevant
grantees may exercise Options up to 33.3%, 66.6% and 100%, respectively, of
the Shares comprised in his or her Option (less any number of Shares in respect
of which the Option has been previously exercised), commencing from the first,
second and third anniversaries of the date of the grant of Options. See also the
paragraph below headed “Vesting periods and vesting conditions of the Options
granted on 19 July 2018".

For the Options exercisable at HK$4.60 granted on 20 June 2019, the relevant
grantees may exercise Options up to 33.3%, 66.6% and 100%, respectively, of
the Shares comprised in his Option (less any number of shares of the Company in
respect of which the option has been previously exercised), commencing from the
first, second and third anniversaries of the date of the grant of Options.

10 employees have been granted Options to subscribe Shares at HK$9.84 per
Share.

5 employees have been granted Options to subscribe Shares at HK$4.6 per Share.
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The fair value of Options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 28 March
2011, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was approximately
RMB1,377,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise price of
HK$1.108 standard deviation of expected share price returns of 77.4%, expected
life of Options ranging from 3.8 to 4.9 years expected dividend paid out rate of 0%
and annual risk-free interest rate 2.82%. The volatility measured at the standard
deviation of expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of historical
price movement of the Company and other comparable companies with similar
business nature.

The fair value of Options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 3 April
2013, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was approximately
RMB3,754,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise price of
HK$4.402 standard deviation of expected share price returns of 75%, expected
life of Options ranging from 9.1 to 9.6 years expected dividend paid out rate of 0%
and annual risk-free interest rate 1.111%. The volatility measured at the standard
deviation of expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of historical
price movement of the Company and other comparable companies with similar
business nature.

The fair value of Options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 18
November 2013, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was
approximately RMB50,125,000. The significant inputs into the model were
exercise price of HK$9.84 standard deviation of expected share price returns of
71.5%, expected life of Options ranging from 4.7 to 7.9 years expected dividend
paid out rate of 0% and annual risk-free interest rate 1.915%. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns is based
on statistical analysis of historical price movement of the Company and other
comparable companies with similar business nature.

The fair value of Options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 13 October
2017, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was approximately
RMB100,356,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise price of
HK$6.476 standard deviation of expected share price returns of 62%, expected
life of Options 4.9 years expected dividend paid out rate of 0.9% and annual
risk-free interest rate 1.745%. The volatility measured at the standard deviation
of expected share price returns is based on statistical analysis of historical price
movement of the Company and other comparable companies with similar
business nature.

The fair value of Options granted under the 2015 Share Option Scheme on 19 July
2018, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was approximately
RMB70,258,000. The significant inputs into the model were exercise price of
HK$4.6 standard deviation of expected share price returns of 70%, expected life
of Options 10 years expected dividend paid out rate of 0% and annual risk-free
interest rate 2.13%. The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected
share price returns is based on statistical analysis of historical price movement of
the Company and other comparable companies with similar business nature.

FRCEAGEREAER - ——F=A=1+/\H
REEREABFMELEREZ ATENAARE
1,377,0007C © AR 2 F Z L2 RITHEE1.108
BT - TEETRERWMEIEERET7.4% - BARETERT
FHNT3.8F49F1E - AR ERO% REFHEE
RFNER2.82% o ILRTERERRRITEFETE 2
BIE - DIRIEAR R REBME AU ] B
ARIZBAEERREBFTEIEDIE -

FAZEAMEELFER-_Z—=FHNA=AR
BEREGIMBELEERBEZATFENAARE
3,754,0007T © B AZIEH 2 £ ELEUATTF(E4.402
BT ERTRERREIZERETS% - BRIEEFF
BN TFINEI6FNE - FBAHREE0% LFEERR
FMEI1111% - RBIERERFRZEREAEZ
RS - THIRIEAR R B R EB I E RO H A& L
REZ BABIREEFT BRSO E -

FR-EAGEERAER T —=F+—A+/\H
BEREREABTEREBEREZATFEOABARE
50,125,0007T ° 8 AZRE 2 F Z 2B AITEEI.84
BT - TR ER R ERET1.5% - BAETERT
FENTATETIFAE » BAHRER0% RFEER
RFIE1.915% BB RECBREIZERETE
2R - TRBAAR REBUEERMUZ EMATEL
BARZBEEBREBREEIITHE -

FRZBEAGEREFER T —+t&+A+=8
REEREABFMBELEREZ ATENAARE
100,356,0007C ° AZEE 2 X BZLRHARITHEE
6.476/7C « TAFTIREE R EZERE62% - BIRE
BT FHI4.9F « THFHIK B L0.9% &k FE &R K F
1.745%  RRETREORRSEREAE 2R
&« IRRA AR REBELGREUZ HM A ELLERA
Al Z BAEERESFTEIEIE -

FRAZANGEERRNAER - \FLtA+LBR
BT - AFBRESIMRLERIEZATENR
AR#70,258,0007T - AZER 2 E B2 AT
FE4687T  BARERFRRZTERZE70% - B
EBETFEH0F - BEHRER0% M FE E R F =R
2.13% ° BB REEHRRITEFEFE ZIKIE -
THREA R B REBELDRAUZ KA ELRARZ
BAEEKBRTEESTE -
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In respect of employees resigned during the period whose Options have not been
vested, such Options are lapsed, and the share compensation costs recognised
previously are credited to consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The values of Options recognised in share-based compensation reserves are
subject to a number of assumptions and with regard to the limitation of the
valuation model.

The Options were granted under the 2003 Share Option Scheme.
The Options were granted under the 2015 Share Option Scheme.

The Options granted on 13 October 2017 are subject to the following vesting
period and conditions:

20% each of the Options would be vested and become exercisable on each of
the first, second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary dates of date of offer (being
13 October 2017). Out of each of these 20%, half of them (i.e. an aggregate of
50% of all Options) would only be vested and become exercisable if the following
performance targets are met:

Percentage of performance targets achieved

EERERBBEZBTL
100% 100%

70%-99%

RRHABHEMEBRENAREZRBEME - B4
BERE B R - B DR B B EARAR
NG A lER -

EUBRMN N2 HERETRAZEREEERARS
ARBRR - WEGEREZREIGRE -

ZERRBE ST SRR B

FZEBRERE T -AFBEREEIRY -

RET—tF+AT=AREZBBREBZBRRIAT
55 HAR K f 1t

FH20%EREENRBHRH(EAI T -5+ A
TERE—Z = MO ABEFEREAREBR
AT - EFMHZE20%BERED - —F(BIFFE
FERRER H50% ) ENTHIRHNBRERZBER T
BB NA TITE

Percentage of the Special Options becoming exercisable

BRI TER R R E 2 B DL

Proportionate to the percentage of performance targets actually achieved

for the relevant financial year

70%%E99%

Less than 70% Nil
DI70% ES

If the grantee ceases to be an employee, unvested Options will lapse automatically,
and Options vested but not yet exercised will lapse if such Options have not been
exercised within three months from the date of his cessation of employment.
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14.

Options granted on 19 June 2019 are subject to the following vesting period and

conditions:

First tranche of
Options

BitiaivE

Second tranche of
Options

EBtERE

Third tranche of

Options

F=HihEiE

Date when the
Options become

exercisable

BRE
qfTEZ A

First anniversary date
of the Date of Grant
(the “First Anniversary Date")
RitBHsE—B%R
B(E—BFaH])

Second anniversary date
of the Date of Grant
(the “Second Anniversary Date")
RitBHsE-B%A
BE-@FaH))

Third anniversary date
of the Date of Grant
(the “Third Anniversary Date")
RitBHsE=8%A
BE=8Fa5H))

Percentage of
Shares comprised
in the Option
which is vested
and exercisable
(subject to
fulfillment of
vesting conditions
set out in the
next column)
EEERATHEN
BRI R 4
BAL(ERT—H®
FiE 2 BB kG
BERE
FEEE)
(Note)
(P5E)

33.3%

33.3%

33.4%

50% of the respective tranche of Options in each vesting period are exercisable
only if Condition 1 and Condition 2 set out above are fully achieved. The
remaining 50% of the respective tranche of Options in each vesting period are
exercisable if Condition 2 is fulfilled

14, RZZ-NAFELATIBARHZBRESZRRIAT

55 B BAR R f

Condition 1

The performance target of the
Company for the year 2019
is achieved
ARA-B-NFZHEMERE
SR, -

The performance target of the
Company for the year 2020 is
achieved

ARA-R-REZEMARE

The performance target of the
Company for the year 2021
is achieved
AREZE-—FZERALEE

fisd_ESCRTBUIGRIT R i fF2 2 3DiERk - R BB HRS M2 it
FBARME 2 50% 77 F] FATHE - MM 2ERK - XRBEBHRS R

83

Condition 2

The Grantee shall remain as an
employee of the Group as at
the First Anniversary Date

ERARE—BERE
NEAEEZES

The Grantee shall remain as an
employee of the Group as at
the Second Anniversary Date

ARARE_BFHH
NEAEEZES

The Grantee shall remain as an
employee of the Group as at
the Third Anniversary Date

ARARE=BFERHNE
rEEVER

Z AR Z AT 50% R TATHE
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15.  The Options granted on 19 July 2018 are subject to the following vesting periods 15.

and conditions:

First tranche of
Options

EHREmE

Second tranche of
Options

FHtERE

Third tranche of
Options

F-HBRE

Percentage of
Shares comprised
in the Option
which is vested
and exercisable
(subject to
fulfillment of
vesting conditions
set out in the

Date when the
Options become

exercisable next column)
ERBRATHEN
B AEFTL IR 43
B (B
T-REHEZEE
BiRE REEERE
A2z BH HFEEE)
(Notes)
i3]
First anniversary date 333%
of the Date of Grant
(the "First Anniversary
Date"”)
REBHzE—BAFAE
(IE—@E%BH))
Second anniversary date 333%
of the Date of Grant
(the “Second Anniversary
Date"”)
RtBHsE-BEEH
(IE=BFBa4])
Third anniversary date 33.4%
of the Date of Grant
(the "Third Anniversary
Date"”)

RHRHZE=RFEH
(TE=@FAH))
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Condition 1

The revenue of the Company
for the year 2018 reaches
RMB10 billion or above.

ARARZE—\FZHENR
NEARE100ETIAL

The revenue of the Company
for the year 2019 reaches
RMB20 billion or above.

ARAR-F-NEZHER
AZEARBE200{ETTHIA L -

The revenue of the Company
for the year 2020 reaches
RMB30 billion or above.

ARARZZBREZHENR
AEARIE00fETTHIA L o

Condition 2

The Grantee has achieved the
performance targets for
the year 2018 set out by
the department or business
unit where he/she belongs.

ARNEREMBIMRE
BEUME-T-N\F2
BRAR-

The Grantee has achieved the
performance targets for
the year 2019 set out by
the department or business
unit where he/she belongs.

AR NERERBHIINE
BEMME-S-NE
ZEHERZ -

The Grantee has achieved the
performance targets for
the year 2020 set out by
the department or business
unit where he/she belongs.

ARNEREMBIMRE
BENAE-_T-TF2
BRAR-

REZZB-N\FELATNAEREZBBRESZRNIAT
SR HA T A

Condition 3

The Grantee shall remain as
an employee of the Group
as at the First Anniversary
Date

ERARE —BFRH
NEAEEZES

The Grantee shall remain
as an employee of the
Group as at the Second
Anniversary Date

ERAREZBFAH
NEA%EZER

The Grantee shall remain as
an employee of the Group
as at the Third Anniversary
Date

ERAREZBFRH
NEAEEZES
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Notes:

1. If a Grantee fulfills Condition 1 and Condition 3 set out above in the
respective vesting period, the Grantee will be entitled to exercise 40% of
the respective tranche of Options.

2. If a Grantee fulfills Condition 2 and Condition 3 set out above in the
respective vesting period, the Grantee will be entitled to exercise 40% of
the respective tranche of Options.

3. If a Grantee fulfills Condition 3, the Grantee will be entitled to exercise 20%
of the respective tranche of Options.

4. All the Options will be automatically cancelled if the Grantee fails to fulfil
Condition 3 regardless of whether Condition 1 and/or Condition 2 are
achieved.

5. In addition to the above vesting conditions, if performance targets set out
in Condition 1 or Condition 2 above cannot be fully achieved, the number
of Options corresponding to fulfilment of Condition 1 and/or Condition
2 as referred to in notes 1 and 2 above which can be exercisable in the
respective vesting period will be further adjusted in the following manner:

85

G

1. MERARE BREREEX EXORE L &
TRGH3  RRARARITEZILEREZ
40% °

2. MERRARGRERBERER L SURE 2 Gt
2RMGIE3  ARERARBARITEZMHBEREZ
40% °

3. WARAERGIS AR AGERITEZIE
&t 220% ©

4. R ARBEER G (TG R &0
2REER) - A BES BB -

5. BLABBGRMES  MAREREER EXGRE
TSR 2P Z AR B AR - B R R 2P
FERIRIE KA 2R FE T B 55 B EA
Tz IR B B AT IR RE— R

Percentage of performance targets achieved Percentage of the Options becoming exercisable
ERERBBEZESL ATEZBREESLL

100% 100%

70%-99% Proportionate to the percentage of performance targets actually achieved
70%%99% HEBER 2 EUERAD LKL

Less than 70% Nil
DIRT70% ES

16. These options are conditional upon the continuation of employment of the
relevant grantee.

Save as disclosed, no options were exercised, granted, lapsed or cancelled
during the Year. Details of the value and movement of the share options
during the Year are also set out in note 30(a) to the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.

16.  ZEBBEARBARABEZLRRBIEMN

BRETEES - SUEEABRERNERITE - 'Y -
KU - BAFANBREZEBERES 2B
BN FANZ & HETEIRRMFE306)

BREEERAT 2022 F3f
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EMPLOYEES' SHARE AWARD SCHEME (ESAS)

The Company has adopted the ESAS to give incentives to employees and
to retain them in recognition of their contribution, and to attract suitable
personnel. The ESAS allows the Company to award employees (including
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries) selected by the Board (i.e. the
ESAS participants) with existing Shares (“Award Shares”) acquired through
a trustee from the market under the instruction and at the costs of the
Company. Such trustee will hold the Shares until the Award Shares are vested.
The ESAS does not involve grant of new Shares. The ESAS was adopted by
the Board on 17 November 2011, and the scheme limit was renewed to
56,000,000 Shares in July 2019 (representing not more than 5% of the total
issued shares of the Company as of the date of renewal, and approximately
4.28% of the total issued shares of the Company as of the date of this annual
report). Award to individual participant shall not exceed 1% of the total
issued shares of the Company on the adoption date (which was 545,048,645
Shares). The Board may determine vesting period and conditions of Award
Shares pursuant to the ESAS.

Since the adoption of the ESAS, a total of 74,981,000 Shares were awarded,
representing approximately 5.72% of the total number of issued Shares as of
the date of this annual report.

The ESAS was valid for a period of 10 years from 17 November 2011.
Outstanding awards granted during its term shall remain valid after the expiry
of the ESAS. The ESAS expired in 2021, and no Award Shares were or could
be granted afterwards.

Further details of the ESAS are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 17 November 2011 and 8 July 2019, and in note 30(b) to the
consolidated financial statements set out in this annual report.
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B ER#h1E 8 ik S2EETEIAE - BIRHA $£74,981,000
R - HERERFREAEBHTROEZHLY
5.72% -

BEROERAIE —T——F+—ATEREBN
HIR105F - REARMARE 2 HTRBNES
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Set out below are the outstanding Award Shares during the Year: ATREANZ BBITHRERG :

Date of grant Number of Outstanding Vested Outstanding
Name/category (Relevant Award Shares awards as of (Relevant awardsasof 31  Vesting  Performance
of Grantees closing price) granted 1 January 2022 closing price)  Cancelled Lapsed  December2022  Period target

BRY #HZ-3-C Bz-ECC
BHAH RERH -B-Az BEEE t=A=1-H
S INENE (BELmE) (] BRTEE (BEUHE) B BAM  ZERTEE BEE  EMEE

Director and chief executive
ESRERANGE
Zhang Yonghong 8 July 2019 4,000,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 - - - Note5 Note 5
R ZT-NELANA (HKS /i 72.42) fitzES izES
Liu Xiaodong 8 July 2019 2,000,000 600,000 600,000 - - - Note5 Note 5
Bz “Z-NELANR (HKS,/#7242) fizs fitzts
Two of the five highest paid 8 July 2019 3,300,000 990,000 990,000 - - - Note5 Note 5
individual(s) in aggregate (HKS,/7%72.42)
(not being a Director or
chief executive officer of
the Company)
INEERHFAL(THESS —F-NELANE liG# fitzEs
ARANTHER) R g
58

Other senior management
(Not being a Director,
chief executive officer
or five highest paid
individuals)
BHEEE(LFES
THERRAML
BEFAL)
Song Bingchen 8 July 2019 1,800,000 540,000 540,000 - - - Note5 Note 5
kS “E-NEtANR (HKS/#72.42) fizEs fitzts
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Date of grant Number of Outstanding Vested Outstanding
Name/category (Relevant Award Shares awards as of (Relevant awardsasof 31  Vesting  Performance
of Grantees closing price) granted 1 January 2022 closing price)  Cancelled Lapsed  December2022  Period target

Rl BE-F-CF BE-E-Cf

RiAH RBRG —A-R2 EEE +tZA=t1-H

(RBYmE) 48 ERTED (RBYmE) B B&M  <ERGEE BER  ANEE
Employees
L]
In aggregate 8 July 2019 17,000,000 6,090,000 6,090,000 - - - Note5 Note 5
ait “E-NELANA (HKS /B 722.42) a5 fit3t5
Total 28,100,000 9,420,000 9,420,000 = = =
i

Notes: HMEE -

REZZB—F+-A=+—H BEROBEESR
0 B BUAEREARE (T REC BB AN R
BTABRAZEND) - FRLER D EZEBN - FR
SFEANEAR R B R L2 B A MR -

1. As at 31 December 2022, no Shares were held in trust under the ESAS (excluding 1.
Shares vested but not yet transferred to the grantees). No Award Shares were
granted under the Year. No Shares were acquired by the trustee during the Year
under the ESAS.

AN BEFRIEE SR REEH 83 SRR X AHE
A EEEHE  BEERTEE -

72, Grantees were not required to pay any application/acceptance amount, purchase 2.
price or exercise price for the Award Shares under the ESAS.

BEX 35 B2 13 B HA RO 32 P A 4R 2 | AR A0
W B R2.4287T

3. Being the closing price per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange immediately 3.
before the date on which the Award Shares were granted was HK$2.42:

4. Being the weighted average closing price per Share immediately before the date 4.  BIEEHEEIA() 58 A HAa1 2 SRR NEFHKRTHE -

on which the Award Shares were vested.
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5. Below sets out the vesting periods and conditions of the Award Shares 5. FIEFIERENAR () &Y 5 ER R AR

Vesting period

First period

£—H

Second period

%8

Third period

FE=H

All vesting conditions were confirmed as having been satisfied as of 31 December 2021.
All expense relating to the share-base payment for the aforesaid Award Shares under

Percentage of
Awarded Shares to

be vested and released
(subject to fulfillment

Vesting date of vesting conditions)

& 57 B b B2 Bk
ZEBRABEIL
(AGHEBRE
BERE  HEERE)
On or after 40%
8 January 2020
RZZEZZF—HA\H
B
On or after 30%
8 January 2021
RZZE=Z—F—AN\HB
g
On or after 30%

8 January 2022

R-B-_—_%—HANR
g2tk

Condition 1

&A1
(Note (i)
(PR EEG))

The performance targets of the
Company for the year 2019 is
fully achieved.

KRR ZB-NFZER
BIZE2EERK ©

The performance targets of the
Company for the year 2020 is
fully achieved.

KRR ZBZBFE 2R
AIEE2EEX -

The performance target of the
Company for the year 2021 is
fully achieved

KRR Z —F 2B
B T?EEELEX

Condition 2

RiF2
(Note (ii))
(B =E())

The Selected Employee shall
remain as an employee as at
31 December 2019.

KEFREN-_Z—NF
+ZA=+—RHMNBES -

The Selected Employee shall
remain as an employee as at
31 December 2020.

CETFEEN_T-TF
JF_H =+—HBINBEE -

The Selected Employee shall
remain as an employee as at
31 December 2021.

CEFEEN-_T_—F
+_H =T El WEEE e

ABBRIHIERAERBE-_S-_—F+-A=1+—H
R o B2 LR B R SR AT BITR T SR A AD #O AR 1D R &

RN REEN AR ERNBE— S —F+=-A=+—
B IEFE AR AR ©

the ESAS have been recognised in the year ended 31 December 2021 or before.
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(i) 50% of the Awarded Shares in each vesting period shall vest in the Selected
Employees only if Condition 1 and Condition 2 set out above are fully achieved.
If the performance targets set out in Condition 1 above cannot be fully achieved,
the number of Awarded Shares to be vested in the respective vesting period will
be further adjusted in the following manner:

R ESCHTBZ W01 R I 2 R TS - S BB
250% SRR 77 T BB PRI (R 8 © i Lk il
A R EER - B E A BEEA
B2 SRR BB AT — 5% -

Percentage of the Awarded Shares to be vested and

Percentage of performance targets achieved released to the Selected Employee

ERENBEZESL BEBYRRTREEEEZRBRABEIL

100% 100%

70%-99% Proportionate to the percentage of performance targets actually achieved
70%Z99% HEREENCBERBFEAEDLKIEL

Less than 70% Nil
LR70% =z

(i)~ The remaining 50% of the Awarded Shares to be awarded in each vesting period
shall vest in the Selected Employees only if Condition 2 is fulfilled. If the Selected
Employee ceases to be an Employee before the vesting date of the relevant
vesting period, all of the Awarded Shares granted to the Selected Employee for
that vesting period and any vesting periods thereafter shall lapse in full.

The validity period of the Share Award Scheme was 10 years commencing on the date

of its adoption. The Share Award Scheme expired during 2021, and no further award
could be granted.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FERRREMALIRERQITRER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN HERGOZERR AR

THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of substantial RZZ-—F+-F=+—H TERR(WIFESE
Shareholders (not being Directors and the chief executive of the Company) AR ATTEAER ) AR R B E (AR EE (T
in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated — R#&E% MHAEIEHIEXVEL) 2 %ty MBI KOF - %
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified ~ GIRIEZES RS EHISEXVIBE2 R EIDLENE
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part ~ ANQE MEERET 2 S AR - WHERALR AIRE
XV of the SFO and required to be entered in the register maintained by the &% REIGEHIE3I36EMEE S LMz ER AR
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows: W

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”) ZAQTZER(KRE ) 2HFE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

as at

Name of Shareholder Class of shares Long position  Capacity 31 De;:;fmber 2022
A=ZB==

, +=HA=+-—H

RERIEE, A IR A% %5 % =27) ZRESHNBI

Substantial shareholder

FERRE
Talent Gain Developments Limited Ordinary 253,671,964  Beneficial owner and Interest in 19.37%
TR (note 1) controlled corporation
(f3E1) BREEAK
ST AR
Digital China (BVI) Limited Ordinary 253,671,964  Interest in controlled corporation 19.37%
AR (note 1) S| A TR
(F3E1)
Digital China Holdings Limited Ordinary 253,671,964  Interest in controlled corporation 19.37%
NS ER DA AR (note 1) S4EH|I QAR
(F5ET)
Other persons
Hitt A+
|deal South Limited Ordinary 80,000,000  Beneficial Owner 6.11%
AR (note2) EHZEBA
(Fg5E2)
Wong Luen Hei Ordinary 129,705,000 Interest in controlled corporation 9.90%
EHE EiEk (note 2) and Founder of a discretionary
(BfsE2) trust who can influence
how the trustee exercises his
discretion
S AR R
AR EZTEANTE
HEE 2R ZAIIEA
Fortune Value Investment Holdings Limited 104,562,000  Beneficial Owner 7.98%
(note3) EmHEBA
(PH7E3)
Zhu Lemin 104,562,000 Interest in controlled 7.98%
Réeqy (note 3) corporation

(MfEE3)  XEHIARES
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Notes:

1. Such interests in the Company comprise: (1) 230,263,964 Shares held by Talent
Gain Developments Limited; and (2) 23,408,000 Shares held by Unique Golden
Limited. Unique Golden Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Talent Gain
Developments Limited, which in turn is wholly and beneficially owned by Digital
China (BVI) Limited and indirectly wholly and beneficially owned by Digital China
Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 861). Therefore, Talent Gain Developments Limited is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Unique Golden Limited, and each of Digital China
(BVI) Limited and Digital China Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Talent Gain Developments Limited and Unique Golden Limited.

2. Ideal South Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Luen Hei.

3. Fortune Value Investment Holdings Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhu Lemin.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company had not
been notified of any interests or short positions of substantial Shareholders or
other persons in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which are
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group provided loan to Chongging Micro-Credit,
which constituted a non-exempt one-off connected transaction subject
to announcement and reporting, but was exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement. Further information is set out in the
Management'’s Discussion and Analysis on page 61.

Save as the connected transactions disclosed in this annual report, all
the related party transactions as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statement did not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company which are subject to the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transactions in note 39(a) to the consolidated financial statement were
provided under the service contracts of relevant management and thus were
all fully exempted pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter

14A of the Listing Rules from time to time in respect of the aforementioned
connected transactions.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group’s customers are mostly small and medium sized enterprises in
the PRC and certain well-known companies. The five largest customers of
the Group together accounted for 37.0% of the Group’s total turnover for
the Year, out of which the largest customer accounted for approximately
22.8% of the Group’s revenue. Most of the Group’s revenue is derived from
B2B trading platform. The major customers of trading platforms include a
large number of small and medium sized enterprises and factories. The sales
contracts are entered according to orders. Online products mainly consist of
B2B member service and online advertising. The sale agreements have a term
of one year, which, depending on different contracts, shall be renewed by the
customers upon such sale agreements expired.

The Group’s major suppliers are as follows: (i) the major suppliers of B2B
trading platform are large-scale factories and traders; (ii) the suppliers of
online products provide search engine and promotion services, allowing our
customers to have a higher exposure of their products by getting more search
engine hits and promoting their products and achieving transactions. The five
largest suppliers of the Group together accounted for less than 30% of the
Group's total purchases for the Year.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has an interest in the
major suppliers or customers noted above.
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DONATION

Charitable donations made by the Company during the Year was approximately
RMB Nil (2021: Nil).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management of the Company
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the risk
management and internal control systems, this annual report and the annual
results of the Company for the Year and has met with external auditors and
discussed the financial matters of the Group that arose during the course of
audit for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Year, the Company had complied with the applicable code
provisions of Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules in force at the relevant time. See also the Corporate Governance
Report for more information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company total issued share
capital was held by the public as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Each of the Directors has confirmed that none of them and to the best of their
information, their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules),
had any business or interest in any company that materially competes or may
compete with the business of the Group or any other conflict of interests with
the interests of the Group during the Year.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a written confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, and the Company considers they are independent. See
the Corporate Governance Report for further information.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to Article 167 of the Articles, the Directors and other officers of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of
their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices. This indemnity shall
not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons. Such provisions were in force during the Year
and remained in force as of the date of this annual report. The Company has
also arranged appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of
potential legal action against Directors and other officers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holdings in the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed shares of the Company during the Year.
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AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. There has been
no change in the auditors of the Company for the preceding three years.

By Order of the Board
HC Group Inc.
Liu Jun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Corporate Governance Report
ﬁ__\‘ ’#ﬁ:sAﬁﬂ:

INTRODUCTION

Maintaining high standards of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Company’s goals. This corporate
governance report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices,
explains the applications of the principles of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code"”) and deviations, if
any.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the Year, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions (“code provision”) of Part 2 of the Code. The Company believes
that by applying the principles under the Code with reference to the
Company’s own individuality and achieving high standard of corporate
governance, the corporate value and accountability of the Company can be
enhanced and the shareholders’ interests can be maximised. The Board is
satisfied that the Group'’s strategic directions and business model are aligned
with its culture during the Year. The Board has continued to monitor and
review the Company’s progress in respect of corporate governance practices
to ensure compliance. Management meetings were held throughout the Year
and where appropriate, internal circulars and other guidance notes were issued
to the Directors and senior management of the Group to monitor ensure
awareness to issues regarding corporate governance practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
set out in code provision A.2.1 of the Code. During the Year, the Board
has reviewed and monitored the Company’s corporate governance policy,
including: (a) the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices;
(b) training and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management; (c) the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; (d) the Company’s code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and (e) the Company’s compliance
with the Code disclosures requirements.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted written guidelines regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms not less than the required standard of dealings as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Directors have confirmed their compliance with such required
standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors throughout the Year.

The Board has also adopted written guidelines on terms not less than the
required standard of dealings for relevant employees who may have access
to inside or price sensitive information of the Company in respect of their
dealings in the securities of the Company.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprises nine Directors, of whom three are executive Directors, three are
non-executive Directors and three are independent non-executive Directors.

The participation of non-executive Directors in the Board provides the
Company with a wide range of expertise and experience, and plays an
important role in the work of the Board and brings independent judgement
on issues relating to the Company’s strategy, performance, conflicts of interest
and management process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of
the Company have been duly considered. All Directors have given sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Company during the reporting period.
Each executive Director has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to
carry out his/her duties effectively and efficiently.

Mechanism is available for ensuring independent views and input are available
to the Board. Each of the Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) has full and timely access to the Group's information, and can
seek advice from the company secretary as well as independent professional
advisers at the Company’s expenses in appropriate circumstances. With the
Group’s conflict management and other internal control measures, these
independent non-executive Directors provide balance and independent
external perspective, overseeing the Group’s operation and corporate
action. The Board and its committees review, at least once every year, the
Company’s governance structure and such mechanism. Periodic review and
evaluations are also being conducted to assess the Board and Management'’s
performance, monitoring and enhancing the effectiveness of the Company’s
governance structure and mechanism.

In full compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors, at
least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation
of his/her independence. Having assessed the independent non-executive
Directors background, business and other relationship (if any), and the
strong independence in judgment by them throughout the Year, and with
reference to such confirmations the Company considers such Directors to
be independent in accordance with the guideline set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Code, the Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises the benefits of diversity of Board
members, and will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experiences
and diversity of prospect appropriate to the Company’s business need
prospectus.

The Board as at 31 December 2022 comprised:
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Executive Directors
Liu Jun (Chairman), Zhang Yonghong, Liu Xiaodong (President)

Non-executive Directors
Guo Fansheng, Sun Yang, Lin Dewei

Independent non-executive Directors
Zhang Ke, Zhang Tim Tianwei, Qi Yan

There were no change in the composition of the Board during the Year.
Mr. Zhang Yonghong acted as the CEO during the Year. With effect from
3 February 2023, the Board appointed Mr. Liu Jun as the CEO, in place of
Mr. Zhang in order to allow Mr. Zhang to focus on the business affairs and
development of Beijing Panpass.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Chairman, the CEO and other
Director do not have any financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship with each other.

Board meetings and general meetings

The Board meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year. At least 14 days’ notice of
all regular board meetings were given to all Directors (unless waived in
accordance with the Articles), who were all given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for discussion. The Board secretary of the Company
(the "Board Secretary”) assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for the
meeting, and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations regarding the
meetings are observed. The meeting agenda and accompanying board papers
are sent to all Directors prior to meetings. During the Year, 4 Board meetings
and 1 general meeting were held and the attendance record of the meetings
by each Director is as follows:

Attendance
Board
Meetings

General
Meetings

Executive Directors

Liu Jun 4/4 1Al
Zhang Yonghong 4/4 11
Liu Xiaodong 4/4 11

Non-executive Directors

Guo Fansheng 3/4 11
Sun Yang 4/4 1Al
Lin Dewei 4/4 VAl

Independent non-executive Directors

Zhang Ke 4/4 11
Zhang Tim Tianwei 4/4 171
Qi Yan 3/4 0/1
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Notes:

(1) Some of the non-executive Directors were unable to attend the general meeting
held during the Year due to other engagements. The non-executive Directors
actively participate in the Board and attend the general meeting of the Company
if possible.

(2)  Board meetings at which relevant Director is required to abstain pursuant to the
Listing Rules and/or the Articles are excluded (where applicable).

In regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate the
overall strategies of the Company, monitor financial performances and discuss
the annual and interim results, set annual budgets, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters.

The Board Secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting by
keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions made by the Board together
with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any) in the meeting.
Drafts of board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comments and
approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on request by any Director. All Directors
have access to relevant and timely information as the Chairman ensures
that management will supply the Board and its committees with all relevant
information in a timely manner.

Delegation by the Board

The Company has set out the respective functions and responsibilities
reserved to the Board and those delegated to management. The Board leads
and provides direction to and monitors the management (who in turns,
provide updates and reports to the Directors). The Board is responsible for
the approval and monitoring of the Company’s overall strategies and policies
and their implementation; approval of business plans; evaluation of the
performance and compliance of the Company and oversight of management.
It is also responsible for promoting the success of the Company and its
businesses by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board
reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
matters relating to the Company’s share capital, appointment of Directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to day-to-day operation, implementing decisions of the Board, are delegated
to the management.

Decisions of the Board are mainly communicated to the management through

executive Directors. Senior management also attends meeting among the
Directors as and when appropriate.
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INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Newly appointed Directors will receive guideline and reference materials to
enable them to familiarise with the Group’s business operations and the
Board'’s polices.

The Directors recognise the importance of ongoing professional development
and training, and are committed to participating in suitable training to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, and to keep abreast of the
current trends and issues which the Group may face. Directors are encouraged
to participate in continuing professional development and have been provided
with training materials relevant to the directors duties and responsibilities.

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records.
The records are maintained by the Company for annual review. During the
Year, all Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training courses and/or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance, updates on the Listing Rules and applicable
laws and regulations, and the individual training record is summarised below:

Attending seminar(s)/
reading relevant materials

Executive Directors

Liu Jun MES
Zhang Yonghong \Y(ES
Liu Xiaodong YES

Non-executive Directors

Guo Fansheng YES
Sun Yang YES
Lin Dewei YES

Independent non-executive Directors

Zhang Ke YES
Zhang Tim Tianwei YES
Qi Yan YES
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TERM OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION

Each of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a fixed term of one
year, subject to rotation and/or re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company, as specified by the Listing Rules and the Articles.

Pursuant to the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company (in the case of
filling a casual vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board), and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting. At each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for
a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Liu Jun is the Chairman. The role of Chairman requires him to be
responsible for ensuring that the Board functions effectively and smoothly,
ensuring good corporate governance practices and procedures are established
and followed, and for overseeing the implementation of corporate strategies.
The role of CEO of the Company requires one to oversee the executive
of strategies agreed by the Board and the day-to-day operations of the
Company. During the Year, Mr. Zhang Yonghong acted as the CEO, oversaw
the executive of strategies agreed by the Board and the day-to-day operations
of the Company. The Company was in compliance with code provision C.2.1
during the Year.
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With Panpass preparing its proposed listing on the Beijing Stock Exchange
and entering into an important stage of development, Mr. Zhang resigned
from the role of the CEO with effect from 3 February 2023 to focus on
Panpass’ business affairs and development. The work adjustment is beneficial
to the promotion of Panpass’ corporate governance and is in line with
the requirements of relevant rules of Beijing Stock Exchange. Mr. Liu was
appointed in Mr. Zhang's place and since then acted as both the Chairman
and the CEO, deviating from code provision C.2.1. Mr. Liu has been
overseeing the Group'’s strategic development, he has extensive experience in
the industry. His capability to act as the CEO is also evidenced by his previous
experience of acting as the CEO of the Group. The Company believes that this
work adjustment can facilitate Panpass’'s development, and allow the Group
to maintain its efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies under consistent leadership of the current management team
without compromising the balance of power and authority, and is beneficial
to the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 20 March 2006. The
main role and functions of the Remuneration Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of all the Directors’ and senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy. The Remuneration Committee is accountable to the
Board. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Zhang Ke
(independent non-executive Director) and other members include Mr. Liu Jun
(executive Director), Mr. Sun Yang (non-executive Director), Mr. Zhang Tim
Tianwei (independent non-executive Director) and Ms. Qi Yan (independent
non-executive Director).

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made
recommendation to the Board in relation to the remuneration policy, assessed
performance of executive Directors and, reviewed and discussed the package
of the remunerations of executive Directors and members of the senior
management of the Company, and reviewed and made recommendation
on the remuneration of the non-executive Directors, the Share Schemes,
bonus structure, provident fund and other incentive and compensation-
related issues and structure, and the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, and performed such other duties under the Listing Rules and
the terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee consulted with the
Chairman and/or the chief executive officer of the Company on its proposals
and recommendations. In line with the recent development of the Listing
Rules, the Company has updated the terms of to clarify its principal roles and
responsibilities on matters regarding the Company’s share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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The Remuneration Committee is provided with other resources enabling it
to discharge its duties such as the access to professional advice if and when
necessary. The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the Year. The
individual attendance record of each member is as follows:

Members Attendance

Liu Jun 171
Zhang Ke 11
Zhang Tim Tianwei 11
Qi Yan 11
Sun Yang IVAl

Full minutes of the Remuneration Committee’s meetings are properly
kept by the Company. In line with practices consistent with meetings
of the Board and other committee meetings, draft and final versions of
Remuneration Committee meeting minutes are circulated to all members of
the Remuneration Committee for comments, approval and record as soon as
practicable after each meeting.

The emoluments of the Directors and the management are determined
based on the Company’s remuneration policy, requiring objective criteria
including the operating results of the Company, individual performance and/
or prevailing market conditions be taken into account. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the model under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of making
recommendation to the Board on remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management. The Company has also adopted
the Share Schemes as part of its incentive structure.

Senior management remuneration by band
The emoluments fell within the following bands:
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Nil to HKD 1,000,000
Z%51,000,00055 7T

HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000
1,000,001/ 721,500,000 70
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
1,500,001/8 7c 22,000,000/ 7T
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
2,000,001#7T22,500,000/%5 7T
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
2,500,001 723,000,000/ 7T
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000
3,000,001/ 7c 23,500,000/ 7T

-
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee and written terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee have been adopted. The main role
and function of the Nomination Committee is to regularly review the structure
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed change to the structure of the Board. The Nomination Committee
is accountable to the Board. The chairman of the Nomination Committee was
Mr. Liu Jun (executive Director) and other members include Mr. Zhang Ke
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei (independent
non-executive Director).

During the Year, the work of the Nomination Committee included, among
others, reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board,
identifying individual suitably qualified to become Board members, selecting or
making recommendation to the Board on selection of individuals nominated
for directorship, assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, making recommendation to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, identifying
measurable objectives for implementing the Board Diversity Policy as may be
adopted by the Board from time to time and the progress on achieving the
objectives, and performing such other duties under the Listing Rules and the
terms of reference.

Directors nomination policy

The Company has adopted a Directors nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”), which establishes criteria and procedures for the Nomination
Committee to identify and consider individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the formulated
criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and appointment of
new Directors.

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nomination
Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure that Directors appointed to
the Board possess the relevant skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
critical to the Group’s business to enable the Board to make sound and well
considered decisions.

Nomination Process

When receiving the proposal to appoint a new Director, the Nomination
Committee shall (i) assess the candidate with reference to the selection criteria
as set out in the Nomination Policy to determine the eligibility of the candidate
to serve as a Director; (ii) if there are more than one desirable candidates, rank
them in accordance with the needs of the Company and the merits of each
candidate; and (iii) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of a suitable candidate to serve as a Director (if applicable).
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When a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, the
nomination committee shall (i) review the overall contribution and services
of the retiring Director and the performance and level of participation of the
retiring Director; (i) assess whether the retiring Director satisfy the selection
criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy; and (iii) if considered appropriate
make recommendations to the Board, which may make a recommendation to
the Shareholders to re-elect the retiring Director at a general meeting.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee will take into account the Board Diversity Policy, a
candidate’s: (i) character (in terms of his/her honesty, integrity, motivation or
reputation); (i) merits (in terms of his/her qualifications (including professional
qualifications)), skills, knowledge, accomplishment and experience related to
the business and strategy of the Company and the diversity in gender, age,
ethnicity, length of service and skill set of the Board in accordance with Board
Diversity Policy of the Company); (iii) business expertise; (iv) whether sufficient
time can be devoted to properly discharge its duties as a member of the Board
and a member of the board committees; and (v) his/her independence (if an
independent non-executive director is being considered).

The Company considers that the Board possesses a balance of skills,
experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. See also the paragraph head
“Diversity” below for further information. The Nomination Committee had
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, and diversity of the Board during the Year
and will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to
ensure that an appropriate level of diversity is maintained and that the Board
Diversity Policy is implemented effectively.

The Board reviews and assesses the Nomination Policy and its effectiveness on
a regular basis or as required.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the Year. The Individual
attendance record of each members is as follows:

Members Attendance

Liu Jun 171
Zhang Ke 11
Zhang Tim Tianwei 1Al
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Management of the Company provides all relevant information and records
to the Board, enabling the Board to make assessment and to prepare the
financial statements and other financial disclosures. The Audit Committee
is chaired by Mr. Zhang Ke (independent non-executive Director). Other
members of the Audit Committee include Ms. Qi Yan (independent non-
executive Director) and Mr. Guo Fansheng (non-executive Director). The
main role and function of the Audit Committee is to be responsible for the
relationship with the Company’s auditors, review of the Company’s financial
information and monitoring of the Company’s financial reporting system
and internal control procedures. The Audit Committee is accountable to the
Board.

During the Year, the Audit Committee’s primary duties include ensuring the
Company’s financial statements, annual and interim reports, and the auditor’s
report present a true and balanced assessment of the Company’s financial
position; reviewing the Company’s financial control, internal control and risk
management systems; and reviewing the Company'’s financial and accounting
policies and practices, and performed such other duties under the Listing
Rules and the terms of reference.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties. The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the Year.
The individual attendance record of each member is as follows:

Members Attendance

Zhang Ke 2/2
Qi Yan 2/2
Guo Fansheng 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management of the Company
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the internal
control procedures, the financial results of the Group during the Year, met
with external auditors and discussed the financial matters of the Group that
arose during the course of audit during the Year, reviewed and monitored
the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process, reviewed the terms of reference of the committee and
whistleblowing policy of the Company to consider if any proposed changes
that deemed appropriate or advisable, and reviewed the effectiveness of the
Group's internal audit function. In the opinion of the Audit Committee, there
are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cost
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. There is
no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the
selection, appointment, resignation or discussion of the external auditors.
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Full minutes of all Audit Committee meetings are properly kept by the
Company. In line with practices consistent with meetings of the Board and
other committee meetings, draft and final versions of Audit Committee
meeting minutes are circulated to all members of the Audit Committee for
comments, approval and record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the accounts. The
Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements and the responsibilities
of the external auditors to the shareholders are set out on pages 124 to 126
of this annual report.

DIVERSITY

The Board has formulated the Board Diversity Policy setting out the approach
to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
All Board appointments will continue to be based on meritocracy with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates will
be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee will
continue to primarily responsible for identifying suitable qualified candidates
to become Board members and to ensure that the Board has an appropriate
balance and diversity with giving adequate consideration to the Board
Diversity Policy.

As of 31 December 2022 and the date of this annual report, the Board
comprised both male and female (one out of nine), and the Board is of
the opinion that board diversity (including gender diversity) has been
achieved with reference to the need of the business of the Group and the
industries it participated. The Directors believe that the current composition
of the Board (with Directors from both gender, different age group and
diversified background) reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business development of the Group
and for effective leadership. All the executive Directors possess extensive
experience in the industry, while the non-executive Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) provide an appropriate balance and
diversity to the Board, ensuring the independence and objectivity of the Board
and provide a system of checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders. The Board will continue to implement its Nomination Policy, the
Board Diversity Policy, and maintain at least one female representation on the
Board to ensure the opinions from different gender are well represented.
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The Company is committed to gender equality and other diversity aspects
by providing fair recruitment, training and promotion opportunities
for all employees. As of 31 December 2022, the Group employed 492
female, representing approximately 47.86% of its full-time employees.
As of 31 December 2022, 25% of the Group’s senior management were
female (excluding Directors). The Board considers that the Group's senior
management and workforce are diverse in terms of gender. At present,
the Company is committed to having representations from both genders
on the Board. It has not set any additional measurable objectives for the
implementation of diversity policies in relation to the Board members and the
workforce of the Group (including gender diversity). However, the Company
will consider and review from time to such diversity policies (including
gender diversity) and the setting of any measurable objectives (if applicable).
It will also continues to make progress in nurturing talented leaders across
all management levels, regardless of gender through training programme,
equitable hiring, recruitment practices and employee networking. Further
details on the gender ratio of the Group and initiatives taken to improve
gender diversity across senior management and the wider workforce, together
with relevant data, can be found in the ESG Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit function performed by
external auditors, including whether such non-audit functions could lead to
any potential material adverse effect on the Company. The Group's external
auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers. The remuneration paid or payable to the
external auditor of the Group in relation to the Year comprised fees for audit
services for the Group of HK$6,700,000 and non-audit services (including
interim review services) of HK$1,800,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider to provide company
secretarial services and Ms. Kwong Yin Ping Yvonne is appointed as the
Company Secretary. The primary contact person in the Company for Ms.
Kwong in relation to corporate secretarial matters is Mr. Lu Qingguo, the
Board Secretary and the General Counsel of the Company.

Ms. Kwong has confirmed that she has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules in relation to the professional training requirements during the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems for the Group to safeguard the Company’s assets
and shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing such systems’ continued
effectiveness with the assistance of the Audit Committee. The Company has
an internal control function. The Board conducts review of the Company's
internal control systems at least annually, covering financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions. In such review, the
Board has considered factors such as changes since the last review; scope
and quality of management’s monitoring of risks; the nature and extent
of significant risk; adequacy of resources and background of responsible
staff; incidence of significant control failings and weaknesses identified; and
effectiveness relating to financial reporting and compliance with the Listing
Rules.

In addition, the Company set up a Group Audit Department in order to
enhance the internal control and risk management of the Company.

Each year, external auditors will also report on issues in the Group's internal
control and accounting procedure which have come to their attention during
the course of their audit, if any.

The Audit Committee periodically considers the risk management and internal
control issues raised by the Company’s management, if any. The Audit
Committee will then review the remedial plans proposed by the management
in addressing the issues and will then be submitted to the Board for
consideration.

For the Year, having reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems, no critical internal control issues have been identified and that the
necessary and adequate mechanisms have been put in place, and being
implemented. The Company considers that the Group's risk management and
internal control systems to be effective and adequate with reference to the
Group's circumstances.

In line with the commitment to achieve and maintain openness, probity and
accountability, the Company encourages employees of the Group and those
who deal with the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) to
report to the Company, in confidence, any suspected impropriety, misconduct
or malpractice concerning the Group. In this regard, the Company has
adopted the Whistleblowing Policy. The Board delegated the authority to the
Audit Committee which is responsible for ensuring that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of any matters raised and
appropriate follow-up actions are taken.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in line with
code provision F.1.1 to enhance the transparency of dividends distributed
by the Company and to facilitate the Shareholders and potential investors to
make informed investment decisions.

There is no guarantee or assurance that dividends of any amount will be
declared or distributed in any given period and the Company does not have a
predetermined dividend payout ratio.

The declaration, payment and form of dividends is at the absolute discretion
of the Board, and the final dividend to be declared shall be subject to the
approval of the Shareholders, the Articles, the laws of Cayman Islands, any
other applicable laws and regulations and the provision of this Dividend Policy.

The Board in determining the level of dividends will consider factors including:

1. distributable profits;

2. earnings;

3. current financial position;

4. capital requirements and expense planning;

5. past financial performance;

6. past and forecasted cash flows;

7. business status and strategies;

8. future operations and profitability;

9. shareholder interests; and

10. restrictions on dividend payments (including contractual restrictions,

such as restrictions stipulated in any financing agreements).

Subject to Shareholders’ approval at a general meeting and to the relevant
laws and regulations of the PRC, any applicable rules and regulations, the
Articles and after consideration on the factors above, the Company may
also declare interim dividends, final dividends, special dividends and/or any
distributions that is considered appropriate by the Board in addition to the
annual distributions.

The Board reviews the Dividend Policy from time to time.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company discloses all necessary information to the shareholders in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Directors host the annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders of the Company and answer
their enquiries (if any). The Directors make their efforts to attend general
meetings so that they may answer any question raised by the shareholders of
the Company.

Please see the paragraph headed “Proposed Amendments to the Articles”
in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section for proposed
amendments to the Articles after the Year. Save as disclosed in this annual
report, there is no significant change in the Articles during the Year.

The proceedings of the general meetings are reviewed from time to time
to ensure the Company conforms to the best practices regarding corporate
governance.

The Company has established a Shareholders’ Communication Policy to set
out the Company’s processes to provide shareholders and the investment
community with ready, equal and timely information on the Company for
them to make informed assessments of the Company’s strategy, operations
and financial performance, and to engage actively with the Company. The
said policy is available on the Company’s website.

The Company discloses information and publishes periodic reports and
announcement to the public in accordance with the Listing Rules, the
relevant law and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure
information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby
enabling the Shareholders and investors of the Company as well as the public
to make rational and informed decisions.

The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate members of senior

management also respond to inquiries from Shareholders and investors
promptly.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Investor Relations Department of the Company whose
contact details are as follows:

Room B-1, 4 Floor, Building 2
Hangxing Science Park

No. 11, Hepingli East Street
Dongcheng District, Beijing 100013
The People’s Republic of China
Email: ir@hcgroup.com

Tel: (8610) 6592 0172

Fax: (8610) 6592 0068

Investor Relations Department of the Company handles both telephone and
written enquiries from Shareholders from time to time.

Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to the Board and/or
relevant Board committees, where appropriate, to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

The Board is responsible for regularly reviewing the Shareholders’
Communication Policy, and its implementation and effectiveness. The most
recent review was undertaken in March 2022 and having considered the
multiple channels of communication and engagement in place, and valuable
feedbacks from shareholders and investment community, the effectiveness of
the policy was confirmed.

Shareholders’ right to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and procedures to put forward proposals at
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may whenever it thinks fit
call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more Shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles, no person other than a Director retiring
at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election,
be eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice
signed by a Member (other than the person to be proposed)duly qualified to
attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention
to propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the person
to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
head office or at the Registration Office provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven (7)
days and that the period for lodgement of such notice(s) shall commence no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7)days prior to the
date of such general meeting. The procedures for Shareholders to propose
a person for election as a Director is posted on the Company’s website at
http://www.hcgroup.com. Shareholders may also convene an extraordinary
general meeting with the procedure above to put forward proposal at general
meetings.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of HC Group Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of HC Group Inc. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 127 to 304,
comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022,

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessments of goodwill and other intangible assets

o Measurement of expected credit losses on loans to customers

. Fair value measurement of financial instruments, including financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
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FARETEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

RREITER

Impairment assessments of goodwill and other intangible
assets

MERHEMEREERENMG

Refer to note 2.10, note 4.1(a) and note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BEEE I IREN22.10 - Miatd 1@) kA9 -

As disclosed in note 19, the Group’'s goodwill and other
intangible assets were allocated to various cash-generating
units (“CGUs"). In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets”, the Group is required to, at least annually, test
goodwill for impairment; and for other intangible assets,
the Group is required to test for impairment when there are
impairment indicators.

WA 19PN EE - ERERERAMENEEE SEETRR
SEAEM([REEEBL]) - REBBGTERIE36HREER

Bl BEREAZISFABREETRENR  MHECELE
EME @ EXEARFERETREETREN -

Management performs the impairment assessments, and
determines the recoverable amount of each CGU by using
value-in-use calculation. Significant judgement is required in
relation to the assumptions made in such discounted cash flow
model including:

EREETREN G VREREELAIEETBEARSELS
Iz el e REANRREREELFELRINTEE
FRERHAE - B4

Revenue growth rates;
- RAERE

—  Terminal growth rates; and
- EREBEBRE:R

- Discount rates.
- HEE.

BANETNAERERREENSEE

In the evaluation of management’s impairment assessments
over the goodwill and other intangible assets balances, we
have performed the followings:
RETBEREEEEEREMMBZEERARIIEZRERHE -
IEEITA T IIE -

—  Understood, evaluated the key control procedures over
management’s estimation of recoverable amount of the
CGUs containing goodwill and other intangible assets
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors;

- BER FEEEEMACSRBREMEREECHSESL
B A B S RE  ARIEHIR T - WiRiBE R T HE
BEREMESRERREZKT - sHEERERERT 2 EER

B

—  Compared the current year actual results of the CGUs
with management’s prior year forecast to consider the
accuracy of historical forecasts and understood the
explanation for deviation of the actual results compared
with prior year forecast to assess the effectiveness of
management'’s estimation process;

- BAFERSELBMUCERRERERE F—FE 2
BT - AERE L TR 2 RN - WA ERR AR
—FEBACZREZHEE UFEHEEEMGTAEZAER
M

— Understood and assessed the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by management;
- BEREUMEEREMAMETEZEEN
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter

HARETEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BERETEE

As a result of the impairment assessments, the Group
recognised impairment for intangible assets over “New
technology retails solutions” CGU of RMB26,050,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
PETRENGE - EEEREE_Z-__F+-_A=+—H1t
FRZIBMEEMAARZBCELEMURRBLEERER
AR#26,050,0007T °

After the impairment losses recognised during the
year, the Group had goodwill and intangible assets of
RMB1,052,105,000 and RMB101,321,000 respectively as at
31 December 2022. Management concluded that no further
impairment would be necessary

EFAERFAEEBRE RZZE_F+=A=+—H8 &
SECZHEREREED %IJ%/\EM105210500071&AE%
101,321,0007¢ - B2 BRAHAELE—FRHIE

We focused on this area because the balances of goodwill and
other intangible assets were significant and the estimation of
the recoverable amount involved a high level of management'’s
judgement.

BMEINULERE - RESHEREMEVEELREN @
EEF AT E 5y A BB IR E I -

BRSO AEEREETSE

—  Challenged the revenue growth rates and terminal
growth rates applied by management based on the
development plan, past results of the identified CGUs and
available industry research, where applicable;

- REERHE  CHNRESEEBUBEEERAIFIT
ERE(WER) HEBEMARARRERGIEREIR
HEEE

- Assessed the discount rate used in the forecast by
comparing to relevant external sources of market data;
and

- WBERSMBTISEE R - AMETRAMAZITIRE - &

—  Evaluated management’s sensitivity analysis on key
assumptions and assessed the potential impact of
reasonable changes to the significant assumptions.

- FHMEEEEHFERJ[IBRESN - WiHESBEESHEE
ANRRZBIEZE -

We found management’s judgements, assumption and
estimates applied on the impairment assessments in respect
of the goodwill and other intangible assets were supported by

available evidence.

BMRR - BREREE R E M SN EERERER G2
TR S AT B B S -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HRREIER

Measurement of expected credit losses on loans to
customers

EFENREHEERHENE

Refer to note 2.11, note 4.1(b) and note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BRRE OB AMT2.11 - W4 10) RATE21 -

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had gross balances of
loans to customers of financing services business amounted
to RMB1,636,035,000 and respective impairment allowance
amounted to RMB216,583,000.

RZZBZZF+-A=1+—0 BXEEERTRERBESEP
2 iEeR AR A AR ¥E1,636,035,0000T - MABEREREA AR
216,583,0007T °

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” requires the Group to apply
a forward-looking expected credit losses (“ECL") model. The
measurement of ECL requires the application of significant
judgement and assumptions, primarily including the followings:
ERMBHREENESReMITEIZ Rk EEBEAAEETELD
EEER(EBEEEREEE - AREEBEZTEFZER
BRI RRE - FEBEATEE

—  Selection of appropriate model and determination
of relevant key measurement parameters, including
probability of default, loss given default and exposure at
default;

-  EERSEEERETEEBEERITES8
BAOZBBRMEDZ AR

BIRELR M -

—  Criteria for determining whether or not there was a
significant increase in credit risk or a default; and
- ErGCERRIBHARTEZEMIZE Kk

- Economic indicators for forward-looking measurement,
and the application of economic scenarios and
weightings.

- PIBHRTEZEERE - REERRRINEZEMA -

AN ETNAEREBRRENSEE

In the evaluation of management’s measurement of ECL on
loans to customers, we have performed the followings:
RBEERBHEFERZEREEBRAER - HMEETAN
TR

- Understood, evaluated and validated the key control
procedures over management’s measurement of ECL
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors;

- BBERGEFIHEETMEEREGESRBREZKTE B
B AHEW B E R B BTE A E BB KA ERIERR
itz [EF g 2 BRI IR

—  Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment to
assess the effectiveness of management’s estimation

process;
- FELANPETGEZER  UTIHEEREEGHBREZAN
M

— Understood and evaluated the model used by
management for measuring ECL, assessed key
measurement parameters and assumptions made by
management with reference to the relevant historical
credit loss data of the Group and observable external
economic data;

- 2% S5BEEEELGEEBRERENRABEIMNBEES
B BRLKTEERE; SR EEBEMAER - hH
BREITESHREREEL 2B

- Understood and evaluated management'’s identification
of significant increase in credit risk or a default by
corroborating management’s explanation with supporting
evidence;

- PREAXEUEBREEERECREE BRLTEEEE

HiEERRSGENBRELINZBHR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter

HARETEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

ERETEE

We focused on this area as the amount of the balance of
loans to customer is significant to the consolidated financial
statements and the measurement of ECL involved significant
judgements, assumption and estimates.

BMEIRLER  REATFPERERERAMHMBRET
BEX  MESREEEBBEZFAESRERLE BRI -

EANBANAEERREESNSZE
—  Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing profile

of loan receivables; and
- RSN E SRR 2 N K&

—  Assessed the appropriateness of economic indicators
selection for forward-looking measurement, economic
scenarios and weightings application, and assessed the
reasonableness of the estimation by comparing with
industry data.

- AHERTRRMERTEREEREE  CEBSRINERRZEE
M WRBLEITEBUR LRI 2 AR -

We found management’s judgements, assumption and
estimates applied on the measurement of ECL of loans to
customers were supported by available evidence.

BMRE  BEEEHEFPEREREESEHEMAAE - &
BB BB R o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter

121

FARETEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BREER

Fair value measurement of financial instruments,
including financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss

SRIAATENE  BERAVENABRZEMEE &
AFEFAEMEARAZEREERRAFEFABERZE
=R

Refer to note 2.11, note 3.3, note 4.1(c) and note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ERRA R EREE2.11
250

H1at3.3 - Mfatd.1(c) RHTat

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities which were carried at fair value mainly
comprised financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial liabilities through profit or loss of
approximately RMB11,283,000, RMB402,385,000 and
RMB27,233,000 respectively, of which approximately
RMB368,609,000 of these financial assets and approximately
RMB27,233,000 of these financial liabilities do not have a
quoted price in an active market and are measured at fair value
using inputs that are based on unobservable market data and
classified as “level 3 financial instruments”.

KRB _F+-RA=+—H0 > ESERAFEINRZEME
ENCRBAETERREATEFABRSEZEREE - RAFE
ﬁ)\ﬁ@i@%)\Z%mﬁﬁF&TE’AFMEJAT@ fZERAE -

D RIH A AR 11,283,0007C ~ AR #402,385,0007C & A R
27,233,0007t - EHZESREEL ARE368,609,0007T &% %
SENEENARE27,233,000C A ERT BT ERE - HERE
RAABREMISRIE 2 GARBIRATENE  YHBAIE=K
SRITE]-

Management, with the assistance of external valuers,
determines the fair value of each financial instrument by using
market comparison or scenario analysis approach, which
involved key unobservable inputs such as price-to-book ratios
and lack of marketability discount.
EIREEINEGERM BB T - BBEATSERIIERSITE
BESEMIAZATE  ERPRERTIHEREAZE - 0
MERE R Z Mg RminR -

BEMWETNARERRESE

In assessing management'’s valuation of the level 3 financial
instruments, we have performed the following procedures:
R EREEHE=RemT A2 HER  BMEETATRER

—  Understood, evaluated the key control procedures over
management’s measurement of financial instruments
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors;

- ER FEEEEHERTAGEEHZBRENERF - X
BEEEMETIEEMREEREBESRBREARORE - &F
HEAHERZEARR -

—  Evaluated the re-estimation of fair value of financial
instruments previously measured to assess the
effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

- FMEHBAHESRIAATEZENMG  UiTHERE
B2 2 AR

—  Assessed the competency, capability and objectivity of
the external valuers by considering their professional
qualification, experience and relationship with the Group;

- EBERIIEGLEMCERERE KRk EXENH
# AHEERBAER  EOREFEIM
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter

HARETEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BREETER

We focused on this area because fair value measurement of
these financial instruments, whose magnitude is material to
the consolidated financial statements, requires significant
judgement and estimation in determining the appropriate
valuation methodology as well as the selection of unobservable
inputs appropriate to the circumstances.
BMEFNLEE - REAZSEEMIA(EAESS %
WERBEX)ZATEABEEEABMEREAREERE
BB ARG B TR B R A BURR BB 8K E S fbat -

EMNFAOAEERREEASZE

— Involved our internal valuation expert to assess the
reasonableness of the valuation methodologies adopted
by management by referencing to market practices,
and also the selection of parameters and data as key
unobservable inputs;

- HBABKREERTHEEBLLSEMSEN  BEELER
TRIBRE ARG 2B REBEARAREEC AR

—  Tested the arithmetical accuracy of the valuation
calculations by checking the underlying calculations; and
- EBEREHEEGEAERERSE A EERE R

—  Evaluated management’s sensitivity analysis on key
assumptions to the potential change on fair value
and considered the appropriateness of the relevant
disclosures.

- EEEEHBEATEEBITEBRRIGRESNT A
BB E o 5@t -

We found management’s judgements, assumption and
estimates applied on the fair value measurement of level 3
financial instruments were supportable by available evidence.
BMRAE EEEHE=-HAESRIAEZ A ATEFEFMAAE - &
&N AEEH B BB F o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in HC Group
Inc. Annual Report 2022 (the “annual report”) other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained some
of the other information including Report of the Directors, Management's
Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The
remaining other information, including Corporate Information, Corporate
Portfolio, Financial Highlights, Management's Statement, Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management, Corporate Governance Report and the
other sections to be included in the annual report, is expected to be made
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee and take
appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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BB AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is KONG, Ling Yin, Raymond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BotRElRER

2022 2021
—E-=

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFT

Continuing operations HEREER
Revenue FHEUA 5 16,779,885 17,263,898
Interest income from financing services BB RISFT S FL B U A 5 103,796 124,763
16,883,681 17,388,661
Cost of revenue S E BN (16,359,122) (16,785,072)
Other income HAb YA 6 10,024 12,440
Other gains/(losses), net Haplezs(E518) 35 7 34,581 (45,115)
Selling and marketing expenses HERMHHEREE R (345,385) (353,944)
Administrative expenses THER (272,318) (299,429)
Impairment losses on goodwill and EEMEREERERIE
intangible assets 19 (26,050) (483,985)
Net (provision for)/reversal of impairment ©RVE ER AR (),
losses on financial assets e Epaek -t (105,772) 25,088
Operating loss KEEE (180,361) (541,356)
Finance cost, net B TSR AN 58 11 (44,719) (38,056)
Share of post-tax losses of associates DG E R RIBRBIRE R 23 (47,843) (18,929)
Share of post-tax losses of a joint venture DiE—EAE L ERTIR
E1a 23 = (303)
Loss before income tax BRPTISELRTE B 8 (272,923) (598,644)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fris R e, (FX) 12 42,807 (11,437)
Loss from continuing operations BEKEERZER (230,116) (610,081)
Discontinued operations BRIEREEK
Loss from discontinued operations BRI EER 2 BB 13 - (32,547)
Loss for the year REEEE (230,116) (642,628)
Other comprehensive loss: HEh 2 mEEsE
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss A B ¥R R o HH
Currency translation differences EEENEZR 31 (4,299) (5,064)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss T & E# 742 187,27
HA
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at fair RAFEFFAEMEEERA
value through other comprehensive income, ZeMEEZNTE
net of tax (B518), /s - HBRFIE
- Group —AEE 31 (36,737) (41,128)
— Associate — BN F] 317 - 2,928
Currency translation differences for financial BRAFEFTARMEERA
assets through other comprehensive income ZeRMEEZEEER
=& 31 4,411 (1,662)
Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax ANFE 2 HEIBAERE -
HIBRBIR (266,741) (687,554)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BOtEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
ot St =

RMB’'000
ARETT

RMB'000
AREFTT

Loss for the year attributable to:

THALEEARFE RIS -

Equity holders of the Company AARERFEA (224,306) (663,110)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR i R (5.810) 20,482
(230,116) (642,628)
Loss for the year attributable to the equity D ERNIES e NI 2
holders of the Company arises from: BFEAEBGAFEES
Continuing operations FHESE TS (224,306) (638,061)
Discontinued operations BRI ES = (25,049)
(224,306) (663,110)
Total comprehensive loss for the year THALTEEAFERZE
attributable to: B 1R AEEE
Equity holders of the Company RARESFAA (260,931) (708,036)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR A (5.810) 20,482
(266,741) (687,554)
Total comprehensive loss for the year KB TIEB ARG ER
attributable to the equity holders of the BAEAEGAFEZEES
Company arises from: B4R
Continuing operations SIS TS (260,931) (682,987)
Discontinued operations BRI EER = (25,049)
(260,931) (708,036)
Loss per share for loss from continuing RN AEmFEE AEIGFE
operations attributable to the equity holders KB EEER BIREIE
of the Company (expressed in RMB per share) (AERARESNE)
Basic loss per share BREXEE 14 (0.1712) (0.4871)
Diluted loss per share BREEEE 14 (0.1712) (0.4871)
Loss per share for loss attributable to RABE=RFEE ARGER
the equity holders of the Company ZEBREE(AERARE
(expressed in RMB per share) FI{E)
Basic loss per share FRREAREE 14 (0.1712) (0.5062)
Diluted loss per share BREEEE 14 (0.1712) (0.5062)
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read & GHira Wz e EABERT & M st —GFRIE -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SOFBFIR R R

As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—F+_-A=+—H

As at 31 December

A+=—A=+—H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB N&E 18 30,767 33,554
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 16,923 35,285
Investment properties EYE 17 24,847 26,009
Intangible assets mPEE 19 1,153,426 1,296,435
Deferred income tax assets BEMEHEE 34 67,424 46,994
Investments accounted for using equity method RS AT R 2 K& 23 288,458 322,176
Finance lease receivables EE R E W E 27 67,658 97,390
Financial assets at fair value through other RAFEFFAEMEEERA
comprehensive income ZEEE 25 402,385 454,458
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1ZAF(EET A2
TMEE 25 11,283 18,219
Loans and interest receivables FEWE R F S 21 29,273 418,032
Long term deposits and prepayments RS RIENHRIA 20 5,490 3,990
Long-term bank deposits RERITER 29 - 28,622
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 2,097,934 2,781,164
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 28 147,058 186,260
Contract assets EWEE 4,068 3,878
Trade receivables FEUER TR 20 119,507 175,837
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Ze -~ BARER
=l e 20 2,040,644 667,107
Loans and interest receivables FEWERKRF & 21 1,464,169 1,111,447
Finance lease receivables B EHE W EIR 27 217,873 204,432
Restricted bank deposit ZIREIRITIER 29 122,660 33,437
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESEEY 29 312,023 333,812
4,428,002 2,716,210
Assets classified as held for sale SEAFEREZEE 13(a) 131,922 132,397
Total current assets REEERE 4,559,924 2,848,607
Total assets BEE 6,657,858 5,629,771
Equity attributable to equity holders of RAREEFEAEGEES
the Company
Share capital &N 30 120,977 120,977
Other reserves Hib A 31 3,345,393 3,374,629
Accumulated losses RiT 518 (857,252) (629,622)
2,609,118 2,865,984
Non-controlling interests FEERERE 669,511 682,411
Total equity HRELS 3,278,629 3,548,395

BREEERAT 2022 F3f



N

130

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHBBAARRR

As at 31 December 2022 HR-_ZE-_—F+_A=+—H

As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H

2022

—E——
RMB’'000
ARETT

2021

RMB'000
AREFTT

Liabilities =i
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Non-current portion of bank borrowings RITEEZIERBE S 33 5,000 512,000
Lease liabilities HERE 16(a) 5,424 17,151
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFTSHi A E 34 15,535 49,860
Financial liabilities at fair value through BEATEABEZ

profit or loss SRAaE 25 6,834 7,242
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEAEE 32,793 586,253
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables FERERK 32 182,350 194,368
Accrued expenses and other payables et E A R E M E FRIE 32 369,772 320,248
Contract liabilities AHBE 5(b) 1,629,120 348,431
Current portion of bank borrowings RITEEZ RS 33 648,661 171,114
Other borrowings HiEE 33 416,616 319,416
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(a) 12,489 21,158
Income tax payable FEEFTISH 54,861 60,799
Financial liabilities at fair value through BAFEFABRZ

profit or loss EEAE 25 20,399 46,946

3,334,268 1,482,480

Liabilities directly associated with assets EOfEARBIELECEE

classified as held for sale BEEREE@zEE 13(a) 12,168 12,643
Total current liabilities FREEEALE 3,346,436 1,495,123
Total liabilities FER=R 3,379,229 2,081,376
Total equity and liabilities HWERRAE 6,657,858 5,629,771

The consolidated financial statements on pages 127 to 304 were approved by
the Board of Directors on 24 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf.

LIU Jun
Director
EE
EE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B REREER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE—ZT-—#+-F=+—HILFE

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

131

e E ARG
(Accumulated
losses)/ Non-
Share Other retained controlling
capital reserves earnings Sub-total EENY
B Efnik i\
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTE  ARETI ARBTT
(Note 30) (Note 31)
(&30)  (MiEE31)
Balance at 1 January 2021 A\ZE--F-A-Rz&H 120977 3,366,441 31404 3518822 506,957 4,025,779
Comprehensive loss 2EER
Loss for the year TEEEE - - (663110 (663,110) 20,482 (642,628)
Other comprehensive loss Ht2EER
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through ~ RATE AEMRERAZ S REEZ
other comprehensive income, net of deferred tax AVESE  IBRELHE - (38,200) - (38,200) = (38,200)
Currency translation differences EBERER - (6,726) = (6,726) = (6,726)
Total comprehensive loss TEEEEE - (44926)  (663,110)  (708,036) 20482 (687,554)
Transactions with owners EREAETZRS
Share based compensation IR M7 #E - 22,683 - 22,683 - 22,683
Contribution from non-controlling MBARFEERRR 2 TE
shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - 1,288 1,288
Transactions with non-controlling interests BFPRERETIRS 5 32,515 = 32,515 158,849 191,364
Dividend paid to non-controling interests of m—-FEHBAR e ERER
a subsidiary 2 BE = = = = (5,165) (5,165)
Derecognition of financial assets at fair value through  # |FER AT E3 AL
other comprehensive income 2EMAZREE - (2418) 2418 - - -
Deemed disposal of Zhongmo (note 7) RRLERE(EE7) - 334 (334) = - -
Total transactions with owners HEENETL 2508 - 53,114 2,084 55,198 154972 210,170
Balance at 31 December 2021 RoE--F+-A=t-H7&% 120977 3,374,629 (629.622) 2,865,984 682,411 3,548,395
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BOHERRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

ARNRRERE AT
(Accumulated
losses)/ Non-
Share Other retained controlling
capital reserves eamings  Sub-total interests Total
(RitEE)/
A Efbikta Bl Nt FERES it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETn ARETR ARMTR ARETz ARETR
(Note 30) (Note 31)
(Kt£30) (RzE31)
Balance at 1 January 2022 A bl = 120977 3,374,629 (629,622) 2,865,984 682,411 3,548,395
Comprehensive loss 2EEE
Loss for the year TEEEE - - (224306)  (224,306) (5810)  (230,116)
Other comprehensive loss Ht2EER
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through AT EF AL 2ENAZ £ 5
other comprehensive income, net of deferred tax BEJATEEE  MRETHE - (36,737) - (36,737) - (36,737)
Currency translation differences EEENEE - 12 - 12 - 112
Total comprehensive loss PAFENE - (36,625  (224306)  (260,931) (58100 (266,741)
Disposal of financial assets at fair value HMERATEFALLZERA
through other comprehensive income (note 25a) L ERAE (H5E25) - 334 (3.324) - - -
Transactions with owners EREAETZRS
Share based compensation R 7 (e - 4,065 - 4,065 - 4,065
Dividend paid o non-controling interests of W-ENBAR SRR
a subsidiary TNz ke - = = - (7,090) (7,090)
Total transactions with owners HEEAETIRHER - 7,389 (332) 4,065 (7,090 (3.025)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RIE-—F+-R=1+-Hz&sH 120,977 3,345,393 (857,252) 2,609,118 669,511 3,278,629

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
conjunction with the accompany notes.
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2022 2021
—E_— B
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
st ARETR ARBTT

Cash flows from operating activities BETBHHRESRE
Cash used in operations BEEBRAZRS 35() (67,550) (95,888)
Interest received BHFLE 10,156 8,545
Interest paid [SARENESS (50,999) (59,031)
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC") EH‘#‘%/\E il

income tax paid (TRE D FER (19,141) (34,379)
Net cash used in operating activities RETHA RS T8 (127,534) (180,753)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBZRERE
Advance receipt for disposal of Tianjin Guokai HE X EHEFRIHE R

Ruitou Education Technology Co., Ltd. ARARZBWEIE 3,500 221,500
Cash inflow arising from disposal of subsidiaries, HEMBAREEZRS

net of cash disposed WA MBREERS = 1,782
Change in long-term bank deposits RERTERE 28,622 (30,000)
Additions of property, plant and equipment RNEVE  BEREE 18 (1,062) (2,927)
Additions of intangible assets NEEBWEE 19 - (3.881)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME - BER&E

equipment FT13 5008 35(b) 36 258
Proceeds from disposal of associates HERE A RIFTEHIE = 67,900
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERAFEA;AEBR

fair value through profit or loss ZEMEEMGHOE - 4,850
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERAFEAAEMEERA

fair value through other comprehensive income ZEMEE FIBRIA 12,761 9,409
Dividend received BEHRE 4,015 2,110
Loans to investments accounted for ERTHRBRRENR

using the equity method ZIRE 19,087 4,988
Loan to employees EXTES 90 195
Net cash generated from investing activities BB EHEEREFE 67,049 276,184
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

B RERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE—-ZT——

FH-—A=+—HILFE

2022
D

R —

RMB'000
AR® T

2021
—TE-—4F
RMB’000
ARET T

Cash flows from financing activities METBZRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEEPTBRIE 35(c) 160,400 947,379
Proceeds from other borrowings Hi e B a0 35(c) 513,526 291,233
Repayment of bank borrowings BEHBRTIEE 35(c) (190,000) (1,159,380)
Repayment of other borrowings BEEMEES 35(c) (418,912) (296,399)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREEE (19,451) (24,311)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests R ERTE = 1,288
Transactions with non-controlling interests BRI R = 237,206
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests ) — eI Pt B B] 2 3E Hﬁféﬁ{l

of a subsidiary R ZIRE (7.090) (5,165)
Change in restricted bank deposit XBHIRITFRED - (7,589)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEERBHE/(FTA)Z

financing activities % 38,473 (15,738)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash iﬁ.ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁ%

equivalents W) /LR (22,012) 79,693
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning E(‘i?ﬂzfﬁﬁ LR e EEY

of the year 333,812 254,301
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents ~ BE&REEEEYELEZR 223 (182)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of RERZBERBELEEY

the year 29 312,023 333,812

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction

with the accompany notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOFT B wRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE—ZT-—#+-F=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

HC Group Inc. (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
4th Floor, One Capital Place, P.O. Box 847 George Town,Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands. The Company has its primary listing on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
following activities in the PRC:

o Sales of goods through its various B2B trading platforms, including
“www.ibuychem.com” and “www.unioncotton.com”;

o Provision of advertising and online services and offering
comprehensive IT-related products information through its website
“www.zol.com.cn”;

o Sales and provision of anti-counterfeiting products and services
and supply chain management to enterprises;

o Engaging in finance business; including micro-credit financing,
lease financing and factoring services;

o Hosting marketing events, exhibitions and seminars.

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group decided to discontinue the
operation of provision of properties leasing in the PRC operated by Tianjin Guokai
Ruitou Education Technology Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Guokai”) and the online garment
services operated by Zhejiang Zhongfu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Zhongfu”).

In accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS") 5
“Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, the financial
results of Tianjin Guokai and Zhongfu and the relevant impairment expenses for
the year ended 31 December 2021 were classified as discontinued operations in
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of units of
Renminbi (RMB’000), unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The consolidated financial statements are for
the Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

HC GROUP INC.

Compliance with HKFRS and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRS and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a historical cost basis, except for financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, which are measured at fair value.

New and amended standards and framework adopted
by the Group

The Group has applied the following annual improvements
and amendments to HKFRS issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time
for their annual reporting period commencing 1 January
2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKAS 16 and HKAS 37

Narrow-scope amendments

Annual improvements
2018-2020 cycle

Improvements to HKFRSs

Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
Common Control
Combinations

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the

amounts recognised in prior period and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv) New and amended standards, interpretation and
accounting guidance issued but not yet effective
Certain new and amended standards, interpretation and
accounting guidance have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 December 2022 reporting periods and have

not been early adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BB ERIE IR
BEAVBIRELEBERAE2R
(&5TA)
HKFRS 17
BBV IBEREENENTHR
Amendments to HKAS 8
HEGERIESTR(BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 12

BB G ERIE 125 (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 1
BB G ERE 1 (BRTA)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)

ERRBERESRE(EER)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BB ELERF 105 K
EEGHERE 28R (EFTA)

None of these standards, amendments or interpretation
are expected to have a material impact on the Group's

consolidated financial statements.

N

FESHBEBE @)

2.1 REEEE)

(iv) EBEME K LM 2 FET RASIEET
KR - REREFIES
R-B-—F+-A=+—HBHRE
HARI A B BB I ARS8 H) £ B AR
EEWERANRERZE THTRE
1ET2ER - REREES| -

Effective for
accounting

periods

beginning on

or after
RZARZ#E
ZETHHBRRER

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023

EBOR B R —E-=%—A—H

Insurance contracts 1 January 2023

REE ) —T=5—HA—H
Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BIHEEZEE —TZ=5—HA—H

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

BB - HEANEE R ABEEBNELEMRE
il

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current; Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

BEESERREBAEIERBAE « REAR
BEE

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

WK 22— BRAL B SRR ZREEK
XZERERZHDE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

REERHBENFINEGECECECEELRE FEE

1 January 2023

—ZT-=F—Hf—H

1 January 2024

—ZET-NF—F—H

1 January 2023

—T-=%—H—H

To be determined

ZEEA - BRI RREEMTEHARENS
PFATEMREREATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(i)

(ii)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group (refer to note 2.3).
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations which
prohibit or restrict foreign control of companies involved in
provision of internet content and other restricted businesses,
the Group operates its business operations within these areas
in the PRC through a series of contractual arrangements
entered into among the Group’s subsidiaries and certain
domestic entities (“Structured entities”) that legally owned
by certain management members of the Group (”Registered
Shareholders”) authorised by the Group (collectively, the
“Contractual Arrangements”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OISR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements (Continued)

The Contractual Arrangements include Technology Service
Agreement, Domain Names and Trademarks Licence
Agreement, Online Information Distribution Agreement,
Online Advertisement Publication Agreement, Exclusive
Option Agreement, Exclusive Technical Services Agreement,
Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property,
Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement, Voting Right
Proxy Agreement, Management and Operation Agreement,
Power of Attorney and Equity Pledge Agreement, which
enable the Group to:

e govern the financial and operating policies of the
Structured entities;

o receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by the Structured entities in consideration
for the technical support and other services provided
exclusively by the wholly foreign owned enterprise
("WFOE"), at the WFOE's discretion;

o obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase
part or all of the equity interests in the Structured
entities at any time and from time to time, at the
minimum consideration permitted by the relevant law in
China at the time of transfer;

o obtain a pledge over all of its equity interests from its
respective Registered Shareholders as collateral for all of
the PRC entities’ payments due to the Group to secure
performance of Structured entities’ obligation under the
Contractual Arrangements; and

e  exercise equity holder voting rights of the Structured
entities.

Accordingly, the Group has rights to control these Structured
entities and they are accounted for as Structured entities
controlled by the Group.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting (see (iv) below), after
initially being recognised at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)
(iv) Joint arrangements

(v)

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”, investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or
joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual
rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal
structure of the joint arrangement. The Company has both
joint operations and joint ventures.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting (see (v) below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated statement of financial
positions.

Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as
a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group'’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is
tested for impairment in accordance with the policy described
in note 2.11.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OISR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting 22 EfHtRBRESTEERAE)
(Continued)

(vi) Changes in ownership interests (i) BHEREERZZE

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received is recognised in
"other reserves” within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, joint control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

2.4

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

The executive directors of the Group are regarded as the chief
operating decision maker who will review the operating results of
the Group on a consolidated basis, and make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"). Hong Kong
Dollar (“HK$") is regarded as the Company’s functional
currency.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2 TESHBEEBEw

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 25 MEBREE)
(i) Transactions and balances (i) XBRAEE

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains or losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a net
basis within other gains/(losses), net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss
and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as
equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iiij) Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of
financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that consolidated statement of
financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each consolidated statement
of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless it is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) ~all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold
or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to
profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land
and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. It also
includes properties that are being constructed or developed for
future use as investment properties. Investment property is initially
measured at cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition, investment
properties are carried at cost less depreciation and impairment
provision. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives of 30 years.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied or commences
to be further developed for sale, it is reclassified as property,
plant and equipment and land use right or properties under
development, and its fair value at the date of change in use
becomes its cost for accounting purposes.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprising buildings, computer
and telecommunications equipment, fixtures, fittings and office
equipment, leasehold improvements, motor vehicles are stated
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as
a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they
are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using
the straight line method to allocate their cost to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold improvements

HEMERE

Buildings

BF

Computer and telecommunications equipment
BHREARE

Fixtures, fittings and office equipment

FE  RBERRRAERE

Motor vehicles

TE

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each consolidated statement of financial
position date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (note 2.11).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in note 2.3. Goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (“CGUs") for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purpose.

Customer relationship

Contractual customer in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
contractual customer/distributor relationship have a
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Patent

Separately acquired patents are shown at historical cost.
Patents acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The patents have a
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Trade and domain name

Trade and domain name acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trade
name and domain name have a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Software license

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
their intended use. The software license has a finite useful
life and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

License

License acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. The license has a finite useful
life and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

Platform

Platform acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The platform has a
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

(viii) Amortisation methods and periods

HC GROUP INC.

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful
life using the straight-line method over the following periods:
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale
is considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for
assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets and investment property that are carried
at fair value and contractual rights under insurance contracts,
which are specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent
write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs
to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair
value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in
excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A
gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the
non-current asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of
derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal
group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified
as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the
liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to
be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a
disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately
from the other assets in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale
are presented separately from other liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that
has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of
or abandon such a line of business or area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results
of discontinued operations are presented separately as a single
amount in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

2.11

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of
assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Investments and other financial assets and liabilities
Investments and other financial assets
(i)  Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (OCI) or through
profit or loss); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of
the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOC).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2 TESHBEBEw

210 FEREEZRE

BEDARE  ESFETRENR X
RAEEFHARIEREHRRA LI
EREREETRENR - BEFMHHR
SHIE R BN FUR R E Al g R R @R
HinBEAETRERH < BEBRIRE
EZRAEBHETROSE ZEH
R REEBEARE N FEMRHEK
AEFERBEMERZBSE ° R
B BERAEEFURNRERACK
HEBYREMEEXBEEANCREE
HBA) ZREMA) Z&IEERAER - B
ERE S REE(BERINNS|SE
HIRBURER R Z AT RE 1T -

QNMBERHMBESREERARS
RERBMEHEE
) P8E
AEBBESMEED AU TE
287 -

¢« BERAFAEGIAKLRE
TONELES TONEZ N
W EE R

o IREHRAGEE -

DHEBARNERERSREECE
BEARRER

el
N5
i)
)
P
S
B

R AFEHEZEE Wik
BEBEAB R EMEERA -
HNTFBEEE ST AR
B AEURRAEER B EV S
RN 38 2 AR X T E A
AR ERA R FERT AR
EEBAN)Z T A EEIREAR -

HEEEERRSAE BN
HERH  AEEHYYHEGRAE
EITEHHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OISR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets and liabilities
(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has substantially transferred all the risks and rewards
of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group's business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other gains/(losses), net” together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as a separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets and liabilities
(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
(iii)  Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss and recognised in “other gains/(losses), net”.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
"other gains/(losses), net” and impairment expenses are
presented as a separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL
is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within
“other gains/(losses), net” in the period in which it
arises.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets and liabilities
(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in “other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the receivables, see note 20 for further
details.

Note 3.1(b) provides more details of how the expected credit
loss allowance is measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Investments and other financial assets and liabilities

(Continued)

Investments and other financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities in the following
measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value through
profit or loss, and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

At initial recognition, the Group shall measure a financial liability at
its fair value gains or losses, in the case of a financial liability not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial liability.

Subsequently, all financial liabilities will be measured at amortised
cost, except for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss.

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforce right must not be contingent on future event and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counter

party.
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2IBHBERENERE

2.13 Financial guarantee contract liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are recognised as a financial
liability at the time guarantee provided by the Group to the banks
for property purchasers.

The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at
the higher of:

e the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or
the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for
assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values are
accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost
of the investment.

2.14 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method. The cost of
finished goods comprises merchandises and other direct costs. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less estimated costs necessary to make the sales.

BEAEERYEERMRITREERE
BRYBRERAVEEREREE -

BEVHZARFEFERBERATIZR

mEitE

o REFBMBWEENFEIRE
TERTZEMEREERRLUEE
ZRE R

o REFBMBHEEUNFISHEIET
FPa#z WA RV HER 2 3R
B (AE R ) B RER 2 WA RETFEE -

MHERAFEREF TAREZ G0N
FERERRABNRCE 2R REERE
BE - KA ERERE = BN 2 Bt
SEREE °

an7E B ) ) & TR LA S RIR 2 4
R EME RS - AT ESARIIE
HARAFERRIRERE—ED °

21478

FEERAER SR FHERE 2 REEA
Bk o RAMEREASRHIAETE - B2
A B ML EME A - AR
BERAEEBERED 2Bt EERETH
BB AR AGE -

EHEEAERAT 2022 Fif



N

156

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business.

They are generally due for settlement within one year and therefore
all classified as current assets. Trade receivables are recognised
initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See note 20 for further information about the
Group's accounting for trade receivables and note 3.1(b) for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term and
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

217 BAREERMDTEREZRA

2.17 Share capital and shares held for employee share

scheme
Ordinary shares are classified as equity (note 31).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back or a
share-based payment plan, the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is
deducted from equity attributable to the owners of the Company as
treasury shares until the shares are cancelled.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the market under
the employee share scheme, the total consideration of shares
acquired from the market (including any directly attributable
incremental costs) is presented as shares held for employee
share scheme and deducted from total equity. Upon vesting, the
related costs of the vested shares for employee share scheme
purchased from the market are credited to shares held for share
reward scheme, with a corresponding decrease in share-based
compensation reserve for employee share scheme.

2.18 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are
unpaid. These amounts are classified as current liabilities if payment
is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the
fee is deferred until the drawn down occurs. To the extent there
is no evidence that is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of
financial position when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished
or transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and
the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish
all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
which is measured as the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments
issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Borrowing costs

221

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the Company and
its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The group measures its tax balances
either based on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better prediction of
the resolution of the uncertainty.

-—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax liabilities in relation to investment property that
is measured at fair value is determined assuming the property
will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amount will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances related to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Employee benefits
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Retirement benefit costs

The full-time employees of the Group are covered by various
government-sponsored pension plans under which the
employees are entitled to a monthly pension based on certain
formulas.

The relevant government agencies are responsible for the
pension liabilities to these retired employees. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these pension plans. Under
these plans, the Group has no further payment obligations
for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions made.

Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.

Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus is recognised as a liability when
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
for payment of bonus as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.

Liabilities for bonus are expected to be settled within 12
months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as accrued expenses and other
payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of share-based payment schemes
(in the form of share awards and share options) for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Under such
schemes, employees (including directors) of the Group may receive
equity instruments as remuneration for their services rendered
("equity-settled transactions”). The fair value of the employee
services and other qualifying participants’ services received in
exchange for the grant of equity instruments of the Group is
recognised as an expense over the vesting period, i.e. the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied
and credited to equity.

Share options

The fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted:

— including any market performance conditions (e.g. the
entity’s share price);

— excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

— including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g.
the requirement for employees to save or hold shares for a
specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are
to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2 TESHBEBEw

223 ARG RER 2 I

REERE SRR BERE 2 5EHE
(AR BB K fEREZER) - B HEKE)
KBS AR S EEBRREHERNEE
WX - RIEZEE - NEEESR
(BHEEF) ISR SR G2 RS WEE

mTAMEHFM(AESEE2RS]) »
BB AR E S TAMERHE 2B
E\Hﬁ%&ﬁ’rﬂ/\éﬁ%/ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁz ~FHE

P53 B A (BN P 8 45 T 55 8 MR 1 R 155 2 A
Z B MR AR - EF AR ©

BRE
BRTREZEREATEERREESRHN
R - W ARSI o 8T
ZReW2ECREIBRELATEE
E -

-  BREATSERBREE(PIINZER
ZBE)

HZZD%A"' £ iﬁ’ii‘ﬁﬁﬁj
E%E RIEEHHEZBE) 2%

- BECAERBEE(FIRERE
REERSANRERFERG) 2
o,

BH SR B EAR (BB 15 2 R B 15
i EAR 2 HAR]) ARERR - REHIR AR
B - BRESREIEMEEHE MRS lﬂfH\
HEMGFTERUEBZROEE - BHR
MEtEE (B 2 EEN BRI
s FHAEREE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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2.23 Share-based payments (Continued)

Share awards

Under the Share Award Scheme, the directors and certain
employees of the Group are entitled to receive shares in the
Company. The shares held under trust by a financial institution
(“Trustee”) for the benefit of the directors and employees, would
be paid and the paid up consideration would be capitalised in the
Company'’s reserves. The Trustee has been instructed to buy shares
from the market using the funds held by the Trustee to grant
shares to the director and employees. The Group has also granted
shares of it subsidiaries to certain employee (including directors) at
the subsidiaries level.

The total expense to be recognised over the vesting period is
determined by reference to the fair value of the share options and
shares granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of shares or share options that are expected to vest.
The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which
is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At each date of consolidated statement of
financial position date, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of shares or share options that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing vesting and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24

2.25

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good
obligations are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the management'’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold or services performed, stated net of discounts, returns
and value-added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities, as
described below.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.25 SHEW AR (®)

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of goods or services is HEWARE MR 2 IEHEERER

transferred to a customer. Depending on the terms of the contract PR « BT A NGRREANZEL

and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods and ZOEREE - BRI 2SI AR R

services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control RESNE —SRRER - MAKEER

of the goods and services is transferred over time if the Group'’s FBRFZERTIMEM - &M RIS 215

performance: HliE e RS R

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed s REMBEEFPREFWERILEAZ
simultaneously by the customer; Mz s

e creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as s BEAKBRERAOMELSREARTS
the Group performs; or Pzl B 3

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group s WEEAHAKEMmMEEHMAR
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for ZEBE MASEEHEZEZHLE
performance completed to date. TR Z BRI KRB R HIITHE -

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue i 8 i KBRS 2 1 I RE & IS T 8RS - Bl

is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to HEKRAZZETKBHNET ZEERE

the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance AERREER - B[R - SHERANEPERF

obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time B o S RIS TR M 2 B R B R,

when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

When determining the transaction price to be allocated to different REEESEZETRBRETZRSE
performance obligations, the Group first determines the service 1R - AREBHLETHENAOMAGE
fees that the Group entitles in the contract period and adjusts BG2RGE  UHAIZEEREREXR
the transaction price for variable considerations and significant RYEMEK D (A ) HER SER - 5%
financing component, if any. The Group includes in the transaction IFX%FT%EP.;I')\—I“%@%Z%B%
price some of all of an amount of variable considerations only to SPTEEE - EENRIEEERREHE
the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in Tﬁﬁmliﬁfé SUARRRREY - BEHERRET
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when HEWARFERA LT g KNI L AR

the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued)

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents
the contract in the consolidated statement of financial position as a
contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the entity’s performance and the customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration in exchange
for goods and services that the Group has transferred to a
customer or cost to obtain a contract. A receivable is recorded
when the Group has an unconditional right to a consideration. A
right to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due. Contract
assets related to cost to obtain the contracts are recognised over
the life of the contracts to which they related.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a good or service to the customer, the Group presents
the contract liability when the payment is made or a receivable is
recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the Group'’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the
principal revenue streams of the Group.

(i) Revenue from B2B trading platforms
Revenue from B2B trading business primarily comprised
revenue from merchandise sales.

Revenue from merchandise sales and related costs is
recognised on a gross basis when the Group acts as a
principal. Revenue from merchandise sales are recognised at
the point in time when the control of the merchandise has
been transferred, being when the goods are delivered.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.25 SHEW AR (®)
(ii) Revenue from online services and advertisement (i) HKEBRLEBBERELZHEKA

Advertising income from internet portals, mobile devices,
trade catalogues, yellow page directories and printed
periodicals is recognised ratably over the contracted period in
which the advertisements are displayed.

Subscription fee income from online services is recognised
over the period of contracts entered with the customers. The
unrecognised portions of contract sum are recognised as
contract liabilities.

The excess of cumulative revenue recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the cumulative
payments made by customers is recognised as trade
receivables and contract assets. The contract assets are
recognised as a receivable when the Group’s right to
consideration is unconditional.

Some contracts include multiple performance obligations and
do not include any integration services. They are therefore
accounted for as separate performance obligations. Revenue
from each of the performance obligations is recognised by
allocating the transaction price based on the stand-alone
service price. Under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers”, the rebate to customers is a variable
consideration and to be net off against the transaction price.
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

HC GROUP INC.

Revenue from anti-counterfeiting business
Anti-counterfeiting business comprises revenue from
providing anti-counterfeiting products and services. Revenue
from selling of anti-counterfeiting products is recognised
at the point in time when the control of the products has
been transferred, being when the goods are delivered.
Revenue from anti-counterfeiting services is recognised in
the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by
reference to stage of completion of the specific transaction
and assessed on the basis of actual services provided as a
proportion of the total service to be provided. Customers
are invoiced upon the completion of services or on a regular
basis.

Revenue from marketing events, exhibition, seminars
and other services

Revenue from the hosting of marketing events, trade
exhibitions and business seminars is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered, by
reference to stage of completion of the specific transaction
and assessed on the basis of actual services provided as a
proportion of the total service to be provided. Customers
are invoiced upon the completion of services or on a regular
basis.
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BOT MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 REBE PRI Z SHEWA

2.26 Financing services income

Interest income attributable to finance leases is recognised over the
lease term on a systematic and rational basis so as to produce a
constant rate of return on the net investment in the finance lease.

Interest income and expense for asset factoring and microcredit
financing services are recognised within “Interest income from
financing service” and “Cost of revenue” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest
method, while the interest from bank deposits are recognised
within “Finance cost, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does
not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees
and payments paid or received between parties to the contract that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has
been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest
income is recognised using the credit-adjusted effective interest
rate to the cost of the financial asset.
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BO MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares;

o by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
year and excluding treasury shares.

(i) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

e the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.28 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income “(FVOCI)". Dividends
are recognised as other income in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income when the right to receive payment is
established. This applies even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition
profits, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of an investment. In this case, the dividend is recognised
in OCI if it relates to an investment measured at FVOCI. However,
the investment may need to be tested for impairment as a
consequence.
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B OISR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEZ:BEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Leases 22918
As a lessee 1ERARA
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding HEREEEEAHASEER 2 BER
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by REAEEEREEARE - HESHET
the Group. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of BRR — M A2 =104 - FEKIRERIE
2 to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis HERER - FTEIRRUER G R A TR -
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

MEELZEERABVSRRESE -
HEABESETIHENRZFHE

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less o EENF(BEEZEENFRE
any lease incentives receivable, fREKHEES
e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a o EHPMEHSLLEZAEBEENK

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the I IRFE B B2 I8t R 5T & -

commencement date,

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual o TEEIAREERBEFAEEEREN
value guarantees, 2B

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is s HEASEAERMTEITHHEEEEE

reasonably certain to exercise that option, and ZIERT  ZBEEREZTE

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease o NEERFRRMAREETEEZIEE

term reflects the Group exercising that option. EZEEREZBAT  RIEHAEZ
SIRATRK ©

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group where
possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received,

e any initial direct costs, and
. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Leases (Continued)

As a lessor

The Group classifies all leases as operating leases as the Group
will not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset. Rental income from operating
leases where the Group is a lessor, including investment properties,
is recognised within “Revenue” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The lease term is 5 years. The respective leased assets are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position based on their
nature.

2.30 Government grants

2.31

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair values
when there is a reasonable assurance that the grants will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the
entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not
distributed at the end of the reporting period.
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central finance department
(the “Finance Department”) headed by the Chief Financial Officer
of the Group. The Finance Department identifies and evaluates
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units to cope with overall risk management as well as specific areas
such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and
majority of its transactions are denominated in the
functional currencies of the respective entities. The
Group has no material foreign currency denominated
assets and liabilities and does not have material
exposure on foreign exchange risk.

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group
is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk mainly arising
from cash and cash equivalents and borrowings bearing
interest at floating rates, and exposed to fair value
interest risk arising from other financial assets and
liabilities which are either non-interest-bearing or bear
fixed interest rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, if interest rate on cash and
cash equivalents and borrowings at variable rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 basis-points (2021:
same) with all other variables held constant, the Group'’s
loss after tax and total comprehensive loss would have
been approximately RMB893,000 lower/higher (2021:
loss after tax and total comprehensive loss would have
approximately RMB1,266,000 lower/higher).

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value interest rate risk
is insignificant to the Group (2021: same).

The Group regularly monitors its interest rate risk to
ensure there are no undue exposures to significant
interest rate movements and regular reporting is
provided to the management for the Group’s debt and
interest rates exposure.

Price risk

The Group's exposure to equity securities price risk
arises from investments held by the Group and they
are classified in the consolidated statement of financial
position as fair value either through profit or loss
or other comprehensive income, and the financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (note 26)
to manage its price risk arising from its investment in
equity securities, the Group reviews the share price of
investments on a regular basis..
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(b)

HC GROUP INC.

(iii) ~ Price risk (Continued)

Post-tax loss for the year would decrease/increase by
approximately RMB959,000 (2021: post-tax loss for
the year would decrease/increase by approximately
RMB1,549,000) as a result of 10% gains/losses on
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit
or loss. Post-tax loss for the year would increase/
decrease by approximately RMB2,315,000 (2021:
post-tax loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately RMB4,533,000) as a result of 10% losses/
gains on financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss. Other components of equity would increase/
decrease by approximately RMB40,239,000 (2021:
RMB45,446,000) as a result of 10% gains/losses on
equity securities classified as at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit risk
mainly arises from a customer’s inability or unwillingness to
meet its financial obligations. It arises primarily from the loan

receivables from the financing service segment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has following types of financial assets and
contract that are subject to HKFRS 9’s “Financial Instruments”

expected credit loss (“ECL") model:

e  Trade receivables

° Contract assets

o Finance lease receivables

o Loans and interest receivables
o Deposits and other receivables
o Long term bank deposits

o Restricted bank deposit

o Cash and cash equivalents
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i

Trade receivables and contract assets

The trade receivables and contract assets mainly arise
from the business of B2B trading, the online services
and advertisement, anti-counterfeiting products and
services, and market event services. The Group generally
grants a credit period ranging from 90 days to 180
days to customers depending on business segment.
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 “Financial Instrument”
simplified approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables and contract assets.

There was no significant credit risk for the B2B trading
business as the Group generally required customers to
prepay for the goods before delivery. For B2B trading
business, the Group only granted credit period for
certain customers that are considered creditworthy. The
Group has put in place policies to ensure that provision
of services is made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers. The Group assesses the
credit risk on a collective basis. Trade receivables and
contract assets have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” simplified approach collectively
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime allowance for
all trade receivables and contract assets. The Group’s
historical experience in collection of receivables fall
within the recorded allowances.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract
assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group
has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for
trade receivables and contract assets are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

BERREE )

3.1 MBEBRREE®)
(b) EFEmEEGE)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) eREERE (&)
(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) () EUERAKREHNEE(E

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 was determined as follows for trade
receivables and contract assets.

R EE - BHEURREE
HNEEBTR_T__Fk=
Z-—F+-A=+—RAz25

BEENT -

Morethan Morethan Morethan Morethan Morethan  More than

Current- 30 days 90days  180days  270days  365days  720days

31 December 2022 30days  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue  pastdue pastdue

AAZE ki ki k] ki k] k]

“BIZEtZAZt-R 30X 30RMLE  9RMLE  180RML 270RMLE  365RMLE  720RME
Trade receivables, gross JElkER A% 3603 13,125 6,531 3864 19653 14456 5460 156,694
Loss allowance for trade receivables [ERETEERRE (3,024) (1,187) (804) (905) (14,353) (11,540) (5,374) (37,187)
Contract assets, gross ANEERE 4,226 - - - - - - 4,226
Loss allowance for contract assets ANEEEBREE (158) = = = = = = (158)
Expected loss rate kil grd 33% 9.0% 12.3% 2B.4% 73.0% 79.8% 98.4% 23.2%

Morethan ~ Morethan  Morethan  Morethan  Morethan  More than

Current- 30 days 90 days 180days  270days  365days  720days

31 December 2021 30 days past due past due past due past due past due past due

ERIES falz i f &
EtZA=+-H 0K 0RME  90RBLE

Trade receivables, gross el aE 111,395 44,286 16,727 2,295 2,692 16,091 477 198,258
Loss allowance for trade receivables RS B R (4,863) (1383) (1,069 (519) (611) (9,384) (459)  (2421)
Contract assets, gross ANEERE 4149 - - - - - - 4,149
Loss allowance for contract assets ENAEEREE (2n) - - = - - - an
Expected loss rate BHERE 4.4% 3.1% 6.4% 22.6% 2.7% 58.3% 96.2% 11.2%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIBEBREEG
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BREBEZEE®)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)) EEREEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EHEERER)
() Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i) EURERREHEEE )
The reconciliation of closing loss allowances for trade RZF-__FRZF-_—F
receivables and contract assets as at 31 December TZA=1T—H  ERERK
2022 and 2021 to the opening loss allowances are BRAE FREBRERT
summarised as follows: VB EE 2 SRR T ¢

Trade Contract
receivables assets

FE W R AR BHEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARET T

Loss allowance at RZEZ—F—A—H2

1 January 2021 EERE 52,286 192
(Decrease)/increase in loss FRRIBRIER

allowance recognised in profit EERECRD)

or loss during the year (6,842) 79
Receivables written off during FRMEE R AT E 2

the year as uncollectible FEYFRIE (22,800) -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHE QR (223) -
Loss allowance at 31 December —E-—%+=H

2021 and 1 January 2022 =+—HAR=—E=-=F

—HA—HAZEiERE 22,421 271

Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance A B

recognised in profit or loss SRR ER N, CRd)

during the year 16,265 (113)
Receivables written off during FRMEE R T AR 2

the year as uncollectible FEYFRIE (1,499) =
Loss allowance at —E-__—_H+=AH1

31 December 2022 =t+—HZEERE 37,187 158

BREEERAT 2022 F3f



N

180

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0)

(ii)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor
to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract
assets are presented as “net reversal of/(provision for)
impairment losses on financial assets” within operating
loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

Finance lease receivables

The Group applies general approach under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” to measure expected credit
losses for all finance leases receivables.

Under the general approach, financial assets migrate
through three stages based on the change in credit risk
since initial recognition, as defined in note 3(b)(iii) to the
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December
2022, the amount of RMB292,288,000 of the finance
lease receivables are classified under stage 1 and
the amount of RMB17,200,000 of the finance lease
receivables are classified under stage 3, with impairment
provision amount of RMB6,757,000 classified under
stage 1 and the amount of RMB17,200,000 classified
under stage 3 (31 December 2021: the amount of
RMB306,175,000 of the finance lease receivables are
classified under stage 1 and amount of RMB17,200,000
of the finance lease receivables are classified as stage 3,
with impairment provision amount of RMB4,353,000
classified under stage 1 and amount of RMB17,200,000
classified under stage 3).

Aa at 31 December 2022, the Group had concentration
of credit risk for the finance lease receivables as 30.42%
(2021: 29.20%) balance was arise from one single
largest customer in the finance lease business sector.

Impairment losses on finance lease receivables are
presented as “net (provision for)/reversal of impairment
losses on financial assets” within operating loss.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against the same line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Loans to customers of financing services business

The credit risk of loans and interest receivables mainly
arises from micro-credit financing business. To manage
risk arising from loan and interest receivables, the
Group has established relevant mechanism to cover
credit risk in key operational phases of micro-credit
financing business, including pre-lending evaluations,
credit approval, and post-lending monitoring. The
Group conducts customer acceptance and due diligence
by operating department and risk management
department in the pre-lending evaluations.

Aa at 31 December 2022, the Group had concentration
of credit risk for the loans to customers of financing
service business as 30.42% (2021: 29.20%) of the
balance was to the top five largest customers of the
financing services business sector.

In the credit approval phase, all loans applications
are subjected to the assessment and approval of the
Department Manager, General Manager and Risk
Assessment Committee of the Micro-credit company,
depending on the amount and nature of the loans.
During the post-lending monitoring, the Group
conducts on-site inspections and off-site inquiries to
detect potential risks by evaluating various aspects,
including but not limited to the customer’s operational
and financial conditions, status of collaterals and other
sources of repayment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Loans to customers of financing services business
(Continued)

In accordance with the regulations issued by the local
regulatory authority, Chongqing Financial Affairs Office
(EEMERIT/ERAZE), the Group has established a
loan credit risk classification system based on the type
of collateral and credit period, and performs credit risk
management based on loan classification in one of five
categories. The Group classifies loans into the following
five categories: normal, special-mention, substandard,
doubtful and loss. Loans classified as substandard,
doubtful and loss are regarded as nonperforming loans.

Borrowers can honour the terms of
their loans. There is no reason to
doubt their ability to repay principal
and interest in full on a timely basis.

Normal:

Special-
mention:

Borrowers are currently able to service
their loans and interest, although
repayment may be adversely
affected by specific factor.

Substandard: Borrowers' ability to service their
loans is in question and they cannot
rely entirely on normal business
revenues to repay principal and
interest. Losses may ensue even
when collateral or guarantees are
invoked.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

3

BERREE )

3.1 MEBEEE)
(b) EFEmEEGE)
EHEEREE)

(iii)

EXTRERBEBZER
(8

BEEHEERBEET SR
TERRERMG LR - AE
lE?ﬁEF%&?ﬁ%%E’W&ﬁ%HH
BRI ER ;:,E:' RO KRS
I*ETFBI*EEIJZ BRH
ﬁ{ﬂ*‘*ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ LKE@h

ERDRATRESER :
ﬁﬁ BT ORBE T%ﬁfﬁi
RIBRME - DRIKRIE - AIRE
BREXBZETRA/TRE
IERH - ERARAEITER
R - BLEIR
BERNEREE
KEZBETT
FTHE : BERESARNAR
HEEEFTRF
B BEFREIR
BRIBEREZ
THFE -
REBRR - ERAZ BB TF

5 HEETRK
FEEEBMEE
BAE o BMERTT
EHBEITHR
IRl R iR AR
%o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Loans to customers of financing services business
(Continued)

Doubtful: Borrowers cannot repay principal and
interest in full and significant losses
will need to be recognised even
when collateral or guarantees are
invoked.

Loss: Principal and interest of loans cannot
be recovered or only a small
portion of them can be recovered
after taking all possible measure
or resorting to all necessary legal
procedures.

The Group applies general approach under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” to measure expected credit
losses for all loans and interest receivables accounted
for at amortised cost.

Under the general approach, financial assets migrate
through the following three stages based on the change
in credit risk since initial recognition:

Stage 1: 12-months ECL

For exposures where there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and that
are not credit impaired upon origination, the portion
of the lifetime ECL associated with the probability of
default events occurring within the next 12 months is
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Loans to customers of financing services business
(Continued)
Stage 2: Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

For exposures where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are
not credit-impaired, a lifetime ECL (i.e. reflecting the
remaining lifetime of the financial asset) is recognised.

At each financial reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing
the risk of default occurring over the expected life
between the reporting date and the date of initial
recognition. The Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This
includes quantitative and qualitative information and
also, forward-looking analysis.

The Group considers loan and interest receivables to
have experienced a significant increase in credit risk
if the loans overdue exceeds 30 days on contractual
payment.

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired

Exposures are assessed as credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred.
For exposures that have become credit-impaired,
a lifetime ECL is recognised and interest revenue is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost (net of provision) rather than the gross
carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Loans to customers of financing services business
(Continued)

The Group considers a loan is default, when it is credit
impaired. Generally, overdue for more than 90 days
on contractual payment terms is considered default.
In addition, other qualitative indicators have been
considered, including the borrower is in insolvency or
bankruptcy, or the loan is classified as nonperforming
loans under loan credit risk classification system.

The amount of ECL is measured as the probability
weighted present value of all cash shortfalls over the
expected life of the financial asset discounted at its
original effective interest rate. The cash shortfall is the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The amount of the loss is recognised
and presented as “net (provision for)/reversal of
impairment losses on financial assets” within operating
profit.

If, in a subsequent period, credit quality improves and
reverses any previously assessed significant increase
in credit risk since origination, then the provision for
doubtful debts reverts from lifetime ECL to 12-months
ECL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Loans to customers of financing services business
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loss allowance
for loans to customers of financing services business

was determined as follows.

low credit risk

At 31 December 2022 R-E--f#+-A=1+-H

3 BIERMEE®

3.1 BERBERE®)
(b)) EEREEE)
2R EERE(R)
iy ERXRTRERBEE2EP
€]
RZEZZ_FR-F-—F
+ZA=+—8 ERTFHE
RIS 2 &P 2 BB EE
FEWT o

2022

—E-C
Stage 2
not credit-
impaired
(Lifetime ECL)
BARER
BEERE
(2H7EH
REER)
RMB'000
ARBT T

Stage 1 Stage 3
credit-
impaired
(Lifetime ECL)
E3ME
RERE
(2HRH
FEER)
RMB'000
AR®TR

(12 month
ECL)

R
BEREERR
(t=faA
RARESR)
RMB'000
AR#TTT

S
RMB'000
ARBTR

Gross carrying amount FRaE 1,075,460 318,725 241,850 1,636,035
Loss allowance BiREE (9,869) (8,883) (197,831) (216,583)

1,065,591 309,842 44,019 1,419,452
Expected loss rate EHEEX 0.92% 2.79% 81.80% 13.24%
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 UBEBEER@

3.1 MBEBRREE®)
(b) EEmERE)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EHEERER)
(i) Loans to customers of financing services business (i) EXRTRERBEBZEFR
(Continued) (%)

2021
—E-—F
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
low credit risk not credit- credit-
(12 month impaired impaired
(Lifetime ECL) ~ (Lifetime ECL)

n

B8 GEEE)  ERED)

RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTR

RMB'000
NS

RMB000
ARETT

At 31 December 2021 R-E--#+-B=+-H

Gross carrying amount ERAE 945,629 428,655 210,287 1,584,571

Loss allowance BERE (11,286) (15,992) (122,508) (149,786)
934,343 412,663 87,779 1,434,785

Expected loss rate HHEER 1.19% 3.73% 58.26% 9.45%

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment and provisioning policies

The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets
entails further estimations as to the likelihood of
defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of
default correlations between counterparties. The Group
measures credit risk using Probability of Default (“PD"),
Exposure at Default (“EAD"”) and Loss Given Default
("LGD").

SREE SRR BERIRORRRARIER
22 BR - AEBEEAREBEESE R
BRI AR & R B 2 AL A+
YRS B TR R B 2 8 A BB
M -

A R B ABEUR
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ZEMERMY - AEBERAEOME(ED
BE]) - BOMO(TEOMD ) REmiaRx
(MEHBEXDFEEERR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Loans to customers of financing services business
(Continued)

Impairment and provisioning policies (Continued)

The expected credit losses are measured on either a
12-month or lifetime basis depending on whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred since
initial recognition or whether an asset is considered
to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the
discounted product of the PD, EAD and LGD.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, EAD and
LGD for each future month and for each portfolio.
These three components are multiplied together and
adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure
has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This
effectively calculates an ECL for each future month,
which is then discounted back to the reporting date
and summarised. The discount rate used in the ECL
calculation is the original effective interest rate or an
approximation thereof.

The calculation of ECL incorporates forward-looking
information. The Group has performed historical analysis
and identified the key economic variables impacting
credit risk and expected credit losses.

As with any economic forecasts, the projections and
likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of
inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes
may be significantly different to those projected. The
Group considers these forecasts to represent its best
estimate of the possible outcomes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Loans to customers of financing services business
(Continued)

Impairment and provisioning policies (Continued)

The assessment of ECL incorporates forward-looking
information in respect of PD. The Group has performed
historical analysis and identified the key economic
variable impacting credit risk and ECL for loan portfolio:

Key economic variable

TREHES

Gross Domestic Product (“GDP") growth rate
NEELE(BREESE])ERE

Money supply measure ("M2")
ShtrsE(M2])

The Group uses economic variable assumptions when
determine the expected GDP growth rate and M2. The
weightings assigned to each economic scenario at 31
December 2022 were 80% for base, 10% for upside
and 10% for downside (31 December 2021: same).
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BEREEE )

3.1 M¥EBEEE)
(b) EEmERE)
EHEEREE)

(iii)

ERTRERBEBZEP
(8

E R B EBER (E)
BHEEEBRME S REHE
DBERZAIEMER - RNEE
BETES ST HATER
RASEERRERBERS

BZIBEEEE

As at As at

Scenario 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
R-BE-—F R—F
fE& +=A=+-H

Base
R3YiN
Upside
17
Downside
™7

Base
X
Upside
17
Downside
T4

5.10% 5.31%
6.28% 5.73%
4.55% 4.77%
9.57% 8.47%
10.30% 9.13%
8.10% 7.47%

AEBEFEAKESHBRRE
THEHENEEREERE
EM2 - RZEZZF+=H1
=t+—8 SELEBRZ
EEEHERBEARS0% - £1T
10% K% T1710% (=T ——
+=—A=+—8:#8R) -
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Loans to customers of financing services business
(Continued)
Impairment and provisioning policies (Continued)
The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL
allowance are GDP growth rate and M2 growth rate.
Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 that would result from
increasing/decreasing both GDP growth rate and M2
growth rate by 5% in each of the base, upside and
downside scenarios:

As at 31 December 2022 R-E-—_F+—-H
As at 31 December 2021 RN-ZE=-—F+=AH

The loss allowance recognised in the year is impacted by
a variety of factors, as described below:

e Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3
due to loan receivables experiencing significant
increases (or decreases) of credit risk in the year,
and the subsequent “step up” (or “step down")
between 12-month and Lifetime ECL;

o Additional allowances for new financial
instruments recognised, as well as releases for loan
receivables derecognised in the year; and

o Loan receivables derecognised and write-offs of
allowances related to assets that were written off
during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OISR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMKEKREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BREBEZEE®)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)) EEREEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EHEERER)
(i) Loans to customers of financing services business (i) EXRTRERBEBZEFR
(Continued) (&)
Impairment and provisioning policies (Continued) RERBEBR(E)
The following tables explain the changes in the loss TERAAFNEFREBKER
allowance for loan receivables between the beginning AZER=MmES Z BEEEE
and the end of the year due to these factors: &

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1ER F2RR E3MER st

RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TT AR®TR

Loss allowance as of BE-Z-_-§-f-H2

1 January 2022 EERE 11,286 15,992 122,508 149,786
Transfer: B
Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 2~ F1EREBEEIHER (42) 149 = 107
Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 3~ F1EREBEE3ER (53) = 3,501 3448
Transfer from Stage 2to Stage 1~ F2BEREBES1KER = = - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3~ F2REREBEFIKER - (1,614) 30,287 28,673
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1~ SE3EEREHEE1 ﬁéﬂéx = = = =

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 3R EREHEF KRR - - - -

Change in PDs/LGDS/EADs i%@WT/LZ'JTE%T/
EA O 2 (2,788) (3,007) 58,173 52,378

Loan and interest receivables FRR IR EWER

derecognised during the year RFIE (7,288) (2,637) (115) (10,040)
New loan receivables originated Wz HEKER 8,754 - - 8,754
Write-offs 8 = - (16,523) (16,523)
Loss allowance as of BE-_E-_—f+=H

31 December 2022 =t-AZEREE 9,869 8,883 197,831 216,583
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HREREEs
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIEAKBEZ®)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) f=EEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) eREERE (&)
(i) Loans to customers of financing services business (i) EXRTHMERBEBZEFR
(Continued) (&)
Impairment and provisioning policies (Continued) BERBERR(E)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
F1BER FMEER FIER

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETR ARETR ARET:H

Loss allowance as of BE-Z-—-§$-F-Hz2
1 January 2021 BERE 12,229 39,662 132,258 184,149
Transfer: g1

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 [CECEEE YL - = = =

;o

Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 3~ S 1RREVZE3RER = 3 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1~ S2RBREBEF KR = = o -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3~ 2R BREB T F3KER = = = -
Transfer from Stage 3to Stage 1~ F3IBBREBEH1KER = = - -
Transfer from Stage 3to Stage 2~ 3R EREHEF2KER = = = -
Change in PDs/LGDS/EADs BHMR/BHBAR/
ERROEE (10,656) (11,337) (9,870) (31,863)

Loan and interest receivables FREIERER

derecognised during the year M ET R FIS (3,362) (12,333) 2,502 (13,193)
New loan receivables originated 27 FTEME T 13,075 - = 13,075
Write-offs i = 3 (2,382) (2,382)
Loss allowance as of BE-Z--%£4ZR

31 December 2021 =t+-AzERERE 11,286 15,992 122,508 149,786
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMKEKREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BREBEZEE®)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)) EEREEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EHEERER)
(i) Loans to customers of financing services business (i) EXRTRERBEBZEFR
(Continued) (&)
Impairment and provisioning policies (Continued) RERBEBR(E)
The gross carrying amount of the loan receivables FEME SR 2 BREABE R T X
explains their significant changes in the loss allowance as Pt R A R EAE

discussed below:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1ER F2RR E3MER st

RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TT AR®TR

Gross carrying amount as of BE-E-__£-H-Hz

1 January 2022 EREAE 945,629 428,655 210,287 1,584,571
Transfer: B
Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 2~ F1REREBEFILER (4,000) 4,000 = -
Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 3~ H1REREBEFIKER (5,000) = 5,000 =
Transfer from Stage 2to Stage 1~ F2BEREBES1KER = = - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3~ F2REREBEFIKER - (43,250) 43,250 =
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1~ S3REREHEF KR = = = -

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 3R EREHEF KRR = = = -

Loan and interest receivables FRELERZ

derecognised during the year EWET L& (690,451) (70,680) (164) (761,295)
New loan receivables originated iz HEKER 829,282 - - 829,282
Write-offs ik = = (16,523) (16,523)
Gross carry amount as of BZ-_E-—_%+-8

31 December 2022 =t+-AzEREAE 1,075,460 318,725 241,850 1,636,035
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HREREEs
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIEAKBEZ®)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) f=EEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) eREERE (&)
(i) Loans to customers of financing services business (i) EXRTHMERBEBZEFR
(Continued) (&)
Impairment and provisioning policies (Continued) BERBERR(E)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
F1BER FMEER FIER +

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETR ARETR ARET:H

Gross carrying amountas of ~ BE-E-—-f£-fA—-HAx

1 January 2021 REAE 771,506 600,225 229,711 1,601,442
Transfer: #%
Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 2~ F1RBREVZEIRER - = = =
Transfer from Stage 1to Stage 3~ S 1RREVZE3RER = 3 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1~ S2RBREBEF KR = = o -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3~ 2R BREB T F3KER = = = -
Transfer from Stage 3to Stage 1~ F3IRBREBEH1KER = = - -

Transfer from Stage 3to Stage 2~ F3IRREBE KRR = = - -

Loan and interest receivables FREILRER L

derecognised during the year EWET L& (767,047) (171,570) (17,042) (955,659)
New loan receivables originated 7 SIEKE R 941,170 S = 941,170
Write-offs k| = = (2,382) (2,382)
Gross carry amount as of BZ-Z--%1+=AH

31 December 2021 =t+-AZEREAE 945,629 428,655 210,287 1,584,571
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BOT MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivalents,
restricted bank deposit and long-term bank deposits,
as well as credit exposures to other receivables and
deposit. The carrying amount of each class of these
financial assets represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to the corresponding
class of financial assets.

To manage credit risk, bank deposits are mainly placed
with state-owned financial institutions in the PRC and
reputable international financial institutions outside of
the PRC. There has been no recent history of default
in relation to these financial institutions. The finance
department has policies in place to monitor the
exposures to these credit risks on an on-going basis.

For balance with related companies, loans to employees,
other receivables due from third parties and deposits,
management make individual assessment on the
recoverability of the balances taking into account the
historical settlement records, past experience as well
as forward looking factors. During the year ended 31
December 2022, there was an increase in credit risk
on the balances due from certain independent third
parties and the Directors believe that the recoverability
of the balance is uncertain. Therefore, the balance
of RMB4,000,000 was fully provided for as at 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)
Except for the amount mentioned above, the Directors
believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group’s outstanding balances of other receivables
and deposits and the expected credit loss is close to
zero.

(v)  Cash and cash balances

To manage the risk arising from cash and cash balances,
the Group transacts with reputable financial institutions,
which are high credit-quality banks or other financial
institutions where certain level of deposits are insured
by the relevant regulators.

As of December 31, 2022, substantially all of the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, term deposits
and short-term investments were held in state-owned
or reputable financial institutions in the PRC and
reputable international financial institutions outside of
the PRC. Deposits with banks mainly placed with high-
credit-quality financial institutions, such balances are
considered to be of low credit risk.

Liquidity risk

With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group aims to
maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents and ensure
the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
available financing, including short-term bank borrowing.
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the
Group's finance department maintains flexibility in funding by
maintaining adequate amount of cash and cash equivalents
and flexibility in funding through having available sources of
financing.

As at 31 December 2022, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group approximated RMB312,023,000 (2021:
RMB333,812,000).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIERMERE:
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BREBEZEE®)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () mEELmEE(E

TREGRBEDIT - ZOTERR
BEAKEASN z&FAREMNE
FAIR 5 ELE A IR A DA RN i B
EFOBHZRITRRSR - %F
SRBERAONEAEZNEE

4,
A ©

The table below summarises the maturity analysis shows
the undiscounted cash outflow based on the earliest date
in which the Group can be required to pay, that is if the
lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect. The amounts include interest
payments computed using contractual rates.

Between  Between
Less than 1and 2and Over

1year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total

1R 122f 2856  SFELLE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR%ETT ARETr AR¥TR AR%ETR
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—%+-A

=+—H

Trade payables FERERR 182,350 - - - 182,350

Accrued expenses and other payables RE- G RN 65,258 - - - 65,258

Borrowings Eb 1,086,190 350 5,110 - 1,091,650
Financial liabilities at fair value through & AFEFAEZZ

profit or loss SRARE 20,399 8,013 - - 28,412

Lease liabilities HEaf 13,009 5,141 375 - 18,525
At 31 December 2021 N Sty ]

=i

Trade payables FERTBRSR 194,368 - - - 194,368

Accrued expenses and other payables e B R R E MR 62,068 - - - 62,068

Borrowings &8 520,193 524,628 - - 1,044,821
Financial liabilities at fair value through ~ RAT(EE ABRZ

profit or loss SRER 46,946 = 8,421 = 55,367

Lease liabilities HEaE 21,639 12,567 4,008 4,551 42,765

Management monitors the Group’s liquidity through cash
flow projections covering a period of twelve months on a
rolling basis. Based on the cash flow projection, taking into
account the reasonably possible changes in the operational
performance and the continuous availability of banking
facilities, management considers that there will be sufficient
financial resources in the coming twelve months to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due.

EREEBRET _ERMEZIR
EREFANRB T A ERAEE
ZRBES - RERSRETA
KEBEERARFEIA 2R
MEZABEUREY TEER
B RARE+ZERBEREHE
ERBEITEREZ MBELE -

BREEERAT 2022 F3f



N

198

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings and lease liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents (including restricted bank deposits and long-term
bank deposits). Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.
Accordingly, the gearing ratios at 31 December 2022 and 2021
were as follows:

3

M ERERE »)
3.2 EXERER

FAEEERES 2 BNAREREEFE
EEZEE  RERERLDR - RERE
IS E RN - WHRRFRIEE N EHE
VABUE B AR -

REFRRFEERS Tﬁ LKE@T A=
BN TREZRESE RMRREREE
ZINS %‘éﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁuﬂ%ééuﬁﬁ &7

REBERBEABBLRERER - %t
EIFEBRABERE o FEBZE
EHrhBREERAEaERRS KR
CEEVM(RIEZRFRITERRRLE
IR c BEAZHE R XA ]
(REHMBERRARIE) IFES - B
I R —FR-F-—F+=A
=t+—BZEARBBLERET

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2022 2021
—E=-= —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFIT
Bank borrowings (note 33) RITEE (FHFE33) 653,661 683,114
Other borrowings (note 33) HbEE (f7E33) 416,616 319,416
Lease liabilities (note 16(a)) HEBEPIF16@)) 17,913 38,309
Less: cash and cash equivalent B BReRESEEY
(including restricted bank deposit and (BIEXBRHISRITIFER R
long-term bank deposits) (note 29) REIR1 T30 (F3529) (434,683) (395,871)
Net debt TRHERS 653,507 644,968
Total equity R 3,278,629 3,548,395
Total capital FEEEVIN 3,932,136 4,193,363
Gearing ratio BRBELE 17% 15%
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
including cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposit,
long term bank deposits, trade and other receivables, contract
assets, finance lease receivables, trade payables, accruals and
other payables, contract liabilities, borrowings, and lease liabilities
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
including cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposit, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract assets, finance
lease receivables, loans and interest receivable, trade payables,
accruals and other payables, contract liabilities, borrowings
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

The carrying amounts of long term bank deposits, non-current
portion of finance lease receivable, and loan and interest receivable
are estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at
the current market interest rates that are available to the Group.

Lease liabilities are initially measured on a present value basis by
discounting the lease payments to net present value using the
Group's incremental borrowing rate.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried
at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 by level of inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 UBEBREERE@

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFREMGFE)

At 31 December 2022

RZZBZZ#+ZA=+-H

Level 1

5%

RMB'000
ARBTR

Level 3
=R
RMB'000
ARBT T

Level 2
-t
RMB'000
ARET T

Total

@t
RMB'000
ARET T

Assets EE
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFARMZE
other comprehensive income WAz e REE 45,059 - 357,326 402,385
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAESEL
profit or loss SREE - - 11,283 11,283
45,059 - 368,609 413,668
Liabilities B
Financial liabilities at fair value through BATFEFABRZ
profit or loss SRBE - - 27,233 27,233
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-%5+=A=+-H
Assets BB
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEFARMEE
other comprehensive income WAz AR 61,772 - 392,686 454,458
Financial assets at fair value through BRATFEFAEEZ
profit or loss SREE - - 18,219 18,219
61,772 - 410,905 472,677
Liabilities =1
Financial liabilities at fair value through BAFEFABGEZ
profit or loss EEARE - - 54,188 54,188

FR B BARE=ZLK2HELE
KEUMDTEAESES -

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 for recurring fair
value measurement during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the date of the
consolidated statement of financial position. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group,
price services or regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

(i) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values
Specific valuation techniques are used to value financial
instruments include the use of quoted market prices
and adjusted price-to-book ratios similar instruments.
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RIBE GBI R BB Z TSR
BFtE - B EIR REREIFSFR
ST R B8 ERATL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(b) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)
The following table represents the changes in level 3
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2022.

3 BIERMEE®

3.3 AVEMEE)

(b)

Z=@eMTAE)
TEENBE-T-_—F+=A
=AU EEE=RTAY#E -

Financial Financial assets Financial
assets at fair value liabilities
at fair value  through other at fair value
through profit comprehensive  through profit
or loss income or loss
BAVE
BATE $AR BATHE
StABEZ 2HKAZ FFAB#®EZ
SREE SREE SRBE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT ARET T
As at 1 January 2022 i — o
- mlE 18,219 392,686 (54,188)
Fair value changes (charged)/credited REHEFREWER
to the consolidated statement of (HIg) /3t A2
comprehensive income N EZE (6,936) (35,360) 26,955
As at 31 December 2022 NZEBEZ—F
+=-A=+—H 11,283 357,326 (27,233)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 UBEBEER@

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFREMGFE)

(b) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (b)) FEF=RKZLt@MTAE)
The following table represents the changes in level 3
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2021.

TRENBE-_T=-—F+=A
S+—BIFEE=RTAZEH -

Financial Financial assets Financial
assets at fair value liabilities
at fair value through other at fair value
through profit comprehensive through profit
or loss income or loss
BATE
BEAFE STAEA BATE
FTABREZ 2HKRAZ FTAERZ
EHEE SREE cRBE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
As at 1 January 2021 R-T—_—%
TTeaTE 20,234 - -
Addition NE - 429,066 (45,842)
Fair value changes credited/(charged) REHEFRERER
to consolidated statement of the HA(HBR)Z
comprehensive income NTHEES) 2,835 (36,380) (8,346)
Derecognition RIFHER (4,850) = =
As at 31 December 2021 NI
s = H 18,219 392,686 (54,188)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(b) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

The Group's finance department includes a team that
performs the valuation of financial asset required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values with
assistance of external valuers. This team reports directly to
the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the Audit Committee
(AC). Discussion of valuation processes and results are held
between the CFO, AC and the valuation team at least once
before the reporting date of every half year, in line with the
Group's reporting dates.

MR EEE @)

3.3 AVEMF @

(b) F=HKZ+BTAE)
AEBVBHHRE—ZEK  BE
FEHNIEIE(ERD 2 B TR BT R RS
BENEITRZeREE(BRE=
Bz AFE)GE ZEFEEAY
FBUBE(EEMBE) REZREZE
2(EZRZEE)ER - AFEAE
BErREQH BRVKE B
ZEeHRHERBRELTFEFRIR
SRS ERT LA RETTH

i o
(c) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value () BEBAZZERALFEZEFR
The following table summarises the quantitative information TREAEE=RAFEFERE
about the significant unobservable inputs used in and level 3 FREXRTAIHEE AR 81E
fair value measurements: B

Fair value as at
RUTEHZATE
31December 31 December Valuation techniques
2022 2021 and key inputs
o b 2% {HERAER
tZR=t-A fZA=T-F IZR\%E
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT

Significant unobservable input
EATTRERARE
31December 31 December Relationship of unobservable
1 inputs to fair value

t=h=t-8
RMB'000
ARE7

FIREBARBRATEL B
RMB000
ARRTR

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

BAVEFARGEANA £RER

- Inner Mongolia Hohhot Jingu Rural 357,326 392,686 - Itwas estimated by market Priceto-book ~ Price-to-book ~ The lower the price-to-book ratio,
Commercial Bank Company Ltd comparison approach, required ratios: 0.7 ratios: 0.8 the lower the fair value.
("fingu Bank") the use of market information
(the comparable companies in Lack of Lack of ~ The higher the lack of marketability
the industry) and significant marketability marketability ~ discount, the lower the fair value.
unobservable input (the lack of discount; discount:
marketabilty discount). 15% 16.5%
-MEEEReARNEERTARD —ERAmRL AR RERAD mRE: WRE: TREME  ATERE-
A([e8817)) EH (FERTELRAR) R 07 08
EATUBERAZE (M2
RETR) - WETERE  BTTARE HITARATRES
fRo15% R 165% ATEHE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(c) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
(Continued)

Fair value as at
RATASZAYE

31December 31 December
202 2021

—B°C
t2A=1-A
RMB'000
ARETT

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HHERAR
A=t-A IZBA%E

RMB'000

Financial assets at fair value
through proft or loss

RATEA ARG ERER
- Privately held partnership 11,283 18,219 ttwas estimated by market comparison

aporoach, required the use of

market information (the comparable

companies in the industry) and significant

unobservable input

(the lack of marketabilty iscount).

-LARBLE

REAIR (RZTRRENT) o

ERRmALRE  RERATIA
B (TEAMEHEAT) REAFTE
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BEREEE )

3.3 DEME )
(0 FEBAHBRELFEZERF

(&)

Significant unobservable input

EXTIRREAZE

31 December
2022
—ECCE
tZR=1-A
RMB'000
ARETT

Price-to-book
ratios: 1.00

Lack of
marketability
discount: 30%
gz
1.00

RETERE
% 30%

31 December  Relationship of unobservable
2021 inputs to fair value

+ZA=1+-A
RMB000
ANEETT

TUREB\HBRATE BE

Price-to-hook
ratios: 1.06

The lower the price-to-book ratio,
the lower the fair value.

Lack of
marketabilty
discount: 30%
gL
1.06

The higher the lack of marketabilty
discount, the lower the fair value

mEEHE  ATERE-

iEA b
8+ 30%

BEHSRENANS  ATEYE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(c) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
(Continued)

Fair value as at
RUTBHZATE
31December 31 December Valuation techniques
2022 1 and key inputs

“E-E - HERER
tZR=1-8 tZF=ft-8 IEHA#E
RMB'000 RMB'000

MR EEE @)

3.3 DFEME @)
(0 BEBAHBREZFEZBRFR
(&)

Significant unobservable input
EATTRERARE
31December 31 December Relationship of unobservable
0 1 inputs to fair value
ZE-C
tZA=1-H J TUBER\HERATE BE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR

Financial liahlities through
profit orloss
RATEIABS RER
- Contingent consideration payable 6,834 7,202 -1t was estimated by scenario analysis
arrangement related to the
disposal of certain interest of Huizhou
Union Cotton Cloud Technology Co.,
Limited

-BHERNRRENRARATZA -ERASEAMEA
TREER AR ERARH

- Contingent consideration payable 20,399 46,946 - It was estimated by scenario analysis
arrangement related
to the disposal of certain interest of
PanPass Information Technology Co,,
Ltd.

-BHEMEESRIRNERATL -ERASRAMEN R
ETREEHIAREERTS

ARBTR NRETT

Upside: 16% Upside: 35% ~ The highest risk-free rate,
Base: 30% Base: 30%  the lower fair value.
Downside: 54%  Downside: 35%
The lower the probabilites o
achieve the performance targets,
the lower the fair value.

L7 116% H7i35% ERBRAZRSE ATEYE-
B :30% ER:30%
T47 1 54% 3% BREERE HXER ATEEE-

Upside: 58% Upside: 41% ~ The highest risk-free rate,
Downside: 42% Base: 18%  the lower fair value.
Downside: 41%
The lower the probabilites to
achieve the performance targets,
the lower the fair value.

Lrosee  Hiia% BERAESE ATEEE-
T 1 42% EX:18%
T 4% ERFERGINZHE DTEHE-

2233 54,188
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill have suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in note 2.10. For intangible assets with finite useful life, the
Group reviews internal and external sources information to
identify indications of impairment. In determining where
goodwill and intangible assets are impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units to which goodwill and intangible assets have been
allocated. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on the higher of value-
in-use calculations or fair value less costs of disposal. These
calculations require the use of judgements and estimates.
Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and net present
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from an
asset or cash-generating unit and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(b) Provision of impairment of financial assets
For loans and interest receivables, significant judgement
is exercised in the assessment of the collectability from
each counter party. In making its judgement, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of historical
payment records, following-up procedures performed by
customer relationship personnel, counter parties’ payment
record, creditability, nature of loans, underlying security as
well as forward looking estimates.

The loss allowances for other financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

(c) Fair value of non-listed financial assets and financial
liabilities
The Group's investment in Jingu Bank was derecognised
as an investment in associate company and reclassified as
a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income on 21 October 2021. The Group also recorded certain
contingent consideration payables related to its disposal of
equity interests in its subsidiaries as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss. As disclosed in note 2.11, the
Group recognised the financial assets and liabilities at fair
value at initial recognition date as well as at each subsequent
reporting date.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods
and make assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in these assumptions and estimates could materially
affect the respective fair value of these financial assets and
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)
(d) Useful lives of intangible assets

(e)

Significant judgement is exercised in the assessment of the
useful lives of the intangible assets. In making its judgement,
management considers a wide range of factors such as the
attrition rates and obsolescence rates.

Impairment of other non-financial assets (other than
goodwill and intangible assets)

At each date of the consolidated statement of financial
position, the Group reviews internal and external sources
of information to identify indications that other non-
financial assets (other than goodwill and intangible assets)
which are significant to the Group may be impaired or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.

The sources utilised to identify indications of impairment are
often subjective in nature and the Group is required to use
judgement in applying such information to its business. The
Group's interpretation of this information has a direct impact
on whether an impairment assessment is performed as at
any given reporting date. If an indication of impairment is
identified, such information is further subject to an exercise
that requires the Group to estimate the recoverable amount,
representing the greater of the asset’s fair value less cost to
sell or its value in use. Depending on the Group’s assessment
of the significance of the asset under review and complexity
of deriving reasonable estimates of the recoverable amount,
the Group may perform such assessment utilising internal
resources or engage external advisors to counsel the Group in
making this assessment. Regardless of the resources utilised,
the Group is required to make many assumptions to make
this assessment, including the utilisation of such asset, the
cash flow to be generated, appropriate market discount rates
and the projected market and regulatory conditions. Changes
in any of these assumptions could result in a material change
to future estimates of the recoverable amount of any asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(f)

Taxes

The Group's subsidiaries that operate in the PRC are subject
to income tax in the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for various kinds of taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which
such determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2 Critical judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Revenue from merchandise sale through its B2B trading
Platforms

Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal or
as an agent in the sales of goods on the Group’s platform
requires judgement and consideration of all relevant facts
and circumstances. In evaluation of the Group acting as a
principal or an agent, the Group considers, individually or
in combination whether the Group is primarily responsible
for fulfilment the contract, is subject to the inventory risk,
and has discretion to establish prices. Having considered the
relevant facts and circumstances, management considers
that the Group obtains control of those goods sold through
the B2B platforms before the goods are transferred to the
customers. Accordingly, the Group is acting as a principal
for the direct sales and the related revenue is presented on a
gross basis.

Contractual arrangements

As disclosed in Note 2.2(ii), the Group exercises control over
certain Structured entities and has the right to recognise
and receive substantially all the economic benefits from
them through the Contractual Arrangements. The Directors
consider that the Group controls these Structured entities
notwithstanding that it does not have direct or indirect legal
ownership in equity of these entities as the Group has power
over the financial and operating policies of these entities
and receives substantially all the economic interest returns
generated from the business activities of these entities
through these Contractual Arrangements. Accordingly, all
these Structured entities are accounted for as controlled
structured entities and their financial statements have also
been consolidated by the Company throughout the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group
with direct control over the Structured entities. Uncertainties
presented by the PRC legal system could impede the Group’s
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Structured entities. Significant judgement is involved in
determining whether the Group is able to control these
entities through these Contractual Arrangements. The
Directors of the Company, consider that the Contractual
Arrangements entered into by the Group are in compliance
with the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are therefore
legally binding and enforceable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been identified as
the Executive Directors. The Executive Directors review the Group's
internal report in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined the operating segments based on these
reports.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments (including the discontinued operations) based on a measure of
loss before income tax. This measurement basis excludes the effects of
non-recurring expenditure from operating segments.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group is organised into the following
business segments:

(i) Technology-driven new retail segment, which mainly includes
provision of online advertising services through “zol.com.cn” as
well as B2B2C retail business of electronics products by leveraging
big data and internet technology through the Group’s websites
and trading platforms.

(i) Smart industries segment, which mainly includes B2B trading
platforms, provision of anti-counterfeiting products and services,
supply chains management services.

(iii)  Platform and corporate services segment, which mainly includes
the online services, advance marketing services utilising the digital
big data and tools, and provision of financing and other services.

Note:

On 5 January 2021, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement
to dispose of its 100% equity interest in Tianjin Guokai which operated
properties leasing business. As at 31 December 2022, the disposal has
not yet been completed.

On 24 December 2021, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of its 80.38% equity interest of Zhongfu which
operated integrated marketing and advertising services. The disposal
was completed on 28 December 2021.

Therefore, the financial results of Tianjin Guokai and Zhongfu
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 were classified
as discontinued operations in the Group’s consolidated financial
information.

For details of the discontinued operations, please refer to note 13.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cContinued)

The table below shows the segment information for the year ended 31
December 2022.

5 ZEHER®
EE D EER o

Year ended 31 December 2022
BE-B__E+-A=t-RALEE

Discontinued operations (Note)

Continuing operations

BELEER BRIBEER (M)
Platform Platform
Technology- and and
driven Smart  corporate Smart  corporate
new retail  industries services industries services
segment segment segment Subtotal segment segment Subtotal Total
NEHEE BEEX YaHbE BEEX YaHbE
BEH BER  RESEE Mt BER  RESEE Mt by
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®Tn ARETR AR¥Tz ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARET:
Revenue =N 1,502,786 15,198,337 78,762 16,779,885 - - - 16,779,885
Interest income from BERBHEHE
financing services WA - - 103,79 103,79 - - - 103,796
Total revenue and income BHERARBA 1,502,786 15,198,337 182,558 16,883,681 - - - 16,883,681
Impairment losses on goodwill ~ BEREREERE
and intangible assets B# (26,050) - - (26,050) - - - (26,050)
Segment results AEEE (117,937) (18,007) (89,022)  (224,966) = = - (224,966)
Other income HigA 10,024 - 10,024
Other gains, net Bt s 34,581 - 34,581
Share of post-tax losses of PEBENFRTI%
associates BB (47,883) - (47,883)
Finance income BB 10,156 - 10,156
Finance cost BBRA (54,875) - (54,875)
Loss hefore income tax BREERAER (272,923) - (272,923)
Other information: HiER
Depreciation and amortisation & K& 114,387 11,723 12,445 138,555 - - - 138,555
Share based compensation AR 314 2 B (B
expense % - - 4,065 4,065 - - - 4,065
(Reversal of fprovision for SREERE
impairment on financial assets ~ (#&[]) /& (6,582) 27,144 85,210 105,772 - - - 105,772
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 2EMER@
The table below shows the segment information for the year ended 31 TRENBE_ZE-_—F+_A=+—HILF
December 2021. ERDIBER o

Year ended 31 December 2021
A=t ALEE

Discontinued
Platform Platform
Technology- and and
driven Smart  corporate Smart  corporate
new retail industries services industries services
segment segment segment Subtotal segment Subtotal
HEHTE BEEE  Taffs BEER
EXHE EEH  REEEH et £ et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 f RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT T ARETT ARETR . . ARBTT ARETR
Revenue HERA 1,072,470 16,083,099 108,329 17,263,898 4,528 12,646 17174 17,281,072
Interest income from BB RE
financing services FrEFIRIA - - 124763 124,763 - - - 124,763
Total revenue and income BEEMARBA 1,072,470 16,083,099 233,092 17,388,661 4,528 12,646 17174 17,405,835
Impairment losses on goodwill &R EFEE
and intangible assets REEE (483,985) = - (483,985) = 3 - (483,98)
Segment resuls GRS (473,838) 26,625 (61,418)  (508,681)  (40,560) 8,024 (32,536)  (541217)
Other income EfA 12,440 4 12,444
Other losses, net EtEREE (45,115) - (45,115)
Share of post-tax losses of DEMERT
associates BREER (18,929) = (18,929)
Share of post-tax losses of ME—fRELE
ajoint venture KiER (303) - (303)
Finance income E N 24,701 6 24,707
Finance cost BIHRA (62,757) (21) (62,778)
Loss before income tax BRATERATEE (598,644) (32,547)  (631,191)
Other information: Hin&H
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7% J 2 & 57,340 16,159 19,167 92,666 333 - 333 92,999
Share based compensation  LARA%AZ
expense HER - - 22,683 22,683 - = = 22,683
Provision for/(reversal of) SREAENE
impairment on financial assets & /(&) 1,753 (9,780) (17,061) (25,088) 34,230 = 34,230 9,142
As at 31 December 2022, the total non-financial non-current assets RZBZZF+-RA=+—08  FErIFnR
including right-of-use assets, investment properties, property, plant and HEELABOEUNTE ERESE &
equipment and intangible assets located in the PRC are approximately EWE WME BERREBEAREEEAERD
RMB1,225,963,000 (2021: RMB1,391,283,000). AR#1,225,963,0000(ZF=—F : AR

1,391,283,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 22HEPER )
During the year ended 31 December 2022, all the revenue is derived HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE KN
from the operation in the PRC from external customers, except for the FI39FTHEE 2 HHE A T Z S5 - B IHE WA
related party transactions disclosed in Note 39 (2021: Same). HAREFREEL ZIIMNPEF(ZEZ—F : M
A) o
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) ZIHFHEERA

2022 2021
—Eg-—

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Timing of revenue recognition R E U AR S
— At a point in time — RS, 16,426,144 16,813,800
— Over time —BERF 353,741 450,098

16,779,885 17,263,898

2022 2021
ot St

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Revenue from contract with customers: BEAHWA -
Sales of goods through B2B trading platforms #i@B2BX 5 F SEEE R 16,283,904 16,698,491
Online services and advertisement B ERBRES 171,357 217,996
Anti-counterfeiting products and services 7 178 2 o N AR 755 213,098 223,004
Marketing events, exhibition, seminars and ZHEE - RE ek
other services HARTS 109,099 117,285
Others Hi 2,427 7 12272
16,779,885 17,263,898
Income from other sources: EAMIR AR -
Interest income from financing services B BRISFRAS F) B ULA 103,796 124,763
Total revenue and income IS WA IR 16,883,681 17,388,661
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BO MR

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 2EMER@
(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (b) HEEFEHNERZAE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities relating to AEEEBRTIEEFSNEMALE
contracts with customers: 1,%\ :

As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2022 2021

—ZE-— —E-—4F

=

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Contract liabilities related to online services HE FRIENREEEBZ

and advertisement EREE 36,970 45,598
Contract liabilities related to sales of goods HiFBR2BR ST AHEE M

through B2B trading platform BHCEHNBE 1,592,150 302,833
Contract liabilities SHIAE 1,629,120 348,431
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 ZEER@
(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (b) BEEXEFENEBZEB®)

(Continued)

(i)  Significant changes in contract liabilities (i) BHRHEEEZEALE
Contract liabilities mainly represent advance payments ERBEBETERER R K&B2B
received from customers related to online services and RHTFEEBMzBKRERHRIE - B
B2B trading platform. Contract liabilities increased by MB2BR ST A ZEBIEMEEN
RMB1,280,689,000 due to an increase in B2B trading FEIINEZEH  AHBEEE
platform activities and more contracts were entered into in InAE¥1,280,689,0007T °

the last quarter.

(ii) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (i) BEHEEEZEHENA
The following table shows how much of the revenue TR E E R A
recognised in the year related to carried forward contract HEANEERHACSE -
liabilities.

2022 2021
—E-—F —E—4F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Revenue recognised that was included in STAFYIEHEEEHZ

the contract liabilities balance at the ERERIHERA

beginning of the year

— Online services and advertisement — B ERBERES 45,598 64,305
— Sales of goods on B2B trading platform —MBBBRSFRHEE M 302,833 487,734

348,431 552,039
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers

(Continued)

(iii) Unsatisfied performance obligation
As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) was RMB1,636,709,000
(2021: RMB356,650,000). Management expects that the
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance
obligations will be recognised as revenue when the related
services, mainly related to provision of advertising services
and provision of B2B e-commerce services for spot cotton
trading, are provided over the next 2 years (2021: same) for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group has elected the practical expedient not to disclose
the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated
to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) for revenue contracts which have an original
expected duration of one year or less.

6 OTHER INCOME

5

6

DEBE R (@)
(b) EEFEHERZEE®)

(iii) FKETZBHE
RZBZZF+=ZA=+—8"
DEERBIT(IBHKRET)E
NEFZRBERBEBARE
1,636,709,0007C( =T =—4F : A
R #356,650,0007T) - B ETE
B WEZEREEREAHBEER
TER SR tB2BE 7 R7S5 8 R8I AR
BRBE_T-_—F+-_A=+—
BIEEE#2E(ZE-—4% : ER)
MiRft BHAIRERBITROE
EZRSEIREERBHEERA -

AEECRBERER AT
TR EIR — S A AR S E A
BHRRBESRERET(REHRE
TIRHEEZ R HEIRERE

HA WA

2022 2021
—=—= —E-—fF

—_——

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARMETTT

Government grants BT #EBN 6,009 10,330
Dividend income & B dA 4,015 2,110
10,024 12,440

Various government grants have been received from the local
government authority for promoting electronic trading platform in the
PRC. The Group recognised these government grants as other income
when all the conditions specified in the government grants were
satisfied.
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

7 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 7 Hitks (BB FE
Other gains/(losses), net, mainly consist of the following: Hhlas (BE)FREERREUTSIE

2022 2021

—ZE:=-= = —4F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTT

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME ARz e

- Zhongfu — AR = 2,692

— Others —HA = (1,754)
Loss on disposal of partial interest in an associate ~ H& —EEEL A R R 2 &

— Guangdong Zhongmoyun Construction B-BRPEEEERTAR

Science and Technology Co., Limited* (note i) AR (PREED = (13,743)
Gain/(loss) on deemed disposal of partial interest ~ 1R{EH & —REiE & A T E DR

in an associate — Guangdong Zhongmoyun 2z (BR) - ERPIESE

Construction Science and Technology Co., BEEMBAER AT

Limited* 14,125 (1,389)
Gain on disposal in an associate — &g AT 2 WS —

Beijing Huiyase Technology Co., Limited* It REBLZERIR AR A A - 30,270
Loss on deemed disposal in an associate RAEHE — M & AR 2 518

- Jingu Bank (note ii) — e A RIT(M7EI) = (29,923)
Change in fair value on financial assets at fair BATEFABR SREEL

value through profit or loss (note 25(a)) AN HEZE(FFE25()) (6,936) 2,835
Change in fair value on financial liabilities at fair R AF{EFFAEBRZ ERMEBEY

value through profit or loss (note 25(b)) NEEZE(MEE25(0)) 26,955 (8,346)
Reversal of/(provision for impairment for) BEHE A TR CRERHE)

investment in associates (note iii) (Ff$&Eiii) = (28,008)
Others Hth 437 2,251

34,581 (45,115)
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BO MR

7 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET (Continued)

Note:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

The amount represents loss on disposal of an associate, Guangdong
Zhongmoyun Construction Science and Technology Co., Limited* (&R 18
EFEERBARAT) (“Zhongmo”). In March 2021, the Group entered into
share purchase agreement with two independent third parties in respect of
the disposal of 7.81% equity interest in Zhongmo for a cash consideration
of RMB50,000,000 and resulted in a loss on disposal of partial interest in an
associate amounted to RMB13,743,000.

On 21 October 2021, the Group's representative had resigned from the
board of directors of Jingu Bank and the Group forfeited its legal rights to
appoint a director to participate in the board of directors of Jingu Bank,
which determine the significant financial and operating decisions of Jingu
Bank. The investment in Jingu Bank was then derecognised as an investment
in associate and reclassified as a financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as management decided to hold the investment in
Jingu Bank as a long-term strategic investment.

Upon the reclassification, the Group recognised deemed disposal loss
amounting to RMB29,923,000, which represents the difference between
the carrying amount of Jingu Bank amounting to RMB458,989,000, and its
fair value as of the deemed disposal date amounting to RMB429,066,000.

The Group recognised the impairment losses of approximately
RMB28,008,000 against the carrying amounts of certain investments in
associates during the year ended 31 December 2021. The impairment
provision mainly resulted from revision of financial or business outlook of
the associates and changes in the market environment of the underlying
business.

The names of the subsidiaries represent management'’s translation of
the Chinese names of the subsidiaries as no English names have been
registered.
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

8 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX FROM CONTINUING 8 XREAREBERKLEKCKRFTERA

OPERATIONS

The loss before income tax from continuing
operations is arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

Cost of goods sold of B2B trading platforms
(including write down of inventories of

&8

RE B ECL R 2 BRFTSRAT
BTk, (st A)
T & IEBER

B2BR S FAZEEEREA(EIE
FEMURA K% 1,355,0007T

2022

—E-=

2021
—E-—%F
RMB’000
AREETTT

RMB’000
ARBT R

RMB1,355,000) (2021: Nil) (ZF=—F: F)) 16,196,712 16,607,104
Cost of goods sold for anti-counterfeiting B N PR T 2 B & B mAR

products and services 129,704 139,640
Cost of goods sold for online service and R R NESZEEEmMAR

advertisement 18,837 22,699
Cost of goods sold for marketing events, EIED  RE Mgk

exhibition, seminars and other services EMpRT 2 B EE MR 13,801 15,511
Interest cost for financing services BhE RFF B A A 68 118
Auditor’s remuneration %S BN 7 A

— Audit services —ZH AR 6,088 4,803

— Non-audit services — IR 1,636 1,380
Legal and professional fees EEREEER

(excluding auditor's remuneration) (T IE %S ) 11,840 12,061
Agency cost RIEFGEA 790 3,140
Amortisation of investment properties (note 17) B YR (FE17) 1,162 1,162
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 19) EREEEE(FIFE19) 116,959 60,391
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEREERTE

(note 18) (FzE18) 3,707 8,204
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 16) ERAEEENE (FE16) 16,727 22,909
Employee benefits expenses (note 9) EEREAFAEZ(HEE9) 307,005 320,218
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment &3 « iE MREZEE 106 745
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets B2 & #2& R EE 1B

(note 19) (H45E19) 26,050 483,985
Marketing and consultancy expenses SRR ER 54,078 81,499
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of trade R FCRE R (BmE)

receivables (note 20) (FftzE20) 16,265 (6,842)
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of loans to ERTREBREEEZERZ

customers of financing service business (note 21)  SF{EREHE ~(£E) (Ftzr21) 83,320 (31,981)
(Reversal of)/provision for of other loans and Hib B R EWF ERE

interest receivables (%), B (192) 365
Recovery of previous impairment losses Y [Bl % AR (E B 1 - (789)
Provision for impairment of other financial assets ~ H {4 b & ZR{E R # 6,379 14,159
Staff commission ETHE 21,023 35,442
Transportation expense B 5,729 8,265
Short term leases expenses CHMEEEA 646 4,525
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BO MR

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

9 REEEAHX

2022 2021
—EF:=-—— = —4F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR® T ARMETTT

Wages and salaries TENH® 217,126 246,688

Retirement benefits costs (Note (a)) RIEFIRRA (Hf3E(a)) 85,814 50,847
Share based compensation ARG 245 2 #1E

— Share Option Scheme — R E 4,065 7,010

— Share Award Scheme — &SRB &I = 15,673

307,005 320,218

Employee benefits expenses of RMB118,431,000 (2021:
RMB135,878,000) are recognised in selling and marketing expenses;
RMB188,574,000 (2021: RMB184,340,000) in administrative expenses.

Note:

(@)  In accordance with the PRC regulations, the Group is required to make
annual contributions to the state retirement plans calculated at 16% (2021:
same) of the basic salaries of the employees, and employees are required to
contribute 8% (2021: same) of their basic salaries to the plans. For the year
ended 31 December 2021, the PRC government resolved to waive certain
proportion of such contributions during the specific period affected by
COVID-19 in order to help enterprises withstand the pandemic and stabilise
employment. The Group has no obligations for further pension payments
or any post-retirement benefits beyond these annual contributions. The
retirement benefits are paid directly from the plan assets to the retired
employees and are calculated by reference to their monthly basic salaries at
the date of retirement and periods of service rendered.

As at 31 December 2022, there were no forfeited contributions

available to offset future retirement benefit obligations of the
Group (2021: Nil).
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (Continued) 9 EERAEZ®E
(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) ElUERSFHEAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the FRN - AERRUSSHFALEE=A
Group for the year include three (2021: same) directors whose —ZE-—F HARNES - EPE B R
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 10. The TP DFH R - RFREAT
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining two (2021: same) REMTHTME(ZZEZ—F : HRDA
individuals during the year are as follows: TZBemT

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Basic salaries, housing allowances, EX¥e  BEZAM -
other allowances and benefits in kind Hib 2B R E YIS 1,260 1,320
Share based compensation — Share Option LARGAD 15 2 f 18 — B AR
Scheme HE = 302
Share based compensation — Share Award LARRAD S5 2 # 18 — BR 1D
Scheme SEENETE = 1,840
Retirement plan contributions RIRETEIERR 198 200
1,458 3,662
The emoluments for these two individuals (2021: two) fell within ZMBR(ZEZ—F : MB)ALZHEH
the following bands: BT -

HKD500,001 to HKD 1,000,000 500,001/ 7C% 1,000,000/ 7T 2 -
HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1,000,001% 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T = -
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7c 22,000,000/ 7T = 1
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001/ T4 2,500,000/ 7T - 1
(b) During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the Group (b) &R AEEVEAESEK ARV SS
to the directors or the five highest paid individuals mentioned FALTIAEABE - (EAEMASR N
above as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as AREB R R mE( T = —
compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil). FoE) e
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10 EEEN R ER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERFETHRAEZHE
The remunerations of each director and chief executive for the BE_T-Z—FR=-_T=_=F+=A
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 are set out below: =+—HIEFE  BEFREETHRAE

ZEEFIT

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking
REEFARARENBLAAEBSZATEARESHME
Employer's
contribution
Estimated toa
money retirement

value of benefit

Salary other benefit scheme

ExY

Hith &R RIAEF
ik e  AEE¥E  SENMR #st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE AR¥TR AR%TR AR¥TR AR%TR

2022: —EC-CE:

Mr. Liu Jun AELE - 890 3,053 114 4,057
Mr. Zhang Yonghong FKALEAE - 963 813 114 1,890
Mr. Liu Xiaodong A NERE - 616 - 107 723
Mr. Guo Fangsheng BAELE = = = - -
Mr. Lin Dewei WEREE - = = = =
Mr. Sun Yang BErE = - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ke R kAL 250 - - - 250
Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei wAERAE 220 - - - 220
Ms. Qi Yan -y 220 - - - 220
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BOT MR

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10 EER®ARELR &)

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EBRFETHAEBZHME(®)
(Continued)

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person'’s services as a director,
whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking
HEEAARSAMBLRIEEZ ALENHEMN 2 ME

Employer's

contribution

Estimated toa
money retirement

value of benefit

Salary  other benefit scheme

ExY

i AgA RER
e He  WHEEE BGOSR i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRL  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR

2021: - Sl O

Mr. Liu Jun 2FE L. - 904 7,446 106 8,456
Mr. Zhang Yonghong KA - 964 5,064 106 6,134
Mr. Liu Xiaodong ApRESE s 617 1,355 104 2,076
Mr. Guo Fangsheng BAAELAE = = - - -
Mr. Lin Dewei WEg kY = = = - -
Mr. Sun Yang HEkE - = = = =
Mr. Zhang Ke e 250 - - - 250
Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei N 220 - _ _ 220
Ms. Qi Yan -3 220 = 2 i 220
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BO MR

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company did
not pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there is no loans, quasi
loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected entities of such directors
(2021: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 39, no other transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company’s subsidiary was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the years or at any time during
the years.

No director received any housing allowance; emolument from
the Group as an inducement to join or leave the Group or
compensation for loss of office; emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of director’s other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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BOT MR

11 FINANCE COST, NET 11 BRERAFREE

2022 2021
—E—-= —FT-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTTT

Interest expense: MR :
- Bank borrowings —RITEE (43,889) (50,817)
— Other borrowings —HtEE (9,833) (6,298)
— Lease liabilities (note 16) —fHEaFE(MEie) (1,144) (2,277)
— Others —H 9) (3,365)
Finance cost EUE %N (54,875) (62,757)
Finance income EUE LN 10,156 24,701
Finance cost, net B TR A58 (44,719) (38,056)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

12 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSES) 12

FrgBiE R, (B%)

2022 2021
-~ T —fF

PP —

RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBET T

Current income tax credit/(expenses) EHMEHER,(FAX)
— The PRC corporate income tax (“CIT") — R REEMEH
(TZEmMEH)
— Current year —RFE (13,204) (28,697)
— Prior year —E—5EF = 362
Deferred income tax credit RIEFTSTIE 2
— The PRC corporate income tax — R EATER 56,011 16,898
42,807 (11,437)
Income tax credit/(expenses) is attributable to: FriisfiEe, (FZ)RER
— Loss from continuing operations —FHEIEEB 2 BB 42,807 (11,437)
— Loss from discontinued operations —BRIEEEEB 2 BE = =
42,807 (11,437)
Note: Bt

(@)  No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as there is no assessable profit
arising in Hong Kong for the year (2021: Nil).

(b)  The PRC corporate income tax represents taxation charged on assessable
profits for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the cities in the PRC
in which the Group operates.

The tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC is 25%, except for
certain subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC which were approved as High
and New Technology Enterprise and were subject to a reduced preferential
CIT rate of 15% for a 3-year period. Certain subsidiaries of the Group were
also subject to a reduced preferential CIT rate ranging from 5% to 10% for
Small Low-profit Enterprises.
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

229

12 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSES) (Continued) 12 FriE8iER(BX) @

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the location of
the Group companies as follows:

2022
—E__F

RMB’000
ARBT R

Loss from continuing operations

FEREEBRMSHAER

REEBERRHAE R HIRARBAKE L
AIFfE R 2 SR E ISR mBEEE R

2021
—E-—4F
RMB’000
ARET 7

before income tax (272,923) (598,644)
Loss from discontinued operations BRI EBRATETAIEE

before income tax - (32,547)
Loss before income tax FRET1STLRIES 1B (272,923) (631,191)
Tax calculated at 25% (2021: 25%) L25% MR E 2 1A

(ZE=Z—%F :25%) (68,230) (157,798)

Effect of different tax rates in other Hi AR =R B ESE

cities/under preferential tax treatment FBTTRABREFE (4,239) 16,713
Income not taxable BAERBUA (22,666) (37,512)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes TRz & B 26,609 150,018
Tax loss not recognised RIERPIIAEE 25,719 40,378
Overprovision of tax from prior year BT FEE R I RE R - (362)
Income tax expenses/(credit) FEMEY (HKR) (42,807) 11,437
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

13 LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Tianjin Guokai (note a)
Zhongfu (note b)

RE2BIR (MsEa)
iR (B aEb)

13 ERLERERB2EE

2022 2021
—EF:=-—— —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBFIT
(Restated)
(5&=%1))

ARETT

= 8,024
= (40,571)

= (32,547)

(a) Discontinued operation of Tianjin Guokai

On 5 January 2021, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “agreement”) to transfer 100% of the equity
interest in Tianjin Guokai to an independent third party and
RMB225,000,000 was received by the Group as upfront deposit
of transaction. Tianjin Guokai and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Tianjin Guokai Group”) is principally engaged in the provision of
properties leasing in the PRC. Upon completion of the transaction,
Tianjin Guokai Group will cease to be a subsidiary of the Group.
The financial results of Tianjin Guokai was classified as discontinued
operations for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

As at 31 December 2022, the disposal was not completed. For
more details for status regarding the disposal, please refer to note
37. The respective assets and liabilities of Tianjin Guokai were
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

13 LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Continued)

(a) Discontinued operation of Tianjin Guokai (Continued)

(i)

Financial performance of Tianjin Guokai Group classified
as held for sale

The financial performance of Tianjin Guokai Group classified
as held for sale for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 is as follows:

231

13 ERILEEERBZBER®

(a) REBFHZERLLREXK (&)
() PERBFEHEZXEEMERZ
HBRE

DEABEREZ R EEMEEY
BHEZZ-_—FR-F=-_—F+=
A=+—BHLEFEMBERAZ5M

T
2022 2021
—E__ —TE-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R AREETTT
Revenue FHEUA - 12,646
Expenses st = (4,622)
Profit before income tax B P 1S 8% A4 - 8,024
Income tax expense FriSHiF 2 = -
Total profit from discontinued operations B 4% 1148 & 2 7& > % M| 4858 - 8,024
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

13 LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 13 BERILKEEK2EB®

(Continued)

(a) REERZCARILLEERL (®)
(i) FEBFHEHEZ X EEFHEEZ
BERARE
TIHEERBBEERZ-ZZE=Z_F
+ZA=+—HBRk=ZT=—F+=
A=+ BHERILELEBEN

(a) Discontinued operation of Tianjin Guokai (Continued)
(ii) Assets and liabilities of Tianjin Guokai Group classified
as held for sale
The following assets and liabilities were reclassified as held
for sale in relation to the discontinued operation as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021:

DHERRBELE -
2022 2021
- —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Assets classified as held for sale SEAEEHECEE
Investment properties B 107,177 107,177
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13,871 13,871
Trade receivables FEURBE TR 10,874 11,349

131,922 132,397
Liabilities directly associated with assets EEp¥ERISEHE>
classified as held for sale EEEEERZERE
Accrued expenses and other payables FEETE R LB EA RIE 10,000 10,000
Other taxes payables HAb fEGTIIE 2,168 2,643
12,168 12,643
Net assets classified as held for sale DEABIENE 2 BETFE 119,754 119,754

(b) Disposal of equity interest in Zhongfu

On 24 December 2021, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with two independent third parties to dispose
of its 80.38% equity interest in Zhongfu at a consideration of
RMB100,000. Zhongfu and its subsidiaries (together, the “Zhongfu
Group”) was included in the smart industries segment. The
disposal was completed on 28 December 2021. In accordance
with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations”, the financial results of Zhongfu Group are reported
as a discontinued operation for the years set out below. A disposal
gain of Zhongfu Group amounting to RMB2,692,000 was included
in “other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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BOT MR

13 LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Continued)

(b) Disposal of equity interest of Zhongfu (Continued)
(i) Financial performance and cash flow information of
Zhongfu
The financial performance presented are for the period from
1 January 2021 to 28 December 2021.

233

13 ERILEEERBZBER®

(b) HEPRZKRER)
() FRZHBXRARELREEHN

T F—fF—HE_T-_—F
+ZAZ+ N \HHEZHBERRZ
AT o

Period from
1 January
2021 to 28
December
2021
=4

E

+=—A=+/\H

HAfE

RMB’000

AREETTT

Revenue HEBA 4,528

Expenses sz (45,099)

Loss before income tax BRET1S R AIE 1B (40,571)

Income tax credit Frisiiii e =

Total loss from discontinued operations BRI EEE TS 2 SRR (40,571)

Net cash used in operating activities KEEBFTA IR F5E (1,351)

Net cash generated from investing activities WERESMB RS F5E 1,334

Net cash generated from financing activities REEESBHEFE 120

Total cash inflow e AL 103
BREEMERDT 2022 FiR
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

14 LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year excluding ordinary
shares repurchased by the Company (note 30).

14 SREE

(a) &R
BREABERARAEREA ARGE
BRAFAD BT ERRIET9R8EE
(TBREARBEL 2 B (FIRE30) -

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—4F

=

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Loss attributable to owners of the Company AN RTIES AFE(EERE

— from continuing operations —RERHEEE (224,306) (638,061)
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEEES - (25,049)
(224,306) (663,110)

2022 2021
B8 —E - —F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETTT

Weighted average number of shares inissue 237 7H&5 2 HNiE F9 8 (Fh%)

(thousands) 1,309,931 1,309,931
Basic loss per share BREXER
From continuing operations (in RMB) REFBBELEER(ARET) (0.1712) (0.4871)
From discontinued operations (in RMB) RECKRIEEEER
(AR%TT) - (0.0191)
Total basic loss per share attributable to the — ZNA FIHES A A IR FAEA
equity holders of the Company (in RMB) EiErE(ARET) (0.1712) (0.5062)
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

14 LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 14 BRER®@

(b) Diluted (b) #F

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company
has one category of potential dilutive ordinary shares: share options
for the year ended 31 December 2022. For the share options,
the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options less the number of shares that could
have been issued at fair value (determined as the average market
price per share for the year) for the same total proceeds is the
number of shares issued for no consideration (2021: The Company
has two categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share
options and share awards. For the share awards, a calculation is
done to determine the number of shares that could have been
acquired at fair value (determined as the average market price of
the Company’s shares for the year) based on the monetary value
of the outstanding share awards. The number of shares calculated
as above is compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share awards.).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, all of these share
options had no dilutive effect to the Company and therefore,
diluted loss per share equaled basic loss per share (2021: same).

SRS EIRR AR TEINT BRI
EFHEABRAABEE ST RROE
BRMEE - AAREE_T__F+=
A=+—BLtEEF—HEGCHELR
A% RERRME - SREENREM S - REREARE
EATER R BT ZRMEE NRIEAER
IS RERBEATEEERERESD 2
FHMEEE)N FEITZROHEEE -
BB HEEEITZRMNEEB (=2 =—
F - ARNREMEBTEEETLER - BR
R 8EE - SR EEEME - IR
TERD 2R 2 EMEETE - LR
BRAFE(REAAARROFANZFEM
B)EEZRGOHEE - L XFFEZ
A&7 25 B BRI 1D SR BT T RS FE B 2%
FTZRRDERE fELLE ) ©

BE_ZTE-_—_#+-A=+—BItFE -
FBERBERES AT EREETE -
WERESEEREGRENEIBRAE(Z
T R -

15 DIVIDENDS 15 KE
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company during and for the HE-ZE-—_F+-_A=1+—HBLLEE AR
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). ASERNRERRE (22— &) -
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

16 LEASES 16 HE

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (a) REBGHMBRARERZZEHE
of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the

BHPBHRRRIIIATEEEER 2

following amounts relating to leases: B
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARBFIT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
At 1 January n—H—H 35,285 44,630
Additions NE 9,884 21,745
Lease modification (note i) TREES (D (11,519) 6,321
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale ERESBEARELEZEE
(note 13(a)(ii)) (PEE13)G) - (13,871)
Depreciation e
— from continuing operations —RERFEICEET (16,727) (22,909)
— from discontinued operations —RE BRI EET - (262)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHEAR] - (369)
At 31 December R+=-—A=1+—H 16,923 35,285
Lease liabilities HEAE
At 1 January w—A—H 38,309 32,649
Additions INE 9,884 21,745
Lease modification (note i) HEER(FEED (11,973) 6,321
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHRB AR - (393)
Payments NES (19,451) (24,311)
Interest expenses FEFAEZ
— from continuing operations —REFECEET 1,144 2,277
— from discontinued operations —RE DRI EETR = 21
At 31 December Rt+-—A=1+—8 17,913 38,309
Current mED 12,489 21,158
Non-current IEmE 5.424 17,151
17,913 38,309

Note:

() During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had agreed
with the landlords to extend the terms of several rental contracts.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities had been adjusted due
to the lease modifications amounting to RMB11,519,000 and
RMB11,973,000 respectively (2021: Right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities had been adjusted due to the lease modifications amounting
to RMB6,321,000 and RMB6,321,000, respectively).
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

16 LEASES (continued) 16 HE )
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (b) REMGENBRRBERZSHE
of comprehensive income
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the EOFEERERIITATHAERR ©
following amounts relating to leases: Lol

2022 2021

—E-= T4

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FHAEEEZINEEHR

Properties mE (16,727) (23,171)
— from continuing operations —RERFELEET (16,727) (22,909)
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEEES - (262)

(16,727) (23,171)

Interest expense on lease liabilities HESBERNEMX
— from continuing operations —REREEEES (1,144) (2,277)
— from discontinued operations —RE BRI EETE - 1)

(1,144) (2,298)

Expenses relating to short-term leases HERHEEREZEX

— from continuing operations —REFELEED (646) (4,525)

— from discontinued operations —RE ORI &S ETR - (408)
(646) (4,933)

Gain on lease modification HAEBT 2=

— from continuing operations —REREEEEYS 454 -

— from discontinued operations — KRB B4R I TS = =
Depreciation of approximately RMB16,727,000 (2021: WEHARY 16,727,000 (=T =—
RMB22,909,000) is included in administrative expenses. The total £ AR®22,909,0007T) 5t AT E B
cash outflow for leases in 2022 was RMB20,097,000 (2021: AeRZTZ_F  HEZHRESRLRE
RMB29,244,000). BARE20,097,000C(ZFE=—F : A

R#29,244,0007T) °
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BO MR

17

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

17 REYWHE

2022 2021

—=E_- T4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETT ARETTT

At 1 January —R— 26,009 134,348

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale Lﬁéé F%%fﬂfﬁﬁzg? = (107,177)
Amortisation A

— from continuing operations —REFECEER (1,162) (1,162)

At 31 December R+—A=+—H 24,847 26,009

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held one property (2021: one
property) as investment properties which was measured under the cost
model. The fair value of the investment properties held by the Group
was determined by independent valuers at RMB31,815,800 (2021:
RMB31,689,000).

The fair value of the investment property as at 31 December 2022
is derived using the market comparison approach (2021: same). The
income valuation method is essentially means of valuing the investment
properties by discounting cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, while the market comparison approach is
essentially means of valuing the investment properties by assuming sale
of each of these properties in its existing state with the benefit of vacant
possession.

The fair value is valued by independent professionally qualified valuers
who hold a recognised relevant professional qualification and has recent
experience in the location of the investment property valued.
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17 REWXE )
The Group's finance department includes a team that reviews the AEEVBHRE—<EN - aEEHHBL
valuation performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting HEMMMBREETZEE - ZEFEER
purpose. This team reports directly to the chief financial officer (CFO). BENEE(BERVBE)ER -
At each financial year end, finance department: REMBEER - B5Ee
e \Verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report, o RZEBUMEREANMEFEHASE -
e Assesses property valuations movements when comparing to the o HIAMEMEEDR I —FHERSCE

prior year valuation report, and g R
e Holds discussion with the independent valuer. o HEBEVHEMERR o
The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases FEMERBLEHENATER  HekA
with rentals payable monthly. There are no other variable lease payments AT o BEAEMEURRYEREEHISHEEN
that depend on an index or rate. FENTHERK -
For minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment ERLEREME BRI REHEENR - F2
properties, refer to note 37. BARTE37 ©
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the investment property has HE_Z-__F+_A=+—HILLFE &
generated RMB 1,608,000 rental income (2021: same). MEDEEARE,608,000L(ZF=—F :
HAEDFASUA °
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18 MI% - MERRE

Computer Fixtures,
and telecom- fittings and
munications office Leasehold Motor
Buildings equipment equipment  improvements vehicles
T :
BF EillR j o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
T ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R=F=-%-5-H
Cost AR 36,258 71,548 1327 10,895 14,562 140,590
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (8,844) (63,031) (6,181) (9,944) (11,782) (99,782)
Net book amount REFE 27,414 8517 1,146 951 2,780 40,808
Year ended 31 December 2021 Bz-Z--E1-R
Zt-BLFE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 27,414 8517 1,146 951 2,780 40,808
Additions RE - 1,533 199 898 297 2,927
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (381) (387) (24) n) (39) (903)
Disposals e - (790) (212) n - (1,003)
Depreciation (note () HE(HEE)
~ from continuing operations -RAREEEEH (1877) (4101) (329) (1123) (774) (8,204)
— from discontinued operations - RABRIHEEEH = (35 n (35) - )
Closing net book amount EREEFE 25,156 4737 779 617 2,265 33,554
At 31 December 2021 R-B--#+-B=+-H
Cost KA 33,344 24,018 5,545 11,202 13142 87,251
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (8,188) (19,281) (4,766) (10,585) (10,877) (53,697)
Net book amount FHFE 25,156 4737 e 617 2,265 33,554
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 18 W¥ - MERRE @)

Computer
and Fixtures,
telecom- fittings
munications and office Leasehold Motor

Buildings equipment equipment  improvements vehicles Total
R %E RER

Bz EEEG BARE EENEEE g &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTTE  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2022 Hz-E-_E+CR
=t-ALEE
Opening net book amount ) 25,156 4,737 9 617 2,265 33,554
Additions NE - 574 95 - 393 1,062
Disposals e - (54) (88) - - (142)
Depreciation (note ({) WE(MHD) (750) (1,720) (275) (289) (673) (3,707)
Closing net book amount ELEETE 24,406 3,537 511 328 1,985 30,767
At 31 December 2022 RZE--F+-f=1-H
Cost kA 33,344 23,964 1,634 6,625 13,265 78,832
Accumulated depreciation 25HhE (8,938) (20,427) (1123) (6,:297) (11,280) (48,065)
Net book amount REFE 24,406 3,537 511 328 1,985 30,767
Note: BT
(i) Depreciation of RMB92,000 (2021: RMB365,000) is included in selling and (i) WEARKER0T(ZT=Z—F: AR%
marketing expenses; and RMB3,615,000 (2021: RMB7,839,000) is included 365,000 ) & AR #3,615,0000 (=& ——
in administrative expenses. F: AR¥7,839,0007T) 5 Rl AHE kT

HEERARITRERRA °

EHEEAERAT 2022 Fif



N

242

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 BREE
Trade name
Customer ~and domain
Goodwill  relationship name License Platform Patent Others Total
%8 ZPH ! R Ta 3] Eff EE)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Tr  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR T ARETT  ARETT  ARETR
At 1 January 2021 RZ%=-£-5-H
Cost M 1564877 346,900 160,199 554,000 112,000 11,100 47,053 2,196,129
Accumulated amortisation and impaiment 23+ A (5805) (177657 (102224 (554000) (31,999) (8673) (36349  (968954)
Net book value FH3E 1,506,825 169,243 57,975 - 80,001 2421 10,704 1827175
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E--E1CR
St-ALEE
Opening net book amount ENERFE 1,506,825 169,243 57,975 - 80,001 2421 10,704 1821175
Additions HE - - - - 12,636 - 1,000 13,636
Impaiment Wil
- from continuing operations -REREOEEE (454,720) = - - (29,265) - - (483989
Amortisation (note) 2
~ from continuing operations -RERBaLEE - (32,031) (6,151) - (18783) (1,388) 2,039 (60,391)
Closing net book amount ERERFE 1,052,105 137212 51,824 - 44,589 1,039 9,666 1,296,435
At 31 December 2021 and R=B=-F+-B=1-Rk
1 January 2022 ZBIZE-f-B
Cost A 1,526,451 346,900 91,899 554,000 124,636 11,100 46,183 2,701,169
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  ZzFEEREE (474 346) (209,688) (40,075) (554,000 (80,047) (10,061) (36517)  (1404734)
Net book value e 1,052,105 137212 51,84 = 44,589 1,039 9,666 1,296,435
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BOT MR

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 19 BEFEEE®

Trade name
Customer  and domain
Goodwill  relationship name License Platform Patent Others Total

B  EFBR  mEREY kR ¥ Ll e it
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBOOD  RMBON  RMBOO0  RMBIO0O
ARRTR  ARMTz  ARBTx  ARRTR  ARWTR  ARMTz  ARMTn  ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-CE1CR
St-BLEE

Opening net book amount EEESE 1,052,105 137212 51,824 - 44,589 1,039 9666 1296435
Impairment A

- from continuing operations -RARERSERE - - - - (26,050) - - (26,050)
Amortisation (note) Ex(my)

~ from continuing operations -RARELSEH - (96,776) (6,152) - (1.211) (1,039) (1,781) (116,959)
Closing net book amount EREAFE 1,052,105 40,436 45672 - 7328 - 7885 1153426
At31 December 2022 i Jmbu:2 g 28
Cost i 1,526,451 346,900 91,899 554,000 124,636 11,100 46,183 2,216,762
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ~ EEERRAE (474346)  (306,464) (46227) (5540000 (117,308) (11,100) (38,298)  (1,063,336)
Net book value BEFE 1,052,105 40436 45,6712 - 1328 - 7,885 1,153,426

Note: Amortisation of intangible assets is included in selling and marketing M BEEEZBEFAAHGERERZEER
expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. TISHEEBERNA o
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 19 BEFEEE®

Impairment test for goodwill and other intangible assets
Managements monitors and reviews the business performance at the
operating segment level. Goodwill and other intangible assets are
allocated to the following cash generating units (“CGUs").

BERAMETEERENR
EEEREENDBEREEREBREBRE -
BELAMEREAESRT TR SEEEN
(TREEEEA]) -

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=t+—H
2022 2021
=== = —E
Other Other
intangible intangible
Goodwiill assets Goodwill assets
Hith\H H R
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARMTRT AR%®TR ARETT ARETT
Technology-driven new retail RIXHFEESEEH
segment
Online-services-B2B2C business  4F_FARFE —B2B2C XS
(note ii) e 980,247 75,133 980,247 173,885
New technology retails solutions ¥ T & fRAR5 5
(note i) (B5ED - - - 34,735
Smart Industries segment BEEEEEH
Anti-counterfeiting products and B2 2 & & IR 1%
services 50,314 10,603 50,314 155183
Trading services — cotton industry 32 5 fR7E — #81E1T5 21,544 13,399 21,544 17,881
Other intangible assets HinmpEE - 2,186 = 2,696
1,052,105 101,321 1,052,105 244,330

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined by higher of a
CGUs fair value less cost of disposal and value-in-use. These calculations
are performed using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period. Thereafter, the
cash flows are extrapolated using the estimated terminal growth rates.
Management estimates the pre-tax discount rate that reflects market
assessment of the time value of money and specific risk relating to the
industry.
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BOT MR

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment test for goodwill and other intangible assets
(Continued)

Table below sets out the key assumptions for those CGUs that have
significant goodwill and intangible assets allocated:

245

9 BEEE®

AERAEMEREERERNF(E)

TRV EEABERBLEENREZER
SELBMZ TEMR

Online services — B2B2C business # PR3 — B2B2CE
Average revenue growth rate I A 1518 K R
Pre-tax discount rate FATITIR =

Terminal growth rate BRIBRR

Anti-counterfeiting products and services  PB5BEE @ & RS

Average revenue growth rate WA 118 R R
Pre-tax discount rate AT IR &

Terminal growth rate BIRIERE

Trading services-cotton industry PRI — BIEITHE
Average revenue growth rate WA RE
Pre-tax discount rate BATHTIR =

Terminal growth rate RIRIERE

As a result of the impairment assessment, impairment for intangible
assets amounting to RMB26,050,000 (2021: impairment for goodwill
and other intangible assets amounting to RMB454,720,000 and
RMB29,265,000, respectively), for the “New technology retail solutions”
CGU were recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 (note (i));

24% 20%
17% 10%
3% 3%
8% 7%
9% 8%
3% 3%
36% 25%
19% 17%
3% 3%

HRETTRENE  AEERHRE—T -
T A=+ BUEFERIFTEMSEMRAS
RIBSELSNDHERELEEREARE
26,050,0007C(ZF=—% : B REMELEA
ERESD B A AR 454,720,0007T & A R
29,265,0007T) (FHEG))
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_Z - —#+-A=+—HILEE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 19 BEEE @)

Impairment test for goodwill and other intangible assets BMERAEMEFEERENRE)
(Continued)

For details, refer to the following notes. BRFES - BRHE NI -
Note: M

(i) Impairment provision in relation to “New technology retails solutions” CGU iy HBEFRNEERATRIRSELEM 2R

On 27 December 2018, Z.Tech Holdings Limited (“Z.Tech”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, completed the acquisition of 100% equity interest
in Zale Inc. (“Zale”) from Zale Limited, Ruthfly Limited and Fejack Limited
(collectively, the “Vendors”) for a total consideration of RMB366,500,000.
The Group recognised identifiable intangible assets amounting to
RMB112,000,000 and goodwill amounting to RMB454,720,000 in relation
to such acquisition and allocated to the “New technology retails solutions”
CGU at the acquisition date.

Zale Inc. and it subsidiaries are principally engaged in the Software as a
Service (“SaaS”) services in 3C industrial internet and new technology retails
in the PRC.

The business model of the Group’s SaaS business is a membership-based
model, while the key revenue growth driver is the Group’s abilities to
expand its member store networks by replicating its business model into
more low-tier cities in the PRC, penetrating into the towns and villages in
the PRC and enhancing the relationship with its users, manufacturers and
retailers.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the business performance
of this CGU did not achieve the expected results due to the challenging
market competition in the e-commerce industry and the continuous adverse
impacts brought by the COVID-19 prevention and control measures.
Together with the evolving regulatory requirements and fast changing
market environment on operating e-commerce and service platforms in
the PRC, management had performed a reforecast over this business to
reflect the latest market situation. Based on the impairment assessment,
goodwill and other intangible assets amounting to RMB454,720,000 and
RMB29,265,000, respectively, were provided for impairment during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the uncertainties over the
business and operations in the internet industry and online transactions
continue to affect the business development. The business performance
of this CGU was worse than expected. Management was in doubt
whether the business can turn around in the foreseeable future. As such,
management has performed an updated assessment, factoring in the
latest market conditions. Based on the latest cash flow forecast, remaining
balance of the other intangible assets in relation to this CGU amounting to
RMB26,050,000, were fully provided for impairment and recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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A E AR 112,000,00070 R EE AR
454,720,0007C * WA R EIFRMEEHRT
RIBESELESEN -

Zale Inc. REMBARIEZERF BN EICEE
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BOT MR

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment test for goodwill and other intangible assets

(Continued)
Note: (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment assessment on goodwill and other intangible assets in relation
to “Online services — B2B2C business” CGU

For the “Online services — B2B2C business” CGU, management has
implemented various transformation measures to alleviate the distress in
traditional media advertising business by upgrading its services and products
offers to customers. A revised business forecast has been prepared based
on the latest strategies, which shows an increase in average revenue growth
rate from 20% to 24%. Corresponding adjustment has also been made
in pre-tax discount rate to reflect risks and uncertainties associated with
implementing the transformation. Based on the impairment assessment,
management consider no impairment over the goodwill and intangible assets
is necessary.

If the pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections of this
CGU had been further increased by 1.2% over management’s estimates,
it would remove the remaining headroom. In the prior year, there were no
reasonably possible changes in any of the key assumptions that would have
resulted in an impairment write-down in this CGU.

The directors and management have considered and assessed reasonably
possible changes for other key assumptions and have not identified any
instances that could cause the carrying amount of this CGU to exceed its
recoverable amount.

For the remaining CGUSs, the Directors and management considered and
assessed reasonably possible changes for other key assumptions and
have not identified any instances that could cause the carrying amount
of these CGUs to exceed its recoverable amount.
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19 BEFEEE®

AERAEMEREERERNF(E)

Mt -

(ii)

(&)

BRI LR —B2B2CEB I R EL BN 2
BB AN EERER G

MIAR EAR —B2B2CEB IR EEE MM
5 ERECERZRENEN  BATAE
AEPRHEMRERER  ERERKERS
EBREN » LIETNEBTRACRERHNE
MEams  RERBATFIOEREH20%EME
24% o AT R EXMEEHEERE - SURBR
BB ER AR R THEERE - BERE
il EEERARERENEELTHEER
o

HEMNZRCELEM I RERETRA 2T
RITIR R E IR E et — 1 IN1.2% » Hif§
WERRIERERER - R E—FE - EF A8 EEZ
AeELEMRENR T ERRLESEA

EXNEEEEERRAGEMIZERRZE
BB E S WEBNREMAEEERZRS
EEE 7 REEBLETEESENER

B TREELBMUNS  EENEREDE
BEFEEMEERRZAEAEES WK
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20 BWERN ~ € - AARERA
fib FE W =R IR

As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2022

—=E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTT

Trade receivables FEUBE R 156,694 198,258
Less: provision for impairment of trade R EUR ORI E RS

receivables (37,187) (22,421)

Trade receivables, net FEURBR 5K F5E 119,507 175,837

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be -~ TARFE KA EN TR 2,046,134 671,097

2,165,641 846,934

Less: Non-current portion B IERBIE (5,490) (3,990)

Current portion BN 2,160,151 842,944

(a) Trade receivables (a) FEUWBRRR

The Group generally grants a credit period ranging from 90 to
180 days to customers depending on business segment. The aging
analysis of the gross trade receivables based on invoice date is as
follows:

AEE-—MERBEEBEIBHTEENT
90E 180K ZEEH - EUBRKARREILE
ZHEZREDTAT ¢

As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2022

ot St
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETTT

0 to 90 days 0E90K 83,232 155,681
91 to 180 days 91E180K 23,528 16,727
181 to 270 days 181F270K 9,431 2,295
271 to 365 days 271E365K 19,671 2,692
Over 1 year BB —F 20,832 20,863

156,694 198,258
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(@) Trade receivables (Continued)
Note:

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as
follows:

249

20 EWERER - & - ANRERHE
b PE WL R I ()

(a) FEWERR (@)
BisE -

FEMERR Z B AR BN -

2022 2021
—=E== T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREFT
At 1 January n—A—H 22,421 52,286
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of B FURER A, (FE)
trade receivables
— from continuing operations —RERFECEET 16,265 (6,842)
Write off for impaired trade receivables R (B FE U AR TR 8 (1,499) (22,800)
Disposal of Zhongfu & H AR = (223)
At 31 December W+—-_A=+—8 37,187 22,421

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

Balances are denominated in RMB and there is no concentration of credit
risk with respect to trade receivables as the Group has a large number of
customers nationally dispersed.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair values
of trade receivables disclosed above. The Group did not hold any collateral as
security.

FEUERR 2 BREE B E NP EARE -

EHRUARKE  ARAKERZEFDH
WP &M - RAEE 2 USRS E R T
R -

RBERRAZESEERRA EXARERK

R AFE - AREIWESSH EFHERRIE
R -
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BO MR

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 20 BWER #ZEE AAIRERH

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES At 8 WU IE ()
(Continued)
(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables (b) && - BAREBERHEMEKRIE

As at 31 December
R+=-—B=+—H
2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREETTT

Non-current portion IEHENED
— Deposits — %S 1,140 1,109
- Prepayment for acquiring intangible assets g g s o 5 B > A 2008 4,350 2,881
5,490 3,990
Current portion EENEL S
- Deposits —&% 30,237 31,886
— Prepayments (note (i) — FE = IE (HTEEG)) 1,985,488 613,434
— Other receivables (note (i) — H b W 3E (B B G ) 24,919 21,787
2,040,644 667,107
2,046,134 671,097
The fair values are as follows: NEEMTF
— Deposits — %% 31,377 32,995
— Prepayments related to: — BB TNRIEWNTENZIE
Sales of goods on B2B trading platform MBS FELtyEsR 1,955,532 587,778
IT Service ITARF& 15,892 15,083
Logistic Service W ART 11,072 11,241
Other Hith 7,342 2,213
— Other receivables — H b e ERIE 24,919 21,787
2,046,134 671,097

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

(Continued)
Note (i):

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the amount mainly represented
prepayment to suppliers for B2B trading platform business. The balance
increased significantly as at 31 December 2022 was mainly due to the
resumption of business in the PRC after the release of COVID-19 restriction
measures The prepayment to suppliers for B2B trading platform business is
expected to be utilised within the next reporting period.

Note (ii):
The balance included RMB13,586,000 (2021: RMB15,993,000) other

receivables deposited in third party e-commerce platform and they are used
for settling balances arising from purchase transactions.

251

20 EWERER - & - ANRERHE
b PE WL R I ()
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

21 LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

Loans and interest receivables reflect the outstanding balance of loans
granted to associates, employees and customers.

21 EWERRAE
EWERRFEEIRFHENR EPLE
ZERKREELH -

il

\
/

As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H

Loans to customers of financing services

ERTRERGEL ZEP

2022

—E—=
RMB’'000
AR¥TT

2021
—E - —F
RMB’000
ARETE

business (note (a), (b)) (MEE@) ~ (b)) 1,636,035 1,584,571
Loans to employees BERTEE 3,600 3,690
Loans to associates and a joint venture ERTHE AR —HEEEE 66,533 85,733
Interest receivables FEYFI B, 9,876 11,482
Loans and interest receivables, gross JEUE R T B 4258 1,716,044 1,685,476
Less: impairment allowance on loans to B ERTRERBEBZEP

customers of financing services business B ERE (216,583) (149,786)
Less: impairment allowance on loans to B B TIRE ZRERE

employees (36) (20)
Less: impairment allowance on loans to W ERTEEARR

associates and a joint venture —BEEEZRERE (5,880) (5,986)
Less: impairment allowance on interest B R BRI E R

receivables (103) (205)
Loans and interest receivables, net FEUE R e R B OFHE 1,493,442 1,529,479
Less: Non-current portion W IEREIE Y (29,273) (418,032)
Current portion BN 1,464,169 1,111,447
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

21 LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continued) 21 BRERKFE @

Note: B 5T
(@)  Analysed by nature (@) RMEEL
The balance comprises loans granted in financing service business: ERERBERRERBERRLZER

As at 31 December

R+=R=+—H

2022 2021
—E_— —T——4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETT
Loans to customers of financing services business ERTHEREELEZEF 1,636,035 1,584,571
Less: impairment allowance B RERE (216,583) (149,786)
1,419,452 1,434,785

Movements in the provision for impairment of loans granted in financing REERGEBRBEE T ER T EREESHmT

service business are as follows:

2022 2021

—E-—fF —T——%F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

At 1 January n—A—H 149,786 184,149
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of loans to ERTRERBEBZEFZ

customers of financing service business B, (BE)

— from continuing operations — R A RHE R E T 83,320 (31,981)
Write off for impaired loans to customers of EREERTREREESZ

financing service business BE Z M (16,523) (2,382)

At 31 December Rt+t=-—A=+—8H 216,583 149,786

(b)  Analysed by type of collateral (b) IRERQEBEEDN

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—A8
2022 2021
—E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Unsecured loans KB R 1,306,791 1,239,613
Guaranteed loan BERER 119,124 128,868
Collateralised loans BERER 210,120 216,090
Loan to customers, gross BRTREPEE 1,636,035 1,584,571
Less: impairment allowance TR BB (216,583) (149,786)
Loan receivables, net FEWE R F R 1,419,452 1,434,785
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

22 SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022:

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity place of operation

A LR
EERRRH

Hong Kong Huicong International Group British Virgin Islands,
limited

EESRAREEARLA RREIES  ARAT

HC Group (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong, liability
company

SREE(BRE)ARAT &% BRA

Orange Triangle (HK) Limited Hong Kong, liability
company

&8 ARAR

Zale Inc. Cayman Islands, limited
liability company
HEES ARAR
Zale (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong, liability

company

&8 BRAR

Z. Tech Holdings Limited Cayman Islands

REHS

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Principal activities and

TEEBR
REWE

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
RERR-FE

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
RERR-FB

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
RERR-FB

Investment holding in
Cayman Islands

RERK-RSHS

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
REZR-BA

Investment holding
in Cayman Islands

REEKR-REHS

22 B AT

LWTFAR B —F+-_A=+—H2FEMH

BRAEE

Particulars of
registered share capital

DR MRAFE

21,000,000 ordinary shares of
Us$0.01
21,000,000 GREE.01%TT
LRk

500,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

500,000 BHREEET
&Rk

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
10,000 ERAREET
LRk

500,000,000 ordinary shares of
US$0.0001 each

500,000,000 SR EE
0.0001 €T EBR

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

10,000 ERAEET
&Rk

50,000 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

50,0000 BIREE 1% T
L ERR

Proportion
of ordinary
shares held by

Effective non-controlling

interest held

i RpEL

100%

(2021: Same)
(ZB=—%:
1)

100%

(2021: Same)
(Z2=-%:
18R)

89.34%
(2021: Same)
(ZB=—%:
1R)

89.34%
(2021: Same)
(ZF=—%:
il

89.34%
(2021: Same)
(Z3=-%:
1R)

89.34%
(2021: Same)
(2=
1)

interests (%)
FERER s
LR AI(%)

10.66%

10.66%

10.66%

10.66%



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE

22 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Saidian HK Limited

IS RERENARAA

HRERERERRNBR AR

IREBRRESHWARAA

(Note i) (Fif3Eil)

IR EEERARDERAR

ZRREHEARAR

—Eo &t A=+-AILEE

-

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity
AL BER
EERRER

Hong Kong, liability
company

&8 BRAR

The PRC, limited liability
company

TE - BRA

The PRC, limited liability
company

T8 BRAR

The PRC, limited liability
company

HE - BERAF

The PRC, limited liability
company

R - BRAT

The PRC, limited liability

company

TE - ARAT

Principal activities and
place of operation
IEXER

TEnd

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
REAR-FE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

REBXER-—PE

Provision of business
information in the PRC
REBHEER—TE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

REBXER-TE

Anti-counterfeiting
Technology Development
in the PRC

FRM AR

Finance leasing services
in the PRC
BAM SRS P

22 fMBAT @)

Particulars of
registered share capital

DEMRAFE

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

10,0000 GREE BT L@k

RMB500,000,000

AR 500,000,007

RMB2,200,000,000

AK%2,200,000,0007

RMB36,000,000

ARH#36,000,0007

RMB56,580,000

AE#56,580,0007T

US$30,000,000

30,000,000

255

Proportion
of ordinary

shares held by

Effective nol
interest held

n-controlling
interests (%)

FERBHAE

FrisRpELS

100%

(2021: Same)
(ZF=—F:
1R)

100%

(2021: Same)
(ZF=-%:
1)

100%

(2021: Same)
(ZF=-%:
1R)

100%

(2021: Same)
(ZF=-%:
il

64.20%
(2021: Same)

(ZF=F:
18R)

100%

(2021: Same)
(ZB=—-%:
il

BREEERAH

EBRLHI%)

35.80%

2022 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EHZE

22 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

ERE=ARRERAR

ERATHRHEARLR

(Note il (i)

ERSBHEEERERAR

(Note i) (Pffz)

LEEEEFEBERAT

ERELREARLA

ERARRERRRBR LA

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2022

—E-—F+-RA=+—HILEFE

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity
AL BER
EERRER

The PRC, limited liability
company

TE - ARA]

The PRC, limited liability
company

ME - ARAR

The PRC, limited liability
company

HE - ARAR

The PRC, limited liability
company

TE - ARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

FE - ARAA

The PRC, limited liability
company

TE - ARAT

Principal activities and
place of operation
IEXER

BEw

Provision of business
information in the PRC

RHEXER-TE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

REBXER-PE

Provision of trading and

agency services in the PRC
RUEERAERYE - PE

Provision of trading and

agency services in the PRC

REEERRBRE-HE

Provision of business
information in the PRC
REBEER-PE

Anti-counterfeiting

Technology development

in the PRC
REm BRI - TE

22 BT

Particulars of

registered share capital

BEMRAFE

US§150,000

150,000% 7T

RMB10,000,000

10,000,007

RMB20,000,000

AR#20,000,00070

RMB200,000,000

AR#200,000,0007

RMB220,000,000

AK#220,000,0007C

RMB10,000,000

ARH#10,000,0007

Proportion

of ordinary

shares held by

Effective non-controlling

interest held interests (%)

FERER MR

FisERER EERLHI%)

89.34% 10.66%
(2021: Same)
(ZF=—%:
ARR)

89.34% 10.66%
(2021: Same)
(ZF=—%:
1R

42.80% 57.20%
(2021: Same)
(Z3=-%:
ARR)

100% -
(2021: Same)
(ZF=—%:
1R

100% =
(2021: Same)
(ZB=—%:
1R

64.20% 35.80%

(2021: Same)

18R)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

22 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

ERRNEIERE EEFERA

ERFEENREEERAT
(Note i) (Pif3Eiii)

I RRERRMRERAT

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity
AL BER
EERRER

Principal activities and
place of operation
IEXER

TEnd

Provision of loan service
in the PRC
RESTRE—TE

The PRC, limited liability
company

T8 ARAR

The PRC, limited liability
company

T8 ARAR

services for spot cotton

fs

Provision of business
information in the PRC

REBXER-TE

The PRC, limited liability
Company

T8 ARAF

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

HF SRR EEEIEAR A A is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group
as the Group is able to control the board through entering into an acting in
concert agreement with certain minority shareholders.

The Group does not have direct or indirect legal ownership in equity of the
Structured Entities. Nevertheless, under certain Contractual Arrangements
entered into with the Structured Entities and their registered owners, the
Company and its other legally owned subsidiaries have rights to exercise
power over the Structured Entities, receive variable returns from its
involvement in the Structured Entities, and have the ability to affect those
returns through its power over these Structured Entities. As a result, they
are presented as Structured Entities of the Group.

BRI ER R EE B R AT is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group,
as the Group's representatives have taken up majority of the seats in the
board of FER B ERFEE AR /A F] and the Group is able to control the
board.
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22 fMBAT @)

Particulars of

registered share capital

DEMRAFE

RMB1,000,000,000

AK1,000,000,0007C

Provision of B2B e-commerce RMB500,000,000

SRERRMBBER  AKE500,000,0007T

RMB36,821,000

AE#36,821,0007T

G

@i

(ii)

(iii)

Proportion
of ordinary
shares held by
Effective non-controlling
interest held interests (%)
FERERAE
FisERER ERRLAI%)
70% 30%
(2021: Same)
(ZF=-fF:
1R
35.70% 64.30%
(2021: Same)
(C2——%:
1R
89.34% 10.66%
(2021: Same)
(CB—%:
1R

$#$§@Lﬁ£%$9%%$ﬂjfﬁﬁ§

RTREHEREZBHE - KRB
Mﬁm@ﬁm A BB 51 7K S8 By — RV A
2R -

AEETEERNEEREEBEERRE L
BEEERE A BERESREERRER
MEBARTLZET AN ARAIRER
A EEE B AR ARITREBLEERY
#H - AHZ2EAREEREKEUTBRBLEE
BBERZSEBEERIENTEZS
m35 - Fitp - 25 ARKEEEIEERE -

HRAREREREERBEENRERERA
REFEABOFELM - AEBERENZHES
g HERBBENREBEERATARIME
AEEN—HHERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

22 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Material non-controlling interests
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with
material non-controlling interests
Set out below are the summarised financial information of
Chongging Digital China Huicong Micro-credit Company Limited
EESMEASEI/ ) EERAR QA that has non-controlling
interests that are material to the Group.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

22 BT

(a) EXFERER
REAXHER BB L A 2 BERH
E3
TXEHIIEESMNEBEZRE N EERER
RAIZHHERBE  ZRRFELHRE
B = BEA IR -

SO BRRRBE

Chongging Digital China Huicong
Micro-credit Company Limited
EFUMNARER/NEERERAH
As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2022 2021
—E-F —E
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTTT

Current E

Assets BiE 1,315,222 968,017
Liabilities aE (44,582) (47,980)
Net current assets BB EFE 1,270,640 920,037
Non-current FERE

Assets BE 66,636 433,510
Net non-current assets FEREBEEFE 66,636 433,510
Net assets BEFE 1,337,276 1,353,547
Accumulated non-controlling interest St IR RERS 401,183 406,064
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

22 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 22 B AR
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) () EARFERERE)
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with BEAFZEREZR B L a2 BB
material non-controlling interests (Continued) =&
Summarised statement of comprehensive income FEBRREE

Chongging Digital China Huicong
Micro-credit Company Limited
ERUMNHBENRNEERERA A
For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—HLFE

2022 2021
- —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®¥T T AREFT

Interest income FE WA 82,377 96,770
(Loss)/profit before tax BRLRT(ER), % T (21,254) 110,074
Income tax credit/(expenses) Frissise,/ (A%) 4,983 (27,885)
(Loss)/profit after tax Bz (ER) %F (16,271) 82,189
Other comprehensive income Hib 2w A = =
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2HE(EE), WA B (16,271) 82,189

Total comprehensive (loss)/income allocated S EJEIEfRER 2 2 H

to non-controlling interests ANt (4,881) 24,657
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BT IR AR AR S = =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

22 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 22 MEA AR
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a) ERFEBRERE
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with HEAH IR B L a2 EER
material non-controlling interests (Continued) =&
Summarised cash flow statement RERERYPE

Chongging Digital China Huicong
Micro-credit Company Limited
EERMNEBER N EERERAR
As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2022 2021
=2 —E-—%F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AEBTTT

Net cash (used in)/generated from KB (FR) EEXRS

operating activities FEE (1,617) 32,377
Net cash used in financing activities B RS AR SR - (30,880)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and B RBREZEEMORL),/

cash equivalents N FEE (1,617) 1,497

23 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 23 HA®#ZZEIRZERE
EQUITY METHOD

As at 31 December
Rt+=—A=+—H
2022 2021
—E-C —T-—F

—_—_

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTT

Associates e
Joint venture &

Q7] 288,458 322,176
X - -

288,458 322,176
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

23 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 23
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

261

AR EYERZKRE @)

2022 2021

— g — — —=—
—EF__— —_F-

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

At 1 January n—A—8 322,176 896,087
Additions upon deemed partial disposal of BRSSP HERERE

Zhongmo (Note ii) (B3 14,125 —
Derecognition of Jingu Bank as financial asset RILER S A IRIT AR AR E

through other comprehensive income AEMEERAZ £ FEE - (458,989)
Disposal HE - (70,913)
Share of post-tax losses of associates AEEE A EIRTEEIE

— From continuing operations —RERHEEE (47,843) (18,929)
Share of other comprehensive income of i —EE AR EMERE

an associate Wz - 2,928
Impairment of associates B N ERE = (28,008)
At 31 December S = 288,458 322,176

2022 2021
—E__ T4

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARET T

Movements in the investment in a joint venture R—EEEREIREEH

are as follows: W
At 1 January AT = 303
Share of post-tax losses MEBRTZEE - (303)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - -

Set out below are associates and joint ventures which, in opinion of
directors, are material to the Group as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
The associates and joint ventures as listed below have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group;
the country of establishment or registration is also their principal place
of business.

NTHEHINEEFRAN T FR-_ZF-_—F
ToA=+-AHAEEBERZBERRR
BELE - THBMERRRAELEZRAH
EEELAK AAKEEERRSE  MALX
AMER AR EEE R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

23 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 23 #HARRZEIIRZIRE @)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Place of business/
country of Nature of Measurement
Name of entity establishment % of effective interest  the relationship  method Carrying amount
BELH EXihE/ RIER ERERAAL BAME HEVES REfE
As at 31 December As at 31 December
W+=B=t-R R+=A=t+-H
2022 2021 2022
&= —E-—F —E-C
RMB'000
ARETR
MIZEREBRAR PRC 296 296  Associate (note i) Equity method - 45,455
(Zhejiang Huicong Investment Co., Ltd*) Bena (W)  Esi
BERPEERENBERAA PRC 24 237 Associate (noteii)  Equity method 244,331 231,697
(FEPEh EERENBARAR) i BEQE (M) R

(Guangdong Zhongmoyun Construction
Science and Technology Co., Limited,
formerly known as Zhongmoyun
Construction Science and Technology

Co., Limited)
ERREERETHBERAR PRC 200 200 Associate (note i) Equity method 29,287 30,370

(RELREE) el BERT (W) BEE

(JDSJ Group)
Other immaterial associates and joint ventures 14,840 14,654
EfbFERBERARAERE

288,458 322,176
* English names are translated for identification purpose only * EY L TEE RSP EE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

23 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Note:

i Zhejiang Huicong Investment Co., Limited* (“Zhejiang Huicong”) engages
in investment in real estate construction and management in the PRC. The
Group directly holds 20% equity shares of Zhejiang Huicong and indirectly
holds 9.6% equity interests through Z{E£Z=XE AR A F]. Hence, the
Group effectively holds 29.6% equity interest in Zhejiang Huicong.

ii In April and July 2022, Guangdong Zhongmoyun Construction Science and
Technology Co., Limited* (“Zhongmo”), which is engaged in construction
and formwork industry in the PRC, issued an aggregated 80,000,000
new shares to certain independent new investors. These transaction was
recognised as a deemed disposal of interest in Zhongmo by the Group. The
Group's equity interest was diluted by 1.3% accordingly. As at 31 December
2022, the Group directly holds 22.4% equity interests in Zhongmo.

iii JDSJ Group is engaged in the e-commerce for home appliances in the PRC
=

through its websites and mobile applications branded as “Z &5 ". As at
31 December 2022, the Group holds 20% equity interest of JDSJ Group.

* English names are translated for identification purpose only.

23
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AR EYERZKRE @)

pi

i

AIEBREERAR(NIER]) NP EY
EEMEREREREEER AEBHEER
BHNIEIRZ20% KA - WiBREERX
MEBRARMEERBHIC%RAER -
It AEEER ERFAENIZEE 229.6% KA
PR o

RZZEZZFMAREA  BRAEZZER
BARAR([HE] - RRBEEEERERT
¥)mE T B E & 174 2£80,000,000
IRFTRRID - ZERHWARERRARIELE
PIEEER o At - ARENRAE S EE
13% - RZZE-_=F+=-A=+—H  A&EE
EEEEPREN22 4% A%
REUHREBEBEBHBMRE A 2SR
ROEREFTRPEREREER - =T
o+ A=Z+—H AEEFERBEHR
EE20% A AERS ©

WX ATERFEIERTI RS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

23 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 23 #HARRZEIIRZIRE @)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(a) Investment in associates (a) REEQT2KRE
Summarised consolidated financial information for associates BERAZEHNBERGE
Set out below are the summarised financial information for the TXHINESRALAEEBEX BiZiE
associates which, in the opinion of director, are material to the FRYIBRZIE AR 2 S EREE -

Group and are accounted for using the equity method.

Zhejiang Huicong Zhongmo JDSJ Group
MISH Gl FEHAEE
As at 31 December As at 31 December As at 31 December
“t=A=t+-H B“tr=A=t+-AH W+=A=+-R
2022 2022 2022
—E-C £ —E-C £ —g-C
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TT ‘ AR%TT ARETT AR%TT ARETT
Current i)
Total current assets REEEEA 194,285 642,433 671,908 498,561 218,940 76,118
Total current liabilities 88 R (203,379) (413,395) (651,857) (574,979) (197,435) (53,041)
Non-current R
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 2 127 465,405 515,378 1,203 1,719
Total non-current liabilities FrRBAaEER - - - (58,202) - -
Net assets BERE (9,073) 229,165 485,456 380,758 22,708 24,796
Opening net assets FNEESE 229,165 174216 380,758 158,810 24,839 20,652
Capital injection Jig- - - 81,683 138,926 - =
(Loss)prolfit for the year ER(ER),/ 57 (238,238) 54,949 23,015 83,022 (2131) 4187
Other reserve movement L = = = = - =
Closing net assets FRAETE (9,073) 229,165 485,456 380,758 22,708 24,839
Direct equity interest held s ERRAER 20% 20% 22.4% 23.7% 20% 20%
Share of net asset value held by Group ~ AEEAEBEFE - 45,833 108,499 90,240 4,542 4,968
Others (note (i) Ef(FzEG) = (378) 108,832 141,457 24,745 25,402
Carrying amount FHE - 45,455 217,331 231,697 29,287 30,370
Note i:  Others mainly represent notional goodwill and notional intangible Mishi: EMTBRAIRKEBLATELEZS
assets arising from acquisition of associates. For Zhejiang Huicong, EEERLEBEPEE - SINTISH
the balance represents uninjected share capital. ME » ZEEBIERTEIA o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

23 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 23 AR ZEIIRZIRE @)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(a) Investment in associates (Continued) (a) REEQAT2Z2REE)
Summarised consolidated financial information for associates BENFGzEHBEREE(E)
(Continued)

Zhejiang Huicong Zhongmo JDSJ Group
WIEE i FEHAEE

As at 31 December As at 31 December As at 31 December

Rt=A=t+-H Rt=A=t+-H Wt=A=t+-A

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E-F —E-C —E--& —E-C —E-&

RMB'000 RNIB'000 RMB'000 RNIB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTT  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTrn  ARETR

Revenue HEWA 121,647 85,164 417,327 443,166 655,441 533,080
(Loss)profit after tax BB () %A (238,238) 54,949 23,015 83,022 2,131) 4,187
Other comprehensive loss H2EER - - = - - i
Total comprehensive (loss)income 2 (K1) /RABE (238,238) 54,949 23,015 83,022 (2,131) 4187

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the EAUE R R OB A B A OF B IS SRR T

consolidated financial statements of the associates (and not 2z oW IERARIFMEZESEE) -

the Company's share of those amounts) adjusted for fair value EASEE EERE N R 2 @t BURE R

adjustment and differences in accounting policies between the HAFEFE -

Group and the associates.
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23 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(b) Individually immaterial associates and joint venture
In addition to the interests in associates disclosed above, the Group
also has interests in a number of individually immaterial associates
and joint venture that are accounted for using the equity method.

23 RAEREYVRZBRE®)

(b) ERIEERBELARREE DR
B BT WS A TS - AT
RETFRAERORSIE S @RI EARE
AFRABLEPHEMES -

2022 2021
—E-— T —F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTIT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually ERIFEE K& R A &
immaterial associates and joint venture AEPEBIRmME 14,840 14,654
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of:  AREEE(LIA T & IBHEE
Post-tax profit/(loss) BREEER,(51E) 338 (864)

24 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

(a) Disposal of certain interest in PanPass Information
Technology Co., Limited
On 1 December 2020, PanPass Information Technology Co.,
Limited (“PanPass Information”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Share Subscription
Agreement with independent investors. Pursuant to the
agreement, PanPass Information conditionally agreed to issue
shares to the investors for a cash consideration of RMB87,416,000,
and is subject to contingent consideration payable arrangement.
The transaction was completed on 13 January 2021.

Upon the completion of the partial disposal, the Group recognised
the contingent consideration as financial liability through profit
or loss (note 25) of RMB38,600,000 and a decrease in non-
controlling interests of RMB45,424,000 on the consolidated
statement of financial position. An increase of RMB3,392,000 was
also recognised in other reserve. After the above transactions, the
Group held 64.2% of the issued shares of PanPass Information,
and it remains to be accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group
given the Group's control in the board of directors of PanPass
Information.
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24 BEFERESRETZRS

(a) HEXKEEERMRAERARZ
ETHER
R-ZZE-TF+-A—H ' AARMEFE
2EMBARKEESEMRHBRAF
(MKEEE]EBIREET RN RE
Wik o RBGH  KEELBERTHRE
MIEEEHTRG  REREAARE
87,416,0007T * I AJARIEH AR EBREN L
BFURARE - 2R FENR =B =—F— A
T=A%ERK -

RERBHHER - NEBREHT R
TR L ARIE AR M38,600,0007T 5
FFABEN SR E (M 25) RIEER
R AR KEA45,424,0007T © WHERE
fth f5 5 42 N A R #53,392,0007T » A bt
RH%  AEERBIKEREE642%E %
IBRG  TERAEBEKEEEESS
ZIEHIEEARIEREBH — BB A
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

24 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 24 EBEFiERERETZIRE @)
INTERESTS (Continued)

(b) HEEMRBHENKBERLITZE

(b) Disposal of certain interest in Huizhou Union

Cotton Cloud Technology Co., Limited

On 9 August 2021, Huizhou Union Cotton Cloud Technology
Co., Limited (“Huizhou Union Cotton”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into an Investment
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent investor.
Pursuant to the Agreement, Huizhou Union Cotton conditionally
agreed to issue shares to the investor for a cash consideration
of RMB150,000,000 and is subject to contingent consideration
payable arrangement. The transaction was completed on 5
November 2021.

Upon the completion of the partial disposal, the Group recognised
the fair value of contingent consideration as a financial liability
through profit or loss (note 25) of RMB7,242,000 and an
increase in non-controlling interests of RMB110,758,000 on
the consolidated statement of financial position. An increase of
RMB32,000,000 was also recognised in other reserve. Upon the
completion of this above transactions, the Group held 35.7%
of the issued shares of Huizhou Union Cotton, and it remains to
be accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group given the Group’s
control in the board of directors of HuiZzhou Union Cotton.

For further details about the fair value estimate and movement of
the financial liabilities at fair value, please refer to note 3.3 and
note 25.

T

RZZ-—FNANB  ARAEEER
BB AREMNREERRBERAR(E
MARES ) B — R B IR E BRI A R
(THe 1) - BIEHZE - BNIBEE G
FRERRZBEREERITRG  BeRE
A AR #150,000,000 ¢ 3 AT AR sk SR 1R
BENZHETURARE ZRXZER=F
——F+—HRAAEHZK -

RERBOEER  AEBRE G
BRREERKARBAFEARE
7242000 Bt ABEEH R E R
(MIsE25) RIFEEBRESHROARE
110,758,0007T - 3 58 EL b f 5 385 hn A
R¥32,000,0007T - R LR 5% K&
B35 A E N AREE35.7% 0 3417 ) - W EE
RAEEHEMNTHESS 2 IRFIEEA
RIWEASEM—FEWB AR -

EREATENZEZSRABEI AFER
FrREEE—SFE  E2HMESS
KMMI5E25 ©
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25 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR 25 BAVEFEZERMEERES
VALUE

(a) BAFEFABERAEMEEEKA
ZEMEE

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and other comprehensive income

Financial assets at
fair value through
other comprehensive income

BAVEAHBZEBAZ

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

AP EH AR

SHEE

As at 31 December
Rt=A=+-H
2022 2021
- —E-—fF

RMB000 RMB'000
AR T ARETT

SHEE
As at 31 December
Rt=A=+-H
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—fF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT

Trading securities - listed securities R &% — FMEH - - 45,059 61,772
Equity investment - unlisted BRARE — RS

securities 11,283 18,219 357,326 392,686
Financial assets SRIEE 11,283 18,219 402,385 454,458

All financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are classified as non-current assets.

The change in the fair value of RMB6,936,000 (2021:
RMB2,835,000) for financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss for the period was charged to “other gains/(losses), net” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The change
in the fair value of RMB36,353,000 (2021: RMB40,997,000) for
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
for the year was recognised in other reserves.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive loss
amounting to RMB21,003,000 (2021: RMB9,408,000) at their
carrying amount. The cumulative loss of RMB3,324,000 (2021:
cumulative gain of RMB2,418,000) previously recognised in other
reserves is reclassified from other reserves to accumulated losses.

For further details about the fair value estimate and movement of
the financial assets at fair value, please refer to note 3.3.
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PR A TIE AR R 2 EAS
22 SMARHHFEAIRBEE -

HRRAFEFABSEZ CHEAEATE
) AR%6,936,0000T(ZT=—F : A
R#2,835,0007) B A HHirA e KRN E
sk, (E518)F 88 IR Bk - FRIEA
FEFAREMBAZ CREEATEES)
AR#36,353,000c(ZF=—F : AR
#£40,997,0007T ) A Eth i E 1R o

REBE-ZT-_F+-A=+—HItF
B AEEREEAELEERAFTE
AAEMEEEBZEMEEEAR
#21,003,000L(Z T —F : ARW
9,408,0007T) ° AT EAbFEERERA R
FHEEAR3,324,000T( —E - —4 ¢
RatUEE ARK9,408,0007T) B HAb
ENOBREREBEBR(ZE—F &) -
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25 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR 25 BAFEFEZEREERERS
VALUE (Continued) (%)

(b) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(b) BAFEFABHEZEHAE

Huizhou Union Cotton

PanPass Information

MR KEEE

Note (ii) Note (i)

B E (i) B ()

As at 31 December As at 31 December
Rt=A=t-H R+=A=1-8
2022 2021 2022 2021
—2-C —E_C &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T R AREFTT ARETR AREFTT
Current k) - - 20,399 46,946
Non-current ErE 6,834 7,242 - =
6,834 7,242 20,399 46,946
Notes: Mz -

U]

Contingent consideration payable arrangement in relation to disposal
of certain interest in PanPass Information

As detailed in Note 24(a), the Group completed the partial disposal
of equity interest in PanPass Information on 13 January 2021 and is
subject to contingent consideration payable arrangement, in which
the independent investors are entitled to a right to sell its equity
interest in PanPass Information to the Group or receive compensation
in cash from the Group in the events that:

(1) PanPass Information’s actual net profits during the years ended
31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are lower than targets as
set out in the Share Subscription Agreement; or

(2)  PanPass Information fails to apply for an initial public offering
("IPO") on or before 31 October 2023 or fail to complete an
IPO on or before 30 June 2024.

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of the contingent
consideration was approximately RMB20,399,000 (2021:
RMB46,946,000), the change in the fair value amounting to
RMB26,547,000 for the year was credited to “other gains/(losses),
net” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

BEENEESZE THAAMIRARERE
kS

BT EE24(a)FrEFIL - AEBR T —F—
A+=BRAEEKEEEITIMRE - WA
BAARBEANLHETARARE  HhBIRE
EEREUATHERAMAEBLEERKERES
RIRRESK B AR EWEUR S H(E -

N KEEERBE—_ZT-_TF . —T——
FR-ZZ__FF+_A=1+—HILEEFEE
MEBRCHERRNREREMEE
[

Q@ KEEERER-ZB_Z=ZFt+A=1+—
Bz RBEa RAMER(EHERAR
HERRKRER_Z-_WFA=1+H
2 BITTAR B R RS

RZE-_—F+-A=+—0  KRAKEH2
FEX A AREE20,399,000T(ZFE_—%F : A
[R#46,946,0007T) * AEERXFEZHARKE
26,547,000 EET A S B4R G Wam R 2 [ E ik
=/ (B18) 8] -
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25 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR
VALUE (Continued)

(b) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) Contingent consideration payable arrangement in relation to disposal
of certain interest in Huizhou Union Cotton

As detailed in Note 24(b), the Group completed the partial disposal
of equity interest in Huizhou Union Cotton on 5 November 2021
and is subject to contingent consideration payable arrangement. The
independent investor is entitled to right to sell the equity interest in
Huizhou Union Cotton to the Group in the events that:

(1) Huizhou Union Cotton’s accumulated revenue and average net
profit in the next 3 years after disposal are lower than targets as
set out in the Agreement; or

(2)  Huizhou Union Cotton’s accumulated revenue and average net
profit in the next 5 years after disposal are lower than targets as
set out in the Agreement.

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of the contingent
consideration was approximately RMB6,834,000 (2021:
RMB7,242,000), the change in the fair value amounting to
RMB408,000 for the year was credited to “other gains/(losses), net”
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

For further details about the fair value estimate and movement of

the financial liabilities at fair value, please refer to note 3.3 and
note 24.
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25 RAFEECZERHEERARE
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(b) BAFEFABRBZEHMABE)
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ALANF FE24(b) P FE AL - AEER T = —4F
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BREATERAA SR HEEREMNRE R
et

(1) FINERR HERARKIFNRARAR
PR RN E R 3

) FBMBRRHERRFSFHRTRAR
FEORERMER ek ek B A%

RIB-_F+-"A=+—0 " ZRARKEHR

FELHR/AREE,834,000T(ZF=—F : A
R¥7,242,00070) » REERFEEHARE

408,000 L E &t AR fHER A M m & 2 [ H A
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

271

26 RERE D 2EBMTA

Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
Financial fair value through other
assets at through  comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income
BOYE
big £ BOYE FTAE
BAGTEZ FTABEZ 2EKAZ
SMEE SREE SHREE &gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T AR®ET ARET
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—F
+=A=t+-H
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFAEMEERA
other comprehensive income JEREE - - 402,385 402,385
Financial assets at fair value through X AT{EtABR Y
profit or loss PREE - 11,283 - 11,283
Trade and other receivables USR5 I LA PR MR RIR
(excluding non-financial assets) (TBEFEREE) 175,803 = = 175,803
Finance lease receivables RERERNTE 285,531 - - 285,531
Loans and interest receivables M EZ R FIS 1,493,442 - - 1,493,442
Restricted bank deposit SRHBIIER 122,660 - - 122,660
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReFEY 312,023 - - 312,023
Total #st 2,389,459 11,283 402,385 2,803,127

EHEEAERAT 2022 Fif



N

272

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

[

FH-—A=+—HILFE

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 26 #ZERE s Z2E€®mIEw)

(Continued)
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
Financial fair value through other
assets at through comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income
BATE
N f
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETT ARETT
At 31 December 2021 R-B-—-%&
iy =H =S H
Financial assets at fair value through BATE ARG EMBA
other comprehensive income JEMEE - - 454,458 454,458
Financial assets at fair value through A T{EEt ABS Y
profit or loss PREE - 18,219 - 18,219
Trade and other receivables PR 7 R A MR RIR
(excluding non-financial assets) (TeEFeREE) 230,619 = = 230,619
Finance lease receivables AT EREE 301,822 - - 301,822
Loans and interest receivables M E TR FIS 1,529,479 - - 1,529,479
Long-term bank deposits RERITER 28,622 - - 28,622
Restricted bank deposit ZIRHIRITER 33,437 - - 33,437
Cash and cash equivalents RBeERALEEN 333,812 = = 333,812
Total B 2,457,791 18,219 454,458 2,930,468
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 26 #ZERE s Z2E€®mI )

(Continued)

Financial

liabilities at

Financial fair value
liabilities at through
amortised cost profit or loss

3 4 BRAYE

AT B2 STAREHZ
AR THAR At
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

At 31 December 2022 R-E-—#+=-A=1+-AH
Financial liabilities at fair value through BAFEF ARG
profit or loss SEARE - 27,233 27,233
Bank borrowings (note 33) RITEE (FF33) 653,661 - 653,661
Other borrowings (note 33) HihfE B (f7E33) 416,616 - 416,616
Trade payables ANEE 182,350 - 182,350
Other payables Hib A
(excluding non-financial liabilities) (TBEEIELRER) 290,258 - 290,258
Lease liabilities HEEE 17,913 - 17,913
Total st 1,560,798 27,233 1,588,031
At 31 December 2021 R-E-—-+=-A=1+-H
Financial liabilities at fair value through BAFEFABGEL
profit or loss TRAaE - 54,188 54,188
Bank borrowings (note 33) RITEE (M7E33) 683,114 = 683,114
Other borrowings (note 33) HiEE (f33) 319,416 = 319,416
Trade payables FERERR 194,368 = 194,368
Other payables HAb MR
(excluding non-financial liabilities) (TeEESRAE) 287,068 - 287,068
Lease liabilities HEEE 38,309 - 38,309
Total 4=t 1,522,275 54,188 1,576,463
As at 31 December 2022, no financial assets and financial liabilities have RIEBE-__F+-_A=1+—H HELHEE
been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position (2021: kemaERattigitimiiE( =T =~
No). Fm) e
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27 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 27 MEHEEKRE
Certain equipment has been leased out through finance leases entered ETHRECABHAEBII Y MERER
into by the Group. Finance lease receivables, net of provision, comprised o BEARERBGRIE(NKRER) BIENATE
the following: b

As at 31 December
R+=-—B=+—H
2022 2021

—=E=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Minimum finance lease receivables: IR EREREWGIE
Within 1 year —FR 258,691 244,364
Between 1 to 2 years —FEMFR 78,500 106,000
Gross amount of finance lease receivables B AT E N IE A58 337,191 350,364
Less: unearned finance income B REEBERA (27,703) (26,989)
Net amount of finance lease receivables b E W R IR R R 309,488 323,375
Less: impairment allowance B RERE (23,957) (21,553)
Carrying amount of finance lease receivables BEHEERYFIEREE 285,531 301,822
Present value of minimum finance lease HIEREREREKFIE
receivables: A
Within 1 year —&FR 217,873 204,432
Between 1 to 2 years —FEMER 67,658 97,390
285,531 301,822
Of which: Hep o
Non-current JERNHR 67,658 97,390
Current BNEA 217,873 204,432
285,531 301,822
During the year ended 31 December 2022, provision for impairment BE-_E-_—F+-A=+—HIEFE  #mE
of RMB2,404,000 (2021: RMB14,166,000) was recognised in the BEARY2,404,000C(ZFE=—F : ARKE
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 14,166,00070 ) A& HHR A NS R NFERR o
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28 INVENTORIES 28 F&

As at 31 December
RA+=—A=+—H
2022 2021

—ZE=-= =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREETIT

Merchandise held for trading BEESEm 139,918 182,184
Others Efth 8,495 4,076
148,413 186,260
Less: Provision for impairment of inventories o FERERE (1,355) -
147,058 186,260
The cost of inventories recognised as expense amounted to FERAELARKE16,326,416,0007T(=F
approximately RMB16,326,416,000 (2021: RMB16,746,744,000) ——%F : AR¥16,746,744,00070) R 5
and is included in “cost of goods sold” of the consolidated statement X - Wit AGPHRE WA KR B EBMmKA]

comprehensive income.
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29 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED 29
BANK DEPOSITS AND LONG TERM BANK
DEPOSITS

BERAEEEY - TRHRIT
FRUARRBBRITER

As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2022 2021

—E-F —E - —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETTT

Cash at bank and on hand RITAERFHERE
(excluding long-term bank deposits) (PBREEHRTER) 312,023 333,812
Restricted bank deposit (note i) ZREIR TR (BT 122,660 33,437
434,683 367,249
Long-term bank deposits RHIRITIER - 28,622
434,683 395,871
Denominated in; AR E¥ETHE -
— HKD —BTT 5,391 384
- RMB — AR 427,649 395,073
- US Dollar —XE7T 1,643 414
434,683 395,871
Maximum exposure to credit risk SAEERE 434,683 395,780

As at 31 December 2022, cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB403,891,000 (2021: RMB390,063,000) of the Group were
denominated in RMB and deposited with banks in the PRC. The
conversion of the Renminbi denominated balance into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

Note:
(i) Restricted bank deposit included bank balances pledged as security for trade

financing of approximately RMB122,660,000 and they are denominated in
Renminbi as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB33,437,000).
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30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 |RA<
Number of
ordinary shares Par value
ZERHE HE
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZZE-_—4F—H—AQ8 "
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —E-—%+-A=+—8"
—ECF-A-AK
—E__F+-_A=+—H 1,309,931,119 120,977
The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2,000,000,000 shares 3 %A TE 42 21052,000,000,000/% (=T = —
(2021: same) with a par value of HK$0.1 per share (2021: same). All F:HR) BREBECIBT(ZT=—F : 1§
issued shares are fully paid. ) - AR ETRHHBEHE -
The total number of issued shares of the Company was 1,309,931,119 as RZBZZF+ZA=+—H  ARAIE#T
at 31 December 2022 (2021: same). B1D48E051,309,931, 119 (=T =—F :
A) e
(a) Share options (a) HERRHE
The assumptions for valuation of fair value of existing share options MR ABREATEAZBRET

are as follows:

Grant date of share options

BRERLAH
3 April 18 November 13 October 19 July

2013 2013 2017 2018
—E-=F —E-=§ “E—tF —E-N\§
MA=A  t+-AtAR +A+=H tA+hA

Exercise price (in HK dollar) () 4402 9.84 6.476 46 46
Fair value per option (in RMB) BhEREs ATEARST) 25027 5.0125 33530 19516 16542
Risk free interest rate (in %) R FIE(%) 111 1915 1.745 2.13 1.44
Expected life (in years) BEEH(E) 9.196 4779 49 10 10
Volatility (in %) EE(%) 75 71.5 62 70 65
Expected dividend per share RHSHRKE
(HK cents) (&) - - 5.67 - -
At the working date before options were granted, 3 April 2013, REREERLAI 2 TER(ZE—=
18 November 2013, 13 October 2017, 19 July 2018 and 20 June WA=H —EZ—=%+—A+/\BH =
2019 the market value per share was HK$4.3, HK$9.23, HK$6.40, EZ—+F+A+=H - —_E—/\F+tH
HK$4.58 and HK$3.31 respectively. TABRZZE-NFAZ+H) 8K

MED R AE43%TT « 92387 * 6.4078
JT * 4588 &33BT °
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30 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(a) Share options (Continued)
The details of existing share options are summarised as follows:

30 A& )

(a) FBRR#E(E)
ERBRARREZFERANT -

Grant date of share options

3 April 2013 18 November 2013
=2-= 2-=
mA=A AR RAYE!
Tranche 1
F#
% of the total share options 20% 10%
R HEREZ AR L
Vesting period 3 April 2013 - 18 November 2013 -
3 April 2014 18 November 2014
BB It St It Sted
MA=RZE +-A+/\RZ
“Z-mF —EmE
mA=A +-A+t/E
Exercise period 3 April 2014 - 18 November 2014 -
2 April 2023 17 November 2023
174 —T-mE B
mA=RZ +—A+/\RE
“Z-=F “T-=F
MAZA T—A+tH
Tranche 2
FH
% of the total share options 20% 10%
ERREREZ AR
Vesting period 3 April 2013 - 18 November 2013 -
3 April 2015 18 November 2015
GEH —E-=F St 2
MA=RZE +—A+t/ARE
0% —“Z-1f%
MA=A +—A+/\B
Exercise period 3 April 2015~ 18 November 2015 -
2 April 2023 17 November 2023
{7 —E-I1f —Z-n%
MA=RZE +-At/\RZ
“E-=% “%-=%
MAZR +—A++tH

BRERLAH

13 October 2017
SEtF
+E+=H

20%

13 October 2017 -
13 October 2018
I 3
TA+=8%
—E-)\F
TA+=H

13 October 2018 -
12 October 2027
“Z-\f
+A+=R%

B S -3
+A+=A

20%

3 October 2017 -
13 October 2019
I 3
+A=RZE
“EnE
TEAr=E

13 October 2019 -
12 October 2027
“2-hE
tA+=EZ
ZEItE
+A+=A

19 July 2018
—2-N\F
tAtNnH

333%

19 July 2018 -
19 July 2019 (note i)
e I:3
tAthBz
—E-NE
+A+hA
(Brss)

19 July 2019 -
18 July 2028
—ENE
tA+hBE
it Sayjt:2
+A+/A

333%

19 July 2018 -

19 July 2020 (note i)
B\
tAThEE

—FE—=
S

tA+hA
(i)

19 July 2020 -
18 July 2028
—E-FF
tAthBz
—Eo0\E
tA+/NA

20 June 2019
“E-hE
~B=1H

333%

20 June 2019 -

20 June 2020 (note i)
“F-NE
~NAZTHE

—F—F
=
—< =%

~AZTH
(B3Ei)
20 June 2020 -

19 June 2029
B 3
~AZTHZ
—ZTNE
~AThA

33.3%

20 June 2019 -
20 June 2021 (note i)
ZENE
~AZTRZ
—E--F
~NAZTH
(Bitai)

20 June 2021 -
19 June 2029
—Z--F
~NAZTHEE
ZECoNE
~ATHA
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

30 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 30 RA& )
(a) Share options (Continued) (a) HBRE®E)
Grant date of share options
BRERLBH
3 April 2013 18 November 2013 13 October 2017 19 July 2018 20 June 2019
—®-=% ~%-=% “E-tF “2-N\§ —B-0E
MAZH t-AtNR +At=H tAthA ~A=TH
Tranche 3
Fi
% of the total share options 20% 20% 20% 33.4% 33.4%
B2 HEREL AR
Vesting period 3 April 2013~ 18 November 2013- 13 October 2017 - 19 July 2018 - 20 June 2019 -
3 April 2016 18 November 2016 13 October 2020 19 July 2021 (note i) 20 June 2022 (note ii)
GBS —T-=% —F-=% “E-tF —TN\F ZTNE
MA=RZE +—A+/\RE +A+=HZE tA+NAZE ~NAZTRZ
N3 EE “ECTF eSS “ECCF
MA=H T—A+/\B TA+=R tAThE ~AZtA
(Bitsxi) (MsEi)
Exercise period 3 April 2016~ 18 November 2016 13 October 2020 - 19 July 2021 - 20 June 2022 -
2 April 2023 17 November 2023 12 October 2027 18 July 2028 19 June 2029
{7 —ERE —ERE —3-%F - “EF
MA=RZE i AaAEE +A+=HZ tA+hAZE ~AZTHZ
=T L s “EBCotEF “EO)\F ZToNE
MAZA +—At+tH +A+=A tA+/NA ~ATNH
Tranche 4
g
% of the total share options 20% 30% 20% N/A N/A
E2EREZ B TR TR
Vesting period 3 April 2013~ 18 November 2013 - 13 October 2017 - N/A N/A
3 April 2017 18 November 2017 13 October 2021
FE = = “EtE TER TEm
MA=RZE +-A+/\RZE +A+=HZ
I s 3 “ECF
MmA=H T—A1+/\A TA+=H
Exercise period 3 April 2017~ 18 November 2017~ 13 October 2021 - N/A N/A
2 April 2023 17 November 2023 12 October 2027
{7 “TtE “TtF 3 TER TER
MA=RZE +-A+/\RE +A+=HZ
“Z-=F S Zo+E
MA=H T-A++H TA+T-H
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

30 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 30 RA& )
(a) Share options (Continued) (a) BREE
Grant date of share options
BRERLEH
3 April 2013 18 November 2013 13 October 2017 19 July 2018 20 June 2019
—®-=% -2-= —2-tfF —2-)0\% —2-
MA=H R AN Tht=H tAt+hA ~A=
Tranche 5
E3i71
% of the total share options 20% 30% 20% N/A N/A
ERHEREZ AL A TEA
Vesting period 3 April 2013~ 18 November 2013~ 13 October 2017 - N/A N/A
3 April 2018 17 November 2018 13 October 2022
FEH 3% eSS S o3 TEA TEA
MA=RZE +-AT/ARE +A+=H%
—-N\F 2-N\E - Skt
MA=H T—A+tH TAT=H
Exercise period 3 April 2018 - 18 November 2018 13 October 2022 - N/A N/A
2 April 2023 17 November 2023 12 October 2027
1754 —2-\& E2-)\E St TER TER
MA=RZE +-A+/\RZ +A+=R%
—EC=% = e -l
MAZH T-A++A TA+=H
Note: PfeE
()  The share option granted on 19 July 2018 was also subject to the iy RKRIZBE-NFLtATABRBZERE
revenue target of the Company and the performance target of the TRNARFARRBERIHE WA B 13 AR
Grantee. ANERERBIZEFAEE -
(i) The share option granted on 20 June 2019 was also subject to the iy RZTE-AFRNAZTHERBZERE
performance target of the Company. IMERFARRRIEKE M B IFEB T AIER -
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

30 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 30 RA& )
(a) Share options (Continued) (a) HBRE®E)
During the year ended 31 December 2022, no options has been HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE "
exercised (2021: same). MEBEREETE(ZT=—F : R) -
Movements in the number of existing share options outstanding RITFREERESE RETEE2E
and their exercise prices are as follows: T
(i) Share option scheme (i) BERETE
2022 2021
—E-CF —Eo—F
Exercise Exercise
price in HK$ Share price in HK$ Share
Expiry date per share options per share options
3HA BRBETTHEE BRE SRETOEE FERRE
At 1 January 27 March 2021 1.108 - 1.108 100,000
R—R—H “E-—F=ZA=-t+H
3 April 2023 4.402 1,500,000 4.402 1,500,000
“Z-=4WA=H
18 November 2023 9.84 2,880,000 9.84 2,880,000
“Z-=F+-ATNH
13 October 2027 6.476 29,331,400 6.476 29,630,700
“E_LE+ATER
19 July 2028 4.6 16,436,379 4.6 19,575,594
B \ELATNHA
20 June 2029 4.6 9,667,000 4.6 9,833,500
ZE-AFRAZTH
Granted 27 March 2021 1.108 - 1.108 -
[REG “E-_-—fZA-++A
3 April 2023 4.402 - 4.402 -
“Z-=4MA=H
18 November 2023 9.84 - 9.84 -
S WAV =!
13 October 2027 6.476 - 6.476 -
“EHETATER
19 July 2028 4.6 - 4.6 -
“E-\EtATNA
20 June 2029 4.6 - 4.6 -
ZZNEARAZTH
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

30 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 30 BRA(a)
(a) Share options (Continued) (a) BREE
(i) Share option scheme (Continued) () BRESNZE)
2022 2021
—E-CE T
Exercise Exercise
price in HK$ Share price in HK$ Share
Expiry date per share options per share options
BEA BRBETTHEE BRE SRETAEE FERRE
Lapsed, forfeited or exercised 27 March 2021 1.108 - 1.108 (100,000)
BRM - Rk “E-—F=ZA=t+H
3 April 2023 4.402 - 4.402 -
“Z-=HNA=H
18 November 2023 9.84 (780,000) 9.84 -
ZEZ=F+—-A+N\H
13 October 2027 6.476 (299,300) 6.476 (299,300)
“E-+FTAT=H
19 July 2028 4.6 - 4.6 (3,139,215)
“ZZ\§tA+ANR
20 June 2029 4.6 (167,000) 4.6 (166,500)
“ZNERAZTRH
At 31 December 27 March 2021 1.108 - 1.108 -
®+=—A=+-H “E-—%=A-1+tA
3 April 2023 4.402 1,500,000 4.402 1,500,000
“Z-=HNA=H
18 November 2023 9.84 2,100,000 9.84 2,880,000
B e R WAN=!
13 October 2027 6.476 29,032,100 6.476 29,331,400
ZEZtETAT=H
19 July 2028 4.6 16,436,379 4.6 16,436,379
“ZZ\§tA+ANR
20 June 2029 4.6 9,500,000 46 9,667,000
“ZNFRAZTRA
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the equity- BE-_T-_—_F#+=-A=+—H
settled share based compensation under share option scheme IWFEE @ AESEEOBEIREST
of RMB4,065,000 (2021: RMB7,010,000) is included in BETURMD I N ZHEEARE
employee benefit expenses. 4,065,000 (ZE=—F : AR

7,010,00070) BT ABBEAFY -
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

30 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 30 BRA ()
(b) Share Award Scheme (b) BR1PEEEEHE
On 8 July 2019, the Board resolved to grant an aggregate of RZZE—NFLANB EFSHIM
28,100,000 shares to 21 selected employees (including two NBEEFRE (BEARTIMEBHITE
executive directors of the Company) subject to a vesting period of F)EHEA $£28,100,0000 815 - 5FE
36 months and a performance target of the Company. AB36M[EA - BEAARERENE EE
FAHEE °
The following table represents the movements for number of TRIWRBE-_E-_—_FR-_T=-—F
shares under the Share Award Scheme for the years ended 31 TZA=T—ALFEROERBEET
December 2022 and 2021: R EE < #E :
Number of
shares (in
thousand unit)
RBEE (FR)
At 1 January 2021 RZE-_—F—H—H 28,234
Shares vested during the year rEEEHBRN (3,456)
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—BK
1 January 2022 i el o — 24,778
Shares vested during the year rEEEHBRN, (8,011)
At 31 December 2022 R-_ZT-_—_F+-F=+—H” 16,767
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

30 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 30 BRA(a)
(b) Share Award Scheme (Continued) (b) BRPERETEI(®)
The following is a summary of the shares granted, vested and AT RAFE BRI R SIEE K
lapsed during the year since the set up of the Share Award it BEREMZBRHHME
Scheme:

Number of shares
(in thousand unit)

BAPEA (FH)
2022
B

. i —

At 1 January Hn—A—H 27,598 31,054

Shares vested during the year REEEHEBRG (8,011) (3,456)

Allocated but not vested BEOMERER 19,587 27,598
The Group has adopted the requirements under HKFRS 2 “Share- ANEE B O BN E B B TS R R 295 A
based Payment” to account for the equity compensation expenses D BEMZNRIZEE  RELBE
of the shares granted at the date of grant at fair value. BAFEBERERG 2RI A
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the equity-settled BHE_T-_—F+_-_A=1+—HILFE"
share based compensation under share award scheme is nil (2021: LARERS A E IR0 B2 Bh 5T 2078 T AR (D
RMB15,673,000). IRHZHERZ(ZE=—F: ARK

15,673,0007T) °
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BOT MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

31 OTHER RESERVES 31 HibfEE

Financial

assets at

fair value

Shares through

Share- Share held for other

based  and capital share  comprehensive

Share Other Merger compensation  redemption Exchange reward income

premium reserve reserve TeSErves feserve reserve scheme

4
LRERRE [ EfGE arEk i fg5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 i RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  ARETT A T A T ARETR T ARETE  ARETR
At 1 January 2021 ®=E=-%-5-A 109,817 297,725 3,366,441
Fair value loss on financial assets BATE AR 2ENAL
atfair value through other SBEEILTEER
comprehensive income - - (40,997)
Derecognition of financial assets RIEEIEAT B AL 2T
at fair value through other WAZEREE
comprehensive income - - (2418)
Deferred tax IR i - 4797
Fair value loss and derecognition of ~ RATEHAZHZEMAZ
finandial assets at far value SHAE ATEFBRAL
through other comprehensive BREATETAREZERA
income, net of tax JERER  MRHE = = [40618)
Currency trandlation difference BHENZR = = (6,726)
Share based compensation IR 2 RE - 22,683 22,683
Evercise of share options fTieiaRE = - 3
Vesting of awarded shares EREARN = (6,769) -
Deemed disposal of an associate BiELE-—HBEAT - - 34
Transactions with non-controlling ~ E3FARERET 2R
interests - - 32,515
At31 December 2021 R-B=—F+-A=1-A 109817 313639 3374628
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

31 OTHER RESERVES (continued) 31

HifREE )

Financial
assets at
fair value
Shares through
Share- Share held for other
based  and capital share comprehensive
Share Other Merger compensation  redemption  Exchange reward income
premium reserve reserve reserves reserve reserve scheme reserve
RAFEA
Hft2ERA
WhG%f  RORER RitkB EeREEL
Rita® HibfE ARG ZRRERE RERE EXmE HEMSRE fife st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR  ARNTn ARBTR  ARMTR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 H-E--E-F-p 2804519 218110 109817 313639 2686 1008 (@195 (@220 3374629
Fair value loss on financil assets BATEALBZERAZ
atfair value through other SREEIDTABE
comprehensive income - - - - - - - (36,353) (36,353)
Derecognition of financial assets BIHERRATEIALM2E
atfair value through other WAz eREE
comprehensive income - - - - - - - 334 334
Deferred tax EERE - - - - - - - (384) (384)
Fair value loss and derecognition of ~ RATEHAZHZENAZ
financial assets t far value SREEZATEBRRAL
through other comprehensive B ATE AL R ERA
income, net of tax JEBEE NRIE - - - - - - - (33413) (33.413)
Currency translation difference EHENZR = = - - - 1 - - 112
Share based compensation WRAZRZBE = o = = - - - - -
Share option scheme-value of BiEsE-EShBER
employee services - - 4,065 - - - 4,065
Vesting of awarded shares SREBRN (3382) - - (15,690) - - 19,012 - -
At 31 December 2022 A—Z-—F+-B=1-A 2,801,137 218,110 109,817 302,014 2,686 10,205 (22,893) (75,683) 3345393
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BOT MR

31 OTHER RESERVES (Continued) 31 Hibf#EE @)

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable to wholly
foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiaries are required to
appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less than 10% of the
profit after income tax, calculated based on the PRC accounting
standards. Should the accumulated total of this reserve fund reach 50%
of the registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries, the subsidiaries will not
be required to make any further appropriation. The reserve fund can
only be used, upon approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar
authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, retained earnings amounting
to approximately RMB3,549,000 (2021: RMB34,120,000) had been
transferred to the statutory reserve. As at 31 December 2022, retained
earnings comprise statutory reserve fund of RMB128,438,000 (2021:
RMB124,889,000).

32 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUED EXPENSES AND

OTHER PAYABLES

32

RBERRIINEBECEZBERETEER - &
BB AR ARRPEE LA ERE T
REFEREZEEN10%ZMES - MtFEED
Rt ERTENE AR 2 ZMEAR50%
A B A RS BAELEME - FRE - RE
BERAGHFRBHEIER  ZREDE
A RERERTBEIIEE -

BE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—RHILFE B
WEEHANRHE3,549,000L(ZTE=—F : AR
#34,120,0007T) B BB E A ERHEE - RZF
—H+-HA=+—B - BEKSBEEATH
He ARB128,438,000L(ZE=—F : AR
#124,889,0007T) °

i@;ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ( ST EAREMEN

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2022 2021
—E__ T4
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥TT AREETTT
Trade payables (note a) FERTER R (Mf7Ea) 182,350 194,368
Accrued salaries and staff benefits (note b) FERT BN &2 B TaF (FIEb) 73,928 28,939
Accrued agency commissions EEtRERE 6,388 7,217
Accrued expenses Rt E M 45,682 41,822
Deposit from customers BPZE 8,451 8,871
Other taxes payable E eI HiIE 5,586 4,241
Others (note) HoAth (P 5E) 229,737 229,158
552,122 514,616

Note:

The balance mainly represented the deposits received by the Group in respect of
the disposal of equity interest in Tianjin Guokai (note 13(a)) of RMB225,000,000
(2021: same). As at 31 December 2022, the disposal has not yet been completed
and parties to the agreement are working on the transitional arrangements.

GEE

HHRE BIRASER L &R EE AR AR B IE
& AR%225,000,0007C (=T =—4F : 18R (KizE
13a)) cRZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 ' HEHRT
X - MieE S 5 EREER R -
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BO MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE—-Z-—HF+_-_A=+—HItFE

32 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUED EXPENSES AND 32 FE{J{BEZ - Bt BEAREMEN

OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) FIH (@)
(a) The aging analysis of trade payables based on (a) ENERRERFEIHZRES NI
invoice date is as follows: T

As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2022 2021

—ZE-— —E-—4F

=

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

0 to 90 days 0Z90K 152,908 133,525

91 to 180 days 91E£180K 16,266 38,459

181 to 365 days 181F365K 3,708 2,444

Over 1 year HBiE—F 9,468 19,940

182,350 194,368
(b) As at 31 December 2022, included in the accrued salaries and (b) R=ZT=—=—F+=-A=+—H  EF#H
staff benefits were RMB32,197,000 and RMB7,333,000 for the bR B3R KB R A Atk &R
provision for social insurance and layoff compensation respectively R R EMETREOBESIARE
in relation to the dissolution of Beijing Huicong 360 Technology 32,197,000 & AR #7,333,00070( =%
Company (2021: Nil). ——F | AERFMRE TR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE

33 BORROWINGS 33 &

As at 31 December
RA+=—A=+—H
2022 2021

—ZE=-= =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREETIT

Non-current portion: JEmENE S ¢
Bank borrowings (note i) RITEE (B3 5,000 512,000
5,000 512,000
Current portion: mENE S -
Bank borrowings (note i) RITEE () 648,661 171,114
Other borrowings (note ii) HAbEE (i) 416,616 319,416
1,065,277 490,530
Total borrowings BEHERE 1,070,277 1,002,530
The above balance include both principal and interest portion of the LB P REEERS RFIBE S + 2FHL
borrowing, and are all denominated in RMB (2021: same). ARBAE(ZZE-_—%F : H[R)
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BO MR

33 BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note:

(0]

(ii)

Bank borrowings bear average interest rate of 6.43% per annum (31
December 2021: 6.49% per annum), and are payable from 2023 to 2025
(31 December 2021: from 2022 to 2023), part of which amounting to
RMB50,000,000 (31 December 2021: RMB90,000,000) are secured by
properties and investment properties, with carrying value amounting to
RMB18,819,000 and RMB24,847,000 respectively (31 December 2021:
secured by properties and investment properties, with carrying value
amounting to RMB25,156,000 and RMB26,009,000 respectively), and are
also guaranteed by an Executive Director of the Company and his spouse (31
December 2021: same).

The remaining bank borrowings mainly included:

(@) abank borrowing of RMB512,000,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB524,000,000) provided by Jingu Bank and guaranteed by
subsidiaries and associates of the Group (31 December 2021: same),
bearing interest rate of 6.93% per annum (31 December 2021:
same);

(b) bank borrowings of RMB54,400,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB18,000,000) guaranteed by subsidiaries of the Group (31
December 2021: same), bearing interest rate ranging from 3.73%
to 7.90% per annum (31 December 2021: 4.20% to 5.00% per
annum);

(0 bank borrowings of RMB23,000,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB10,000,000) guaranteed by certain independent third parties (31
December 2021: same), bearing interest rates ranging from 3.65% to
4.90% per annum(31 December 2021: 3.85% per annum); and

(d)  unsecured bank borrowings of RMB13,000,000 (31 December 2021:
RMB5,000,000) (31 December 2021: same), bearing interest rates
ranging from 3.70% to 5.00% per annum (31 December 2021:
4.40% per annum).

As at 31 December 2022, other borrowings with a total principal amount
of RMB230,000,000 (2021: same) were provided by an independent
third party with maturity on 31 December 2023. (2021: other borrowings
with a total principal amount of RMB230,000,000 were provided by
an independent third party matured on 31 December 2021). This other
borrowing is interest-free and secured by certain equity shares of a
subsidiary (2021: same).

The other borrowings with principal amount of RMB173,020,000 (31
December 2021: RMB86,506,000) are provided by an independent third
party and bear interest rate of 3.85% per annum (31 December 2021:
3.89% to 5.37% per annum). These other borrowings are secured by
prepayment of cotton (31 December 2021: RMB86,506,000 are secured by
inventories).
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33 B8

GEE

@

(ii)

RITEERTFHFMNEE43%(Z T —F+=
A=+—H: §7%6.49% )58  RZT=_=
S 'Jﬁﬁ(f *—EWL H=1—

Msooooooomff*f¢+ A=+—8:
AR #90,000,0007T) LABREE S 5l A AR
18,819,0007T &2 A R #24,847,0007T 2 W13 K.
BEMEERF( T =_—F+=-A=+—8:
LABREE S B B A R 25,156,0007T B AR
26,009,000 Z ¥ RIZEMEIEER) - 78
BARR—BRITESRERBRHER(Z
——%+=A=+—8: R -

MTRITEELTERE

(@ MEARTEAYHBALREZHBER
REENARHER(ZF 7¢+7
A=Z+—H: #R) ZRTHEEAR

“&%512,000,0007%(:%:7¢+:ﬁ
=+—H : AR#¥524,000,0007T) °
FHE693%(ZE=—F+=-A= +f
B A8EDETE

(b) HBAEEMBRARTRHRER(ZE=—F
+ZA=+—8:BR)ZRITEEA
R 54,400,000 (=T =—F+=A4
=+—H: AR#%18,000,0007T) ' #&
FHMENTF373%E7.90%(—FT=-—4F
+ZA=1+—8: FRERNT420%=E
5.00%)&T &

(0 MBETBIE=ZFREERCCZE=—F
TZA=+—H: HR)ZRTEEAR
#23,000,0007t( ZE=—F+=ZA=+—
A : AR#¥10,000,0007T) * ZEFIENTF
365%E490%(ZE=—F+=—A=1+—
H : FFI%E3.85%)t 8 &

(d)  fEK 38 4R 17 & 5K A K % 13,000,000 7T
(ZE-—4F+-A=+—0: AR¥
5,000,000 (ZE=—F+=A=+—
B:HR)  RFEMNENT370% =
500%(ZF=—F+=-A=+—H8: F
FR4.40%)5H 8. -

RZZZZF+ZA=+—8 XL EAEA
R#230,000,0007T( =T =—4F : {8R) 2 Eftb
BER—BBYFE=FRME  BR=T==F
+ZA=+—REH - (ZT=—F : A8 H
A AR230,000,0007T2 i fEEHR—BEL

%Eﬁ%%'%:%:—¢+:ﬂz+—aﬂ
)  ZBHMEEREE j’EEE HMER

ETRERGERF(ZZ=—F : 8R) -
A& AARE173,020,000T (T = —4F
+=ZA=+—8: AR%86,506,0007T) 2 H
MEEE—2BLE = HRME  WIERFHE
385%(ZFE=—F+=-A=+—8: FH=
3.89%Z%E5.37%)5T 8 - ZEHMIEEHRTERE
NRBEER(ZE=—F+=-A=+—H: A
R#86,506,0007THIFEEEA) ©
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33 BORROWINGS (continued) 33 fEE @)

Note: (i) (Continued)
The remaining other borrowings with principal amount of RMB10,600,000
are provided by a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and certain key
management personnel of subsidiaries (31 December 2021: RMB2,500,000
provided by a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary). These other
borrowings are unsecured and bear interest rates of 8% per annum (31
December 2021: 10% per annum).

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of bank and other
borrowings based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan

BtE < (i) (4%)

RN& %8 A ARE10,600,0007T 2 8 F M EE
B—HMBRARZ —ZIEERBRERME AR
ZETEEEBABRBE(ZZE=—F+=A
=+—H8 : AR#¥2,500,0007cH— B RQA]
Z—RIEERBRERM) c ZEHMEERE
WIRWIRFEF RS8R (Z B —F+ A =+—
B EFE10%)5E

TR R E G E A EE B ERRERA S
RELZIRITR EH S RIE R AT

agreements.
Bank borrowings Other borrowings
RITHE Hittfe &
As at 31 December As at 31 December
Rt=A=+-H Rt=A=+-H
2022 2021 2022
—E-C T % —EB-C
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT ARETR ARETT
Within 1 year —FR 648,661 171,114 416,616 319,416
Between 1 and 2 years —FERER - 512,000 - =
Between 2 and 5 years MEERFER 5,000 - - -
653,661 683,114 416,616 319,416

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has no undrawn banking facilities
(2021: Nil).

J‘E@:?::iwL*H:Jr*EI N SETRIE S S
RRZBITRHERE(ZT_—F &)

34 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 34 EIEFFBH

The net movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

BEPTISTRAR B #BFEMT

2022 2021
ot St

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETTT

At 1 January ®—A—AH (2,866) (22,889)
Credited to the profit or loss EATEEEF'EH\ 56,011 16,898
(Charged to)/ credited to the other comprehensive  RAE A2 EW A (FIER), 5T A

income (384) 2,797
Currency translation differences EMEL =R (872) 328
At 31 December H“+=—HA=+—8” 51,889 (2,866)
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34

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB83,292,000 (2021: RMB63,955,000) have not been recognised for
the withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
of subsidiaries in the PRC. The unremitted earnings are to be used for
reinvestment. The income tax liability is not recognised where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
before offsetting are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses
BIEEE
2022 2021
—E—— B

— = =

RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETE

34 EEFIBH &)
RZZE-—F+-A=+—8  HAstPEH
BRI ARE LR R mEN 2 BB EREL
FriSfiaE AREES83,292,000L( =T ——4F :
AE#63,955,0007T) © K& HEFIEAIEFE
Ao (HE R EERLD R R ARER S LY
BFEREAEAERRRAETISEE - BT TR
RETISHALE -

FRRERREELABEH RS REHE
BT

EEBIREE

Bad debt provision Total
BREE At
2022 2022

—g=-= T —g-=

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  AREBTT AR®FR ARETR

At 1 January “—A—AH 4,257 4,257 42,737 46,435 46,994 50,692
Credited/(debited) to the A/ (k) ES

profit or loss 4,592 - 15,838 (3,698) 20,430 (3,698)
At 31 December BW+-R=+—H 8,849 4,257 58,575 42,737 67,424 46,994
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34 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 34 EZEMBH @)

Deferred tax liabilities

EEHEAE

Fair value gains LE]
ALEKRE @t
2022 2021 2022
—g-= ZEF —EC-C
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARETT ARET T AREFT
At 1 January n—H—H 49,860 73,581 49,860 73,581
(Charged to)/credited to the other ($0B8) FH A E A
comprehensive income ZHEURA 384 (2,797) 384 (2,797)
Credited to the profit or loss AR (35,581) (20,596) (35,581) (20,596)
Currency translation difference EMEREZR 872 (328) 872 (328)
At 31 December R+=A=+-8 15,535 49,860 15,535 49,860

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried forwards to
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. The Group have unrecognised tax losses of
RMB850,150,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB777,884,000),
among which RMB795,930,000 and RMB54,220,000 will be expired
from 2023 to 2027 and from 2023 to 2032 respectively (2021:
RMB667,826,000 and RMB110,058,000 will be expired from 2022 to
2026 and from 2022 to 2031, respectively).

FE A 0 75 1) 25 1R K 1T B2 38 38 oK 2R FE AR B 0 71
BN ARECEHMAREERRESHE
BB -RZTE-_—_F+-A=+—H ' &%
B2 RERBIIEEE A A R¥850,150,0007T
(ZZT=——%: AR#777,884,0007T) * HF
A R #795,930,000 7T & A R # 54,220,000 7T
BABRBE_E_=FZ_Z_tFRkBE_F
ZEFETE_FIBM(ZT—F AR
667,826,0007T & A R #110,058,0007T 5 5Bl #%
REZEZZFE_FT_R"FREFT=C
BT —FHH) -
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35 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 35 REERELE 2RSS
(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to net cash (a) BRBAEGEELEERELECRS
generated from operating activities R AR

2022 2021
===

—_—

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AEBTTT

Loss before income tax BRPTSBiRIE R
— from continuing operations —REFFELE B (272,923) (598,644)
— from discontinued operations —REABKIEEFEE = (32,547)

Loss before income tax including discontinued FTABKRILEEES 2

operations FRETIS TR E TR (272,923) (631,191)
Adjustments for: T -
Provision for impairment losses on TRIEEREEERE

financial assets 105,772 9,145
Amortisation of intangible assets I 116,959 60,391
Amortisation of investment properties WEYSEEE 1,162 1,162
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENRETE 3,707 8,275
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 16,727 23,171
Impairment loss on investment in associates REEE R R ZIRE ZREE

1B - 28,008

Share based compensation VAR R 24 2 & 4,065 22,683
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries b E R A Bl 2 M e - (938)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEMEREZ

plant and equipment (note b) B8 (MisEb) 106 783
Gain on disposal of associates, net SRk kN ol G (14,125) (16,527)
Loss on deemed disposal of associates, net RIELERE ARZ

EBFE = 31512

Gain on lease modification MEESz W (454) =
Dividend income g B A (4,015) (2,110)
Finance income g TN (10,156) (24,707)
Finance expense IEHX 54,875 62,778
Share of losses from investments accounted DiGEEREANER Y

for using equity method KEEE 47,843 19,232
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at BRATEGTABR /M

fair value through profit or loss BEATEEE, (W) 6,936 (2,835)
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial liabilities at BRATHEGFABRZ®ME

fair value through profit or loss ERFE () EiE (26,955) 8,346
Impairment losses on intangible assets BIVEEREREE 26,050 29,265
Impairment losses on goodwill [EEEAEY o - 454,720
Write down of inventories FEHR 1,355 -
Operating profit before working capital changes &8 & & & A& E R F 56,929 80,963
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35 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (continued) 35 REXEBELEZEHE®)

(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to net cash (a) BRBATEEHEKEEKELECES
generated from operating activities (Continued) FEYERE)

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT

Operating profit before working capital changes &8 & 4 & ShaT 48 L35 56,929 80,963
Changes in working capital: HEELFE -
Changes in trade receivables and contract assets ~ FEUBR R & KB E S 40,068 296,456
Changes in deposits, prepayments and B BENRER

other receivables H e IR B4 &) (1,375,294) 5,458
Changes in finance lease receivables B &S FE YR IE 13,887 61,647
Changes in loans and interest receivables FEWE 3R & F) B8 (66,460) 13,769
Changes in inventories FEE 37,847 (32,838)
Changes in trade payables FEfSTBRFRE (12,018) (284,397)
Changes in accrued expenses and FEFH B R E b BT I

other payables o 44,680 (40,563)
Changes in deferred government grants IRIE U/ Bh & &) - (320)
Changes in contract liabilities BHAEED 1,280,689 (200,186)
Changes in other taxes payable E b R T IH &) 1,345 4,123
Changes in restricted bank deposit ZR AR TF R (89,223) -
Cash used in operations KEEFAZERS (67,550) (95,888)
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35 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment
In the consolidated cash flow statements, proceeds from disposal
of property, plant and equipment comprise:

5 REERELE RS W
(b) HEWE BERBREZFHSHE

EAHRERERA  HEVE BEK
RS RARE

2022 2021
—=—— T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETFT
Net book amount: REHE :

Property, plant and equipment (note 18) Y - BRE KA (FiEE18) 142 1,003

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HE®Z - E &EREZ
E1E (106) (745)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEDE - BELREZ
equipment FiriS /I8 36 258
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35 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (continued)

(c) Net debt reconciliation
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movement in
net debt for each of the year presented.

(9}

297

35 REEKRELE2HES®)

BB FEER
REHFIFREFE Z BB FRRERF
BEB 2O -

As at 31 December

®+=BA=+—H
2022 2021
—Eg-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREETTT
Cash and cash equivalents BEe hESEEY 312,023 333,812
Restricted bank deposit ZIRFIRITER 122,660 33,437
Long-term bank deposits REIRTTIER = 28,622
Liquid investment (i): MENRE() -
— Financial assets at fair value through other —BAFEFAEMEE
comprehensive income WAZ SREE 402,385 454,458
— Financial assets at fair value through —BAFEFABREZ
profit or loss TREE 11,283 18,219
Financial liabilities at fair value through profitor LA EFFAEZZ
loss BRAG (27,233) (54,188)
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBEE (1,070,277) (1,002,530)
Lease liabilities HEBE (17,913) (38,309)
Net debts BEHFER (267,072) (226,479)
Cash and liquid investments BEeRRBIEE 848,351 868,548
Gross debt at fixed interest rates REFERMRAE 2 Ei5HEE (1,068,277) (1,008,500)
Gross debt at floating interest rates RZENFIRGTE 2 BB (47,146) (86,527)
Net debts E1% %5 (267,072) (226,479)
() Liquid investment comprise current investments that are traded in an iy ABREBENERMSEEZREIRE A

active market, being the Group’s financial assets held at fair value
through other comprehensive income, financial assets held at fair

value through profit or loss.

AEERRAFEFARMCEARAFEZ SR/
BE  BAVEFABRSHAZEREE
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35 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (continued)

(c) Net debt reconciliation (Continued)

35 REXEKELE2HE®w)

() EBFEHEKR®

Financial
assefs at Financial
fair value assetsat Financial
through fairvalue liabilities
Cash and Restricted ~ Long-term other through  at fair value Bank and
cash hank bank  comprehensive profitor through other Lease
equivalents deposits deposits income loss profitorloss borrowing liabilities
RAVE #ATE RATE
RER %A TARMEE  ABRz  ABER #0R
ReSED BOER  REROER W\eHER £HEE SHAR g HERR it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARET  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTn  ARMTr  ARBTn  ARMTR ARMIR ARETR
Net debt as at RB-E-R-AY
1 January 2021 58 254301 15818 - 80,716 20,34 - (1236280) (32649) (887817)
Net cash fow BBenE 19633 7569 3000 (0419 (4850) - e 0013 .03
Interest paid BftfE = = = - - - 57,044 2% 59342
Disposal of subsidiries £ EMEA - - - - - - 15 39 53
bichange adjsiment ~ E:E% (182) = - (1,9%0) 285 - 3 = 99
Interest expenses S - - (1379) - - - (57,15) (2299 (60791)
Interest income FlakA - - - - - - 16,162 - 16,162
Other non-cash O )
movements - - - 385,141 - (54.188) - (28,066) 302887
Netdebtas S
31 December 2021 ST-BrEREE 3381 EETE)] 2861 454458 18219 (54188 (1,002,530) (38309 (226479
Net cash flow Tene (2201) 89,223 (28622) (12,761) - - (65,014) 31424 (3,663)
Interest paid Effflg - - - - - - 50,989 - 50,989
Buchange adjustment [ 5% n - - (2.959) - - - - (131m)
Interest expenses EEST - - - - - - (53,722) (1,144) (54,866)
Other non-Cash ey )|
movements - - - (36,353) (6,936) 26,95 - (9,884) (19,282)
Net debt s at i |
31 December 2022 “T-BrEEEE 3,03 122,660 - 402,385 11,283 @1233) (1,00277) (17.913) (267.0m)
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36 COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASE -
AS A LESSOR
At 31 December 2022, the Group had future aggregate minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of
buildings which expire as follows:

299

6 KEREAE-—FERHEA

i

EoF+A=1+—H  AEEHET

ZEBRMAAHEE R HE R ER &K

A= £h

RN

ERBMT

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—8H
2022 2021
—E-— —E- 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREETTT
Within one year —&FR 1,705 1,705
In the second to fifth year inclusive ECERF(BREEEME) 710 2,415
2,415 4,120

37 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

0]

(i)

Lease agreement with an independent third party

On 4 March 2022, a subsidiary of the Group received notice of
a civil proceeding (the “Proceeding”) related to unauthorised
buildings of properties leased to an independent third party,
claiming for compensation of RMB38,534,000 as a result of the
damages caused by the unauthorised buildings, including costs
associated with its removal and reinforcement. The first hearing of
the Proceeding has not yet been held as of the date of this report.

The directors of the Company, after taking advice from its legal
advisors which have considered the information so far available,
consider that there would be no material liabilities arising from this
Proceeding up to the date of this report, and there would be no
material impact to the financial statements of the subsidiary of the
Group and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Disposal of Tianjin Guokai

On 5 January 2021, the Group entered into the equity transfer
agreement to transfer 100% of the equity interest in Tianjin
Guokai to Beijing Little Rhino Horn Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
LRH"), an independent third party. Tianjin Guokai Group is
principally engaged in the provision of properties leasing in
PRC. On 21 March 2022, the Group received a written notice
of arbitration (“Arbitration”) initiated by Beijing LRH, claiming
for damages in the sum of RMB100,655,000 to compensate the
costs associated with demolition of properties previously owned
by Tianjin Guokai’s subsidiaries. As of the date of this report, the
arbitration proceeding has yet been completed.

37 RAREE

0}

(ii)

HBVE=FzHEHSR
ﬂ_giziiﬂ@5'$%§—%wg
TWﬂ—1X§ﬁjﬁfﬁﬁﬁ$mF
EMERNE 2 REFA(FRRDBAM -
REFEREY SR ZIBRRE - a¢ﬁ
FEEBRR R B W EMER 2 B » A
WERH - RRHARETE KRR ©

$“ﬂ§$fﬂ*ﬁkﬁ%f£@?ﬁ(%f§ﬁﬁﬁ
AESHER) ZBERERRAR  BEELR
=RH &tpﬁ*’\T\ﬁ‘F‘Eﬁﬁékﬁﬁ
TreHEE—_T-_—F+_-_A=1+—8
LIEFEASEMME R R Z M BHwE kA%
B2 AP MRELEATE

HE XZE
R-ZE-—F—RAB  AEEFZRE

HiEipE  HENREERZ 2 HRET
BYE=FIRNEAREERAR(IL
FNEA]) - KERHEEE BT EHR
HYERE - FfE::EEﬂ:+—
B AEBRI—HEERNEARLZ
EmPEBAM(rE]) - ERREAR
#100,655,0007T * MAf#{E B IR A EE
FAFTES A R SC AT 2 M SEABRE 2 B ©
RAIRE BH - &R MR TERK ©
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37 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 37 HAEEB @)

(i) HEXZEEM®)
AABEEHEEREA2EB(ZEEH
AESWER) ZERERA  EEEARK
SR WHETEEETRNEARE
MM EHEE T - —_F+=-A=1+—H
IHFEAEENB AR ZMKRERAE
B EHIBRREEEATE -

(ii) Disposal of Tianjin Guokai (Continued)

The directors of the Company, after taking advice from its legal
advisors which have considered the information so far available,
consider that there would be no material liabilities arising from this
Arbitration up to the date of this report, and there would be no
material impact to the financial statements of the subsidiary of the
Group and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38 AAQFIHIRA KRR FEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) AATBMERRE

As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2022 2021

—E=-= == —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETTT

Assets BE

Non-current assets RBEE

Investments in subsidiaries RBARZIKE 1,308,554 1,308,554
1,308,554 1,308,554

Current assets REBEE

Loan to a subsidiary BT —REME AR 314,100 420,046

Cash and cash equivalents Re MBS EEY 188 167

Total assets WEE 1,622,842 1,728,767

Equity Ew

Capital and reserves EXRR G

Share capital &N 120,977 120,977

Other reserves HAbfE 3,002,661 2,972,216

Accumulated losses REtEstE (1,505,655) (1,368,959)

Total equity BRER 1,617,983 1,724,234

Liabilities afE

Current liabilities RENEE

Accrued expenses and other payables fEEtE A R E A FOE 4,859 4,533

Total liabilities BEE 4,859 4,533

Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 1,622,842 1,728,767
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38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38 AR RMBRRARRBFEEZS
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY ()

(Continued)

(b) RRBZHELH

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

Accumulated Other
losses reserves
2T EE Hith it
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AR¥T
At 1 January 2021 R-—EB-_—-F—H—H (1,186,630) 2,956,339
Comprehensive loss 2HEEE
Loss for the year REEZEE (182,329) =
Other comprehensive income Htp2mEKA
Currency translation differences EHEREZR - (6,806)
Transactions with owners EERFEAETZRS
Share based compensation VAR 245 2 i 1E = 22,683

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 N=_B=-_—F+=-A=+—H
—H

kR—®B--%-A (1,368,959) 2,972,216
Comprehensive loss 2HEE
Loss for the year NEEREE (136,696) =
Other comprehensive income Hig2mEKA
Currency translation differences HHEN ZHR - 26,380
Transactions with owners HERBEAETZRS
Share based compensation VAR 245 2 8 = 4,065
At 31 December 2022 N-—E-_—_Z#+=-H=+—H (1,505,655) 3,002,661
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 BEBALRS
(a) Key management compensation (a) FAREEASHM
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FRNESRAMBAREENE 2 FH M
management during the year were as follows: g

2022 2021

—ZFE—-—— —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBET T

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits %4 & E b 52 B (R B &7 5,509 5,713
Share-based payments DARSAD B 7 SR 3,866 17,396
9,375 23,109
(b) Related party transaction (b) BEEALTRS
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRE IRk B E n FT BEE S -
statements, transactions were carried out with related parties in SERBFEKBREREABATETR

normal course of Group’s business. Z °

2022 2021

—E-= —E -4

RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARBET T

Associates and a joint venture (note i) B NTI R — A%
(Bf&Ei) 15,856 16,879

Note: e

() The Group has granted loan receivables and finance lease receivables () AEBERMASEETHELAR—H
to certain associates and a joint venture of the Group. The interest on EECERNBRERREKRERE
the loans and finance lease receivables are charged at terms mutually FIE o ZEEFRRERHEHERER
agreed by the parties concerned or in accordance with the terms of BRAEH HERE 2 GRER BB
the underlying agreements, where appropriate. B ER(HEA) W ER -
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nded 31 December 2022 #HZE-—ZT-—#+—-A=+—HILEE

For the year e

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Related party balance
Saved as disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has following balances with related parties as

at 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively.

303

39 BABALRS @

ARk A 45k

BA IR RERM 21 FIREEN - R
Eo—ER-FE-—F+=-A=+—H -
AEBHEBBA L EHBDRIAT -

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—-H
2022 2021
—s-= T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Loan receivables from: JEWRATALEZER
— Associates (note i) — B N E) (MIRED 59,862 79,250
— Joint venture (note ii) — & & (M) 791 497
60,653 79,747
Interest receivables from: FEWAT AL ZFIE
— Associates (note i) o NG b)) 546 719
— Joint venture (note ii) — &) 5 108
551 827
Deposit received from: BEWATATZRS :
An associate (note iii) — A B~ &) (M i) 607 570
Key management personnel (note iii) RSB TR A B (P i) 2,440 2,440
Finance lease receivables from: EWRATALZBERE
TRIF :
Associates (note iv) B N m) (M Eiv) 166,400 180,400

Notes:

@

(i)

The balance represents loan and interest receivables of
RMB60,408,000 (2021: RMB79,969,000) from Zhejiang Huicong.
The Group granted loans amounting to RMB80,000,000 to Zhejiang
Huicong during the year ended 31 December 2021 and renewed the
loan agreements during the year ended 31 December 2022. Zhejiang
Huicong repaid the amount of RMB19,500,000 during the year ended
31 December 2022 and the remaining loans bear interest rate of 6%

per annum and are repayable in August 2023.

Another loan and interest receivable of RMB605,000

(2021:RMB605,000) to a joint venture will mature in 2023 and is
interest bearing at rate of 6% per annum (2021: same).

(ii)

RERIERUCITIER 2 ER R B A
R#60,408,0007C(— T =-—F : AR¥
79,969,0007T) c HEZZFT=—F+=A4
=+—RILFE  AEBRNNIERER
FERARS0,000,0007T © WHREHZE=
T —F+-A=t+—RALFEEEZ
EERWME -  RBEE-T=_—F+=A
=+—ALFE  INIBREERBEA
[R#19,500,0007T * Mk N EZIRFFIE
6%:tE  WEAR B =4\ AEE -

BEER-—BEEEZERKFE
ABR¥605000T(ZBE=—F : AR
605,0007C) R - T =FFH - ¥ix
FERR6%(ZFE=—4 : HBRDAE

BREEERAT 2022 F3f
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Related party balance (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

(i)  The balance includes deposits received by a financing services
company of the Group from an associate and an executive director of
the Company as guarantee for the loan granted to their customers.
The deposit would be refunded upon the repayment of the loans.

(iv)  The balance represents finance lease receivables of RMB123,400,000
(2021: RMB137,400,000) from Zhongmo Group, which is an associate
of the Group. The finance lease receivable will mature in 2023 and
are interest bearing at rate of 10% per annum (2021: same). Another
finance lease receivable of RMB43,000,000 (2021: same) to Zhejiang
Huicong will mature on 2025 (2021: mature on 2022) and are interest
bearing at rate of 6% per annum (2021: same).

EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

On 6 January 2023, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with two independent third parties (together, the
“Purchasers”) to transfer the Group’s entire equity interests in J#7TZ
IR & AR A7) (“Zhejiang Huicong”), an associated company of the
Group, at a consideration of RMB10. The transaction was completed
on 17 January 2023. Prior to the transfer, Zhejiang Huicong owed the
Group an aggregate amount of RMB103,500,000, and RMB51,230,000
of the loans had been subsequently repaid to the Group.

The transaction is accounted for as a disposal of associate. Gain on
disposal of associate of RMB10 will be recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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(c) EBEEAT&ERGE)
BisE - ()

(i) ZEREFEAEE-HRERERFR
REB-FHBHERR L —BRTEFK
B2EE (FARTERFPZERE
R NMEBERR  ZRER TRE -

(v) ZESIEEEPEEE(REEZHEA
A]) Z @& T E R IB A R# 123,400,000
T(ZZE=—% : AR% 137,400,000
TT) - EMBMEREREEN _T_=F
B WIREMRI0%(ZTZ—4
AR E - B—HEBINIZRE A
T E e U kB A R #43,000,000T (=&
——F AR BRZZERFRH(=
T—F: RZEZFIE) - WIRF
FE6%(—Z——4F : HREDE °

BRI R B RV EH

RZZEZ=F—ANHB "EBERBBILE
=H(HEBIEF DI LEERBAERASE
ERAEEBE QRN IZERESRAA
(CmIgr)z2BRE  REAEARKI0
T RRBGER_E-_=F—A++tAxK -
REER  MNIZENXAEEEEARKE
103,500,0007T * & #K 2 AR#51,230,000
TEREEEETAEE -
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